SUSTAINABLE GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT IN SMALL OPEN ECONOMIES

Editors Isidora Ljumović Andrea Éltető



SUSTAINABLE GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT IN SMALL OPEN ECONOMIES

Editors

Isidora Ljumović Andrea Éltető *Publisher*: Institute of World Economics Centre for Economic and Regional Studies of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences

Editors:

Isidora Ljumović, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia Andrea Éltető, Institute of World Economics, Budapest, Hungary

Reviewers:

Andrea Éltető, Institute of World Economics, Budapest, Hungary Jean Andrei Vasile, Petroleum and Gas University of Ploiesti, Romania Mirjana Radović-Marković, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Circulation: 200

ISBN 978-963-301-663-3 (paperback) ISBN 978-963-301-664-0 (e-book)

Copyright © Institute of World Economics

CONTENTS

PREFACE	5
PART I THE ECONOMY OF GREEN GROWTH AN INQUIRY INTO THE COMPETITIVENESS-RESILIENT GROWTH NEXUS Srdan MARINKOVIĆ, Marija DŽUNIĆ, Nataša GOLUBOVIĆ ORGANIC PRODUCT LABELLING: CONSUMER ATTITUDES AND IMPACT ON PURCHASING DECISION Isidora LJUMOVIĆ, Ivana LEČOVSKI-MILOJKIĆ VALUE OF AGRICULTURAL LAND AS NATURAL RESOURCE Božo DRAŠKOVIĆ, Jelena MINOVIĆ THE ROLE OF GREEN MARKETING IN ACHIEVING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT Ivana DOMAZET, Milica KOVAČEVIĆ ILLQUIDITY RISK OF POLLUTING ENTERPRISES IN SERBIA Slavica STEVANOVIĆ, Grozdana MARINKOVIĆ SUSTAINABILITY IN PROJECT MANAGEMENT: A PROJECT MANAGER'S PERSPECTIVE Marija TODOROVIĆ, Vladimir OBRADOVIĆ SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DISCLOSURE PRACTICE AMONG ISLAMIC BANKS Aida HANIĆ, Azra SUĆESKA FINANCIAL POWER AND DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL OF ENVIRONMENTALLY RESPONSIBLE MEDIUM SIZED ENTERPRISES IN THE SERBIAN INDUSTRIAL SECTOR	7
AN INQUIRY INTO THE COMPETITIVENESS-RESILIENT GROWTH NEXUS Srđan MARINKOVIĆ, Marija DŽUNIĆ, Nataša GOLUBOVIĆ	9
ORGANIC PRODUCT LABELLING: CONSUMER ATTITUDES AND IMPACT ON PURCHASING DECISION Isidora LJUMOVIĆ, Ivana LEČOVSKI-MILOJKIĆ	26
VALUE OF AGRICULTURAL LAND AS NATURAL RESOURCE Božo DRAŠKOVIĆ, Jelena MINOVIĆ	40
THE ROLE OF GREEN MARKETING IN ACHIEVING SUSTAINABL DEVELOPMENT Ivana DOMAZET, Milica KOVAČEVIĆ	лЕ 57
ILLIQUIDITY RISK OF POLLUTING ENTERPRISES IN SERBIA Slavica STEVANOVIĆ, Grozdana MARINKOVIĆ	73
SUSTAINABILITY IN PROJECT MANAGEMENT: A PROJECT MANAGER'S PERSPECTIVE Marija TODOROVIĆ, Vladimir OBRADOVIĆ	88
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DISCLOSURE PRACTICE AMONG ISLAMIC BANKS Aida HANIĆ, Azra SUĆESKA	107
FINANCIAL POWER AND DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL OF ENVIRONMENTALLY RESPONSIBLE MEDIUM SIZED ENTERPRISES IN THE SERBIAN INDUSTRIAL SECTOR Sonja ĐURIČIN, Isidora BERAHA	124
THE IMPACT OF STRENGTHENING AND HAMPERING INNOVATION FACTORS ON FIRM'S PERFORMANCE - A COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF EU AND NON-EU COUNTRIES Nertila BUSHO, Brunilda KOSTA	143

PART II	
THE GREEN GROWTH AND THE ENVIRONMENT	157
THE ROLE OF ECOLOGICAL TAXES IN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY Olja MUNITLAK IVANOVIĆ, Petar MITIĆ	159
ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT TAX FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF LOCAL AGRIBUSINESS Miklós SOMAI, PhD	169
INFORMATION, CONSUMERISM AND SUSTAINABLE FASHION Mirela HOLY, Nikolina BORČIĆ	179
PART III SOCIAL CHALLENGES OF UNEQUAL GROWTH	197
ECONOMICS AND MORALITY: HOW TO RECONCILE ECONOMIC THINKING WITH BROADER SOCIAL THINKING? <i>Mrdjan MLADJAN, Aleksandar FATIĆ</i>	199
SHAPING TRADITION INTO CULTURAL-ECONOMIC GOODS IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT – CASE OF SERBIAN SILK PRODUCTION Milica KOČOVIĆ DE SANTO, Vesna ALEKSIĆ	218
SKILLS DEVELOPMENT AND SUSTAINABLE EMPLOYMENT DURING TRANSITION IN SERBIA Kosovka OGNJENOVIĆ	235

PREFACE

"Sustainable development is the pathway to the future we want for all. It offers a framework to generate economic growth, achieve social justice, exercise environmental stewardship and strengthen governance."

> Ban Ki-moon, remark at a G-20 working dinner on "Sustainable Development for All", St. Petersburg, Russian Federation, 5th September 2013

The publication "Sustainable growth and development in small open economies" is a result of a joint effort made by researchers, reviewers and editors. It emerged as an attempt to contribute to the understanding of the problems the global society is facing in the 21st century and potential responses to ensure the achievement of sustainable development. Last few decades brought immense changes. Some of them lead to overall improvement in the quality of life of individuals, but also to the society as a whole. Unfortunately, some of the changes created negative effects on the environment and pose a threat to the fate of the planet Earth. The environmental problems are even more pronounced in developing countries with small open economies.

Twenty nine authors prepared fifteen papers, contributing in analyzing various issues related to sustainable growth and development. Authors from seven countries have collaborated in bringing this publication to life confirming the importance of the regional and global approach.

We owe special thanks to the reviewers, distinguished and highly recognized researchers, in taking upon themselves this time-consuming and important task. Their inputs exceedingly contributed to the overall quality of the publication. We would also like to thank Ms. Zorica Božić for the technical editing of the book.

Editors

Part I The Economy of Green Growth

AN INQUIRY INTO THE COMPETITIVENESS-RESILIENT GROWTH NEXUS

Srđan MARINKOVIĆ, PhD* Marija DŽUNIĆ, PhD• Nataša GOLUBOVIĆ, PhD*

Abstract: The paper builds on contributions coming from the theory of economic crises and the theory of international competitiveness, within a novel framework of economic resiliency. The empirical analysis, based on recent data and international comparisons, indicates close ties between unit labour costs and trade imbalances, with a potential to explain the lost momentum in economic growth. By decomposing unit labour costs into labour productivity and labour compensation indicators we found the wage policy a factor that contributes to the lost competitiveness of Southern EMU countries vis-à-vis a group of large exporting countries. The paper also discusses main policy dilemmas and some policy options' implications.

Keywords: national competitiveness, resilient growth, labour productivity, financial crises

1. INTRODUCTION

Resilience is the capacity of a system to survive, adapt, and grow in the face of unforeseen changes, even catastrophic incidents. Resilience is a common feature of complex systems, such as societies, economies, companies, cities or ecosystems. Such systems are resilient if they possess the ability to resist disorders, to find an easy way out of catastrophe. Unlike some other systems, economies always survive. What matters for economies is the well-being that will be sacrificed in the attempts to cope, adapt and transform. There are also other specificities of economies as distinct anthropogenic systems.

In this paper, we underline that a resilient economy should equally be able to prevent destabilizing forces to develop internally, as it is expected to cope with

^{*} University of Niš, Faculty of Economics, Serbia, srdjan.marinkovic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

[•] University of Niš, Faculty of Economics, Serbia, marija.dzunic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

^{*} University of Niš, Faculty of Economics, Serbia, natasa.golubovic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

external destabilizing forces. More specifically, we address the issue of the lost international competitiveness of Southern Europe EMU countries trying to relate it to the wage-productivity developments. We also tackle the issue of the real convergence within EMU and why it seems to be lagging behind the real convergence across some other parts of the world. Maybe a set of policy options and instruments available within the monetary union is too weak to achieve the ultimate goal of real convergence.

In the main part of the paper we study some links between international competitiveness and economic resilience. We start with differences of the concept of resiliency in natural and social systems, before we give a short review of causes of economic crises, which would help us to discuss the roots of ongoing economic crisis. In section four we go on to explore theoretical and empirical regularities concerning the links between labour costs (labour productivity/compensation) and trade imbalances, with a special focus on the recent crisis in Southern Europe EMU countries. Section five discusses some pitfalls on the road to economic resiliency and policy dilemmas that are most relevant for monetary integrated areas, but may also have general economic policy relevance. The final section concludes.

2. THE CONCEPT OF RESILIENCE IN NATURAL AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

Resilience is a universal feature that applies to both natural and anthropogenic systems. It is an attribute of dynamic and adaptive systems. These systems perpetually evolve through cycles of growth, accumulation, crisis, and renewal, and often self-organize into unexpected new configurations (Center for resilience at the Ohio State University).

Economic resilience is a piece of jigsaw which, assembled, points to the need for a much broader perspective over the development issues, and which includes mutual interactions among economic and other systems, and comprises environmental, social, and even cultural resilience. Economic resilience means "the ability of an economic system to withstand adverse shocks, and reallocate resources to areas that offer new growth opportunities" (Munitlak-Ivanović, Zubović 2017, 18). If a system, while faced with challenges, possesses ability to cope, adapt and transform, it can be labeled as resilient (Golubović, Golubović 2017, 14).

Resilience is obviously a quality of a system which can be assigned an absolute value, at least theoretically. If a system bounces back to the equilibrium immediately, and at no costs, it possesses absolute resilience. In real life, the level of resiliency should be assessed by virtue of costs and time that are necessary to

pull the system back to equilibrium, to restore the previous one, or to shift it to the new one. In economic life, time has value, and this is why one can use the phrase "the lost decade" referring to the time spent in recovering growth after a shock (e.g. Japan economic recession in 90s).

Resilience is also a quality of market structures. Market resiliency measures the speed by which new trade corrects temporary imbalance between demand and supply and brings market price to the new fundamental value, if the trade was informational, or the speed by which new trade brings the price back to the previous level if the disrupting trade wasn't based on the fundamental information. Thus, "resiliency is a characteristic of markets in which new orders flow quickly to correct order imbalances, which tend to move prices away from what is warranted by fundamentals." (Sarr, Lybek 2002, 5). This concept rests on the assumption that assets are eventually going to be priced on fair value, and what matters is the speed at which it happens. Yet, (asset) market interactions can be complex, but still far from the complexity of some other economic systems. The more complex system is, the more it will incline to non-ergodic type, i.e. mutable reality outcomes of economic decisions evolve over time in its nature and content. In that case, resilience will not result in movement along a smooth trajectory, but rather in continuous adaptation to changing conditions. According to Tainter (2006, 92), if a system (social or ecological) has the capacity to continue a desired condition or process, this indicates its sustainability, while resiliency indicates the ability of a system to adjust its configuration and function under disturbance.

Rojas-Suarez (2015) defines macroeconomic resiliency as ability of an economy to resist a shock, assuming that the shock comes from outside and all the resources an economy has at disposal to cope with it are internal. In such framework, macroeconomic resiliency contains two elements: fragility and capacity to react to shocks. At this point we would underline that there are some similarities but also important differences between environmental shocks and economic shocks. Fellow economists which are not ready to accept blame of its profession for not foreseeing a disastrous event tend to focus solely on crisis transmission mechanism. There is a vast number of studies of economic disturbances that treat crisis phenomenon as it is coming from elsewhere. It is clear for so called "contagion" branch of explanations, which is obviously rooted in natural sciences, particularly medicine. However, many disastrous events in the economic life have not happened all of a sudden, and taken us by complete surprise. Economic disturbances are not uncontrollable events; they are growing with us, and growing because of us. It is probably true that from the very beginning, it is hard to assess the extent of an incoming disorder. As Jordà et al. (2010, 5) wrote: "[f]inancial crises, clinical depression and spam e-mail share common features that require specialized statistical methods. They can be characterized as binary events (one is in a financial crisis or not, one is depressed or not, an e-mail is spam or not) whose outcome may be difficult to verify even ex-post—was it a financial crisis or a simple recession, clinical depression or bipolar disorder, spam e-mail or a commercial e-mail about a product we own?" However, it also might be true that one serious or a series of small mistakes help an initial disorder to transform into full blown crisis. Economists usually choose (rather arbitrarily) a point from which they will start exploring role of different actors, their actions and reactions, leaving all that happened before simply as given.

There are some similarities between systems in nature, especially living nature (e.g. ecosystems) and anthropogenic systems, like societies. Elements interact, adapt and evolve over time. Interactions between units are based on some regularity that can be known or unknown to us. However, physics and biology never go wrong, causality never fails, and it is repeated the same way over and over again.

If we accept that building our world resilient should be our ultimate goal, we model our behaviour based on the assumption that shocks come from elsewhere, and all that we can do is to adapt. All the actors on the social scene are prone to mistakes. If no one makes mistakes, no one will be forced to adapt. Thus, our focus on resilience is somehow too narrow for social systems. It is based on the assumption that for most of us bad things happen, and when it happens, causes chain reaction such as how to avoid to be hit, and if one cannot be missed, how to control damage, and learn from the past episode in order to prepare itself for the next one.

Thus, the biggest difference between natural and anthropogenic catastrophe is that humans can control the emergence of the latter one. The emergence of the natural catastrophe is based on physics, as well as transmission of it. The reactions are complex but predictable and lead to the range of solutions (outcomes) that can be foreseen, and calculated with a reasonable accuracy. Nevertheless, despite of the increased awareness and understanding, natural catastrophes are still hard to anticipate, and all that people can do is to change the way of life in order to reduce impacts that inevitably come from nature.

In anthropogenic systems knowledge matters (Tainter 2006). Knowledge in society is disseminated amongst individuals. An individual accumulates knowledge over the lifetime, carries its knowledge, but the knowledge eventually dies with the carrier. Despite the inventions made to store and disseminate knowledge (library achieves, extended databases, searching machines etc.) our understanding of processes around us is still far from flawless. For example, if mankind had the right answer it does not necessary mean that anyone can reach it. One needs some

knowledge even to look for knowledge. Individuals and organizations make many decisions in the deficit of knowledge and without full understanding of processes. If the knowledge is readily available how can be explained the fact that the same bad things happen all over again. Reinhart and Rogoff (2009) coined the phrase "this time is different phenomenon", trying to explain why we do not learn from the experience of others.

Humans are the only living creatures that are prone to wrong reactions, errors, since we make decisions. Although economic crises are sometimes classified as external to the system, but they are never external to the whole humanity. There is always a human mistake somewhere, big enough to trigger a crisis, and likely a chain of mistakes that help the crisis transmit.

3. CHALLENGED RESILIENCY: ARE WE LIVING BEYOND OUR MEANS?

Kajfež-Bogataj forcefully underlined in her keynote speech: "We are living beyond our means, on resources borrowed from the future and the model of capitalism we use today is inadequate? Both the environmental crisis and the financial crisis have the same root cause – living beyond our means, on resources borrowed from the future." (Reić, Šimić 2009, xi). This statement can be easily accepted, in the first approximation, as a valid explanation of deeper roots of the contemporary crisis. However, such behaviour is not common for entire world, at least not in any specific point of time.

Despite the common phrase used in policy circles and even in academia, we have reservations against referring to the last crisis as a global phenomenon. At least concerning its roots, and to a large extent the ways it has been transmitted outside the country of origin, it was mostly limited to the most advanced industrialized countries. Nevertheless, growth opportunities were challenged in the vast number of countries, but one could reasonably expect that sluggish or negative growth in the part of the world which represents the engine of world demand would have an impact on growth in the rest of the world.

Such an economic "earthquake" should awaken policy makers, and bring them to reality. Why are new industrialized countries currently doing better than old ones? Maybe the economic resources are not that much in favour of currently most advanced economics as it used to be, and the current level of consumption and living standard are not well rooted anymore.

Is there any economic fact that can be used to test this hypothesis? What reveals a real strength of any national economy is the outcome of an economic battle that takes place vis-à-vis all other nations. Nations compete in the world market, so that current account balances would probably provide an insight into who is winning and who is losing the race.

3.1. Economic crises and trade imbalances

There is a large body of literature dealing with determinants of financial and economic crises, exploring both spatial and temporal dimensions of crises. In this short review we will limit our interest only to those contributions which are more comprehensive and refer to the most recent crisis in developed countries. By studying macroeconomic fundamentals of developed countries within the sample of several most striking international crises over the period of last 140 years, Jordà et al. (2010) agree that external imbalances, huge and protracted current account deficits, along with credit growth and behaviour of interest rates, help explaining incidence, duration and overall social costs of financial disturbances. The authors found that the current account deteriorates in the run-up to isolated (local) crises, although the evidence seems inconclusive in global crises, possibly because both surplus and deficit countries get embroiled in the crisis. Interestingly, in a less formal way of analysis, Hume and Sentance (2009) found the same determinants important in explaining the roots of recent financial and economic crisis across the developed world. The authors moved forward in explaining global imbalances, by blaming low-cost producers for systematic deterioration of trade accounts of majority of Western economies. Moreover, in a most comprehensive review of determinants of financial crises, which covered 83 studies, Frankel and Saravelos (2012, p. 218) found current account balance fifth most frequently cited variable that significantly explains incoming crises. If we add export and import data which some studies report as variables that substitute for the current account variable it will boost foreign trade related variables as third best early warning indicator, just behind international reserves and real exchange rate. Having in mind that the better performing variables at the same time constitute exchange market pressure index (per se a measure of crisis intensity), it makes the variable of concern one of paramount importance.

Just to make a picture complete, we would underline that the importance of current account imbalances for macroeconomic fragility is not one of lesser extent even for emerging countries. Rojas-Suarez (2015) framework for emerging markets macroeconomic resilience puts current account balance (relative to GDP) on the top of seven indicators chosen to make a synthetic measure of macroeconomic resiliency, where the indicators are separated to indicators that destabilizing effects

of an adverse external shock on macroeconomic performance depend on; and those which portray country's ability to respond to shock (fiscal balance, public debt, inflation performance and credit growth). Current account balance, along with indicators of external solvency and liquidity, belongs to the former group of indicators. The above intellectual exercise brings us to the point that we would like to address next; that is, how the persistent and potentially disastrous trade imbalances across the world can be explained.

4. COST OF ECONOMIC RESOURCES AND ECONOMIC RESILIENCE

The logic of unit labour costs that determine international competitiveness can be traced back to Ricardo (1817). Later contributions (e.g. Dornbusch et al., 1977) put forward the old arguments to the point that the labour costs are seen as the main driver of international competitiveness. However, although the argumentation of mainstream theory seems strong, empirics seems less clear on this issue. The weak and even inverse long-term causal relationship between the change in unit labour costs and output growth, as well as international competitiveness, is known as Kaldor (1978) paradox. The author proved empirically that in a time span that lasted several decades the countries that have had steepest increase of unit labour costs were the countries with the steepest economic growth and improved national competitiveness. This is probably due to the long-term technological changes and the contribution of intangible economic resources (Kyrkilis et al., 2016), which are the factors that are more likely to make difference in larger time spans. However, since radical changes in production technology take some time to become an influential determinant of labour-output relationship, in the meantime, day-to-day changes in unit labour costs, driven by other factors, remain the main driver of international competitiveness, and consequently the main driver of changes in output growth across nations. Those two forces of international competitiveness work in unity, they are not mutually exclusive. Although it is clear from the stance of economic theory, when it comes to economic policy it appears that there is much more confusion. Policy makers advocate either for austerity measures, ignoring a whole set of economic growth determinants that lay outside of labour costs, or calling for alternative economic reforms negating strong economic logic of unit labour costs as a determinant of competitiveness.

What might the drivers of radically changed relative international competitiveness be? In the table (1) some winners and losers are listed. The data are from official source (OECD), and this is why we excluded China from the comparisons. Although the case of China *per se* is very interesting, the data source contains no records for this country, as well as for some other emerging surplus countries. In the first section of the table, Germany, Japan and South Korea are listed,

representing the current account surplus countries (winners), while the worst EMU performers, Greece, Portugal, Spain and Ireland (losers), are presented in the second section of the table.

	GDP per hour worked		Labour compensation per hour worked		Unit labour costs	
	1996-2007	2007-2015	1996-2007	2007-2015	1996-2007	2007-2015
CA surplus co	ountries					
Germany	1.67	0.58	1.51	2.60	-0.16	2.03
Japan	1.68	0.83	-0.11	0.22	-1.79	-0.61
Korea	5.08	2.92	6.23	4.18	1.15	1.27
Southern Europe and Ireland						
Portugal	1.38	0.78	4.24	0.53	2.86	-0.25
Ireland	3.55	4.95	6.40	1.72	2.86	-3.23
Greece	2.56	-1.15	6.50	-0.89	3.94	0.26
Spain	0.21	1.33	3.04	1.49	2.83	0.16

 Table 1: Labour costs and productivity (annual growth rates, %)

Source: OECD (2017a, 2017b, 2017c, 2017d) authors' recalculation

Unit labour costs index (hereafter ULC) is a widely accepted measure for international competitiveness. By the way of construction, the measure compounds two distinct indicators. Thus, for a more sophisticated analysis, one has to decompose the unit labour costs into a more purified measure of "labour" productivity and a measure that captures change in wages. The measure of productivity is GDP per hour worked, while the measure of change in wages is labour compensation per hour worked. All original (genuine) data series (levels) are expressed in USD constant prices (2010 PPPs), so that they are completely comparable. In order to investigate whether the economic downturn that became visible in year 2007 can be explained by changes in international competitiveness we recalculated the indicators so as to compare periods before and after the crisis.

Data in Table (1) are average annual growth rates for the period (in percentage). The growth rate of ULC is then simply difference between the growth rate of labour compensation per hour worked and the growth rate of GDP per hour worked. Therefore, if the labour compensation (wages) increases at steeper rate than "labour" productivity, it will generate a rise in unit labour costs (by hours worked), and damage countries' competitive position. The data show that during the decade before the crisis all the Southern Europe countries plus Ireland exhibited no problem with stimulating growth by means of labour productivity. For Ireland and Greece average growth rate of labour productivity was above that of Germany and Japan. However, during the period, gap in unit labour costs steadily accumulated because of differences in growth rates of labour compensation.

Namely, in those countries wages increased much faster than in Germany and Japan (even negative figures).

Although some authors (e.g. Flassbeck 2016) were prone to address the issue of reshaped national competitiveness throughout the EMU, and particularly position of Germany vis-à-vis Southern Europe EMU countries, by calling upon Germany's policy of undercutting its wage increase so as to lag behind real productivity growth, the regularity is far less striking in our exercise. Our data (Table 1) show that Germany can be blamed only for not joining the wage race, probably motivated to fence off from main international competitors. By performing the "internal devaluation" Germany resorted to "beggar-thy-neighbour, but only after beggaring its own people" (Flassbeck 2016, 15).

Unfortunately, the issue of data availability restricts our analysis to the most recent periods. However, there are some data exclusively on "labour" productivity available even for earlier periods, which make us able to assess long-term productivity trends. For example, during the period from 1983 to 1996, all sampled countries recorded stable productivity growth, with Korea leading the group with average annual growth rate of 7.05 %, followed with Ireland (4.04) and Japan (3.60). All other countries except Greece (1.23) recorded average rate above two percent annually.

The temporal change in "labour" productivity is just a part of whole picture, which tells nothing about relative productivity among the countries in the sample. The next table (2) presents the data on the level of labour productivity (USD constant prices, 2010 PPPs) for the countries (added Turkey) relative to that of Germany. The data show that labour productivity of all countries in the sample (except Ireland most recently) is lagging behind that of Germany.

	1983	1996	2007	2015
CA surplus countr	ies	·	·	
Japan	0.59	0.69	0.69	0.70
Korea	0.17	0.31	0.45	0.54
Southern Europe d	and Ireland			
Portugal	0.55	0.56	0.54	0.55
Ireland	0.63	0.77	0.94	1.32
Greece	0.65	0.55	0.61	0.53
Spain	0.92	0.88	0.75	0.79
Memorandum				
Turkey	0.43	0.45	0.56	0.62

 Table 2: GDP per hour worked relative to Germany

Source: OECD (2017b) authors' recalculation

What is symptomatic is that both within Europe and on the global scene, it seems that there is one major player which implements "beggars-thy-neighbours" policy. In Europe it is Germany, and in the globe it is China. Those two cases have something common, but also have some distinct features. According to some classifications (Abdon et al. 2010), Germany is the second-most complex economy in the world, after Japan, and the second most diversified economy after Italy. Germany exports total of 5,107 products while 2,113 with revealed comparative advantage. This country dominates or has two-digit share in world export of top ten most complex products. Those facts lead some authors to conclude that using Germany for comparisons is somehow misleading. There are some pieces of research (Abdon et al. 2010) that prove that Southern Europe countries as a group differ in export structure so much that they do not compete directly with Germany. At least so far, China story has seemed completely opposite. It is an astonishing fact that solely in the first decade of new millennium China tripled its share of world export of manufactures, which now reached two digits figures. Many would agree that China's competitive advantage rests on cheap and productive labour. Moreover, its export structure becomes increasingly sophisticated (Ceglowski, Golub 2012). Those are two completely opposite strategies for penetrating foreign markets. Technological advance makes Germany protected from fierce (price) competition, while China is the economy which fuels price competition on the global market. To rephrase, China is doing better (cheaper) in what all other countries can do.

The stable growth in productivity is common feature of all sampled countries in the decade that precedes the crisis strike. However, what made change in international competitiveness was different pace at which wages were growing before the crisis. Being a full currency union, EMU, and its adjustment policy, operates with one hand tied. If there aren't national currencies, there is no scope for external (currency) devaluation to restore competitiveness between member states. The only way to adjust is through unit production costs, of which the unit labour costs represent a major part. New developments in EMU, both novel macroeconomic imbalance procedure (above all more stress put on balanced trade) and latest records, proved common understanding that coordination of price and wage evolution is a key requirement for a successful currency union. After decades' long history of current account deficits, Portugal, Ireland and Spain recorded a break into surplus in 2013, while Greece succeeded the same in 2015. This trend coincides with either reversals in unit labour costs (Ireland and Portugal) or moderations of previous high growth (Spain and Greece). At the same time, Germany allowed an increase of unit labour costs to the level which proved harmless for trade balance, since for the period of 2007 to 2015 the country recorded even a steep increase in current account surpluses (from an average of 1.61 percent of GDP for prior-crisis decade to 6.60 percent in last eight years), not so from trade with the Union members, but largely from trade vis-à-vis the rest of the world.

The next Figure (1) shows spatial relationship between the current account balance (in percent of GDP) and the movements in unit labour costs. Both variables are expressed as average rate for the period (1996–2007) with unit labour costs as annual growth rates. Although the analysis is not based on sophisticated econometrics, it seems rather convincing that a chronic issue of balancing current account can be related to the dynamics of unit labour costs.



Figure 1: Current account balance vis-à-vis unit labour costs

Source: OECD (2017a, 2017b, 2017c, 2017d) authors' recalculation

The idea that unit labour costs determine trade flows, and consequently output growth, rests on the assumption that nothing is changed in income distribution, e.g. the capital costs are constant over time, or tends to equalize across countries. Felipe and Kumar (2011) show that "loss of competitiveness" by some countries in the EMU is not just a question of nominal wages increasing faster than labour productivity, since nominal profit rates decreased at a slower pace than the capital productivity. Based on the data that covers the period from 1980 up to 2007, the analysis reveals that in all EMU countries but Greece the share of capital in value

added increased, even tripled in case in Austria. Thus, the question is whether the lost competitiveness belongs to diminishing capital productivity, i.e. rising unit costs of capital, along with highly debated rising unit labour costs.

When an economy is faced with a rise in production costs that jeopardize long term growth, the question is how those potentially dangerous tendencies are tolerated. If the economy is resilient, such gaps would never accumulate to the level where concerted reaction of market and policy forces is necessary. The market forces alone will be sufficient to hold up dangerous tendencies. The discussed crisis episode explains that neither free market possesses the strength to bring equilibrium back, nor policy interventions could guarantee that.

5. SOME PITFALLS ON THE ROAD TO A RESILIENT ECONOMY AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS

At this point we should stress an insightful introductory remark of Jordà et al. (2010, 1): "It is a great irony that crises are orphans right up to their inception, at which point they become the scions of *new economic orthodoxies* [italics added] and a few fortune tellers." If the global financial crisis that struck across Europe in 2007 revealed that EMU ruled by monetarists orthodoxy failed to achieve real convergence, so will the same, prolonged economic recession and crisis of Europe competitiveness unveil shaky grounds of the adjustment policy based on neoclassical recipes, which assume potential of flexible labour market to restore the lost competitiveness, and again, bring Europe back on the road to real convergence.

When working on the terrain of adjustment policy one has to consider two corner solutions: austerity measures, or (further) stimulation of aggregate demand. The first approach so far proved to be rather costly adjustment policy for some countries, since it brought crisis of under-consumption at the doors. The second corner solution appears not a viable option anymore, since the hardest hit countries already reached dangerous levels of public debt. This shortage of easy solutions indicates that an economy, once driven out of the tracks because of overspending, possesses no solution that excludes future under-spending. Moreover, even if under-spending (austerity) is accepted it can be rather complicated to implement with success.

If we assume that there are two forces that drive output, investment and consumption, and introduce income distribution as endogenous variable, a distressed economy that is staggering for international competitiveness, will inevitably become stuck in one or another type of crisis. An increase of labour share in value-added will increase domestic consumption, but decrease incentives to invest, and a profitability crisis and unemployment will emerge. An increase of capital share in value-added would stimulate investments, but, if not followed with increase of consumption, the crisis of under-consumption will emerge. Theory of regional economic integrations suggests that factor mobility will wipe out local disequilibria toward a new regional equilibrium, but the process has so far failed.

EMU policy package currently combines country specific fiscal tightening response and all-across-EMU relaxation through expansionary monetary policy, which, despite of unprecedented extent, have not put in danger traditional measures of monetary stability yet. Such a combination was designed as a proper response of a monetary integrated area on asymmetric economic shock.

Through the post crisis recovery package, leading countries (e.g. Germany) endeavour to protect growth, while, in countries hit most hard during the financial turmoil, stability was targeted as their prime concern. However, in this episode, road to stability goes through restored international competitiveness.

As is always the case, there will not be one-size-fits-all policy. If an economy were producing only for export, its output would be driven by world demand, and the domestic demand would not matter. For the group of countries that we study, the case of Ireland is the sole one close to this ideal. For other countries, domestic consumption will drive output to a larger extent. Therefore, the policy orientation should be case specific. If an economy is one of export-led type, wage cuts, and consequently domestic consumption cuts, would likely decrease import and increase export, boost international competitiveness and output. An overall economy would benefit from this policy action, as happened recently in Ireland. However, if an economy is wage-led one, with domestic demand (consumption) that dominates international demand (consumption), wage cuts would probably harm domestic demand more than it would stimulate international component of total demand for national product, and the trade-off would hardly be positive at the end of the day. In such economies, reward of capital investments will be protected if decreasing share of profit in output is compensated with increased total output, due to the increase of total consumption.

It is obvious that countries outside of monetary union have some extra room to maneuver. They have at hand nominal devaluation. Let us discuss merits of internal (real) vs. external (nominal) devaluation. Internal devaluation which is aimed to restore competitiveness based on downward adjustment in relative wages probably impacts on the wages in all sectors. Currency devaluation, on the opposite side, impacts on the (real) wages exactly where is needed (Flassbeck 2016, 18) in the industries that compete internationally. External devaluation will have an

immediate positive effect on profit margin in export oriented industries, i.e. increase share of profit relative to labour costs, providing that wages and prices do not follow an upward trend after the depreciation. The effects of currency devaluation on profit margin and wages in import oriented industries and non-tradable sector will depend on the way that wages adjust internally. However, it is likely that such development would not harm domestic consumption as much as internal devaluation (wage decrease) would do. Mechanism of internal devaluation rests on the assumptions that wages in industries exposed to international competition do not follow labour productivity, so that unit labour costs do not tend to equalize internationally, or, wages in non-tradable sectors do not align downward with the wages in tradable sector, opposite to mechanism explained in Balassa (1964). Therefore, a government has to put pressure on wages in non-tradable sector, most likely the public sector, hopping that the wage decrease will spread throughout the labour market.

6. CONCLUSION

The theorem that unit labour costs direct trade flows across nations belongs to the basic economic regularity known as "law of one price", which, in this particular case, means that the same resource must be priced the same all over the world. More specifically, reward for labour should be related to its productivity, which is the measure of its quality. Unfortunately, opposite to the laws of physics, economic laws are possible to ignore for some time.

If the economies were resilient, they would prevent the pressure to accumulate to the level that crisis becomes inevitable, and, it would not be that visible that economic law regulates our lives. Economic crises are signs that our undertakings are limited by economic laws. They are punishments for the committed crimes. Fortunately, the economic systems have circuit breakers built-in. Those are hard facts of economic life. Attempts to seize unjustified reward for any resource will be mirrored in lost international competitiveness, external debt accumulation and ultimately in jeopardized growth.

The episode that we have studied here points out some policy fallacies. The first one is that ongoing monetary integration per se helps achieving pre-conditions necessary for creating one such integration, especially in terms of relative size of output shocks and their synchronization (Karras, Stokes 2001). Namely, merits of monetary integration are strong if there is perfect intraregional migration of labour and unrestrained inflow and outflow of capital funds, but also mutual compatibilities of the member countries in matters of economic institutions and coordination of national policies, in the complementarities of their trade patters, business cycle and shock synchronization (Swofford 2000). Those economic conditions make an abandoning of monetary autonomy almost a costless strategy. However, even the very father of optimal currency area theory, Mundell (1961) underlined that at the beginning of the monetary unification, member countries have been far from an optimum currency area in terms of mobility of economic resources (capital and labour) and price and wage flexibility. According to Rogoff (2005) EMU failed to achieve the level of its labour market integration and flexibility, and remains a non-optimal currency area, decades after the creation. Secondly, it is a pitfall that adjustment mechanism that goes through divergent price and wage trajectories, if needed, will operate well (automatically) and at costs that societies readily accept.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This chapter is written as a part of the research project OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions for Economic Development and Harmonisation with EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science, and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

REFERENCES

- 1. Abdon, A., Bacate, M., Felipe, J., Kumar, U. (2010) Product complexity and economic development. Working Paper 616. Annandale-on-Hudson (NY): Levy Economics Institute of Bard College.
- 2. Balassa, B. (1964) The purchasing power parity doctrine: A reappraisal. *Journal of Political Economy*, 72 (6): 584–596.
- 3. Ceglowski, J., Golub, S. (2012) Does China still have a labor cost advantage? *Global Economy Journal*, 12 (3), doi: 10.1515/1524-5861.1874.
- 4. Center for resilience at the Ohio State University, *Rethinking Sustainability*, http://resilience.osu.edu/CFR-site/concepts.htm (15.06.2017)
- 5. Dornbusch, R., Fisher, S., Samuelson, P. (1977) Comparative advantage, trade, and payments in a Ricardian model with a continuum of goods. *American Economic Review*, 67 (5): 823–839.
- Felipe, J., Kumar, U. (2011) Unit labor costs in the eurozone: The competitiveness debate again. Working Paper No. 651. Annandale-on-Hudson (NY): Levy Economics Institute of Bard College.
- Flassbeck, H. (2016) Macroeconomic theory and macroeconomic logic: The case of euro crisis. In Karasavvoglou, A., Kyrkilis, D., Makris, G., Polychronidou, P. (Eds.) *Economic crisis, development and competitiveness in Southeastern Europe*: 3-22. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Frankel, J., Saravelos, G. (2012) Can leading indicators assess country vulnerability? Evidence from the 2008-09 global financial crisis. *Journal of International Economics*, 87, 216–231.

- Golubović, N., Golubović, S. (2017) The role of social capital in strengthening the resilience of the Serbian economy. In Duričin, S., Ljumović, I., Stevanović S. (Eds.) *Opportunities for inclusive and resilient growth*: 11–32. Belgrade: Institute of economic sciences.
- Hume, M., Sentence, A. (2009) The global credit boom: Challenges for macroeconomics and policy. *Journal of International Money and Finance*, 28 (8): 1426–1461.
- Jordà, Ò., Schularick, M., Taylor, M. A. (2010) Financial crises, credit booms, and external imbalances: 140 years of lessons. Working Paper 16567, Cambridge (MA): National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Kaldor, N. (1978) Causes of the slow rate of economic growth in the United Kingdom. In Kaldor Nicholas (Ed.) *Further essays on economic theory*: 100–138. New York: Holmes & Meyer.
- 13. Karras, G., Stokes, H. H. (2001) Time-varying criteria for monetary integration: Evidence from the EMU. *International Review of Economics and Finance*, 10, 171– 185.
- Kyrkilis, D., Makris, G., Hazakis, K. (2016) Economic crisis and national competitiveness: Does labor cost link the two? The case of the South Eurozone states. In Karasavvoglou A., Kyrkilis, D., Makris, G., Polychronidou, P. (Eds.) *Economic crisis, development and competitiveness in Southeastern Europe*: 23–39. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- 15. Rogoff, K. (2005) The euro at five: short-run pain, long-run gain? *Journal of Policy Modeling*, 27 (4): 441–443.
- 16. Mundell, R. (1961) A theory of optimum currency areas. *American Economic Review*, 51 (4): 657–665.
- Munitlak-Ivanović, O., Zubović, J. (2017) From the Millennium Development Goals to the resilience consept: Theoretical similarities and differences. In Malović M., Roy, K. (Eds.) *The state and the market in economic development: In pursuit of Millennium Development Goals*: 7–29. Calcutta: The International Institute for Development Studies.
- OECD (2017a) Current account balance (indicator). doi: 10.1787/b2f74f3a-en (Accessed on 29 May 2017)
- 19. OECD (2017b) GDP per hour worked (indicator). doi: 10.1787/1439e590-en (Accessed on 29 May 2017)
- 20. OECD (2017c) Labour compensation per hour worked (indicator). doi: 10.1787/251ec2da-en (Accessed on 29 May 2017)
- OECD (2017d) Unit labour costs (indicator). doi: 10.1787/37d9d925-en (Accessed on 29 May 2017
- 22. Reić, Z., Šimić, V. (2009). *Challenges of Europe: Financial crisis and climate change*. 8th International Conference, Split: Faculty of Economics.
- 23. Reinhart, C., Rogoff, K. (2009) *This time is different: eight centuries of financial folly*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- 24. Ricardo, D. (1817) *On the principles of political economy and taxation*. London: John Murray.
- 25. Rojas-Suarez, L. (2015) Emerging market macroeconomic resilience to external shocks: Today versus pre-global crisis. Center for Global Development, February.

http://www.cgdev.org/publication/emerging-market-resilience-external-shockstoday-versus-pre-global-crisis

- 26. Sarr, A., Lybek, T. (2002) Measuring liquidity in financial markets. IMF Working Paper 02/232. Washington, D.C: IMF.
- 27. Swofford, J. (2000) Microeconomic foundations of an optimal currency area. *Review of Financial Economics*, 9 (1): 121–128.
- 28. Tainter, A. J. (2006) Social complexity and sustainability. *Ecological Complexity*, 3, 91–103.

ORGANIC PRODUCT LABELLING: CONSUMER ATTITUDES AND IMPACT ON PURCHASING DECISION

Isidora LJUMOVIĆ, PhD, Research Associate* Ivana LEČOVSKI-MILOJKIĆ, PhD student*

Abstract: The objective of this research is to analyse attitudes of the consumers towards the organic products and to determine the level of confidence they have towards the legally established label for organic products. A large number of studies have shown that when buying, consumers usually opt for a product with a trademark that guarantees a certain quality. We used questionnaires designed specifically to obtain customer-level data in order to evaluate their attitudes towards organic products and labelling. Having in mind identified constrains and literature review, we structured questionnaires to test their opinion about organic food, basic criteria when opting for groceries and are they willing to pay more for the organic products. Survey results show that consumers in Serbia have awareness of the importance of healthy eating habits and they are ready to allocate more money to buy organic products due to their quality, safety and nutrition. Their basic criteria when opting for groceries is food composition, followed by recommendation and price.

Keywords: consumer attitudes, organic products, organic production, organic certification process, national organic label

1. INTRODUCTION

Recent years brought environment preservation in the focus, stressing out concerns about food safety and intensive development of organic production and new alternative ways to produce healthy, safe and environmentally friendly products. Organic products have a number of advantages in terms of their wellbeing and absence of numerous harmful chemicals that are widely used in conventional production. In addition, the negative impact on the environment has been minimized. The organic products do not contain substances that are harmful to health - pesticides, heavy metal residues, hormones and other veterinary preparations, mycotoxins, synthetic additives or genetically modified organisms.

^{*} Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia, isidora.ljumovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

[•] Faculty of Organizational Sciences, Serbia, ivana.lecovski@gmail.com

Another aspect of organic production put points out that the products are produced in accordance with the basic laws of nature, in harmony with the flora and fauna, compliant with climatic conditions and as such have the vitality that primarily has a positive impact on the consumer. This sustainable production system does not pollute the environment. Synthetic protective agents and artificial fertilizers are not used, animal breeding takes place in a way that contributes to the well-being of animals themselves and enables the production of far more secure products of animal origin for consumers. During production, priority is given to renewable energy sources and the use of energy is minimized during production and processing.

Organic production is a legally regulated and includes the control and certification process from the farm to the market (FAO, 2011). It is a complex, strictly controlled production system that operates under the defined rules of IFOAM (the International Federation of Organic Agriculture Movements), which every country adapts specifically to its conditions and specificities of the local market and then regulates it. There are a number of conditions that each producer must fulfill in terms of the use of the law of the foreseen techniques and resources in order to carry out organic agricultural production. This fully controlled production is regulated in the Republic of Serbia by the Law on Organic Production (Sluzbeni glasnik RS", No.30/10,07.05.2010).

2. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

The intensive expansion of areas under organic crops reflects the importance of organic production. According to the latest data from the Organic Monitor, it is estimated that the global organic product market has reached 75 billion euros in 2015, with the US as a leading market (35.9 billion euros), followed by Germany (8.6 billion euros), France (5.5 billion) and China (EUR 4.7 billion). Switzerland, on the other hand has the highest organic products consumption of 262 EUR per capita in 2015 according to FiBL (www.fibl.org). There are a number of factors that influence consumer decision to buy organic products: availability, price, perceived quality, family reasons, political/ethical issues, health problems (Hjelmar, 2011). Organic barometer study conducted in Switzerland showed changes in organic demand trends for the first time in 2015: 608 consumers participated in the research, 11% of them are already buying organic products, 28% often buy organic products and 43% buy organic products only occasionally. All three groups of respondents intend to buy more organic products in the future. The most important motive for the purchase of organic products is the "avoidance of pesticide residues in food", "contribution to environmental protection" and "natural production/foods with less additives and processing" (FiBL, 2016).

On a global scale, organic production is interesting and important because it protects natural resources from pollution and preserves biodiversity. Also, it provides long-term maintenance and enhancement of soil fertility. At the country level, it can ensure sustainable socio-economic rural development, while at the consumer level, organic production provides safety (Ljumović, Lečovski-Milojkić, 2015a). Developing and transitional countries with optimal environmental conditions in rural areas have the opportunity to increase their supply of organic products on international market and thus boost profit without compromising the environment with dirty technologies, typical of these countries (Ljumović et. al, 2015). According to FiBL's available data from 2014, 43.7 million hectares of agricultural land is under organic production (including areas in the period of conversion). Almost 1% of the agricultural land in the world is under organic production, where 40% of total organic areas are in Australia and Oceania, 27% are in Europe, 15% in Latin America, 8% in Asia, North America 7% and only 3% in Africa (FiBL, 2016).

In Serbia about 2,000 producers are engaged in organic production, with about 15,000 ha under organic crops and a tendency of growth due to increasing demand for organic products on both domestic and foreign markets. According to the data from 2015, area under organic production reached 0.44% of total agriculture land, which is lower than the average in the EU (data from 2013 show, there was about 5.4% of land under organic crops in the EU, www.pks.rs). Organic production in Serbia is regulated since 2000 and the regulations are harmonized with EU regulations. The possession of the organic certificate enables producers to access the organic products market and provides consumers with security when buying. The process of obtaining the certificate is extremely rigorous, long-term and costly. However, with the acquisition of certificate, customers get certain security in product quality and producers can sell their products at a significantly higher price, which can lead to a rise in the profitability. In order to distinguish the organic from conventional products, they must be marked with a specific label, each country defining its own. During the 2006 in Serbia the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Water Management prescribed the appearance and content of the label for the certified organic product and the label for the product from the period of conversion: "Organic products that are placed on the market shall be declared in accordance with special regulations governing organic production and labeling and advertising of food. The product from the conversion period, which implies the time period prescribed for the transition to the organic production system for a period of 1 to 3 years, also have its mark, prescribed by law" (Službeni glasnik RS, No.88/16, 28 October 2016). Both marks are displayed at Figure 1.





The official EU logo for the labeling of organic products, known as Euroleaf (Figure 2), was introduced in July 2010. If used, this product must be legally qualified as organic and fully compliant with the conditions and regulations for the organic sector established by the EU. For processed products, this means that at least 95% of ingredients are of organic origin. Imported organic products have a label prescribed by the country in which they are produced, as well as a sign for organic products used in the Republic of Serbia.





Certification and control process provide security for producers in terms of protection against unfair competition which attempts to manipulate certain labels and words in names of their products and often misleads buyers in terms of the quality of their products. The names of some products contain the prefix "bio", "eco", "organic" even if they have not actually passed through the process of control and certification or produced according to the principles of organic production. The consumers can be sure that the products labeled as organic have been produced under rigorous control which is constituted by the law that can confirm that the product is coming from controlled organic production system.

3. LITERATURE REVIEW

Consumers opt for the purchase of organic products for several reasons - because organic production uses less pesticides and fertilizers, it is considered to be less environmentally damaging and there are also health reasons (Van Doorn & Verhoef, 2011). Many studies show that health and nutrition aspects are the most important factors affecting the procurement of organic food (Honkanen et al., 2006). In addition to health reasons, motives for buying and consuming organic food are ethic (animal welfare or environmental protection), quality (taste) and national origin (Hielmar, 2011). On the other hand, when it comes to producing organic products, profitability is one of the basic criteria that agricultural producers take into account when deciding on a particular type of production. However, the number of producers, who, in addition to profitability, also require quality, safety and environmental protection is increasing (Lečovski-Milojkić, 2015). Recent research showed that it is possible to achieve profitability of agricultural production with respect to the organic principles. Analysis of organic soybean production pointed out that it is possible to achieve profitability and at the same time realize the benefit to the society as a whole (Ljumović, Lečovski-Milojkić, 2015b). The promotion of the use of organic products could be enhanced by introducing additional content at the organic farms, such as accommodation, food and beverage, natural tours, horse riding or even offer volunteering on organic farms in exchange for accommodation and food. Serbia has a big potential in terms of development of organic/eco tourism, due to the large number of protected resources, natural areas, national parks, reserves, monuments and a large number of protected plant and animal species. Since organic food has gained an increasing popularity worldwide including Serbia recently, there is the trend of increase of the cultivated land area under the organic production (Ljumović, Lečovski-Milojkić, 2015a). Promotion of organic products and rural tourism can also enhance entrepreneurship (especially female entrepreneurship), creation of new jobs and decrease of unemployment and also development of rural areas (Radović, Radović-Marković, 2017).

In Denmark, organic food consumption has become standard - organic food purchases are normal for Danish consumers - only 8-9% of them have never bought organic food (Kjaernes & Holm, 2007). Research related to the definition of a typical organic food buyer has shown that "an organic consumer is a mature woman with children living at home" (Hughner et al., 2007). In China, known for a large number of scandals in the food industry, a study was conducted as part of the Food Integrity project by FiBL, which showed that the official organic label presence on products can contribute to the growth of organic food consumption and growing confidence in the quality of organic food, especially for consumers who

had at least one negative experience with the purchase of fake products (FiBL, 2016). Labels are worth the measure in which they help to consolidate the longterm commitment of the consumer who is affiliated with the company-producer trademark owner and create a positive image (Simin & Janjušič, 2014). Over the years, most consumers have realized that their shopping habits have a direct impact on many environmental problems (Laroche et al., 2001). The diffusion of labeled, branded and certified food consumption is a major trend that is a consequence of changing consumer attitudes towards health and food safety (Stojković et al., 2011). An latest research on food safety in Serbia shows that respondents are in average not sure whether they have reasons to be optimistic or pessimistic (Domazet, Đokić, 2018).

The labeling of organic products does not only benefit consumers, but also sells organic products. Organic labeling allows organic producers to achieve greater negotiation power over retailers and thus to achieve greater market share (Bonnet & Bouamra-Mechemache, 2016). The most important organic food markets are USA, Canada, Europe (the largest organic food markets are Germany, Great Britain, Italy and France) and Japan (Paraušić et al, 2008). The total sales of organic products - food, bedding, pillows, clothing and tobacco - in the United States increased by as much as 83% between 2007 and 2012 (Cohrssen & Miller, 2016). The organic food market is moving towards increasing consumer attention on environmental and animal welfare issues, thanks to the large coverage of the media and the increasing awareness of the consequences of environmental pollution, global warming and the use of natural resources (Van Doorn & Verhoef, 2011). In Japan, consumers are willing to pay a 10% higher price for organic than conventional products that do not have a specific label, indicating the possibility of making a significant profit margin for organic producers and retailers (Kim et al, 2008). Producers, processors, exporters and even organic food businesses have to pass through the process of certification. Authorized organizations control production processes and services in terms of their compliance with defined standards. Inspection and certification (the certificate is valid for a period of one year, followed by a re-check of all the factors stipulated by the Law and, if fulfilled, the produces gets extension of the certificate) are the only guarantee to the consumer that the organic product is produced according to all criteria and standards of organic agriculture (Paraušić et al., 2008). Research conducted in the United States, Great Britain, Denmark and Sweden show that trust in the organic label is greatest in countries with a significant country participation, which suggests that governments can influence the growth of green consumerism through active and significant inclusion in eco and organic labeling (Sonderskov & Daugbjerg, 2010).

4. DATA ANALYSIS AND RESULTS

The aim of this paper is to research the attitudes of consumers towards organic products and the trust they give to the legally prescribed label for organic products on the market of the Republic of Serbia. This research uses questionnaires designed specially to obtain customer-level data in order to evaluate their attitudes towards organic products and labelling. Having in mind identified constrains and literature review, we structured questionnaires that we used in the research. The survey was conducted at the end of 2016 and the beginning of 2017, with 124 respondents older than 18 years. The survey was anonymous distributed via social networks and in direct contact with respondents. Ouestions included were stipulated in a way that allows statistical analysis. The questionnaire consisted of two parts. In the first part, respondents gave answers to the questions that determined their basic characteristics and identity. The second part of the questionnaire contained questions used to test their opinion about organic food and basic criteria when opting for groceries. We also tested whether consumers are willing to pay more for the organic products. Last part of the questionnaire tested the connection between organic labelling and confidence in grocery purchasing. Each question in questionnaire is given with concise explanation, in order to eliminate possible errors and ambiguities. Data analysis was performed using MS Office Excel and SPSS.

In the first part of the questionnaire, respondents were asked to give basic information such as age, gender, level of education, occupation, number of household members, monthly earnings per household member. The results are shown in Table 1. The largest number of respondents belongs to the age group of 20-35 years (64.51%), 19% of the respondents are under the age of 20, 8.87% are aged 51-65 and 0.81% are older than 65 years old. Around 46% of the respondents have secondary education, while the respondents with the university degree constitute 43.44% of the sample, 9.01% with a master's degree or doctorate. Majority of the respondents (76.61%) live in Belgrade, 10.48% in a city with a population less 100.000, 3.23% in cities with a population more than 200.000, while other places of residence make up 9.68%. Most of the samples are students (43.9%), 38.21% are employed, 12.20% are unemployed. The largest number of respondents (38.71%) live in a four-member family, respondents whose family has more than 4 members make up 21.77% of the sample, 18.55% of the respondents come from two-member families and 7.26% of the respondents with one member. Monthly income per household member up to 40,000 dinars is 39.03%, from 40,000 to 70,000 dinars is 33.33%, from 70,000 to 100,000 8.94% and more than 100,000 per household member 18.70%. 49.17% of respondents come from families with children and 51.83% are from families without children.

Question	Available answers	Frequency	Percent
Gender:	female	90	72.60%
	male	34	27.40%
Age:	less than 20 years old	24	19.35%
	20-35	80	64.51%
	36-50	11	8.87%
	51-65	8	6.45%
	65 or more	1	0.81%
Education	primary school	2	1.64%
	secondary school	56	45.90%
	University degree	53	43.44%
	master degree/doctorate	11	9.01%
Place of living	Belgrade	95	76.61%
	city with a population more than 100,000	4	3.23%
	city with a population less than 100,000	13	10.48%
	other	12	9.68%
Occupation	student	57	46.34%
	employed	47	38.21%
	unemployed	15	12.20%
	other	4	3.25%
Household members	1	9	7.26%
	2	23	18.55%
	3	17	13.71%
	4	48	38.71%
	more than 4	27	21.77%
Monthly income per	up to 40,000 RSD	48	39.03%
household member	40,000-70,000 RSD	41	33.33%
	70,000-100,000 RSD	11	8.94%
	more than 100,000 RSD	23	18.70%
Family	with children	59	49.17%
	without children	61	50.83%

Table 1: Frequencies of the basic characteristics of the sample

Source: Authors own calculation based on the survey

The second part of the survey referred to the basic knowledge that the respondents have on organic products, leaving the possibility of defining organic products. This question was intentionally left as open one, since we wanted to determine what associates them to organic products and to check later the compliance of their answers (we asked them the similar question with with and we defined answers). Most frequent responses were healthy, not contaminated/treated with chemicals/pesticides, without additives, chemistry, produced in the old fashioned way, safe, delicious, eco, special conditions for production/controlled food production, produced by respecting certain principles of organic production. It is interesting that a lot of respondents tied organic products to a food without

genetically modified organisms. On the other hand some of the respondents connect organic food with words such as expensive, too expensive, hardly accessible, not necessary, current trend. The same trend was determined when they were asked this same question with pre-defined answers.

Consumer preferences depend on a large number of factors that can be extremely variable among consumers. As much as 85.4% of respondents think that food is not safe today. However, only 1% of respondents expressed health concern in each grocery purchase, 54.9% of them occasionally express concern about purchases, while 13.8% of respondents do not express their concern about food purchases. The majority of respondents trust the information and recommendations obtained from family and friends 66.6%. Higher level of importance as a source of information have consumer protection and organic associations, together constituting 16.2%. Most dominant criteria for the selection of food is composition of the groceries, 34.1% of the respondents opted for that, 22.8% of respondents select products based on the recommendation, 14.6% take the price as the basic criterion in the selection of food, 10.6% of the respondents as the selection criterion takes the origin of the food, the fact that the product is from ecological production selected only 7.3% of the respondents, 3.3% of the respondents believe in the brands and the same percentage of the respondents has the confidence in the recommendation, composition and origin. The stamp and the trademark as the criterion for the selection of groceries has the smallest number of respondents, only 2.5% of the sample. However, when respondents evaluated the organic product mark in terms of their safety, quality and safety credentials, 27.7% rated the maximum score (grade 5), while 10.1% of the respondents rated the lowest score. Majority or respondents declared that they read the declaration on product occasionally 41.5%, and together with those who do read the declaration more than 75% are interested in the content of food products they buy. It is interesting that respondents identified the usage of genetically modified organisms as the biggest threat when buying food products (36.6%). Expiration data presents another big threat (29.3%), while 23.6% of respondents identified usage of additives/preservatives as the biggest threat. Altogether, more than 70% of risks comes from the factors that are eliminated in organic production. Detail results from the survey regarding the basic criteria when opting for food products are presented in Table 2.

		-	
Question	Answer	Frequency	%
Do you think that the food	yes	18	14.6
you consume is safe?	no	105	85.4
Do you have concerns when	yes	39	31.7
buying food	no	17	13.8
	sometimes	67	54.5
When it comes to information	recommendation of family and friends	82	66.6
about safety and quality of	the media	4	3.2
food you trust which sources	consumer protection associations	10	8.1
	information provided by the manufacturer	9	7.3
	ministry in charge	2	1.6
	organic associations	10	8.1
	internet	1	0.8
	other	5	4.1
Please state criteria when	recommendation	28	22.8
opting for groceries	packaging / design	4	3.3
	trademark	3	2.4
	composition	42	34.1
	price	18	14.6
	brand	4	3.3
	ecological production	9	7.3
	origin	13	10.6
	other	2	1.6
Do you read the declaration	Yes	43	35
on food products	No	29	23.6
	Sometimes	51	41.5
What is the biggest risk when	expiration date	36	29.3
buying food products	pesticide residues in foods	9	7.3
	additives/preservatives	29	23.6
	genetically modified organisms	45	36.6
	other	4	3.3

Isidora Ljumović, Ivana Lečovski-Milojkić

Table 2: Survey results related to the basic criteria when opting for groceries

Source: Authors own calculation based on the survey

Respondents also gave answers related to organic production. Most of them 81.3% considers that they do not have enough information about organic products. They connect organic products with the same things they identified when asked to define organic production. Organic product are identified as healthy (52%), ecological (21.1%) and safe (11.4%). Most of the respondents (almost 50%) buy organic products sometimes, while there is 8.9% or regular buyers. When asked if and how much money would they allocat for the purchase of organic products if they were sure that this product was better, healthier, safer, more nutritious, 56.7% of respondents stated that they would be willing to pay up to 30% higher price for such a product, 14.2% of respondents are ready to allocate 50% more money and 5% of respondents are willing to pay 100% higher price. When opting for organic
Organic product labelling: Consumer attitudes and impact on purchasing decision

groceries, 10% of respondents stated that they would certainly choose organic product at any price while 12% of respondents would not be willing to allocate more money for an organic product.

Question	Answer	Frequency	%
Do you think you have	yes	23	18.7
enough information about	no	100	81.3
organic products			
Your association for the term	ecological	26	21.1
organic is	healthy	64	52
	quality	6	4.9
	safe	14	11.4
	expensive	11	8.9
	other	2	1.6
Do you buy organic products	yes	11	8.9
	often	11	8.9
	sometimes	60	48.8
	not	18	14.6
	do not pay attention to whether the food I buy	23	18.7
	is organic or not		
Would you pay more for organic products	not	18	14.6
	yes, I'm ready to pay the price up to 30%	70	57
	yes, I'm ready to pay the price higher than 50%	17	13.8
	yes, I'm ready to pay the price higher than 100%	6	4.9
	Yes, I would pay for any price for organic products	12	9.8

Table 3: Survey results related to attitude about organic food

Source: Authors own calculation based on the survey

In the last part of the survey, respondents were shown signs that are found on certain food products that are usually found in the "healthy food" departments in Serbian grocery shops. These are labels on products that can be classified in the broadest category of "healthy", such as the green apple label, including, among others, the logo of organic products. The respondents have answered to what extent each of these signs gives them confidence in purchasing food, evaluating them with grades from 1 (very little) to 5 (very much). First four signs/labels that do not represent official/certified logo have the average values between 2.25 and 2.63. These are much lower values compared to the values obtained for official certified logo for organic product 3.63. This indicates that the consumers recognize official

labeling as a sign of trust, security, food products with high nutrition value and quality.

	Logo 1	Logo 2	Logo 3	Logo 4	Certified logo of organic products
Average values	2.63	2.25	2.56	2.40	3.63
Standard deviation	1.05	1.10	1.26	1.17	1.26

Table 4: Survey results related to different labels

Source: Authors own calculation based on the survey

5. CONCLUSION

Based on the conducted research, it can be concluded that consumers in the Republic of Serbia today are certainly aware of the quality of organic products but also they consider other important issues such as food safety, health safety, origin and quality. A large number of consumers are ready to allocate more money to buy organic products due to the quality, safety and nutrition of these products. However, only 2.5% of respondents value products based on trademark and organic label. This indicates a relatively small significance for the consumers in the domestic market when they decide on the purchase of the product. Bearing in mind that it is precisely the sign of organic products that is the only guarantee that the product is truly produced in accordance with the principles of organic production and that the producer himself has undergone a rigorous process of control and certification, it is necessary for consumers to pay more attention to the presence of this label when making decisions about purchase.

The role of the state is extremely important in the process of bringing organic products closer to consumers and raising awareness about the importance of organic products, numerous benefits for consumers, producers and the environment in which they grow and produce. Research in the United States, Great Britain, Denmark and Sweden has shown that trust in organic food labeling is the highest in countries with a significant state participation. This is very important in order to prevent unfair competition in terms of misuse of certain terms in the product name, which misleads buyers in terms of quality and who have not undergone a rigorous process of control of competent institutions and are offered on the market as healthy and biologically.

At this stage of our research we are aware of numerous limitations of this analysis. Further effort should be made to stratify and increase the sample in the research.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This chapter is written as a part of the research projects OI 179001, financed by the Ministry of Education, Science, and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

REFERENCES

- 1. Bonnet, C., Bouamra-Mechemache, Z. (2016). *Organic Label, Bargaining Power, and Profit-sharing in the French Fluid Milk* Market. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 98(1): 113-133, January 1, 2016. Oxford University Press.
- 2. Cohrssen, J., Miller, H. (2016). *The USDA's meaningless organic label*. Regulation, Spring2016, Vol. 39 Issue 1, p24-27.4p. 1 Black and White Photograph.
- Domazet, I., Đokić, N. (2018). Food safety from consumer perspective: consumer confidence in food safety in Establishing food security and alternatives to international trade in emerging economies", IGI Global, Business Science Reference, Hershey, USA, pp.316-336.
- 4. FiBL Research Institute of Organic Agriculture. Activity Report 2016 Switzerland, Germany and Austria, www.fibl.org,
- Food and Agriculture Organization of United Nations (FAO) Priručnik za organsku proizvodnju – za poljoprivredne proizvođače, Projekat TCP/MNE/3201: Organska poljoprivreda u Crnoj Gori: Zajednička podrška malim proizvođačima u organskoj poljoprivredi, Podgorica 2011.
- 6. Hjelmar, U. (2011). Consumers' purchase of organic food products. A matter of convenience and reflexive practices. Appetite 56 (2011) 336-344.
- 7. Honkanen, P., Verplanken, B., & Olsen, S. O. (2006). *Ethical values and motives driving organic food choice*. Journal of Consumer Behavior, 5, 420–430.
- 8. Hughner, R. S., McDonagh, P., Prothero, A., Schultz, C. J., II, & Stanton, J. (2007). Who are organic food consumers? A compilation and review of why people purchase organic food. Journal of Consumer Behavior, 6, 94–110.
- 9. Kim, R., Suwunnamek, O., Toyoda, T. (2008) *Consumer Attitude towards Organic Labeling Schemes in Japan.* Journal of International Food&Agribusiness Marketing Vol.20, issue 3, 2008. pp. 55-71.
- 10. Kjærnes, U., & Holm, L. (2007). What causes change in food consumption? Buying organic food in Denmark and not in Norway. Paper presented at the annual ESA conference 2007.
- 11. Laroche, M., Bergeron, J., Barbaro-Forleo, G.(2001). *Targeting consumers who are willing to pay more for environmentally friendly products*. Journal of consumer marketing, vol.18 No. 6 2001, pp.503-520, MCB University Press, 0736-3761.
- 12. Lečovski-Milojkić, I. (2015) *Profitabilnost organske poljoprivredne proizvodnje: studija slučaja kukuruza.* SYM-OP-IS 2015: XLII Simpozijum o operacionim istraživanjima, 2015, Vol. V(1).
- Ljumović, I., Lečovski-Milojkić, I. (2017a). Development of ecotourism in Serbia: the importance of organic farms. Thematic Proceedings. The second International Scientific Conference Tourism in function of the development of the Republic of

Serbia, Tourism product as a factor of competitiveness of the Serbian economy and experiences of other countries, pp. 605-622.

- 14. Ljumović, I., Lečovski-Milojkić, I. (2017b). Profitabilnost i održivi rast organske proizvodnje. *Ecologica* Vol. 88, In printing.
- 15. Ljumović, I., Viduka, B., Cvijanović, J. M. (2015). Access to finance for organic producers in Serbia: demand side. *Ekonomika poljoprivrede*, Vol. 62, No. 4, 989-1002.
- 16. Organic Agriculture Worldwide 2016: Current Statistics, Helga Willer and Julia Lernoud, Research Institute of Organic Agriculture (FiBL), Frick, Switzerland, BIOFACH 2016.
- 17. Paraušić V., Cvijanović D., Hamović V.(2008) Organska proizvodnja u Republici Srbiji: Analiza stanja i pravci razvoja, Ekonomika poljoprivrede, 4(339-432), 2008.
- Pravilnik o dokumentaciji koja se dostavlja ovlašćenoj kontrolnoj organizaciji radi izdavanja potvrde, kao i o uslovima i načinu prodaje organskih proizvoda, Službeni glasnik RS, broj 88/16 od 28. oktobra 2016. godine.
- 19. Radović, G., Radović-Marković, M. (2017). Significance of rural tourism for female entrepreneurship development in the Republic of Serbia. *JWEE*, (3-4), 3-19.
- 20. Sonderskov, K.M., Daugbjerg, C. (2010). *The state and consumer confidence in ecolabeling in Denmark, Sweden, The Unitef Kingdom and The United States.* Agriculture and Human Values December 2011, Volume 28, Issue 4, pp. 507-517.
- 21. Spisak ovlašćenih kontrolnih organizacija za obavljanje poslova kontrole i sertifikacije u organskoj proizvodnji za 2017. godinu, Službeni glasnik RS, broj 96/16 od 2. decembra 2016. godine.
- 22. Stojković, Lj., El Bilali, H., Berjan, S., Despotović, A.(2011). Protected Geographical Indications as a tool for valorising traditional and typical agro-food products and improving rural livelihoods in Serbia: Case of "Pirotski Kachkaval" cheese from Stara Planina region. Proceedings. 46th Croatian and 6th International Symposium on Agriculture, February 14-18, 2011, Opatija, Croatia.
- 23. Van Doorn, J., Verhoef, P. (2011). *Willingness to pay for organic products: Differences between virtue and vice foods.* Intern.J. of Research in Marketing 28 (2011) 167-180.

VALUE OF AGRICULTURAL LAND AS NATURAL RESOURCE

Božo DRAŠKOVIĆ, PhD* Jelena MINOVIĆ, PhD•

Abstract: For some of the natural resources, productive economic use in the function of development is conditioned by monetary investments and technological innovations. The change of ownership rights over natural resources, especially agricultural land as a natural capital asset is specific, because natural resources represent the national wealth of the countries in which they are located. This paper presents the approach by which the market prices of agricultural land are formed indirectly on the basis of the volatility of market prices of the products arising from the exploitation of natural capital assets. The paper contains the empirical analysis of the prices of natural capital assets, do not have market value, and indirect evaluation is based on hedonistic models as well as the expenditure models to cover the costs of protection and readiness to pay for the maintenance of biodiversity.

Keywords: natural resources, natural capital assets, agricultural land, price of agricultural land

1. INTRODUCTION

Natural resources, natural capital assets, land in general, agricultural and forest land, mineral resources, hydrocarbon deposits and ore represent fundamentally different factors of production compared to other factors, such as labor and capital. The created capital, as physical assets in the form of equipment and applied technologies, is relatively easily change location. Unlike natural resources, these created assets as production capacities are relatively easy to move from one location to another. Innovations as a product of the development of human knowledge and its application in production represent a universal common good, which in short term is characterized by relative immobility. In a long term innovations are goods which become a general value available to people regardless of territorial divisions.

^{*} Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia, bozo.draskovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

[•] Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia, jelena.minovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

Innovations are products of human knowledge, i.e. intangible assets. Innovations influence the production of economic values through practical production, changing the previous and introducing new, more economically efficient ways of production. The key feature of this process is to reduce the participation of immediate human labor and increase the volume of material production of goods and services. Schumpeter (1975) calls this process 'creative destruction'. The created capital that is present in the form of buildings and infrastructure, as a different spectrum of physical assets, is located within a market. Over these assets, property rights can be changed relatively easily, while their market location remains unchanged.

Physical assets presented in the form of manufactured goods easily change the market, moving from the market where they are manufactured to the markets where they will be spent. Services, depending on their form and structure, are mostly related to the immediate local market where they are rendered. In such cases, the services are offerd only at the local markets where they are rendered (tourist services, servicing, warehousing services, transport, etc.). Service users in such cases represent a demand market, so consumers (customers) of services move to places where these services can be rendered. However, there are service sectors that are market-differentiated according to the market where they appeared and the market where they may be consumed. In such cases, the rendering of services and their use are settled at completely separate locations. These services are conditioned by the development of new information technologies and include the following: financial services, intellectual services and education services. A special form of created capital consists of financial assets which, in the conditions of the developed global market, move from one market to another relatively easily, even in few minutes. These are transfers of financial assets, loans, bonds and receivables. Labor as a special form of natural capital assets or the ability of a human being is a relatively mobile factor of production and is conditioned by the allocation of production resources, differences in economic development between countries, the level of education, differences in individual capabilities of human capital, characteristic for each individual.

Agricultural land, as an integral part of total land or part of total natural resources, represents a resource with a fixed offer. Natural resources are bound to the borders of a state whose territory they make and are one of the essential constituent elements of the existence of the state. Land, i.e. the territory along with population and sovereignty make the three interrelated preconditions for the constitution and existence of a community organized in the form of a state. Agricultural land as a fixed natural, production and existential factor is defined as inherited natural capital asset. From the economic point of view land as a natural resource and

natural capital asset may be considered as total fixed assets. Agricultural land as the subject of market transactions does not change its market position. However, as a factor of production it is subject to the change of ownership over it, depending on national or regional regulations. The change of title rights between citizens and legal entities within individual countries is most often liberal with certain antimonopoly restrictions.

There are no defined property rights over certain parts of land, forest ecosystems and biodiversities that enjoy special protection. These are areas that represent special natural values and ambiences such as national parks, nature reserves, special protected areas, waters, ponds, forest ecosystems. In these cases, these are common natural assets (Ostrom, 2006) whose survival is protected by special customary norms or state regulations.

The explanation of the method by which the price of agricultural land is formed requires a complex approach and cannot be reduced only to the forms of the standard model of supply and demand. A number of factors influence the formation of prices of agricultural land as a natural asset, that is, natural capital asset. It may seem that the prices of agricultural land reflect the changes in supply and demand for agricultural land as a natural resource. However, they are determined indirectly and depend on the demand for agricultural land products. According to the facts mentioned above, the price of aricultural land depends on the changes in supply and demand for goods generated from production processes, which take place alongside the combination of the use of natural capital assets (agricultural land) and fixed i.e. created capital. Fixed or created capital (technology, innovation, financial assets) significantly affects the deformation of prices of agricultural land as a natural resource. Regarding the use of created, i.e. fixed capital and agricultural land as a natural resource (capital), the priority is given to the created capital in relation to natural resources. The consequence of this approach is can undisputedly be interpreted, as follows: if prices of agricultural products grow, the market price of agricultural land increases and vice versa. The standard matrix for displaying changes in the impact of supply and demand on the prices of agricultural products is logical and satisfactory at first sight. However, it has a limited value in explaining the change in the price of agricultural land. The limitation is due to the fact that the total supply of agricultural land as a natural asset or natural capital asset is fixed. The supply of agricultural products resulting from the use of agricultural land is variable and depends on a number of other factors. In addition to the application of technological innovations and improvements arising from agri-technical measures, restrictions also arise because agricultural production in developed countries is stimulated by a series of economic policy measures.

In particular, this applies to direct and indirect subsidies. Changes in the use of natural capital depend on the application of technology and innovations in the processing of agricultural land. The question arises whether it is theoretically and methodologically acceptable to observe agricultural land exclusively as any other created capital. This controversy is discussed in this paper. Unlike agricultural land where its economic value is derived from the market effects of products obtained from the use of that resource. The value of protected natural resources, i.e. common goods, does not have any implicit values. It has general social value and is most often measured indirectly with the application of subjective considerations, usefulness and readiness to pay or willingness to accept it.

In addition to the introduction and conclusion, the paper contains literature review, the theoretical and methodological aspects as well as the empirical analysis of the prices of agricultural land in Serbia.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Katić, Simonović (2007) analyze the Law on Agricultural Land of the Republic of Serbia from 2006. These authors state that agricultural land is a basic, irreplaceable and non-renewable factor of agricultural production. Katić, Simonović (2007) consider that agricultural land is of a crucial importance for the survival and development of a particular community. Plantinga et al. (2002) determine the value of agricultural land at the national level for the United States. Bastian et al. (2002) also determine the value of agricultural land taking into account ecological conditions. Planting, Miller (2001) explore the value of agricultural land as well as the value of the rights for future land development.

Paraušić, Cvijanović (2014) analyze agricultural holdings in the Republic of Serbia according to their economic size and present them in a comparative analysis with selected European Union (EU) countries. These authors note the extremely low economic power of domestic agricultural producers in comparison with farmers in developed EU countries, which initiates proposing of the measures and activities aimed at their economic empowerment and creating a sustainable competitive advantage on the domestic and foreign markets. Lovrinčević, Vizek (2008) analyze the prices and rent of agricultural land in Croatia and other EU member states from 2001 to 2006. Renwick et al. (2013) examine the potential impact of the agricultural and trade policy reform on the use of land throughout the EU, focusing on the issue of land abandoning. Grbić et al. (2016) analyse contemporary trends in agriculture of European Union.

Pejanović (2009) considers the development problems of agriculture in the Republic of Serbia. The author analyzes the importance of agriculture in the Serbian economy, the contribution it provides through the foreign trade exchange of agricultural products. Pejanović (2009) points out six groups of problems in agriculture in the Republic of Serbia: (1) unfavorable agricultural structure and non-organization of commodity producers; (2) the unregulated turnover of agrarian products; (3) non-competitiveness; (4) the inadequate role of the state; (5) demographic problems of the agricultural population; (6) the impact of the global economic crisis. Pejanović (2007) analyzes the concept of development of sustainable agriculture in the Republic of Serbia. This author believes that this concept is potentially the best solution for the Republic of Serbia. Pejanović (2007) states that the concept of developing sustainable agriculture goes along with the modern European model of agricultural development.

The term ecological agriculture implies a specific system of sustainable management in agriculture with the aim of producing healthy foods, that is, satisfying the appropriate social and household needs while preserving natural ecosystems and landscapes (Pejnović et al., 2012). Kljajić et al. (2012) consider the land as an ecological factor of agricultural production in Serbia. Therefore, these authors cite the types of land in the Republic of Serbia, the rating classes, the structure of the land use, the causes of degradation, the flooded areas and the areas defended from the floods, as well as the main harmful processes that take place in agricultural land, the main polluters of land and finally the basic protection measure and the strategic goals of sustainable land use. Pejnović et al. (2012) explore the problems and possibilities of development of ecological agriculture in Croatia from the perspective of ecological producers. The results of the survey by these authors show that this form of agricultural production in Croatia faces numerous problems and is still at a low level of development. Ecological agricultural production in Croatia is analyzed by Pudak, Bokan (2011) and Petljak (2011). Milanović, Cvijanović (2009) analyze the problems of sustainability¹ and the possibility of economic evaluation of agri-ecological resources. Subić et al. (2005) consider that economic activity in agriculture is directly and indirectly related to the land, as its basic means of production and an important element of agricultural capital. Subić et al. (2005) state that the land is not only the basic factor of production, but also the basis of food safety for the population; it is the most valuable natural resource, which directly influences the development of rural communities and the survival of a rural family.

¹ Sousa Andrade (2007) explains mobility of capital and external sustainability of the Portuguese economy.

Alonso (1964) develops a general theory of soil values and land use in cities and regions. Namely, Alonso expands the theory of renting, which is explicitly formulated only for agriculture, to urban area. This author shows that the rent theory is complex and includes variations in the size of location, income, profits and other costs. Alonso (1964) includes mathematical models on the theory of renting and the location and density of residences and firms, agricultural rent and uniform land value structure as well as the use of land in urban and rural areas. Capozza, Helsley (1989) analyze the basic land prices and their growth in urban areas. Namely, these authors consider that the forecasting of urban land prices has four components: the value of renting agricultural land, the cost of conversion, the value of accessibility and the expected increase in revenue in the future, the growth premium. Shi et al. (1997) combine models for the value of agricultural land and those for urban areas. While Hardie et al. (2000) use the land-rent models, including farms, forests and urban land.

Plantinga, Miller (2001) explore the value of agricultural land and the value of the rights of future land development. These authors developed the model of the value of agricultural land that was derived from the theoretical model of the market for developed and agricultural land. Plantinga, Miller (2001) showed that the data from their application are consistent with the theory of the value of agricultural land. Therefore, their findings have implications for future research on the value of agricultural land.

Drašković et al. (2014) analyze the importance of protected natural areas for the sustainable development of Serbia, while in Drašković et al. (2013) the problems of the value and valuation of natural resources and their cost-benefits are considered. Drašković (2012) discusses the economic aspects of environmental policy in Serbia, while in Drašković (2013) management of resources in protected areas in Serbia are discussed. Drašković (1998) considers the economy of natural capital, valuation and protection of natural resources. Minović et al. (2016) makes a model and observes the behavior of prey-predator species. Drašković, Minović (2012) are trying to determine the external costs in ecological systems as parameters of sustainable management. Serbian natural resources and their influence on the development are studied by Drašković, Minović (2013).

3. THEORETICAL AND METHODOLOGICAL ASPECTS

Since the end of the 19th century modern economics has been focused on studying, analyzing and discovering the ways of economic functioning of the created fixed and financial capital and their mutual relations. The analysis and observation of natural assets as natural capital has not been the focus of economic research. The

exceptions are the areas of ecological economy, which deal with complex relations between economy and environmental protection. The subjects of research of the ecological economy are the following: sustainable development, environmental damage, trading pollution rights, measures of economic policy related to 'polluter pays' and damages that arise from global warming and climate change. Except for environmental protection economics, economic science has not explored the issues of the economic importance of natural capital, set by Ricardo (1821, 2012). Contemporary economic theory, unlike the classical one, neglected to consider complex issues related to the mutual relationship between created and natural capital. Nowadays, natural capital and natural capital assets in the prevailing economic theory are treated exclusively regarding their utility by applying fundamental models of supply and demand analysis for rare or scarce resources. In theory, the trends in economic science have differentiated in relation to the problem of the theory of value in two directions: the first, which is dominant today is the marginalist, i.e. the subjective theory; the second, work theory of values originates from the classical economic theory. The work theory of values sets human labour at the center of attention and considers it the creator of values. This theoretical concept was abandoned since the first decades of the twentieth century, after the socialist revolution in Russia. In the socialist countries, the model itself is simplified and ideologized. Both approaches marginalized the role of natural resources as a constituent of commodity value.

This paper deals with agricultural land as a natural capital asset. For the needs of the analysis, a methodological classification of capital forms is made as follows: natural capital, human capital and created capital. The common characteristic of the first two capitals is inherent in nature. Natural capital in a wider sense represents the entire natural wealth that has been created independent of human activity, regardless of being the object directly used in the production process. Also, a human being is *de facto* a being of nature. Natural capital includes continual resources, solar energy, gravity force, wind power, circulation of air and water in various states. Natural capital includes non-renewable and renewable resources, flora and fauna, mineral resources and hydrocarbons. Human capital is actually a human being as a natural and social being, who is educated, who carries cultural heritage and the ability to innovate through interventions within natural laws. Created capital includes cumulative fixed and financial capital assets. The origin of fixed capital lies in the activities of previous and current generations of people. It covers the infrastructure, buildings, machines and equipment. Financial capital represents cumulative money and financial assets, or financial capital.

The influence of natural capital on the creation of economic values has remained out of the interest of contemporary economic theory. The role of natural resources is analyzed from two points of view. The first refers to the issues of economic aspects of environmental pollution and economic implications arising from climate change. The second group of issues relates to problems related to the dynamics of natural capital exploitation, i.e. renewable and non-renewable natural resources. Natural resources are understood as natural capital assets and as a condition for the emergence of commodity and, therefore, market values. It follows that natural capital assets are viewed as an important factor in the creation of commodity or market value.

It is necessary here to try to define the essential dimensions of the content of the terms such as natural wealth, natural values and natural capital assets. Natural wealth is broader terms and includes all goods created independent of human activity. These goods are "natural gifts". They consist of the following: land, geological heritage, air, sea, oceans, and therefore all waters, plant and animal species as well as renewable and non-renewable, as well as continual resources. Natural wealth assumes features of natural values, depending on how and in what way the human being manages to discover and use the laws of nature. Men wanted to subdue them to their civilization and economic progress and make them serve their needs. Men have managed to subdue many natural resources with the aid of technological innovations and bring them into the form of useful power and ready for human use.

Natural wealth, when used as production resources and consequently in economic activities, become natural capital assets and are later transformed into a created capital. This process is conditioned by the development of human knowledge and the discovery of new production technologies. Depending on the technological development, some natural assets were inaccessible to human productive activity prior to the emergence of technological innovations. After the discovery of new technological knowledge, natural assets become economically useful production resources. They become natural capital assets, as a source for the creation of created or produced capital. Part of natural assets or natural values such as protected natural areas, national parks, ambiental areas have ambiental but not economic value due to legal constraints. Natural wealth, suitable for economic exploitation under the conditions of defined title rights and market oriented production, become the means of exchange of goods. Obtaining this feature they get a market price. Innovations and technological advancements based on them are of the fundamental importance for the transformation of the natural wealth, i.e. natural capital into the market capital. Technological advances based on scientific knowledge and discoveries allow the elements of untouched nature to be transformed into goods, giving it market value in the context of supply and demand.

Value of agricultural land as natural resource

Firstly, the land represents a natural good and a natural resource that, through human usage, has been transformed from natural capital to market capital, i.e., economic capital. The process was developed in two ways. The first arises and is based on the fact that the land as a natural wealth contains a lot of natural resources. They are influenced by other resources, the power of the sun and the natural resources of the influence of the climate and the humidity as well as the heat, and as such represent an environment in which nature independent of a man, creates flora and fauna as the material and the substance necessary for human existence. Prior to any organized production activities of human beings, food harvesting and hunting represent the primary use of raw materials for immediate existential consumption. Human activity was reduced to the amount of time that is needed to carry out the activity of collecting or the activity of hunting.

The other method related to land refers to the transformation of land as a natural capital asset into the created capital, on the basis of products obtained from the use or processing of agricultural land. Products obtained from the use of land as natural resources become commodities. Goods are nothing but material substances obtained from the nature, which become created capital. Economic relations are developed on them, which in the following iterations of economic development lead to the emergence of money capital. Money capital is created through the exchange of products between different social groups within the division of labor. Land as a natural wealth, i.e. natural capital asset, represents the basis from which capital is created, a market product that, in the competition of production, exchange, supply and demand, receives a monetary form. Land as a natural wealth without economic function cannot be defined as natural capital asset because it is not a commodity yet and has no essential characteristics of the created capital.

In order to avoid confusion in understanding the concepts, the created capital represents the capital that emerged from the economic or productive activity of a human being, and which has become the subject of market transactions. Agricultural products derived from the use of land as a natural wealth are created, i.e. produced capital and, through exchange, they acquire market value. Due to the historical development of mankind and the creation of institutions, title rights have been established over land as a natural wealth. The process took place through the growth of population and establishment of settlements at empty spaces, the conquest and division of rights over land within communities. The land as a natural wealth, under the influence of market relations, becomes a classical capital even though it is not created by men. Establishing the title rights over land as a natural asset results in the fact that land becomes the subject of market transactions. These transactions are carried out in the same way as in the case of created or produced capital. The land as a natural wealth is transformed into the natural capital asset by

the market economy. It gives him the character of buying and selling, regardless of the fact that the land itself has not been created as a product of any kind of human activity.

Agricultural land as a self-sufficient natural resource, after the negotiation of title rights, becomes natural capital asset and as such, regardless of the fact that it is not created by human labor, it is subject to free market transactions. Being the subject of supply and demand the land acquires derived market value under the conditions of competition². Taking into consideration the historical context, it can be noted that different systems had different treatment of property rights over land (territory) in general and therefore over agricultural land. Regarding the consideration of the relationship between natural assets, natural and created capital, the issue of the irreversibility of created, fixed and financial capital into natural capital is not less important. In the previous part of this paper, some of the aspects of mutual relations between natural and created capital have been explained. Consequently, natural assets and natural capital, along with the creative work of human beings, are the source of the created fixed and financial capital. The emergence and dynamics of the production of fixed, created capital depends on the available natural resources, the development of the capabilities of human labor and technological innovations.

Agricultural land is a natural self-renewable resource that can be renewed with a combination of "resting" the land (restriction from exploitation) for a certain period of time, as well as financial investments in irrigation, maintenance of biodiversity, applying natural methods of self-replenishment of land. A wider aspect of the protection of agricultural land is of global character and refers to the reduction of negative effects of economic activity on climate change.

Land in general, as well as forests, waters, lakes, oceans and the atmosphere, are natural self-renewing resource. All of them are directly or indirectly an indispensable condition for the economic activity of a human being. Land as a complex and diverse geological structure serves as a source for the production of fixed assets and financial capital. Products based on natural capital become marketable goods and are subject to the laws of supply and demand and derived market values or prices.

² This paper does not deal with the aspects of changes in market prices of agricultural land on the occasion of the change of its purpose from agricultural land into a construction site.

4. PRICES OF AGRICULTURAL LAND IN SERBIA

In accordance with the standard theory of supply and demand, the prices of agricultural land are conditioned and change depending on the quantities offered as well as the trends in demand for agricultural land. In fact, supply and demand for agricultural products, on the basis of which the prices of products obtained from the use of agricultural land are formed, are those that determine the fluctuation of agricultural products, important factors affecting the prices of agricultural land are the following: fertility, its vicinity to road and transport infrastructure, the size of the land and state subsidies that are allocated per hectare. The prices of agricultural land in urban settlements are higher, and are conditioned by the possibility of building residential and commercial buildings.

In 2017 in Serbia subsidies amounted to about RSD 4,000 per hectare or about 34 \notin /ha. The mentioned amount of subsidies per hectare refers only to agricultural holdings that have up to 20 ha. Surfaces that exceed 20 ha are not covered by subsidies. Total state incentives for agriculture in 2017 amounted to RSD 29.28 billion or approximately \notin 244 million. The calculation of total subsidies includes subsidies given per hectare to agricultural holdings and they are increased by special subsidies which include the following: incentives for cultivation of certain crops, cattle breeding, premiums on milk production and purchase of agricultural machinery and equipment. The total sum of all subsidies on an annual level is approximately \notin 24 million. If divided by the total cultivable area of agricultural land in Serbia of 3.8 million ha, the calculated average amount of subsidies totals \notin 64.21/ha. If surfaces of about 0.4 million hectares that are not used and for which subsidies cannot be obtained are subtracted from the total area of agricultural land, it is estimated that about 3.4 million hectares are used.

Analysis of the above data shows that, in comparison to the used agricultural land, the total subsidies per hectare, on average, amount to about \notin 72/ha. Average subsidies per hectare within the European Union countries are far higher than in Serbia. They go over \notin 250/ha or it can be said that they are 3.47 times higher than in Serbia. In comparison to the European average, Serbia belongs to countries that have relatively abundant agricultural land as a natural wealth. The structure of total agricultural, forest and other land is relatively satisfactory. Namely, out of the total of 5.4 million hectares, agricultural land covers 3.8 million hectares or 72.2%, out of which 64.3% is used, and 7.9% of it is not used. Forest land is slightly above 1 million hectares or 19.1%, and the rest is about 462 thousand hectares or 8.7% (Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia, 2012).



Figure 1: Dispersion of the total agricultural land (in %) in Serbia by regions

Source: Authors' calculation based on Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia (2012).

Out of the total available agricultural land in Serbia, about 252 thousand hectares is state owned which is about 6.63%. It is located mainly in the region of Vojvodina. State land is leased out by local self-governments. Depending on the location and quality of the land, the average rent is about \notin 191/ha. In Vojvodina, the average rent is higher and ranges from 240 to \notin 390/ha. Higher lease prices for agricultural land in Vojvodina are conditioned by the size of fields, the position and fertility of the land.

In assessing the value of agricultural land, in addition to market indicators on realized transactions, the calculation may be applied based on the discounting of rents from the leased land. The rents for cultivable agricultural land of higher fertility depending on location and quantity offered in Vojvodina are higher than in other regions of Serbia. Western and Eastern Serbia is characterized by less fertile land than Vojvodina and Šumadija.

If the amount of lease is denoted by r, and a discount factor with i, then the value of the land x on the basis of discounting infinite lease annuities can be calculated as follows:

$$x = \frac{r}{i} \tag{1}$$

The average rent per hectare of agricultural land in Vojvodina is the mean value calculated from $\notin 240$ to 390/ha or $\notin 315$ /ha. If the *i*kscount factor *i* is further

defined by the reference interest rate in Serbia in 2017 in an average of 4%, then, having applied the mentioned parameters in equation (1), the average value of one hectare of land is obtained and amounts to x = 7.875/ha is obtained.

Less fertile land is rented for a lower price and with certain differences related to the cultivation of certain profitable crops, such as raspberries in Western Serbia, the amount of lease may range from the zero lease for cultivating land to protect it from decay, to the maximum rent of ≤ 150 /ha in Eastern Serbia. Taking the lease amount for leasing agricultural land and applying the same discount rate of 4%, the value of agricultural land $x = \leq 3,750$ /ha is obtained. The lease amount is variable in the long term and depends on the movement and stability of prices of agricultural products. The discount rate, as the reference interest rate, is also variable over the long term and depends on monetary and credit developments in the economy of a country.

The described procedure was applied for the calculation of the average based on the empirical data on the movement of the amount of rent, i.e. the lease paid for the use of agricultural land in Serbia in 2017. Certainly, the amounts of lease, and therefore the prices of agricultural land determined on the basis of the methods described above, applied to the micro location in Serbia, show that in certain depopulated rural areas in Western, Eastern and Southern Serbia, such prices are very low. Hence the value of the land using this methodological procedure cannot be calculated. There is also no market demand for the purchase of land in these areas.

Figure 2: Prices of agricultural land (€/ha) obtained in market transactions by the regions in Serbia in 2017



Source: Authors' calculation based on data provided by The Registry of real estate turnover, The Republic Geodetic Authority (2017)

For the purpose of this analysis, a sample of transactions with agricultural land in Serbia has been defined. 159 transactions were analyzed in seven regions in Serbia, where the turnover of 167 hectares of agricultural land was made, with the average transaction of 1.05 ha. The selection of data excluded some of the illogical values from the sales contracts that showed enormously low prices. This is due to the intention of the buyer and seller to display low transaction price in order to pay the lowest possible tax.

Based on the presented data, the conclusion can be drawn that the highest market prices of agricultural land are recorded in Vojvodina ranging from \in 6,9 to 10,3 thousand/ha. The lowest prices of agricultural land are recorded in Western Serbia and amount to \in 3.9 thousand/ha. The average price in Serbia is \in 7,490/ha. The average prices of agricultural land within the EU exceed \notin 20,000/ha. In some areas they reach over \notin 50,000/ha. From the data presented above, it can be concluded that the value of agricultural land obtained by the application of the yield method from the net lease is far below its market value. Regarding market prices recorded through supply and demand on the market, the supply is relatively low, while the demand is continuous in the areas where the land is more fertile.

5. CONCLUSION

The application of standard economic methods of supply and demand does not provide a sufficiently reliable basis for explaining the value of natural wealth and natural capital assets. Agricultural land represents a special segment of natural values, i.e. natural capital assets and serves as a resource for agricultural production. Modern economic science marginalized the aspects of the analysis of agricultural land as a natural factor, which, in addition to the created fixed and human capital, participates in the creation of the market value of goods. The concept of subjective value theory is theoretically dominant which explains economic processes through supply and demand and the concept of consumer surplus. The commodity character and the formation of agricultural land prices are based on the realized demand for products produced on and from natural resources. Along with utilization of human and created capital, natural capital has the capacity to generate final agricultural products whose market price is an indicator for the revaluation of agricultural land. The specific character of agricultural land as a natural capital requires that the price formation should be observed from several points of view. Prices of agricultural land in Serbia in comparison with prices in developed countries are significantly lower. It is very important to develop methods for evaluation and preservation of natural diversity found in protected natural areas, nature reserves and national parks. In evaluation of these natural assets, methods based on standard procedures for calculating the market equilibrium of supply and demand cannot be applied. In fact, natural assets do not have explicit economic value.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Authors acknowledge funding from the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia through research projects 47009 and 179015.

REFERENCES

- 1. Alonso, W. (1964) Location and land use. Toward a general theory of land rent. *Location and land use. Toward a general theory of land rent.*
- 2. Bastian, C. T., McLeod, D. M., Germino, M. J., Reiners, W. A., Blasko, B. J. (2002) Environmental amenities and agricultural land values: a hedonic model using geographic information systems data. *Ecological economics*, 40(3): 337-349.
- 3. Capozza, D. R., Helsley, R. W. (1989) The fundamentals of land prices and urban growth. *Journal of urban economics*, 26(3): 295-306.
- 4. Daily, G. C., Söderqvist, T., Aniyar, S., Arrow, K., Dasgupta, P., Ehrlich, P. R., Levin, S. (2000) The value of nature and the nature of value. *Science*, *289*(5478): 395-396.
- 5. Drašković B., Domazet I., Minović J. (2013) Problem vrednosti i vrednovanja prirodnih resursa, koristi i troškova". *Anali Ekonomskog fakulteta u Subotici*, 49(30): 11-26.
- Drašković B., Minović J., Domazet I. (2014) Značaj zaštićenih prirodnih područja za održivi razvoj Srbije. *Ecologica*, 21(74): 151-155.
- 7. Drašković, B. (1998). *Ekonomija prirodnog kapitala, vrednovanje i zaštita prirodnih resursa*, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade.
- 8. Drašković, B. (2012). *Ekonomski aspekti ekološke politike*, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade.
- 9. Drašković, B. (2013). *Upravljanje resursima zaštićenih područja u Srbiji*, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade and Belgrade Banking Academy, Faculty of Banking, Insurance and Finance, Belgrade.
- Drašković, B., Minović, J. (2012) Determination and compensation of external costs in Serbia as parameter of sustainable management. In: European integration process in Western Balkan countries. Faculty of Economics of the University of Coimbra, Coimbra, pp. 363-388. Portugal, Chapter19.
- Drašković, B., Minović, J. (2013) Natural resources and their impact on the development of Serbia. In: Sciences on the Crossroad / International Scientific Conference on the Occasion of the 55th Anniversary of the IES. Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade: 503-513.
- 12. Grbić, V., Todić, D., Brnjas, Z. (2016) *Savremene tendencije u poljoprivredi Evropske unije i problem navodnjavanja*. Belgrad: Institute of Agricultural Economics, 1-250.
- 13. Hardie, I., Parks, P., Gottleib, P., Wear, D. (2000) Responsiveness of rural and urban land uses to land rent determinants in the US South. *Land Economics*, 659-673.
- 14. Katić, B., Simonović, Z. (2007) Briga o poljoprivrednom zemljištu u Srbiji-osvrt na novi Zakon o poljoprivrednom zemljištu. *Ekonomika*, 53(1-2): 149-162.

- 15. Kljajić, N., Arsić, S., Mijajlović, N. (2012) Zemljište kao ekološki faktor poljoprivredne proizvodnje. *Tranzicija*, 14(29): 38-47.
- 16. Lovrinčević, Ž., Vizek, M. (2008). The analysis of the prices and rents on agricultural land in the Republic of Croatia and EU member states. In *16. tradicionalno savjetovanje hrvatskih ekonomista*, January 2008.
- 17. Milanović, M., Cvijanović, D. (2009) Problemi održivosti i mogućnosti ekonomskog vrednovanja agroekoloških resursa. *EKONOMIKA POLJOPRIVREDE*, 5.
- Minović J., Drašković B., Stošić I., (2016) Gamification of Bioeconomic Prey-Predator Model". *International Journal of Engineering Education (IJEE)*, Special Issue: Gamification Ecosystems in Engineering Education, 32(1(B)), Section II: 574–581
- 19. Official Gazette of the Republic of Serbia, The Law on Agricultural Land, (2017) Republic of Serbia, No .62/2006; 65/2008; 41/2009; 112/2015 and 80/2017.
- 20. Ostrom, E. (2006), Upravljanje zajedničkim dobrima, evolucija institucija za kolektivno djelovanje, Jesenski & Turk, Zagreb 2006.
- Paraušić, V., Cvijanović, D. (2014) Ekonomska veličina poljoprivrednih gazdinstava u Srbiji i preporuka mera za njihovo osnaživanje. http://media.popispoljoprivrede.stat.rs (25.12.2017).
- 22. Pejanović, R. (2007) Dileme oko koncepta našeg agrarnog razvoja. *Proceedings* AKTUELNI PROBLEMI TRANZICIJE AGROPRIVREDE, 6.
- 23. Pejanović, R. (2009) Razvojni problemi poljoprivrede Republike Srbije. *AGROEKONOMIKA AGRIECONOMICA*.
- 24. Pejnović, D., Ciganović, A., Valjak, V. (2012) Ekološka poljoprivreda Hrvatske: problemi i mogućnosti razvoja. *Croatian geographical gazette*, 74(1): 141-159.
- 25. Petljak, K. (2011) Pregled razvoja i obilježja ekološke poljoprivrede u Republici Hrvatskoj. *Ekonomski Vjesnik/Econviews: Review of contemporary business, entrepreneurship and economic issues*, 24(2): 382-395.
- 26. Plantinga, A. J., Lubowski, R. N., Stavins, R. N. (2002) The effects of potential land development on agricultural land prices. *Journal of Urban Economics*, 52(3): 561-581.
- 27. Plantinga, A. J., Miller, D. J. (2001) Agricultural land values and the value of rights to future land development. *Land Economics*, 77(1): 56-67.
- 28. Puđak, J., Bokan, N. (2011) Ekološka poljoprivreda–indikator društvenih vrednota. *Sociologija i prostor*, 49(2(190)): 137-163.
- 29. Registry of real estate turnover, www.katastar.rgz.gov.rs, (November 2017).
- Renwick, A., Jansson, T., Verburg, P. H., Revoredo-Giha, C., Britz, W., Gocht, A., McCracken, D. (2013). Policy reform and agricultural land abandonment in the EU. *Land Use Policy*, 30(1): 446-457.
- Ricardo, D. (1821) On The Principles of Political Economy and Taxation, Jon Marray, London, 1821, Prevod na srpski jezik, Dejvid Rikardo, (2012): O Principima političke ekonomije i oporezivanja, Official Gazette, Belgrade, Beograd, 2012.
- 32. Schumpeter, J. (1975), Povijest ekonomske analize, Zagreb
- 33. Shi, Y. J., Phipps, T. T., Colyer, D. (1997). Agricultural land values under urbanizing influences. *Land economics*: 90-100.
- 34. Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia (2012), www.stat.gov.rs, Census of Agriculture, Belgrade
- 35. Sousa Andrade, J. (2007). Mobility of capital and external sustainability of the Portuguese economy. *Economic analysis*, 40(3-4), 8-27.

- 36. Subić, J., Katić, B., Vuković, P. (2005) Land: The most important natural resource in agriculture. *Ekonomika*, 51(5-6): 49-56.
- 37. The Republic Geodetic Authority, www.euprava.gov.rs, (November 2017).

THE ROLE OF GREEN MARKETING IN ACHIEVING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Ivana DOMAZET, PhD^{*} Milica KOVAČEVIĆ, MSc^{*}

Abstract: All forms of business affect the environment. In addition to the right to use natural resources, companies also have their obligations regarding their utilization. They must not be focused solely on profit, but must be socially responsible and take care of the environment. This raises the question of whether the company can be both environmentally and socially responsible and profitable at the same time. The aim of this paper is to show that it can, and one of the methods is the application of green marketing, which contributes to sustainable development. The issue of sustainability must be more closely integrated into the marketing strategy. This paper analyzes the benefits and difficulties of applying green marketing and its role in achieving sustainable development. The analysis was carried out from several aspects - the position of the main subjects in this field (consumers, enterprises, countries) was examined. For this purpose, the "meta" empirical analysis was applied - data from existing empirical research were used to obtain the results and conclusions of this paper. Since the aim of the paper is to give recommendations and examples of the green marketing application in enterprises, in addition to the research of the existing literature, we used the method of case studies analysis.

Keywords: green marketing, sustainable development, social responsibility, environmental awareness

1. INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

Globally we are facing many challenges related to the environment. To overcome them, numerous concepts and approaches have been developed. One of them is green marketing, which responds to the needs of ecologically-conscious consumers. There are numerous definitions of green marketing. The most widely used and cited is the definition of the American Marketing Association, according to which green marketing is defined as the marketing of those products that are safe in respect of the environment, organic and have no harmful effects on the

^{*} Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia, ivana.domazet@ien.bg.ac.rs

[•] University Mediteran, Montenegro, milica.kovacevic@unimediteran.net

environment. Today, consumers, and even companies, are increasingly concerned about the consequences of their actions on the environment and the environment in which they operate. Thus, the application of green marketing implies numerous changes in approach, which primarily relate to the modification of the basic elements of the marketing mix. Green marketing also implies a holistic concept, because all activities must be coordinated in order to protect the environment. Particular attention must be paid to the way products are manufactured and how they are consumed (Domazet, Jovanović, 2016).

In the literature, green marketing can also be found as organic marketing, sustainable marketing, and environment marketing, because this is exactly what reflects its focus. Applying the concept of green marketing provides benefits to individuals, organizations and the environment. It helps individuals take care of their health more actively, by assisting them to use healthy products, and enables companies to save on resources and reduce costs, which will result in reduced harmful effects on the environment. Green marketing is also one of the most important business strategies that helps in ensuring sustainable development. As sustainable marketing implies meeting current needs without sacrificing the benefits of future generations (Li, Cai, 2009), the application of green marketing is one of the methods to bring it into practice, because it promotes ways to save and rationally utilize limited resources. Both concepts have the ultimate goal of protecting the environment. This work is aimed at analyzing the impact of the green marketing concept on achieving sustainable development. In particular, the application of green marketing strategies in the countries of the former Yugoslavia and examples of good practice are analyzed.

The concept of green marketing originated in the 1970s - 1980s. The American Marketing Association organized the first workshop on Ecological Marketing in 1975. In the eighties, some theorists have begun to deal with this topic, and it was in practice in the nineties, with the beginning of production of environmentally friendly products, as well as with developing marketing and business concepts that support this process. Some of the scholars who initially dealt with this issue were Stanton and Futrell (1987), as well as the Mint and Lozanda (1993). The essence of their concepts is that green marketing, in a wider sense, implies the marketing of activities that will make the exchange that satisfies the needs and aspirations of consumers, while reducing the impact of these activities on the physical environment, possible (quoted by Singh, Singh, Sharma, 2016).

Green marketing refers to the organization's efforts in production, promotion, pricing and distribution that will not harm the environment (Pride and Ferrell, 1993). Polonsky (1994) considers that green marketing consists of activities

designed to generate and monitor exchange that aims to meet the needs and desires of people, so that this satisfaction is occurring with minimal harmful effects on the natural environment.

Green marketing mix consists of elements and "eco-friendly" products, designed in such a way that has the least harmful impact on the environment and, with the help of natural resources, can satisfy consumer preferences that are unlimited (Chitra, 2007). From all the above definitions it can be concluded that green marketing promotes a way of doing business that aims to create products that will use the minimum resources in order to meet the needs of consumers.

On the other hand, sustainable development implies a development that responds to existing needs without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their needs (World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987). Sustainable development is the framework for creating policies and strategies for sustainable economic and social progress. It can be understood as maintaining a balance between the use, storage and restoration of all resources. The overall goal of sustainable development, which will be achieved by integrating economic, environmental and social aspects of the decision-making process (Domazet, Simović, 2015).

Green marketing and sustainable development are linked to common goals, so different green marketing activities impact on achieving sustainable development: the production of environmentally friendly products, the use of recyclable materials that are biodegradable in packaging, the production and business process without environmental pollution – focused on the efficient use of energy, the application of efficient waste management (Domazet, Pantić, 2015). The concept of green marketing is crucial for achieving sustainable development for the following reasons: it contributes to cost savings, leads to the expansion of exports – as there are no issues with "green" bans, helps to establish the company's "green image", enables the company to be more competitive, helps the company to avoid "green taxes" (Zaharia, Zaharia, Tudorescu, 2010).

As sustainable development implies that satisfying needs is done without destroying the benefits of the future, green marketing has to change the classical marketing concept in order to contribute to it. This change must include product modification, changes in the production process, packaging, and promotion. The focus is a green product that does not contain harmful components and does not pollute the environment.

1.1. The goals of green marketing

Green marketing seeks to respond to the needs of ecologically responsible consumers. In order to be successfully applied, it must be accompanied by market and economic conditions, which encourage its development. To a large extent, this concept is also linked to socially responsible business, where business success is not focused solely on profit but also on environmental protection. In that sense, companies that apply green marketing do this in two ways: internally - investing in people and technologies that will be able to produce a green marketing mix, and externally - they are trying to have a positive influence on the local community. The basic tools of the green marketing mix are: green product, whose production does not disturb the environment, and the resources are consumed in rational quantities; Packaging, which respects the 3R concept (Reduce-use as little material as possible-Reuse-Recycle); Price - companies must strive to find the right price, since the price for green products is higher and the question is whether consumers will be willing to pay for it; and Promotion, where the green labels are used.

The main goals of green marketing are the following (Mishra, Sharma, 2014):

- To eliminate the concept of surplus,
- To modify the concept of the product,
- Prices must reflect actual and environmental costs,
- To make the environment profitable,
- To make changes in product manufacturing processes,
- To make changes in packaging,
- To modify advertising.

The green marketing concept implies that businesses find a way to reuse the surplus that remains from production. Accordingly, limited resources are saved. Green products are different from traditional ones because they are produced from materials that do not pollute the environment and are healthier for consumers. The prices of green products are, as a rule, higher because they have to cover the costs of the environment. On the other hand, they must not be at a level that is unacceptable to consumers. Therefore, companies should define prices that would meet both criteria. Companies using the concept of green marketing should demonstrate that this can also make them profitable, but that the profit is not the only goal of their business. Changes in production processes mean that energy saving measures are implemented, as well as that the environment is not polluted. Packaging in green marketing uses the 3R concept, as recyclable materials are used. When promoting, and in particular advertising, it is necessary to create messages that motivate consumers to use green products. An interesting challenge

lies in the fact that it is difficult to find evidence for statements promoting the use of green products.

1.2. Reasons for using green marketing

There are numerous reasons for using green marketing, which can be observed from the perspective of consumers, and from the perspective of organizations. With green marketing, consumers are given the opportunity to reach the products that are good for their health, which at the same time do not disturb the environment, for which they are increasingly concerned (Pantić, Đuričin, 2015). Green marketing gives companies the ability to re-brand their products, create specific product lines and to achieve their goals, along with the rational use of resources. The question arises as to whether the business can be environmentally responsible and profitable at the same time? Although green business seems to be more expensive, it offers certain advantages, which are (Bhaskar, Scholar, 2013):

- Opportunity to reach their goals,
- A moral obligation for social responsibility,
- Government bodies force companies to become more responsible,
- Competition aimed at protecting the environment,
- High costs, and on the other hand, availability of surplus.

The need for green marketing is increasing due to the problems of global warming, ozone depletion... On the other hand, more and more people are interested in environmental issues. Green marketing provides a good basis for the development of social entrepreneurship, as profit and non-profit organizations can unite on the environmental protection. This creates entrepreneurship of green communities – the collective ability to mobilize resources, including social capital, in order to provide products or services that are more focused on environmental protection than maximizing profits.

1.3. Issues with the application of green marketing

Often, the benefits of green marketing cannot be manifested only through money. Many companies question the actual effectiveness of green marketing, while others have difficulties to effectively communicate or fulfill what they claim. On the other hand, consumers themselves are very skeptical.

The application of green marketing is often observed only from the micro level, i.e. enterprise level, though broader – macro factors must particularly be taken into consideration.

The issues that businesses most often face are:

- Companies must be sure that their green activities are not contradictory to the consumers or the economic branch in which they operate,
- Companies must be sure that their actions do not violate laws and other regulations,
- There is a lack of standards to prove statements used in green marketing campaigns,
- Environmental protection must be considered as a long-term investment,
- Green marketing has to focus on consumer benefits.

In order to overcome these issues, companies must first of all change their way of doing business, which implies a modified marketing mix, and in addition, people and technology adapted to new production processes. In addition, it is necessary to work on continuous education of consumers and strengthening their awareness about the importance of consuming green products, both for their health and for the protection of the environment. One should not forget the importance of institutional and overall social support to these processes (Pavlović, Ljumović, 2016). Responsible government institutions must recognize the importance of green action, and adopt adequate strategies to manage these activities in a sustainable way, with a long-term orientation.

2. RESEARCH AND METHODOLOGY

For the purpose of this paper, the results of the research that came within the PhD thesis "Marketing with a social goal and ecologically responsible behavior of consumers from the territory of the former Yugoslavia" were used (Raletić Jotanović, 2017). 1550 respondents participated in cross-cultural research, conducted in the territory of the former Yugoslavia, on the topic of ecologically responsible behavior of consumers and marketing with a social goal, used as a stimulus for increasing the environmental awareness of consumers. The basic research set included about 19 million people from: Serbia 7,186,862, Croatia 4,284,889, Bosnia and Herzegovina 3,827,343, Montenegro 620,029, Slovenia 2,063,371 and Macedonia 2,107,037. The analyzed demographic characteristics of the sample are: state, gender, age, professional qualification and monthly income of the household.

If the structure of the sample is observed according to the countries from which respondents come from, out of 1550 respondents: 276 are from Serbia, 250 from Croatia, 265 from Bosnia and Herzegovina, 250 from Montenegro, 253 from Macedonia and 256 from Slovenia. That is, from 100% of the sample: 17.81% is

from Serbia, 16.13% from Croatia, 17.09% from Bosnia and Herzegovina, 16.13% from Montenegro, 16.32% from Macedonia, and 16.52% from Slovenia.

If the structure of the sample is analyzed according to gender, it is concluded that the majority of the sample -62.90% or 975 subjects are women, while men make 37.10% or 575 respondents.

When considering the age structure of the sample, respondents aged 18 to 30 make up the majority of the sample – 50.77% or 787 subjects. The second category by size are the respondents aged 31 to 40 with 25.23% or 391 subjects. Respondents aged 41 to 50 make up 12.52% or 194 subjects, 51 to 60 years old make 7.68%, or 119 subjects, while respondents between 61 and 70 years make up 2.65% of the sample, with 41 subjects. Only 11 respondents (<1%) were between the ages of 71 and 80, while 7 respondents did not answer the question of age.

When considering the structure of the sample according to the professional qualification, there is the same number of respondents – 39.81%, or 617 subjects who completed a college/university and those who have a high school diploma. These categories constitute the majority of respondents in the sample. Respondents with completed master studies, magistracy or doctorate make 19.16% of the sample, which makes 297 respondents. Only 15 respondents (<1%) have completed primary school, while 4 respondents did not provide information on the professional qualification.

The majority of the sample are households with average monthly income, 48.90% or 758 respondents. Respondents living in households below average monthly income make up 33.68% of the sample, or 522 respondents. The smallest number of respondents, 17.30% or more precisely 268 subjects, live in households where the monthly income is above the average. Two respondents did not answer the question about the monthly income of their households.

The sampling methods used are the stratified sample method and the simple random sample method. The population of consumers from the territory of the former Yugoslavia, which makes up about 19 million people, is divided into six strata, i.e. six countries from the territory of the former Yugoslavia: Serbia, Croatia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro, Macedonia and Slovenia. A simple random sample method was used to randomly select subjects from each strata.

The technique used in the research is a questionnaire. First, a pilot questionnaire was created, followed by the final questionnaire, with some corrections. The final questionnaire consists of three parts. In addition to the introductory, which implied

the respondents' consent, the second part contains demographic questions, which are related to the following characteristics of the respondents: state, gender, age, education and monthly household income. Issues related to the state, gender, education and monthly household income are closed type, while the question regarding the age of the respondents is of open type.

The third part consists of two sub-questionnaires:

- a) Questionnaire for examining the environmentally responsible behavior of consumers. It contains a total of 28 questions for determining four different types of behavior: 1) environmentally responsible buying 2) consuming products in an environmentally friendly manner 3) waste disposal so as not to degrade the environment and 4) post-use of the product. Every behavior is analyzed through seven different types of products: 1) food and beverages 2) home care 3) clothes and footwear 4) furniture 5) electrical appliances 6) transportation and 7) office supplies.
- b) Questionnaire for examining elements of marketing with a social goal as a stimulus for the environmentally responsible behavior of consumers. It contains 31 questions: 1) price 8 items, 2) distribution 4 items, 3) promotion 12 items, 4) previous experience 3 items, 5) creativity 3 items, and 6) partnership 1 item.

Descriptive statistics were used to determine the frequencies of different types of environmentally responsible behavior: environmentally responsible purchasing, consuming products in an environmentally friendly manner, disposing of waste to avoid degradation of the environment and post-use of products by countries: Serbia, Croatia, Montenegro, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Macedonia and Slovenia. In addition, the same method was used to determine the frequencies of different elements of marketing with a social goal as a stimulus for environmentally responsible behavior: prices, distribution, promotion, partnership, previous experience and creativity.

3. RESULTS

The most important research results selected for the purpose of this work are:

• There are differences in ecologically responsible purchasing, among consumers from Montenegro and all other former Yugoslav countries, where consumers from Montenegro are significantly less responsive to environmental purchases. Consumers from Montenegro buy ecologic products to a lesser extent.

- There are differences in the consumption of products in an environmentally friendly way, among consumers from Montenegro in relation to consumers from Serbia, Croatia, Slovenia and Macedonia, where consumers from Montenegro considerably less consume products in an environmentally friendly manner. Consumers from Montenegro, for example, do not save enough energy, do not buy in second-hand shops...
- Consumers from Montenegro are next to the last in respect of waste disposal in an environmentally friendly manner (consumers from Macedonia are on the last place).
- Respondents from Montenegro consume products for post-use, to the least extent compared to others.
- Consumers from Montenegro consider distribution as a stimulant of ecologically responsible behavior to a lesser extent comparing to consumers from Serbia and Macedonia.
- Consumers from Montenegro are significantly less willing to change their behavior towards an ecologically more responsible under the influence of commercial propaganda.
- Respondents from Montenegro are least willing to invest money for the purpose of ecologically responsible behavior as consumers.
- Respondents from Montenegro are least willing to invest time for the purpose of ecologically responsible behavior as consumers.
- The partnership between the state institution and the company is the most stimulating partnership when it comes to increasing the ecologically responsible behavior of consumers from Montenegro. Partnerships that are least stimulating for the environmentally responsible behavior of consumers are: a) international institutions, companies and celebrities, b) state institutions, NGOs and celebrities, and c) international institutions, celebrities, companies and NGOs.
- According to demographic characteristics, foremost consumers who behave ecologically responsible are: women, elderly consumers, those with a higher education and those whose income is above the average.

This research shows that, compared to other consumers from the former Yugoslavia, consumers from Montenegro are less ecologically aware and willing to buy products that are safe for their health and environment. This data is quite surprising, since Montenegro is an ecological state, although it would be necessary to conduct a more detailed analysis to determine the real causes of this situation. One of these reasons probably lies in the habits of buying and consuming products, second in inadequate offer of green products, and the third in insufficient stimulus measures for manufacturers to invest additional resources and efforts to develop the concept of green marketing. Certain initiatives have been promoted and will be implemented within the process of Montenegro's enlistment to the European Union. One of the chapters is about the environment. It states that Montenegro seeks to systematically integrate environmental issues into all economic sectors and decision-making processes, and to pay special attention to investing in clean energy sources, effective prevention and control of pollution, minimizing waste and environmental risks, and integrating environmental sustainable practices in key economic activities, in order to change unviable patterns of consumption and production, with particular emphasis on combating climate change.

On the other hand, the results of the research give some recommendations and guidelines for developing strategies that would be aimed at raising the awareness of consumers from Montenegro about the importance of environmentally responsible behavior. The results that women are more ecologically aware are not surprising, because they have higher sensitivity to topics of social significance. From the age perspective, the older are more ecologically responsible, which can be explained by their greater concern for health, but also for the environment, which they leave in some way to their descendants. As educated people are more familiar with the existence and importance of organic products, they buy them more. This is also related to their income, which is higher than the average and gives them the opportunity to buy such products, which are, as a rule, more expensive. These analyses also provide recommendations on which categories it is necessary to focus in promo-educational campaigns, which primarily addresses the younger population and those less educated, because their ecological awareness is at a lower level. As the general public in Montenegro is less ecologically aware, it means that, to a certain extent, the activities should be directed towards everyone. First of all, consumers from Montenegro need to educate themselves about ecologically responsible behavior - its importance for their wellbeing, as well as for the environment and society in general. It is necessary to present them the importance of identifying eco-labels, which is the evidence of product quality. The presentation model must involve direct contact, and not only propaganda, which has not proved to be the most efficient way of communication among consumers in Montenegro. They must recognize the importance of purchasing green products and benefits that can be achieved, because price is not a key reason to stimulate them to buy.

The above outcomes were confirmed by the results carried out for the needs of the Carbon neutral tourism project, implemented by UNDP (UNDP, 2015). The research on low-carbon tourism in Montenegro was conducted in 6 coastal municipalities (Bar, Budva, Herceg Novi, Kotor, Tivat, Ulcinj) and in the capital of Cetinje, and encompassed three target groups: 1) 1.000 turists/visitors; 2) 100 representatives of the business sector of travel and tourism - tourist workers; and 3)

representatives of competent institutions at the national and local level in the area of tourism and environmental protection.

The results showed the following:

- Tourists, tourist workers and representatives of relevant institutions at the national and local levels in the area of tourism and environmental protection have generally shown a relatively low level of awareness regarding low-carbon growth, and low carbon products and services in the area of travel and tourism. However, the general perception is that Montenegro is a clean and ecological tourist destination. No specific low-carbon tourism product or service, except the marine Porto Montenegro with their ecological standards for yachts, are offered in Montenegro.
- To some extent, tourist workers use measures to mitigate and reduce CO2 emissions, but additional incentives and systematic approach, which would be governed by state institutions, are needed. Responsible institutions are aware of eco-labeling programs and there are certain initiatives to provide assistance to tourist workers to include that in their offer.
- The main obstacles to the use or provision of low-carbon tourism products and services, which were put forward by tourist workers, relate to the lack of interest (perception that this would not attract more clients / tourists), the lack of resources and incentives. In addition, tourists are generally not interested in low-carbon tourism products and services, while competent national and local institutions indicate a lack of funds and a lack of interest by representatives of the tourism sector.
- Activities identified to neutralize the carbon footprint in tourism, which could be an incentive and motivation for the further creation of an environment for the development of low-carbon tourism, relate to pedestrian and cycling zones, bicycle paths and stations for electric bikes, tax incentives for accommodation of higher category, benefits for tourist facilities using an energy efficiency programs, adequate landfills, etc.
- This survey also showed that the awareness of various actors in Montenegro on low-carbon tourism is at a low level. Competent entities are familiar with the concept, but not with the methods of its application. On the other hand, even the tourists themselves are not demanding on this issue, so they do not exert additional pressure on the authorities to be more responsible. Although the state has enacted certain laws and strategies, no clear models for controlling their application have been established.
- The above indicates that in the coming period, we should work on raising awareness about the importance of ecologically responsible behavior not only of consumers, but also of business entities and state institutions, in

order to systematically and in the long term deal with environmental protection.

The originality of this paper is reflected in the analysis of literature and conducted researches in the area of green marketing, sustainable development and their connection. A special contribution lies in the presentation of a comparative analysis of Montenegro and countries of the region, primarily in the segment of environmental awareness of consumers. The added value is reflected in the analysis of case studies and recommendations for the application of green marketing in an efficient way, which can contribute to the improvement of business operations, as well as to sustainable development of the economy and society as a whole in the long run.

The paper can serve to all those who want to further elaborate this topic both theoretically and practically. During the writing of the paper, the existing literature was analyzed, but also the practice related to the application of green marketing in achieving sustainable development. Despite the global framework of analysis, the focus was on Montenegro and the region, so that examples and recommendations can primarily be of importance to companies in Montenegro who plan to act more ecologically and socially responsible. The paper can also be used at faculties, in the study of marketing and green marketing - theoretically and through the analysis of the case study

Future Research Directions:

The paper analyzes a part of the existing literature related to green marketing and its importance, as well as the contribution of green marketing in achieving sustainable development. The researches conducted with the aim of analyzing the ecologically responsible behavior of consumers from the territory of the former Yugoslavia, as well as public researches in Montenegro regarding the knowledge of the of low-carbon tourism concept, are presented in this paper. Research has shown that the application of green marketing has not been sufficiently developed on the territory of the former Yugoslavia, especially in Montenegro. In that sense, further research will focus on exploring the reasons for the insufficient environmental awareness of consumers in Montenegro, especially since Montenegro is an ecological state and consumers in this country should have greater responsibility towards it. Regarding the application of green marketing, in addition to the analysis of consumers, further research by the authors will also refer to the research of the behavior of business entities and competent state institutions. In accordance with the results of the research, the further work of the authors will be directed to giving recommendations, which can be the basis for the development of strategies, which would raise consumers' and other subjects' awareness of ecologically responsible behavior and the importance of implementing the concept of green marketing

4. CONCLUSION

Companies have great benefits from applying green marketing (reducing costs, creating new markets, etc.). These benefits can also be observed at the macro level, as such action leads to sustainable development (through, for example, energy savings, reduced waste, etc.).

In addition to businesses, consumers are also benefiting from green marketing because acting in accordance with its principles leads to the provision of products that are good for the health of consumers, but also to the protection of the environment in which people work and live.

Green marketing is increasingly being applied globally, primarily because consumers become ecologically aware and demanding when environmental protection is in question. On the other hand, states also realize that many resources are being spent uncontrollably, which can lead to their disappearance and unsustainability of certain industries in the future. That's why more and more models are being sought to respond to unlimited consumer needs with limited resources, and one of these models is green marketing. It contributes to achieving sustainable development, as it promotes the rational use of resources.

Marketing managers should also adapt to the new concept of action, as the traditional concept of marketing mix needs to accommodate to new needs. At the heart of green marketing is the green product, which is made of non-polluting materials. They are accompanied by green packaging, as well as branding that distinguishes products that are environmentally friendly. Promotion should contribute to consumer awareness and information about these products and, when presenting their advantages, to motivate people to use them. The prices of green products are usually higher due to the specific process of their production. However, they must be at a level acceptable to consumers, which can be achieved by reducing costs, saving energy, using surplus of materials and waste, and so on. The distribution should also be organized in accordance with the "green principles", primarily through adequate transport, and the use of fuels that are less harmful to the environment.

Special heed should be paid to consumer education, as their behavior significantly influences the implementation of the green marketing concept. On the other hand,

their actions will significantly influence the companies' business, as ecologically conscious consumers will "make them" behave more socially responsible, since they will choose to buy from such.

Consumers in developing countries are less ecologically aware than in developed ones. This is shown by the research of the ecological action of consumers from the territory of the former Yugoslavia. However, there is a difference between them. For example, consumers from Montenegro are significantly less ecologically responsible in purchasing from other countries of the region and are not sufficiently informed about how they can contribute to environmental protection. In this respect, an action for raising the awareness of consumers in Montenegro on ecologically responsible activities needs to be performed in the future.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This chapter is written as a part of the research projects III47009 (European Integrations and Social and Economic Changes in Serbian Economy on the Way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions for Economic Development and Harmonisation with EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science, and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

REFERENCES

- 1. Bhaskar, H. L. (2013) Green Marketing: A Tool for Sustainable Development. *International Journal of Research in Commerce and Management*, 4(6): 142-145.
- 2. Cerin, P. (2006) Bringing economic opportunity into line with environmental influence: A Discussion on the Coase theorem and the Porter and van der Linde hypothesis. *Ecological Economics*, 209-225.
- 3. Domazet, I., Pantić, O. (2015) Reciklažna industrija kao faktor unapređenja kvaliteta životne sredine u Srbiji, *Ecologica* 22(78): 211-215.
- 4. Domazet, I., Simović, V. (2015) Creation of green jobs: Opportunity to reduce high unemployment in Western Balkans, In Monograpf *Toward Green Economy: Opportunities and Obstacles for Western Balkan Countries*, Ed.: Radović Marković M et al. Xlibris LLC: USA. 82-100.
- 5. Domazet, I., Jovanović, O. (2016) Environment and Technogenic Pollution Sources, *Ecologica* 23(83): 529-533.
- 6. Domazet, I., Marjanović, D. (2017), Foreign direct investment in the function of economic development: Example of selected countries in the Western Balkan, *International Letters of Social and Humanistic Sciences* 79(2017):1-15.
- Domazet, I., Marjanović, D. (2017) Tax incentives as a factor of economic growth, In Monograph *The state and the market in economic development: In Pursuit of millennium development goals*, The International Institute of Development Studies (IIDS) Brisbane, Australia. 93-107.

- 8. Domazet, I., Stošić, I., Hanić, A. (2016) New technologies aimed at improving the competitiveness of companies in the services sector, In Monograph *Europe and Asia: Economic Integration Prospects*, CEMAFI International: France. 363-377.
- 9. Domazet, I., (2016) Improving Competitiveness through National Branding, In Monograph *Development, Competitiveness and Inequality in EU and Western Balkans,* Sofia University Sv. Kliment Ohridski: Bulgaria. 61-81.
- 10. Fowler, A. R., Close, A. G. (2012) It aint easy being greed: Macro, Meso, and Micro Green Advertising Agendas. *Journal of Advertising*, 41(4): 119-132.
- 11. Garg, A. (2015) Green Marketing for Sustainable Development: an Industry Perspective. *Sustainable Development*, 301-316.
- Gheorghiu, A., Vidraşcu, P.A., Niculescu, M.D. (2013) The Deveopment of the Ecomarketing, Green Performance and Corporate Responsibility in a Competetive Economy. *Quality - Access to Success*, p. 373.
- 13. Gliedt, T., Parker, P. (2007) Green community entrepreneurship: creative destruction in the social economy. *International Journal of Social Economics*, 34(8): 538-553.
- 14. Jotanović, S.R. (2017) Marketing sa društvenim ciljem i ekološki odgovorno ponašanje potrošača sa prostora bivše Jugoslavije (doktorska disertacija). Ekonomski fakultet: Subotica.
- 15. Li, H., Cai W. (2009) Green Marketing and Sustainable Development of Garment Industry-A Game between Cost and Profit. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 3(12): 81-85.
- 16. Mishra, P., Sharma, P. (2014) Green Marketing: Challenges and Opportunities for Business. *Management Edge*, 7(1): 78-86.
- 17. Ottman, J. A. (2011) The New Rules of Green Marketing: Strategies, Tools, and Inspiration for Sustainable Branding. Greenleaf Publishing:UK.
- 18. Padhy, N., Vishnoi, P. (2015) Green Marketing Mix and Sustainable Development. *International Journal of Research in Commerce and Management*, 6(07): 34-37.
- 19. Pantić, O., Đuričin, S. (2015) Značaj reciklažne industrije i upravljanja poljoprivrednim otpadom u cilju zaštite životne sredine. Ecologica, 22(80): 613-616.
- Pavlović, D., Ljumović, I. (2016) Competitiveness Index Analysis: Is Investing in Young People Important for Achieving National Competitiveness?. Economic Analysis, 49(1/2): 24-35.
- 21. Paraušić, V., Domazet, I., Simeunović, I. (2017), Analysis of the Relationship Between the Stage of Economic Development and the State of Cluster Development, *Argumenta Oeconomica* 39(2): 279-305.
- 22. Polonsky, M.J. (1994) An introduction to green marketing. *Electronic Green Journal*, 1(2): 1-10.
- 23. Pride, W.M., Ferrell, O.C. (1993) *Marketing-Concepts and Strategies*. Houghton-Mifflin: Boston, MA.
- 24. Saha, A., Brish, P. (2013) Synchronization of Green Marketing Communication: A Strategic Approach. *Multidisciplinary Academic Conference*.
- 25. Singh, P., Singh, R., Sharma, S. (2016) Emergence of Green marketing Strategies and Sustainable Development in India. *Journal of Commerce & Management Thought*, 7(4): 693-710.
- 26. Smith, D., Darrin, C. (2010) What to do about Sustainability: Applying The Green Imperative. *Happi: Household & Personal Products Industry*, 47(1): 42-48.
- Sungchul, C., Alex, N. (2011) Environmental and Economic Dimensions of Sustainability and Price Effects on Consumer Responses. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 104(2): 269.
- 28. Tolušić, Z., Dumančić, E., Bogdan, K., (2014) Društveno odgovorno poslovanje i zeleni marketing. *Agroeconomia Croatica*, 4(1): 25-31.
- 29. UNDP, (2015) Istraživanje o nisko-karbonskom turizmu u Crnoj Gori.
- 30. Wasik, J. F. (1996) *Green marketing management a global perspective*. Blackwell Publishing: UK.
- 31. World Commission on Environment and Development, (1987) Our Common Future. *Annex to General Assembly Document A*/42/427. Developmentand International Cooperation: Environment.
- 32. Zaharia, C., Zaharia I., Tudorescu, N. (2010) Ecological Economics, Sustainable Deveopment and Environmental Justice. *Economics, Management, and Financial Markets*, 5(2): 297-303.
- 33. Zhang, J. (2010) Green Marketing Strategy Analysis of Real Estate Based on Low-Carbon Economy. *International Journal of Business & Management*, 5(12): 177.

ILLIQUIDITY RISK OF POLLUTING ENTERPRISES IN SERBIA

Slavica STEVANOVIĆ, PhD* Grozdana MARINKOVIĆ, PhD•

Abstract: The aim of this paper is to analyze the liquidity risk of selected polluting enterprises in Serbia. The specific objective of the paper relates on the comparison of polluting medium enterprises liquidity risk with liquidity of medium enterprises sector and Serbian economy. Illiquidity risk assessment is determined by liquidity indicators, net working capital and cash flow statement. The research is conducted on the group of 48 polluting mediumsized enterprises whose plants are the major sources of environmental pollution in Serbia. Selected liquidity indicators are determined by financial statements information disclosed by Serbian Business Registers Agency. The quantitative and qualitative analysis covers the period from 2010 to 2015. The values and trends of liquidity indicators of the polluting medium enterprises group represent an unfavourable assumption for their short-term financial stability. Positive net working capital shows that polluting medium enterprises have sufficient long-term fund to cover long-term assets and the part of their inventories.

Keywords: Illiquidity risk, cash flow analysis, polluting enterprises, medium enterprises, Serbian economy

1. INTRODUCTION

Economic growth and green growth that is based on care for the environment are the processes that should be realized simultaneously. Green growth as an approach should contribute to the implementation of the concept of sustainable development in economic, environmental and social dimension (Jovanović-Gavrilović, Minić, 2012). Economic development in which environmental damage penalizes economic growth can be defined as unsustainable development (Đurović, Cvetanović, 2016).

^{*} Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia, slavica.stevanovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

[•] Belgrade Banking Academy - Faculty of banking, insurance and finance, Serbia, grozdana.marinkovic@bba.edu.rs

Environmental protection is a prerequisite for a country development, as well as for the growth and progress of its business entities. The characteristics of social responsible companies are the application of modern manufacturing technologies influencing on reduction of environmental pollution and the environmentally justified way of doing business.

Eco-based capital investments at the state level depend on the country's solvency. Investing in new manufacturing technologies and modern business systems is associated with short-term and long-term financial stability, at the level of individual entities. Polluter companies' expenditures based on investments in ecological production, preventive and environmental protection, environmental pollution taxes and other unforeseen expenditures imply that enterprises are able to operate with satisfactory liquidity, i.e. to ensure that sources of funding are available to service matured liabilities.

The aim of this paper is to analyze the liquidity risk of selected polluting enterprises in Serbia using the accrual liquidity indicators as compared to the cash flow liquidity indicators and net working capital as a financial tool which represents corporate liquidity. The specific objective of the paper relates on the comparison of polluting medium enterprises liquidity risk with liquidity of medium enterprises sector and Serbian economy. The authors consider the main hypothesis of this research that group of polluting medium enterprises is exposed to illiquidity risk, but less than medium-sized enterprises sector and economy as whole.

Illiquidity risk assessment is determined by liquidity indicators, net working capital and cash flow statement. The accrual and cash flow approaches of liquidity analysis are used in the paper as complementary approaches. Research methodology is based on the financial, descriptive, comparative and statistical analysis. The research is conducted on the group of 48 polluting medium-sized enterprises whose plants are the major sources of environmental pollution in Serbia. The sample of the enterprises was selected from the Pollutant Release and Transfer Register in Serbia (PRTR register of large sources of pollution), reported by the Serbian Environmental Protection Agency. The liquidity analysis includes the comparison between polluting medium enterprises, the sector of medium enterprises and Serbian economy over a six-year period, on annual and average level. Selected liquidity indicators are determined by financial statements information disclosed by Serbian Business Registers Agency. The quantitative and qualitative analysis covers the period from 2010 to 2015. This research can be accepted in academic and industry practice. The research results can be of interest to a variety of enterprises stakeholders, including financial analysts, policy makers, and researchers.

Illiquidity problem in Serbian economy makes it difficult for enterprises to doing business. The key originality value of this paper is in the fact that the assessment of the illiquidity risk is based on the selected liquidity indicators for medium-sized enterprises whose plants are the major sources of environmental pollution in Serbia.

In accordance with the main objective of this research, besides introduction and conclusion, this paper also includes three integral parts. The first part addresses to polluting enterprises in Serbia. In the second part of the paper, the liquidity analytical tools were identified. In the third part after the methodology was presented as well as the sample of the enterprises and data sources, the liquidity risk of the selected polluting medium enterprises was analyzed. This part includes the comparison between polluting medium enterprises, the medium enterprises sector and Serbian economy as whole.

2. POLLUTING ENTERPRISES IN SERBIA

Financial stability is the relevant determinant of continual business and growth of an enterprise. Ecologically responsible business operations as a prerequisite for economic prosperity and corporate image enhancement imply the undertaking of adequate measures to prevent or reduce environmental pollution (Stevanović, Belopavlović, Lazarević-Moravčević, 2014). All the companies which inadequate activities lead to the pollution of the environment should bear the responsibility for damaging its quality. The Environmental Protection Law (2016) defines that enterprises in Serbia can apply technologies and processes that meet environmental protection requirements.

Fulfilling the responsibilities to cover environmental protection costs and investing in eco production comprises the ability to maintain liquidity that is a prerequisite for long-term financial stability. Polluter companies' expenditures on behalf of preventive environmental protection, pollution charges and other unforeseen expenditures imply that the company is able to operate liquidly. Preventive protection costs created aiming to mitigate and reduce pollution can also be seen as an investment resulting in improvement of business performance and responsible business (Knežević, Mizdraković, Arežina, 2012). The additional expenditure of polluters may comprise also the environmental control costs incurred by controlling and monitoring the process of production, transport and waste disposal (Jakovčević, 2008).

Ecologically justified production and products and services sale not endangering the environment and human health is a characteristic of socially responsible enterprises. Đukić (2012) notes that environmental standards and sustainability criteria have to be relevant assumptions of the business and production and sales of goods, products and services. Companies which activities lead to environmental pollution are legally obliged to submit annual reports on sources of pollutants on the basis of emissions into air, water, soil and waste management. These are companies that have one or more plants representing sources of pollution. Environmental reporting entity is obliged to keep daily record of emissions of polluting substances, that is, generation and waste management, to submit annual reports on prescribed forms to the Environmental Protection Agency or local selfgovernment community.

Large sources of environmental pollution are registered in the national database. The establishing a national electronic database comprising that information is one of the steps leading to the improvement of regulations and information system related to environmental protection (Stevanović, Belopavlović, Lazarević-Moravčević, 2016). Pollutant companies' listings are classified according to the registry types for which the data are submitted. The Environmental Protection Agency compiles a list of companies that are required to report to the National Register of Pollutant Sources.

Besides the Pollution Release and Transfer Register (PRTR), there is a list of companies with reporting obligation for products that after the use become special waste streams, a list of waste management companies as manufacturer, waste exporters and importers, or as landfill or treatment plants operators. Additional registers of the Serbian Environmental Protection Agency refer to companies submitting reports on packing placed on the market and local communities having responsibility to report on communal waste (www.sepa.gov.rs). The PRTR includes facilities representing the most important sources of pollution in Serbia in the energy, production and processing of metals, mineral industry, and chemical industry, waste and wastewater management, paper and wood products, intensive livestock production and fisheries, food industry and other industrial branch.

The PRTR large source pollutant register comprises data systematized based on the information provided by pollutants in prescribed forms (www.sepa.gov.rs). For individual companies the reporting obligation is defined at plant level. General information on the source of pollution, which is, inter alia, related to the data on

spent fuel in the plant, plant products and raw materials are provided within Form 1. The forms 2, 3 and 4 respectively show data on air, water and soil. The Agency presents the number of pollution sources for which the companies are responsible to submit the mentioned forms. The types and quantities of produced waste, as well as the managing way of individual waste types, are provided in Form 5.

3. ANALYTICAL TOOL OF LIQUIDITY ANALYSIS

The company's financial stability is the subject of analysis of all interest groups. Different interest groups have both, common and specific information requirements regarding company performances. The degree of exposure of an enterprise to the business-financial risks is relevant for decision-making on cooperation. The ultimate interest of the creditor is the collection of claims on the basis of approved loan and interest within the foreseen deadlines, and collection of principal and interest from financial investments. Existing and potential capital owners make up the interest group of companies that bear the highest risk of investing capital in the company and accordingly expect long-term financial stability of the company and adequate returns. The subject of expectations of other external and internal stakeholders is the ability to pay off the company's liabilities.

The company risk can be defined from different aspects. Financial risk implies the aspect of ability to settle liabilities both on maturity, and over a longer period. Stickney (2007) illustrates the calculation and interpretation of risk ratios focusing on both, short-term liquidity risk and long-term solvency risk. A wider definition of risk implies observing the risk of real yield gains in relation to the expected gains.

The risk assessment of investment and co-operation with the company can be carried out on the basis of information from the financial statements. The fact is that there is no guarantee that risk-based financial statements can positively be considered in a systematic manner (Damodaran, 2007, 100), but the financial statements are a relevant source of information representing a basis for risk measurements. Liquidity risk analysis implies an analysis of the company's short-term financial stability. Liquid company is the one that is able to provide sufficient cash for continuous business and compliance with its liabilities. A company with the lower level of liquidity risk has a greater ability to maintain short-term financial stability.

The risk of liquidity or insolvency can be assessed on the basis of financial indicators, while financial indicators are insufficient to assess the risk that actual returns could be lower than expected. However, for this type of risk, the other information is required.

The financial ratios differ in whether levels (amounts shown on the balance sheet) or flows (cash inflow and outflow) are used to gauge the relationship (White, 2003, 124). Indicators used for assessing financial stability risk may only be based on the Balance sheet and Income statement for a given period of time. There is also a set of indicators that are additionally based on cash flows as well as a group of risk indicators based on market information (Malinić, 2009). Stevanović and Belopavlović (2011) explain the measuring of short term and long-term financial stability indicators. Anđelić, Gajić and Ilić (2016) discusse the problems of the financial management using modern methods of financial management that include liquidity risk analysis. Đuričin and Bodroža (2013) inter alia use business risk drivers analysis and liquidity analysis in performed order to evaluate level of agro meteorological conditions impact on agricultural financial performances.

A static liquidity analysis based on the items of the balance sheet represents the initial phase of the analysis of short-term financial stability. The liquidity analysis carried out on the basis of the total value of current assets, the value of certain items of current assets and short-term liabilities generates risk indicators as a result of financial and structural disturbances.

Except Current ratio and Quick ratio as traditional ratios, a ratio that incorporates the amount of cash and cash equivalents on the balance sheet helps the analyst to evaluate short-term liquidity. If the relation between cash and cash equivalents on one hand, and short-term liabilities on the other hand, is lower than 25% than it can be used as the signal of insolvency risk (Malinić, 2009).

The coverage degree assessment of the short-term liabilities by the company's current assets is not sufficient for the assessment of its short-term financial stability. The assessment of the structure and quality of current assets, and the maturity of short-term liabilities show good or bad assumptions for managing enterprise's short-term stability. Adequate liquidity management comprises monitoring and adjusting the assets maturity structure and sources of funding, evaluation of company's asset and liabilities management efficiency, as well as forecasting cash inflows and outflows in the upcoming period.

Cash flow from operating is used as a measure of the company's ability to generate cash in its business activities to be used to cover current liabilities. After the adoption of SFAS No. 95 Giacomino and Mielke (1993) introduce the cash flow indicators, primarily using cash flows based on operating activities. A negative Cash flow from operating discovers or warns of a liquidity and business problems. The more permanent negative cash flow from operating indicates the company's exposure to long-term financial risk. In addition to the absolute amount of the cash

flow from operating, the risk of default is under the influence of changes in these cash flows. Most models for assessing the risk of non-fulfillment use financial indicators to measure cash flow coverage (Damodaran, 2007, 175). Ratio named Operating Cash Flow to current liabilities ratio is one of them. The earnings quality indicators based on cash flows can also be used as indicators of possible business-financial problems. The quality of revenue indicator may indicate an increased risk of illiquidity (Mulford, Comiskey, 2005).

Indicators that warn about jeopardizing liquidity, contribute to increasing risk that long-term financial stability is compromised. Disruption of the existing financial structure affects the indicator of indebtedness and implies exposure to higher financial risks. The indicator of potential indebtedness (Malinić, 2009) other than actual liabilities includes potential liabilities. The disclosure of information on potential liabilities contributes to the perceiving company's financial risk because conditional liabilities can become real under certain conditions. Financial and structural risk indicators are also a sign of the ability to pay interest rates.

Net working capital is a financial stability tool expressed in absolute money units. Net working capital represents the security margin for the creditors. It is part of equity and long-term borrowed capital intended for financing current assets. The amount of the net working capital needs to be tailored to the needs of long-term financing of a current assets' part that will not be funded from short-term capital sources. Own net working capital shows the extent the fixed assets are financed from their equity.

4. LIQUIDITY ANALYSIS OF SELECTED POLLUTING ENTERPRISES IN SERBIA

4.1. The methodology and data

The research methodology in this paper is primarily based on financial, descriptive and comparative analysis. Mainly, the analysis included selected medium-sized enterprises whose plants are the major sources of environmental pollution in Serbia. The sample of analyzed enterprises was selected from the Pollution Release and Transfer Register of large sources of pollution. The sample encompasses both the submitting enterprises and the ones that do not submit the reports to the Serbian Environmental Protection Agency. The check of the list of the selected enterprises that are included in National Pollution Sources Register was conducted during May 2017 using the Environmental Protection Agency of Republic of Serbia web site. For the comparative analysis of the liquidity, authors use three groups of the enterprises. The first group of the enterprises includes polluting medium-sized enterprises, the second group represents all medium enterprises and the third group includes Serbian economy as a whole. Indicators that measure illiquidity risk of all analyzed groups are reported cumulatively.

Liquidity indicators were the initial indicators that are analyzed in this paper. Liquidity indicators of the selected group of enterprises were conducted by observing the relation between current assets and short-term liabilities (Current Ratio) as well as the relation between monetary assets and short-term liabilities (Quick Ratio). Cash flow liquidity indicator as a ratio between net operating cash flow and short-term liabilities shows the extent in which current liabilities are covered by net cash inflow from operating activities (Cash Flow Ratio). Also, illiquidity risk assessment is determined by net working capital determinants and cash flow statement items.

The selected analytical tools of liquidity are determined using the data from financial reports for individual enterprises published by Serbian Business Registers Agency. Quantitative and descriptive analysis of financial reports is carried out for the period between 2010 and 2015. Some indicators were analyzed on a yearly basis and also average for five years period 2010-2015. The publication of the Serbian Business Registers Agency named Financial Statements Annual Bulletin contains aggregate data on the financial state and business performance of enterprises in the Republic of Serbia based on the Balance sheet, Income Statement and Statistical Annex. The fact that Bulletin doesn't have data from Cash flow statements is the reason why Cash flow ratio is not calculated for Serbian Economy.

4.2. Research results

Liquidity indicators. Satisfactory relations between the individual assets and liabilities are in the function of generating of the earnings and the net cash flows that provide the assumption for health financial position of enterprises (Vukelić, Stevanović, Belopavlović, 2014, 681). The values and trends of liquidity indicators of the polluting medium enterprises group represent an unfavourable assumption for their short-term financial stability.

The values of current ratio of the selected polluting medium enterprises are below the usual normal (2:1), but they are above 1. The current liabilities are covered by current assets even in 2013 when the ratio is reduced to the lowest level. The current liquidity of the polluting medium enterprises was slightly growing after 2013. The coverage of short-term liabilities by current assets was 116% and 118% respectively.

The values of current ratio are above the values of current ratio of medium enterprises sector and Serbian economy. Current ratio of economy as a whole is on the level below the 1 and forecast bad financial structural assumption in terms of ability to service matured liabilities in due time.

By excluding less liquid assets from current assets, the situation is different. The value of monetary assets is not sufficient to cover short-term liabilities in the analyzed period. The coverage of short-term liabilities by the monetary assets for the selected polluting medium enterprises group at a six-year average is at the level of 70%. The values of quick ratio are below the traditional normal (1:1) for all of three analyzed groups that represent too an unfavourable assumption for ability to service matured liabilities. The Quick ratio of the selected polluting medium enterprises is below the quick ratio of medium enterprises sector in all analyzed years but above the quick ratio of Serbian economy.

Indicators	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Current ratio						
Polluting medium enterprises	1.28	1.28	1.21	1.08	1.16	1.18
Medium enterprises sector	1.15	1.18	1.18	1.08	1.05	1.12
Serbian Economy	0.96	0.94	0.97	0.91	0.89	0.89
Quick ratio						
Polluting medium enterprises	0.76	0.77	0.71	0.63	0.66	0.70
Medium enterprises sector	0.81	0.82	0.80	0.73	0.70	0.74
Serbian Economy	0.68	0.67	0.70	0.64	0.63	0.62
Cash flow ratio						
Polluting medium enterprises	-0.16	0.06	0.09	0.07	0.09	0.18
Medium enterprises sector	0.07	0.10	0.08	0.05	0.06	0.08

Table 1: Comparative analysis of the liquidity indicators for the period 2010-2015

Source: Authors' calculations based on Serbian Business Registers Agency data

When we rely on the cash flow ratio, we can notice that all groups of analyzed enterprises have liquidity problem because indicators are far below the usual normal (0.4:1). Comparing cash flow ratio of polluting medium enterprises with the values of ratio of medium enterprises sector, we can see similar values. After liquidity indicator analysis, we can conclude that the liquidity is very difficult to maintain.

Net working capital - NWC. The changes in the net working capital value show current liquidity tendencies. The net working capital plays an extremely important

role in assessing the ability to sustain long-term financial stability of a company. It indicates both the extent to which long-term capital is sufficient to cover not only permanent property but also inventories requesting long-term financing.

The lack of own capital for the financing fixed assets is the characteristic of selected pollution medium enterprises in the analyzed period. The trend of their net working capital determinants during periods is shown in the table 2.

The negative net working capital, along with a negative trend since 2011, shows that such coverage of fixed assets from its own sources is unsustainable for a long time. Determinants analysis the own net working capital shows that equity value is increasing over the period, but this is insufficient to cover fixed assets which value also increases. Increasing the value of fixed assets may at first glance exacerbate the image of the net working capital, but investing in expansion and modernization of fixed assets is a good reflection of the company's business. Although equity and fixed assets are relatively comparable over the period, the lack of equity for financing the fixed assets is increasing because the loss above equity value reduces equity since 2012. Loss above equity most reduces equity in 2015.

					in n	nil. RSD
Positions	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Equity	32,244	34,926	34,725	38,100	39,992	42,721
Loss above Equity	296	0	1,173	1,162	1,825	3,221
Fixed Assets	42,085	43,932	43,908	49,369	51,777	55,655
Own Net working capital	-10,137	-9,007	-10,356	-12,431	-13,610	-16,156
Long-term Provisions and Liabilities	16,642	15,920	16,159	14,696	19,180	23,172
Net working capital	6,505	6,914	5,803	2,264	5,570	7,016
Deficiency of Net working capital	-5,750	-6,138	-8,694	-12,601	-11,977	-10,400

Table 2: Net working capital of selected polluting medium enterprises

Source: Authors' calculations based on Serbian Business Registers Agency data

Long-term borrowed capital compensates the lack of own sources of funding to cover fixed assets as a whole. Positive net working capital shows that polluting medium enterprises have sufficient long-term funds to cover long-term assets and the part of their inventories. The net working capital has the lowest level in 2013. The increase in net working capital demonstrates a tendency to improve liquidity since 2014. The significant reason for this is the increase in value of long-term provisions and liabilities, which in 2015 was 57% of long-term provisions and liabilities value from 2013.

Considering the relation between net working capital and inventory value, there was noticed a lack of net working capital to cover inventories of selected polluting enterprises throughout the analyzed period. The biggest drawback is present in 2013 when only 15% of the inventory value is covered by net working capital. Improving financial stability has been noticed for the next two years when polluting medium enterprises cover 32% and 40% of inventories by net working capital respectively. The comparative analysis of Net working capital for the period 2010-2015 is presented in the table 3.

Own net working capital is negative for all three analysed groups. Loss above equity most reduces the equity of the polluting enterprises group. Loss above equity is about 3.4% of the equity value on average, while the percentage for the medium-sized enterprises is 10%. Loss above equity value of Serbian economy is even about 20% of the equity value.

			in mil. RSD
Positions	Polluting medium	Medium	Serbian
Positions	enterprises	enterprises	Economy
Equity	37,118	587,135	5,432,127
Loss above Equity	1,280	57,937	1,089,148
Permanent Assets	47,788	736,721	7,013,184
Own Net working capital	-11,949	-207,523	-2,670,205
Long-term Provisions and Liabilities	17,628	277,572	2,192,114
Net working capital	5,679	70,049	-478,091
Deficiency of Net working capital	-9,260	-135,540	-1,868,549

Table 3: Comparative analysis of net working capital for the period2010-2015

1 DOD

Source: Authors' calculations based on Serbian Business Registers Agency data

Net working capital of selected polluting enterprises in average covers the 39% of inventory value, and it is similar in medium enterprises sector where net working capital in average covers about 36% of inventory value. Net working capital in average covers 16% and 11% of current assets value respectively in both mentioned group of enterprises. The fact that short-term sources finance a significant part of the inventories of analyzed groups of companies is a sign of their relatively low solvency. The first two analyzed groups are in better position than the Serbian economy, which notices negative value of own Net working capital and Net working capital. The net working capital analysis of the Serbian economy shows that the part of the fixed assets and inventories are financed from short-term sources (Stevanović, 2015). The lack of net working capital is considerably higher taking into account the importance of long-term sources for inventories financing.

Cash flows. The cash inflows and cash outflows trends of selected polluting enterprises are shown in the table 4. Net cash flow from operating activities is positive from 2011 when their ability to generate cash from internal sources begins. Cash inflows from operating activities are gradually increasing in the observed period, and largely follow the net operating cash flow trends. Cash outflows from operating activities were significantly reduced in 2011. In the following period the operating cash inflows grow.

The trend of operating cash inflows and outflows in 2015 is disproportionate. Operating cash inflows noticed maximum value in relation to the observed period, while operating cash outflows were only 6% of the ones from the previous year.

					in n	nil. RSD
Cash flows	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Cash inflow from operating	2,366	2,833	4,150	4,907	6,556	6,813
Cash outflow from operating	6,159	1,184	1,600	2,561	3,299	213
Net operating cash flow	-3,793	1,648	2,550	2,345	3,257	6,600
Cash inflow from investing	1,083	1,242	947	813	867	1,179
Cash outflow from investing	2,689	2,952	3,606	3,257	4,030	7,081
Net investing cash flow	-1,606	-1,710	-2,659	-2,444	-3,163	-5,902
Net cash after investing	-5,399	-62	-109	-99	94	699
Cash outflow from financing	3,986	5,322	3,718	5,737	7,463	11,835
Net cash after debt servicing	-9,384	-5,384	-3,827	-5,836	-7,370	-11,137
Cash inflow from financing	9,804	5,291	4,383	6,116	7,192	11,995
Net cash after external financing	419	-93	556	280	-178	859

Table 4: Cash flow analysis of selected polluting medium enterprises

Source: Authors' calculations based on Serbian Business Registers Agency data

The extremely uneven trend of operating cash inflows and outflows is unsustainable for a longer period of time. Prolonging the payment of operating liabilities and collection of claims from earlier periods may be the reason for such a trend, showing that a significant increase in operating cash outflows can be expected in the coming period.

Investing cash outflows are on the rise, particularly in 2015, when selected polluting enterprises group covers net investing cash flows in the entirety from the internally generated cash. The net cash flow after investing shows that the group in 2014 and 2015 covers one part of the debt from operating and investing cash sources. Investing cash inflows, mainly the result of property, plant and equipment sale, and net cash inflows from financial investments, are variable and amount annually between 17% and 40% of the investing cash outflows, depending on the year of observation.

During the period, the financial net cash inflow of the enterprises is unstable. The cash inflows and outflows from financing increase since 2013. Cash outflows from financing activities refer to treasury shares, servicing debts and the other financial liabilities. For the debts servicing and share repurchase enterprises use external financing sources entirely, for the period 2010-2013. In the past two years, a part of the operating and investing cash resources are used for these needs. Observing the net cash flow after debt servicing and financing cash inflows values, the conclusion is that enterprises in 2011 and 2014 use cash stock to cover the lack of financing sources. Positive net cash after external financing in other years discover that enterprises increase cash and cash equivalents value.

5. CONCLUSION

The research results confirm the main hypothesis that the group of polluting medium enterprises is exposed to the illiquidity risk. The values and trends of liquidity indicators of the polluting medium enterprises group, recorded during the period 2010-2015, represent an unfavourable assumption for their short-term financial stability. However, it is still a more favourable than liquidity indicators values and trends in the Serbian economy. The rooted financial imbalance is a general characteristic of Serbian economy. The structural imbalance of resources and their funding sources followed by a continuous accumulation of losses, deteriorating liquidity and increasing indebtedness reflect the financial position of the economy as a whole.

The results of the analysis based on the accrual liquidity indicators is best compared against the cash flow liquidity indicator and net working capital before reaching any conclusions regarding the liquidity risk of enterprises. The cash flow liquidity indicator shows a weaker liquidity position than is indicated by the accrual liquidity indicators, but positive net working capital shows that polluting medium enterprises are able to continue their business and they have sufficient long-term fund to cover long-term assets and the part of their inventories.

Starting from the fundamental financial stability determinants analyzed in the paper, it is important to emphasize the significance of improving the factors affecting the company's liquidity. Strengthening the ability to service matured liabilities, including pollution and environmental protection ones, implies adequate coverage of assets by adequate financing sources and timely compliance of inflows and outflows.

Investments in preventive activities and eco-technologies are the basis for improving ecological business that require the strengthening of the ability to generate cash flows from operating activities, attracting additional own capital and obtaining conditions for the borrowing under more favourable conditions.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This paper is a part of research projects European integrations and social and economic changes in Serbian economy on the way to the EU No. 47009 and Challenges and prospects of structural changes in Serbia: Strategic directions for economic development and harmonization with EU requirements No. 179015, financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

REFERENCES

- 1. Anđelić, S., Gajić, A., Ilić, Dj. (2016). Problems of Financial Management in the Public Sector. *Economic Analysis*, 49(3-4): 48-68. Retrieved from http://www.library.ien.bg.ac.rs/index.php/ea/article/view/336.
- 2. Damodaran, A. (2007). *Korporativne finansije, teorija i praksa*, Montenegro: MODUS Center for Statistical Research and Forecasts.
- Đukić, P. (2012). Sustainable Development under Impact of the Crisis Global and National Dimensions. *Economic Analysis*, 45(1-2): 1-18. Retrieved from http://www.library.ien.bg.ac.rs/index.php/ea/article/view/213.
- Duričin, S., Bodroža, D. (2013). The impact of drought on yield position of the group of enterprises from agriculture sector. *Economics of Agriculture/Ekonomika Poljoprivrede*, 60(1): 25-38. Retrieved from http://www.ea.bg.ac.rs/images/Arhiva/2013/Broj%201%20-%202013_%20Issue%201%20-%202013/2%20-%20Djuricin,%20Bodroza.pdf
- Durović, G., Cvetanović, S. (2016). *Privredni razvoj*, Podgorica: Faculty of Economics. Retrieved from http://ekonomija.ac.me/multimediaold/fajlovi/vijesti/2016/09/7002/privredni-razvojprvi-dio-2016.pdf.
- 6. Giacomino, D.E., Mielke, D.E. (1993). Cash Flows: Another Approach to Ratio Analysis, *Journal of Accountancy*, 175 (3): 55-58.
- 7. Jakovčević, K. (2008). Upravljanje troškovima. Subotica: Faculty of Economics.
- Jovanović Gavrilović, B., Minić, N. (2012). Green Growth as a Generator for Overcoming the Crisis. *Economic Analysis*, 45(1-2): 19-31. Retrieved from http://www.library.ien.bg.ac.rs/index.php/ea/article/view/214.
- 9. Knežević, G, Mizdraković, V., Arežina, N. (2012). Stečajni postupak i finansijsko izveštavanje sa aspekta zaštite životne sredine. *Proceedings of the X international scientific conference Sinergija 2012:* 422-428. University Sinergija.
- 10. Malinić, D. (2009). Prepoznavanje bilansnih rizika, Tajne bilansa: menadžerski pristup, *Ekonomika preduzeća*. Special issue: 156-173, Belgrade: Serbian Association of Economists.
- 11. Mulford, C., Comiskey, E. (2005). Creative Cash Flow Reporting: Uncovering Sustainable Financial Performance, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.

- 12. Official Gazette, Republic of Serbia, Zakon o zaštiti životne sredine, No. 135/2004; 36/2009; 72/2009; 43/2011; 14/2016.
- 13. Serbian Business Registers Agency, Registar finansijskih izveštaja pravnih lica i preduzetnika, retrieved from: http://www.apr.gov.rs (13.03.2017).
- 14. Serbian Environmental Protection Agency, Dostavljanje podataka za Nacionalni registar izvora zagađivanja, retrieved from: http://www.sepa.gov.rs/DostavljanjePodataka/Default.aspx (10.07.2017).
- 15. Serbian Environmental Protection Agency, Pravilnik o metodologiji za izradu nacionalnog i lokalnog registra izvora zagađivanja, kao i metodologiji za vrste, načine i rokove prikupljanja podataka, retrieved from: http://www.sepa.gov.rs/index.php?menu=20168&id=18&akcija=showXlinked (02.04.2017).
- 16. Stevanović, S. (2015). Finansijsko strukturne promene privrede Srbije i zaštita poverilaca u uslovima finansijske krize. *Monography Strukturne promene u Srbiji: dosadašnji rezultati i perspektive*: 347-361. Belgrade: Institute of economic sciences.
- 17. Stevanović, S., Belopavlović, G. (2011). Merenje pokazatelja finansijske sigurnosti preduzeća, *Računovodstvo*, No. 7-8: 67-78.
- 18. Stevanović, S., Belopavlović, G., Lazarević-Moravčević, M. (2014). Obelodanjivanje informacija o zaštiti životne sredine praksa u Srbiji, *Ecologica*, 21(76): 679-683.
- 19. Stevanović, S., Belopavlović, G., Lazarević-Moravčević, M. (2016). Nacionalno računovodstvo zaštite životne sredine: praksa u Srbiji, *Ecologica*, 23 (83): 606-609.
- 20. Vukelić, G., Stevanović, S., Belopavlović, G. (2014). Analiza finansijske sigurnosti preduzeća u restrukturiranju prerađivačka industrija. *Proceedings of the scientific conference Deindustrijalizacija u Srbiji: Mogućnosti revitalizacije industrijskog sektora:* 673-689. Belgrade: Institute of economic sciences and Belgrade banking academy.
- 21. White, G., Sondhi, A., Fried, D. (2003). *The Analysis and Use of Financial Statements*. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons Inc.

SUSTAINABILITY IN PROJECT MANAGEMENT: A PROJECT MANAGER'S PERSPECTIVE

Marija TODOROVIĆ, Assistant professor^{*} Vladimir OBRADOVIĆ, Associate professor[•]

Abstract: Using the method of systematic literature review, in this paper, we present the concept of sustainable project management and create a questionnaire for empirical research. The research was conducted in order to investigate how sustainability is applied in project management, from the perspective of project managers, what is the scope of competencies of project managers in that process, is sustainability supported by leading project management methodologies and what are the main challenges for sustainable project management. The data was gathered from project managers in different industries in Serbia during 2017 and research results have confirmed that sustainability in project management is to some extent applied in project management — through the People and Profit elements, but at the very low level concerning the Planet aspect. Further, leading project management methodologies do not entirely support sustainability principles, and the application of sustainable project management has an impact on project manager's competencies.

Keywords: project manager, sustainability, project management

1. INTRODUCTION

This paper aims to analyze the sustainable project management from the perspective of the project manager. The concept of sustainable development has become one of the more common concepts in the business world, which is why there is a need for integration with other management concepts. The increasing project orientation of organizations, the project model of financing of various organizations in the private, public and civil sectors, leads to the need for sustainable project management. Regardless of the growing need for the principles of sustainable development in the application of project management both in practice and in the scientific research domain, the development of operational

^{*} Faculty of organizational sciences, University of Belgrade, Serbia, todorovicm@fon.bg.ac.rs

[•] Faculty of organizational sciences, University of Belgrade, Serbia, obradovicv@fon.bg.ac.rs

methods and techniques that enable their integration is still under development. As the industry changes, project managers find themselves confronted by new issues and constraints must undertake roles that have not traditionally been part of their responsibility (Edum-Fotwe & McCaffer, 2000; Silvius & Schipper 2014;). In the next sections paper present the concept of sustainable project management and through research deals with the sustainability application in project management, the role and scope of competencies of project management in that process, leading project management methodologies and their contribution to sustainability and the main challenges for sustainability project management.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. The concept of sustainable project management

Schoper et all. (2016) presented the research results at the seminar of the world's leading International project management association IPMA, on leading trends in the project management development areas by 2025. In addition to the projectification of societies, which is a measure of the diffusion of project management in all areas of society, as a global trend, future development trends in the field are as follows:

- Dealing with the complexity of projects
- Transnationalization of project management
- Virtualization of project management
- Women in Project Management
- Sustainability.

Sustainability is no longer viewed merely as part of a business strategy but as part of project management. The current mode of production, organization, lifestyle, can indeed have an impact on future generations, which is why things (products, processes, materials, and other resources), as well as beliefs and understandings, must be changed.

Silvius & Schipper (2014) define sustainable project management as "the planning, monitoring and controlling of project delivery and support processes, with consideration of the environmental, economic and social aspects of the life-cycle of the project's resources, processes, deliverables and effects, aimed at realizing benefits for stakeholders, and performed in a transparent, fair and ethical way that includes proactive stakeholder participation." In project management, sustainability refers to the integration of economic, social and environmental aspects - *Profit, People, Planet* (Knoepfel, 2007).

The link between projects and sustainable development was first highlighted in 1987 at the World Commission on Environment and Development. In the past decade numerous papers presented by the leading authors in the field of project management on IPMA and PMI conferences and leading journals have been focused on integrating sustainability into the project management process (Gareis et al., 2009, Turner, 2010, Semolič et al., 2007; Silvius, 2010; Obradović et al., 2011; Scally, 2013; Silvius, 2017, Aarseth et al., 2017). Furthermore, different conceptual models tried to integrate project management and sustainable development, e.g., emerging concept "Green Project Management" emphasizes project management sustainability (Maltzman & Shirley, 2010; Glavinich & Taylor, 2008; Sholarin & Awange, 2015).

Incorporating sustainability into project management implies changes (Silvius and Shipper, 2015):

- At the level of the organization (maturity of the organization).
- At project level (project management process, maturity of sustainability integration)
- At project manager level (competencies).

The fact is that companies have mainly begun to introduce the concept of sustainability into their strategic documents (Savić et al., 2016), but the sustainability implementation is often stopped there, mainly because the introduction of this concept presents an additional cost and time to notice any positive effects and to measure its effectiveness. If we consider projects as a way to operationalize company's strategy, therefore it is essential to integrate and evaluate sustainable development at the operational plan and short-term cycle (Gareis et al., 2010; Obradović et al., 2012; Petrović et al., 2017; Aarseth et al. 2017). Sustainability implementation covers project governance policies, processes, and procedures related to social aspect (people), environmental (planet) and financial aspects (profit). This mainly means that a project can have additional objectives that are not entirely incorporated in initial project's objectives, and requires specific changes in a project. This makes the role of project manager became very important - according to Maltzman & Shirley (2010) "a project manager as a change agent."

Agarval & Kalmar (2015) stated that one of the key barriers is related to benefit analysis before the project and lack of reference point to measure sustainable alternatives. This raises the question of how important it is for a project manager to be aware of sustainable solutions that are available for a project and aware of the need to introduce sustainability principles at the earliest stages of the project. Silvius and Schenar (2014) analyzed different project management methodologies

and how they cover sustainability. They made a conclusion that the leading methodologies should be improved and emphasize further competencies: system competencies, anticipatory thinking, normative competences, strategic competencies and interpersonal competences. One of the also recognized problems in the literature is a client point of view (customer confusion over the meaning of sustainable product or process). This can cause a problem in the project goal and scope definition (Hwang & Ng, 2013; Agarval & Kalmar 2015). Further, a lack of clarity of a project scope can lead to inefficient utilization of resources and waste from potential rework. Further issues are related to the usage of different sustainable sources and consequently to the management of a large number of stakeholders (suppliers, subcontractors and team members (Hwang & Ng, 2013).

The significance of sustainability in the project management process is present not only in the academic but also in practical terms. This is reflected in a standard for sustainability in project management has been in use - *The GPM P5 Standard for Sustainability in Project Management*. The standard focuses on the integration of sustainability methods to manage organizational change (projects) to better integrate sustainability with an organizational strategy supported by measurement of social (people), economic (profit) and environmental effects (planet) (Green Project Management, 2015).

2.2. Project manager competencies

Coping with abovementioned changes in the project management system, project managers find themselves confronted by new issues. They need to undertake roles that have not traditionally been part of their responsibility. Therefore the arising question is: Does sustainable project management extends project manager's competencies, does this process emphasize specific skills in relation to others?

Some authors provided research about competence mapping in project management and the importance of project manager's competencies for project success (Takey and de Carvalho, 2015; Amala et al. 2015).

In order to understand the profile of the project manager's competence, it is necessary to identify the areas in which managers need to be competent, along with competencies related to the behavior and context of the project, that present project's operating environment (Mei-I et al. 2005; PMI, 2007; Silvius & Schipper 2014; IPMA, 2015). Leading global project management associations have developed standards for project manager competencies:

Sustainability in project management: A project manager's perspective

- a) International Project Management Institution IPMA developed IPMA Competence Baseline (ICB) that defines three competence areas: 1) People competence (personal and interpersonal competencies to participate or lead a project); 2) Practice competence (specific tools and techniques used in project; 3) Perspective competencies (methods, tools, and techniques through which individuals interact with the environment, as well as the rationale that leads people, organization and societies to start and support projects.
- b) Project Management Institute PMI developed Project Management Competence Development (PMCD) Framework that defines the key dimensions of competencies and identifies the crucial ones for project success. By the PMI approach, this framework defines the necessary competencies according to the sub-projects of the project management process (initiation, planning, implementation, monitoring and control and closing), based on the best practice. In a separate chapter, this framework addresses a project manager's competencies of the for project management.

Despite a significant number of papers related to the topic of project manager competencies, only a few have examined what competencies are considered as an inevitable element of sustainable project management. Available articles provided the research results obtained in the construction industry and production (Hwang & Ng, 2013; Tabassi et al., 2016; Dumraka & Baroudib, 2017).

3. METHODOLOGY

3.1. Research questions

Through systematic literature review (SLR) this paper is focused on how sustainability is applied in project management, leading project management methodologies and their support to sustainable project management, the scope of a project manager's competencies and the main challenges of this process. Key research questions are:

- 1. Which elements of sustainable development are most often presented in project management?
- 2. What methodology has been used for project management and to what extent the applied methodology contributes to sustainable project management?
- 3. What is the importance of introducing the sustainable project management principles in relation to project management sub-processes?

- 4. What knowledge and skills are essential for the implementation of sustainable project management?
- 5. What are the significant challenges for sustainable project management?

To discuss the research results for previously defined research questions, the following starting hypotheses are developed:

- Sustainability in project management is important and at the certain level applied in project management.
- Leading methodologies for project management partially incorporate sustainability principles.
- Sustainable project management is significant for all phases of the project life cycle, from initiation to closing the project.
- The application of sustainable project management has an impact on project manager's competencies.
- The application of sustainable project management involves specific constraints.

The starting hypotheses are presented here only constructively, while at the end of the paper, based on detailed statistical analysis, the results will be discussed, presented conclusions and further research directions will be formed.

3.2. Research method

In order to confirm or disprove the previously defined hypothesis, the authors have established a questionnaire. Afterwards, the authors conducted structured interviews with project managers in different industries, after which the questions were modified in order to generate the most precise answers.

The first part of the questionnaire was composed of questions relating to demographic characteristics of respondents. The second part was dedicated to the main elements of sustainability, where respondents were given the scale from 1 to 5 to assess the applicability of those elements on their projects. The three elements of sustainability are people, planet, and profit. Based on literature review, for each element there are defined key variables in projects: (Labuschagne & Brent, 2005; Brent & Labuschagne 2006; Knoepfel, 2007; Fernández-Sánchez, & Rodríguez-López, 2010; Silvius, 2010; Global Reporting Initiative, 2013; Silvius & Schipper 2014; Martens & Monteiro de Carvalho 2014; Carvalho, 2015; Obradović et al., 2016; Martens & Monteiro de Carvalho 2017):

• People - human resources management in the project, health and safety at work, working conditions, interpersonal relations, employment, benefits,

career development, relationships with business partners, customers, local authorities and other stakeholders, etc.

- Planet reduced use of natural resources, local procurement, reduced waste production, recycling, reduced environmental pollution water, air, land, biodiversity, monitoring of environmental legislation
- Profit Return on investment, Net present value, profitability, market share, value added, business flexibility, GDP, potential financial and economic benefits.

The third part aimed to investigate which methodology respondents are using to manage their project and to what extent applied methodology support sustainable project management. Considering the statement that the integration of sustainability into the project management process practically widens the boundaries of project management, the project scope (Silvius, 2010), it can be concluded that there is a need to investigate whether current methodologies support sustainability in project management.

For the purpose of this research, the respondents were offered to choose one of the most currently used project management methodologies: PMI methodology, IPMA methodology, European Commission Methodology (Project Cycle Management). In line with the current trend of agility in business generally and consequently in project management, the respondents the Agile approach as an option. Based on some performed interviews with practitioners, we can conclude that many companies adjust and develop their methodologies for different internal processes. Therefore, respondents also had the option to select internally developed methodology.

Through the questionnaire, respondents expressed their attitude to what extent is the introduction of the sustainable project management principles significant for each subproject of the project management process. In line with some researchpapers emphasized the link of sustainability with the project processes (Labuschagne & Brent, 2004; Labuschagne & Brent, 2005; Brent & Labuschagne 2006; Silvius, Brink, van der; Köhler 2012) sub-processes of the project management process are defined according to the PMI methodology.

As presented in literature review section, it is necessary to explore is there any changes in project manager's competencies scope - is there a need for additional knowledge and skills for sustainable project management. Therefore the next question was related to project manager's competencies for sustainable project management. The question about knowledge areas and skills that describes project manager's competencies for sustainable project management was based on 11

knowledge areas from PMI methodology, and skills based on IPMA ICB4 and different research results that explore the most essential skills for sustainable project management (Dumraka & Baroudib 2017; Hwang & Ng 2013; Mei-I, Dainty & Moor. 2005; Tabassi et al., 2016; Carvalho & Rabechini, 2015; Daily & Huang 2001; PMI, 2016; IPMA, 2015).

Finally, the respondents express their opinion on what challenges, related to sustainability, are recognized on their project. They were given a list of possible challenges that was based on a primary conclusion from the research in this field (McCool & Stankey 2004; Best & Kumar, 2008; Silvius, 2010; Lang et al., 2012; Agarval & Kalmar 2015;).

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. Sample description

The online questionnaire was distributed to project managers in different industries (IT sector, oil industry, education, NGO, construction sector, auto industry, telecommunication, banking sector, etc.). The preliminary analysis of the completed questionnaires, questionnaires filled by persons other than project managers and questionnaires that are incomplete were not considered in further analysis. Therefore, only 81 questionnaires have been taken into consideration.

The most of the respondents are professionals from the private sector (78%), while 17% are working in public sector and only 5% are from civil sector. Concerning an industry, we can conclude that the more than 30% of respondents are from IT sector (distribution of respondents by industry is presented in Figure 1).





Figure 1: Distribution of respondents by industry

The majority have significate experience in project management: 62% of respondents have participated in more than 10 projects, 28% have participated in more than 3 projects, and only 10% participated in less than 3 projects.

4.2. The sustainability elements and the key variable

Through the research results analysis we can conclude that project managers are focused more at the financial aspect of their projects, less if we consider people aspect on projects, but significantly less at the planet aspect (environment). We can also see that the aspects that refer to the environment are in the most cases applied or not applied (there is a minimal number of responses for "partially applied").

	People	Planet	Profit
Not applied	7,41%	30,86%	4,94%
Very little applied	11,11%	18,52%	6,17%
Partillay applied	29,63%	9,88%	24,69%
Largely applied	27,16%	22,22%	34,57%
Completely applied	24,69%	18,52%	29,63%

 Table 1: Sustainability elements in project management



Marija Todorović, Vladimir Obradović

Figure 2: Sustainability elements in project management

Results show that environmental aspects, as one of the crucial elements of sustainable project management, are critical since they are not represented at all in nearly one-third of projects. Still, practices for different people and profit aspect are applied in project management. This confirms the first defined hypothesis that *sustainability in project management is at the certain level applied in project management*.

The research results showed that 22% respondents do not use any specific methodology for project management. From the 78% of those who stated that they use the specific methodology, they use internally developed methodology (46%) rather than one of the standard methodologies (Figure 3).

Further, based on to the project manager's opinion, we can conclude that applied methodology does not entirely support all aspect of sustainability, especially environmental aspect (Table 2).



Sustainability in project management: A project manager's perspective

Figure 3: Project Management Methodologies

Table 2: Methodology support

	People	Planet	Profit
Completely support	25%	10%	31%
Largely support	37%	20%	46%
Partillay support	20%	30%	22%
Very little support	15%	26%	1%
Does not provide	4%	15%	0%
support			

As the respondents had the scale from 1 to 5 to evaluate the contribution of the methodology to various aspects of sustainability, the average score for each element was calculated. The average grades are formed considering the different presence of different methodologies (Table 3).

Methodology	People AG	Planet AG	Profit AG	Method. presence	Ponder	People TAG	Planet TAG	Profit TAG
PMI	3,47	2,60	4,07	15	0,24	0,83	0,62	0,98
Methodology								
IPMA	4,00	4,00	4,00	2	0,03	0,12	0,12	0,12
Methodology								
Internal	3,97	3,00	4,38	29	0,46	1,83	1,38	2,01
Methodology								
EU Comm.	3,50	3,25	3,50	4	0,06	0,21	0,20	0,21
Methodology								
Agile appoach	4,08	2,69	4,08	13	0,21	0,86	0,56	0,86
Total	19,02	15,54	20,03	63	1,00	3,85	2,88	4,18

Table 3: Project management methodology contribution to sustainability aspects

*AG – Average grade

*TAG – Total average grade

Based on the statistical analysis, the following conclusions can be made:

- The assessment of the contribution of applied methodology, considering environmental aspects, on a scale of 1 to 5, is 2.88. According to the respondents, the applied methodology mostly supports financial aspects (high average score 4.18) and slightly less human aspects (average score 3.85).
- Toward a mutual comparison of considered methodologies, most organizations have a customized, internally developed methodology (46%). This is followed by application of PMI methodology and Agile approach, while the European Commission Methodology and IPMA methodology are rarely present. An interesting conclusion is that the aspects of sustainable project management, considering the methodologies mentioned above, are mostly supported in companies where there is an internally developed methodology, which deviates from the standard ones.

Considering those results, and the recommendation by Silvius and Schenar (2014) that project management methodologies should be improved in order to cope better with sustainability, we can confirm the second hypothesis that *leading methodologies for project management partially incorporate sustainability principles*.

From project manager's point of view, the introduction of the sustainability principles is very important for each sub-process of the project management process, from initiation to closure. This confirms the hypothesis that *sustainable*

project management is significant for all phases of the project life cycle, from initiation to closing the project.

According to the average grade, the most significant process(es) to introduce sustainability are the planning (4,36) and execution of a project (4,36).





Statistics showed that project managers consider project resource management the most important knowledge area, from the perspective of sustainable project management. Next to resource management are cost, risk and communication management.

Those results are in line with other performed researches (Hwang & Ng, 2013), with the exception that stakeholder management, in this research, is not recognized as highly important for sustainable project management. The same authors also recognized pro problem of resource utilization, connecting this issue directly with the project goal and scope definition.

Knowledge areas	Average grade (from 1 to 5)
Resource management	4,35
Cost management	4,26
Risk management	4,23
Communication management	4,23
Quality management	4,16
Scope management	3,98
Stakeholder management	3,90
Schedule management	3,89
Integration management	3,75
Procurement management	3,57

Table 4: The importance of knowledge areas for sustainable project management

Project managers consider social (behavioral) skill: communication, decision making, teamwork, leadership (Table 5), the necessary skills for sustainable project management. Skills that are related to the project context (analytical skills, business orientation) are at the second place, while technical skills are the least important, comparing to behavioral and contextual skills.

Table 5: The importance of skills for sustainable project management

Skills	Average grade (from 1 to 5)
Communication	4,43
Decision making	4,42
Teamwork	4,32
Leadership	4,30
Problem-solving	4,30
Delegation	4,22
Ethics	4,05
Analytical skills	4,02
Business orientation	3,91
Technical skills	3,69

The presented statistical results confirm that *the application of sustainable project management has an impact on project manager's competencies*, since it significantly emphasizes the behavioral skills, over contextual and technical.

The primary constraints for sustainable project management are related with the internal organization (inconsistency of internal processes for sustainable project management), coordination with a client/investor, communication with stakeholders and project set up (goal definition, scope, resource plan) (Table 6).

Legal regulations, knowledge about "green" technologies, accessibility of sustainable solutions are not recognized as challenging issues for sustainable project management. When comparing with a previous question that is related to project manager's knowledge and skills, we can notice that there is a consistency between emphasized behavioral skills and highlighted constraints. Although stakeholder management in the previous question was not rated as highly important knowledge area, Inefficient communication with stakeholders was recognized as a significant constraint.

Main challenges	Average grade (from 1 to 5)
Poor human resource plan, which creates the need for additional engagement	4,48
Inefficient cooperation with a client/investor in the process of goals definition	4,36
Poorly defined project scope/scope changes	4,32
Inconsistency of internal processes in the organization with elements of sustainable project management	4,11
Inefficient communication with stakeholders	4,09
Lack of the analysis of sustainable solution in the phases of preparation and planning of a project	4,00
Financial constraints for sustainable solutions	3,95
Inconsistency corporate strategy and/or corporate social responsibility strategy with elements of sustainable project management	3,84
Lack of incentives (subsides)	2,67
Lack of benefits analysis for different parties, to which the project can have an impact	2,67
Insufficient legal regulations	2,58
Sustainable solutions become outdated in the long terms	2,52
Lack of knowledge about sustainability principles, "green" technologies, materials, etc.	2,48
Inaccessible "green" solutions	2,15

 Table 6: Challenges for sustainable project management

Based on presented statistics we can confirm the hypothesis that *the application of sustainable project management involves certain constraints*. However, comparing those results with results that can be found in the literature, we can conclude that project managers, who participated in this research, recognize approximately half of the present challenges for sustainable project management.

4. CONCLUSION

The paper presents the concept of sustainable project management that in the last decade became one of the growing trends in the business world.

This paper aimed to analyze the sustainable project management from the perspective of the project manager. Using the method of systematic literature review, we have created a questionnaire for empirical research in order to investigate is sustainability applied in project management. The aim was to examine whether leading project management methodologies support sustainability in project management, does sustainability application affect the scope of a project manager's competencies and what are the main challenges of this process. The data was gathered from project managers in different industries in Serbia during 2017.

The main conclusion of this paper is that sustainability in project management is at the certain level applied in project management. Environmental aspects, as one of the crucial elements of sustainable project management, are critical since they are not represented at all in nearly one-third of projects, but practices for people and profit aspect are applied in project management.

According to the results, applied methodology mostly supports financial aspects and slightly less human aspects, but the environmental aspect is not supported enough. This conclusion does not significantly depend on what methodology the project managers use. Statistical results confirmed that introduction of sustainable project management is significant for all sub-process in project management process, from initiation to closing. It is also confirmed that application of sustainable project management has an impact on project manager's competencies, since it significantly emphasizes the behavioral skills, over contextual and technical.

From the project manager's perspective, the primary constraint for sustainable project management is the inconsistency of internal processes. Furthermore, coordination with a client/investor, communication with stakeholders and project set up (goal definition, scope, resource plan) are also recognized as major obstacles, while legal regulations, knowledge about "green" technologies, accessibility of sustainable solutions are not recognized as challenging issues for sustainable project management.

The results presented in this paper complement the studies previously performed in this field. The main advantage of this study is that it is not focused on only one industry (available research is mainly conducted in the construction industry and are related to "green" projects). Besides, this is a first research performed in this field in this region. On the other hand, the limitation of this paper relates to the fact that this research has a national character, i.e., that it applies only to Serbia. Nevertheless, we believe that any further research should focus on expanding the research in other countries in the region in order to provide a more profound statistical analysis with the correlation between date, related to industry, project management methodology, country, etc.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This paper is a result of the Project No. 179081 funded by Ministry of Education and Science of the Republic of Serbia: Researching Contemporary Tendencies of Strategic Management Using Specialized Management Disciplines in Function of Competitiveness of Serbian Economy.

REFERENCES

- Aarseth, W., Ahola, T., Aaltonen, K., Økland, A., & Andersen, B. (2017). Project sustainability strategies: A systematic literature review. *International Journal of Project Management*, 35, 1071–1083.
- 2. Agarval R.S., Kalmar T. (2015). Sustainability in project management Eight principles in practice, Umeå School of Business and Economics, Sweeden.
- 3. Alam, M., Gale, A., Brown, M., & Khan, A. I. (2010). The importance of human skills in project management professional development. *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, *3*(3), 495-516.
- 4. Best, M. L., & Kumar, R. (2008). Sustainability failures of rural telecenters: Challenges from the sustainable access in rural India (Sari) project.
- 5. Brent, A., Labuschagne, C. (2006). Social Indicators for Sustainable Project and Technology Life Cycle Management in the Process Industry, *International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, 11(1), 3-15.
- 6. Carvalho, M. (2015). A conceptual framework of sustainability in project management oriented to success, Production and Operations Management Society.
- 7. Dumraka, J., & Baroudib, B. (2017). Exploring the Association between Project Management Knowledge Areas and Sustainable Outcomes. 7th International Conference on Engineering, Project, and Production Management, Procedia Engineering 182: 157-164.
- Edum-Fotwe, F., & McCaffer, R. (2000). Developing project management competency: perspectives from the construction industry. *International Journal of Project Management*, 18 (1): 111-112.
- 9. Fernández-Sánchez, G., Rodríguez-López, F., 2010. A methodology to identify sustainability indicators in construction project management—application to infrastructure projects in Spain. *Ecol. Indic.* 10 (6):1193–1201.
- 10. Gareis, R., Heumann, M. Martinuzzi, A. (2009). Relating sustainable development and project management, *IRNOP IX*, Berlin.

- 11. Green Project Management, The GPM P5 Standard for Sustainability in Project Management, USA, https://greenprojectmanagement.org/ (21.11.2017.)
- 12. GRI, 2013. Global Reporting Initiative: www.globalreporting.org (2.12.2017.)
- 13. Hwang, B.-G., & Ng, W.-J. (2013). Project management knowledge and skills for green construction: Overcoming challenges, *International Journal of Project Management*, 31: 272–284.
- 14. IPMA. (2015). Individual Competence Baseline for Project, Programme and Portfolio Management, International Project Management Association.
- 15. Knoepfel P. (2007). Local Agenda 21 as an instrument of sustainable development. *Ekonomiaz* 64(1): 106-123.
- Labuschagne, C., Brent, A.C. (2005). Sustainable project lifecycle management: the need to integrate life cycles in the manufacturing sector. International Journal of Project Management 23 (2):159–168
- 17. Labuschagne, C., & Brent, A. (2004). Sustainable project lifecycle management: aligning project management methodologies with the principles of sustainable development. *PMSA International Conference*, 104-115.
- Lang, D. J., Wiek, A., Bergmann, M., Stauffacher, M., Martens, P., Moll, P. & Thomas, C. J. (2012). Transdisciplinary research in sustainability science: practice, principles, and challenges. *Sustainability science*, 7(1):25-43.
- 19. Martens, M.L., Monteiro de Carvalho, M. (2017). Key factors of sustainability in project management context: A survey exploring the project managers' perspective. *International Journal of Project Management* 35: 1084–1102
- Martens, M. L., & Monteiro de Carvalho, M. (2014). A Conceptual Framework of Sustainability in Project Management Oriented to Success. 25th Annual Conference-Production Operations Management Society (POMS), Atlanta, United States.
- 21. Mei-I, C., Dainty, A., & Moore, D. R. (2005). What makes a good project manager? *Human Resource Management Journal*, 15 (1), 25-37.
- 22. McCool, S. F., & Stankey, G. H. (2004). Indicators of sustainability: challenges and opportunities at the interface of science and policy. *Environmental management*, *33*(3): 294-305.
- 23. Obradović V., Bjelica D., Petrović D., Mihić M., Todorović M. (2016). Whether We are Still Immature to Assess the Environmental KPIs!. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 226, 132-139.
- 24. Obradovic V., Jovanović P., Djordjević N., Beric I., Jovanovic, F. (2012). Using project management as a way to excellence in healthcare. *HealthMED* 6 (6), 2100-2107
- 25. Obradović V., Todorović M., Mihić M., Jovanović P., Petrović D. (2011). Linking EIA with EMS: The way to Environmental Protection Excellence. 25th IPMA World Congress: Project Management Delivering the Promise, International Project Management Association, Australia.
- 26. Oehlmann I. (2010). The Sustainable footprint methodology, Delft University of Technology.
- 27. Petrović N., Bošnjak I., Nedeljković S. (2017). Disaster risk reduction for sustainable development goals. *European Project Management Journal*, 7(2), 27-35.

- 28. PMI (2007). Project Management Competence Development (PMCD) Framework second edition, Pennsylvania, USA, Project Management Institute.
- 29. Savić D., Bogetić Z., Dobrota M., Petrović N. (2016). A Multivariate Approach in Measurement of the Sustainable Development of European Countries. *Management: Journal of Sustainable Business and Management Solutions in Emerging Economies.* 21(78), 73-86.
- 30. Scally, J. (2013). Sustainability in Project Management. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 57.
- Semolič B., Jovanovic P., Kovačev S., Obradović, V. (2007). Improving Repair Management of Bucket Wheel Excavator SRs1200 by Application of Project Management Concept. *Strojniski Vestnik*. 54. 565-573.
- 32. Silvius, G.J.A., (2010). Report Workshop 2, *IPMA Expert Seminar Survival and Sustainability as Challenges for Projects*, Zurich, International Project Management Association.
- 33. Silvius, G. (2017). Sustainability as a new school of thought in project management. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *166*, 1479-1493.
- 34. Silvius, G.J.A., Schipper, R. (2015). Developing a Maturity Model for Assessing Sustainable Project Management, *The Journal of Modern Project Management*, North America, 3(1).
- 35. Silvius, A.J.G., & Schipper, R. (2015). A conceptual model for exploring the relationship between sustainability and project success. *Procedia Computer Science*, 64: 334-342.
- 36. Silvius, A. G., & Schipper, R. P. (2014). Sustainability in project management competencies: analyzing the competence gap of project managers. *Journal of Human Resource and Sustainability Studies*, 2(02), 40.
- 37. Schoper, Y.G, Gemünden, H.G., Nguyen, N.M. (2015). Fifteen future trends for Project Management in 2025, *IPMA Expert Seminar*. Zurich, International Project Management Association.
- Tabassi, A., Argyropoulou, M., Roufechaei, M., & Argyropoulou, R. (2016) Leadership Behavior of Project Managers in Sustainable Construction Projects. *Procedia Computer Science* 100: 724 – 730
- 39. Takey, S. M., & de Carvalho, M. M. (2015). Competency mapping in project management: An action research study in an engineering company. *International Journal of Project Management*, 33(4), 784-796.
- 40. Turner J. (2010) Responsibilities for Sustainable Development in Project and Program Management. *IPMA Expert Seminar*, Zurich, International Project Management Association.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND DISCLOSURE PRACTICE AMONG ISLAMIC BANKS

Aida HANIĆ, Research Assistant^{*} Azra SUĆESKA, PhD

Abstract: Islamic economic model, especially it's most developed part Islamic banking, is known as interest free. Beside this characteristic it includes several moral and ethical dimensions based on Islam as a foundation of this business activity. In this aspect, Islamic banks should be barriers of sustainable development because public interest is the basics of its foundation. The aim of this paper is to analyze the degree of involvement of Islamic banks regarding sustainable development in forms of disclosure of their activities. Emphasis is placed on economic, social and environmental disclosure. This paper is focused on theoretical background considering the disclosure practice among Islamic banks, especially within the three basic pillars of sustainable development goals.

Keywords: Islamic banking, sustainable development, Sustainable Development Goals, public interest, disclosure

1. INTRODUCTION

In financial system of every country, banks are one of the most important financial institutions. Over time, their role has changed and they became "*financial supermarkets*" and one of the key bearers of sustainable development. One side of banks contribution to sustainable economy is in form of financing financial activities while considering social and environmental effects. In other words, financing and implementing those activities that will incorporate environmental, social and governance (ESG) criteria. In that aspect, banks adopted set of codes of conduct, mainly on a voluntary basis, regarding environment and sustainability (Weber, Diaz and Schwegler 2014).

International Finance Corporation (IFC) uses ESG criteria when promoting stability of financial systems (IFC, 2017). Rogers (2013) and Eccles and Serafeim

^{*} Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia and a PhD student at a Sarajevo School of Economics, Bosnia and Herzegovina, aida.hanic@ien.bg.ac.rs

Belgrade Banking Academy, Belgrade, Serbia, azra.hanic@bba.edu.rs
(2013), state that ESG evaluation should be considered not only on a financial level but as well as on a non-financial too.

Similar to IFC, United Nations created UN Environment Programme Finance Initiative (UNEP FI) in order to connect UN and financial sector globally. The need for this partnership emerged as a result of increasing role of financial institutions in terms of sustainability. In 2015, the UN General Assembly established 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) to be accomplished by 2030. These goals are based on three pillars: economic, environmental and social. The estimate is that 5-7 trillion US\$, a year, will be needed to realize the SDGs worldwide (UNCTAD, 2016) focusing on environmental and social market instruments. Beside these criteria, institutions that are recognized as financially stable and at the same time environmentally and socially responsible, will be partners for achieving SDGs.

In this aspect, in order to achieve sustainable development, one of the basic functions of banking sector is to provide financial stability. After the outbreak of the financial crisis in 2008, that stability was undermined. As a result of the lost trust and the need to return confidence in the financial system, Islamic banking gained importance primarily because of the fact that it strictly forbids interest as well as speculative activities.

Daily Vatican newspaper, "L'Osservatore Romano" reported that "the ethical principles on which Islamic finance is based may bring banks closer to their clients and to the true spirit which should mark every financial service" (L'Osservatore Romano, 2009). Because of its balance between social and financial goals, Islamic banks can be one of the key bearers to sustainable development. Ahmed et. al (2015) notes that Islamic banking, as a system, "helps to stimulate economic activity and entrepreneurship towards addressing poverty and inequality, ensures financial and social stability, and promotes comprehensive human development and fairness which is relevant to SDGs".

The question that arises is to what extent are Islamic banks involved in sustainable development? The answer can depend on the factor such as the level of contribution of Islamic banks to the economy, especially in terms of social dimensions. This subject can be observed by the disclosure practice among Islamic banks. In that aspect the aim of this paper is to analyze the concept of Islamic banking in terms of its disclosure practice about the issues that are important and have influence on sustainable development such as economic, social and environmental. These three elements are the basis on which SDGs are based and

represent a "win-win" scenario, in which the role of Islamic banks can be significant.

The paper is organized as follows. Section "Literature review and Theoretical framework" gives a brief overview of sustainable development and Islamic banking principles. Relationship between SDGs goals and Islamic economic foundations is given in the third section. Disclosure practice about social, economic and environmental elements among Islamic banks is given in the fourth section. Conclusion is given at the end.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW AND THEORETICHAL BACKGROWND

Sustainable development as a process and a new concept of global action gain interest in 1987 when "Our Common Future" report was published emphasizing that "sustainable development is not a fixed state of harmony, but rather a process of change in which the exploitation of resources, the direction of investments, the orientation of technological development, and institutional change are made consistent with future as well as present needs" (Brundtland, 1987).

According to Oxford Living Dictionaries, sustainable development is an "economic development that is conducted without depletion of natural resources". This definition notes that "international policies should support sustainable development" and "sustainable development has become the guiding theme in much environmental literature" (Oxford Dictionary, 2017).

Strandberg (2005) explains that financial institutions are "the key to sustainability, as they raise, allocate and price capital and provide risk coverage, influencing access to financing and risk protection, and determining which government, business or individual activities get financed or protected against risks." In the aspect of relationship between corporations and sustainability, Doane and MacGillivray (2001) explain that business sustainability is actually "the business of staying in business".

Peeters (2003) notes that financial instruments can be observed as a way to reach sustainable development because, in this particularly case, banks intermediaries between people and organizations but at the same time takes care about the potential risks. On the other hand, their activities can have an effect on the environment because of their landing actions.

In the Report "*Managing Sustainability risks and opportunities in the financial services sector*" by PwC (2012) there is a list of business benefits of responsible investment as presented in the next table.

Improving risk management	Preserve license to operate
Enhanced brand and reputation	Promoting and increasing innovation
Customer attraction and retention	Improved access to capital
Enhance human and intellectual capital	Building and sustaining shareholder value
Attracting and retaining talented staff	Identification of new opportunities
Improved operational efficiency	Generating increased revenues

Table 1: List of business benefits of responsible investment

Source: PwC (2012)

Aliyu et.al (2017), notes that sustainable banking is the bank's ability to have longterm solvency and prosperity so impact on social well-being and environmental protection could be possible. This is important to emphasize because the 17th goal of SDGs is partnership for the goals which means that in order to achieve it, institutions that are foundation of an economic and financial system in the country must be stable. In terms of banks role, especially Islamic banks, Ahmed, Asutay and Wilson (2014) notes that if all banks were Islamic, financial crises would be less likely mainly because Islamic banks have built-in stabilizers that lower the probability of crises.

Stable partner for the accomplishment of sustainable development is very important. This goal can be achieved by socio-economic involvement that also includes environment issues. In terms of Islamic socio-economic model, Chapra (1992) explains that is based on a paradigm "which has socio-economic justice as its primary objective. This objective takes its roots in the belief that human beings are the vicegerents of the One God, Who is the Creator of the Universe and everything in it. They are brothers into each other and all resources at their disposal are' a trust from Him to be used in a just manner for the well-being of all. They are accountable to Him in the Hereafter and will be rewarded or punished for how they acquire and use these resources. "

Islamic banking is a financial activity done in accordance with Islamic religious law (Sharia), and it is based on different principles compared to conventional banking (Hanić, 2017). According to Islamic Banking Act (1983) brought in Malaysia, "Islamic bank means any company which carries on Islamic banking business while Islamic banking business means banking business whose aims and operations do not involve any element which is not approved by the Religion of Islam". Regarding the fact that the principles of Islamic banking are at the same

time the principles of Islam, ideology in terms of realization of social interests is very important because the stronger the ideology is, "the divergence between the choices individuals make and those expected of them are less" (Iqbal & Mirakhor, 2007).

Islamic banking implies the prohibition of usury¹ (Riba), prohibition of speculative activities (uncertainty or Gharar), prohibition of gambling (Maysir) and the promotion of risk sharing. On the other hand, it strictly forbids interest according to Qur'anic verse (*God has permitted trade and has forbidden interest*; 2:275). In order to avoid interest, Islamic banking system replaced it with returns from investments activities and operations. This is connected to main characteristic of Islamic banking and that is the use of Profit and Loss Sharing (PLS) Paradigm.

PLS implies a direct concern regarding the profitability of the undertaken investment on the part of the creditor, which is the Islamic bank. In practice it means that Islamic bank must be focused on the return on the undertaken investment, "*because its profitability is directly linked to the real rate of return*" (Mirakhor and Zaidi, 2007). On that basis Islamic banks are exposed to the displaced commercial risk.

Basic division of Islamic banking products refers to:

- a) sales based (Murabaha, Istisn'a, Ijarah, Tawarruq),
- b) equity based (Musharakah, Mudarabah),
- c) fee based (Wakalah, Kafalah, Rahn),
- d) Islamic deposits (Wadai'ah, Qard, Tawarruq),
- e) Investment Accounts (Mudarabah, Musharakah) and
- f) Investment Accounts (Wakalah).

According to authors Panzac (2002); Khalilieh (2006) and Çizakça (2014) citied in Ng, Mirakhor and Ibrahim (2015), "Islamic partnership (Mudarabah) was brought from Jerusalem to France during the late twelfth century and was incorporated into the Lex Mercatoria—the medieval European law of commerce". Generally, reason for prohibition of interest is based on public interest. In that aspect, profit is as "ex post and symbolizes successful entrepreneurship and the creation of additional wealth while interest is ex ante and represents cost that is accrued irrespective of the outcome of business operations and may not create wealth if there are business losses" (Iqbal & Mirakhor, 2011).

¹ In some literature we can found that authors associate *Riba* with interest but it is important to notice that Riba has broader meaning.

Contrary to conventional banking, Islamic banking analyses the structure of a business investment which means that each phase of an investment implementation must be in accordance with Sharia. This means that Islamic banks are exposed to Sharia risk that doesn't exist in the classification of conventional risks because every Islamic bank has its own Sharia Supervisory Board (SSB) in order to approve or disapprove certain financial activity. In that aspect, SSB certifies Islamic financial products as Sharia-compliant. Islamic economic model can be found in many verses in the Qur'an, as the basics of Islamic economy, which is given in the next table.

Field of economy	Verses
The role of Fiscal Policy	3:259, 8:72, 12:47
Interest, Bounty/Income	2:279, 16:14, 18:96
Public Debt	2:275, 278, 30:39, 57:11, 4:161
Lending as Moral Phenomenon	2:275-280
Prohibition of Interest	2:265-270
Social Relations vis a vis Interest	2:178,195,24:61
Debtor – creditor Relationship	2:279-280
Impact of Interest to social economic	2:276, 30:39
Productive Activities	21:80, 34:11, 13; 11:37, 26:128
Trade	2:198, 5:2, 73:20
Objective of economic activities	2:201, 7:31, 28:77, 62:10
Moral values of economic activities	21:37, 89:20
The Wealth	3:14, 25: 7,8; 71:12;104:1-2
The Money	2:188, 276; 8:2-4; 9:34;98:5
Human behavior towards money	17:100; 89: 20; 100:8
The Contract	4:12,8:41,30:28, 33:27
Business conduct	2:283, 7:85, 11:84, 17:35, 26:181
Business Profit	45:2-5, 62:9-10, 103:3
Philanthropy	3:117, 267, 4:34, 8:36, 13:22
Revenue	2:3, 31:34, 8:41, 17: 29

Table 2: Islamic economic model by the verses in the Qur'an

Source: Ismail (2014). Sustainable Development Goals and The Role of Islamic Finance

In the institutional way, Islamic economy starts to develop after the end of the decolonization process, in the 1950s. In this regard, the first bank was founded in 1963 in Egypt, while one of the important dates in Islamic finance history is the establishment of the Islamic Development Bank in 1975. Ever since, Islamic banking captures the attention of the world public and, according to Warde (2000), its most important part of development has been its inclusion in international financial flows.

In the aspect of internationalization, events that happened in 2015 like the launch of Diploma in Islamic Finance in Belgium and Luxembourg, opening the Germany's first Islamic bank (KT Bank) in Frankfurt or the launch of Hong Kong's second sukuk², (Thomson Reuters' Islamic Finance Development Report, 2016) means that Islamic banking and finance is present worldwide. This is consistent with the Lord Edward George statement from 1995, quoted in Ainley at al. (2007), in terms that there is "growing importance of Islamic banking in the Muslim world and its emergence on the international stage". In 2014, UK became first country in the West to issue sukuk and London is seen as a center of Islamic banking in Europe.

In 2016, Thomson Reuters' Islamic Finance Development Indicator was published where the estimates show that by 2021 Islamic banking assets will reach US\$2.8 trillion as shown in chart below (IFDI 2016).



Chart 1: Expected Islamic banking assets globally

Source: Thomson Reuters' Islamic Finance Development Indicator

In 2015, The Banker published *Top Islamic Financial Institution Report*, that includes twenty largest countries ranked by total Sharia – compliant assets represented in the next table.

² Sukuk i a Sharia impliant b a Aii unting an Au iting Organizati f f I ami Finan i In itiuti (AAOIFI) effine ukuk as "se urities of equal denomination representing individual ownership interests in a portfolio of eligible existing or future assets".

Rank	Country	Total Sharia compliant assets (in bn of US\$)
1	Iran	316,423
2	Saudi Arabia	306,807
3	Malaysia	206,309
4	UAE	111,294
5	Kuwait	84,448
6	Qatar	70,898
7	Bahrain	65,068
8	Bangladesh	22,298
9	Indonesia	21,044
10	Pakistan	10,101
11	Sudan	7,467
12	Egypt	7,015
13	Switzerland	6,879
14	Turkey	5,950
15	Brunei	5,025
16	UK	3,811
17	Thailand	3,797
18	Yemen	3,549
19	Syria	2,881
20	Algeria	2,516

Table 2: Twenty largest countries ranked by total Sharia – compliant assets

Source: The Banker, (2015)

But, in spite of such an extraordinary growth, according to Hayat & Malik (2014), there are several misconceptions associated with Islamic way of doing business that include:

- Muslims and Islamic finance are monoliths that conform to generalizations;
- Modern Islamic finance is a relatively old and mature industry;
- Muslims, in general, understand the theory and practice of Islamic finance and follow it in their financial lives;
- Islamic finance enjoys active government support in most Muslim-majority countries;
- Assets of Islamic finance tend to be greater than those of conventional finance in most Muslim-majority countries;
- Sharia is the governing law in all countries with a Muslim majority, and Islamic finance transactions are governed only by Sharia;
- Islamic finance is not open to non-Muslims;

- Islamic finance is mainly about charitable rather than commercial activities;
- Islamic finance involves illegal activities, such as money laundering and even the financing of terrorism;
- The prohibited Riba is the same as interest;
- Islamic finance is recession proof and immune from unethical practices and
- The Islamic finance industry is widely believed to be Islamic in form and in substance.

In order to avoid misconceptions and assumptions about Islamic banking, it is necessary to investigate the practice of Islamic banks regarding their activities in terms of achieving the three basic pillars of SDGs. This is important for the following reasons:

- Islam, as the basis and source of Islamic banking, emphasize the achievement of public interest as its primary goal. If we consider that this postulate is more than 1430 years old then the achievement of a public interest through the three dimensions of SDGs should be a mandatory or an integral part of the operation of Islamic banks, in relation to conventional banks where this practice is mainly non-binding;
- Because Islamic banking is still in the process of development, it is necessary to explore the degree of disclosure practice among Islamic banks comparing to conventional that are still the dominate institutions in the global financial structure;
- Identification of the ethical identity of Islamic banks through the prism of relations towards the three basic pillars of the SDGs in terms of determining their social engagement in the society in which they operate. The above mentioned elements will be analyzed below.

3. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT IN ISLAMIC BANKING AND SDGS

Generally, Islamic principles date from the 7th century which means that Islamic banks should be a representative of those values. In that aspect it is important to analyze and compare Islamic social values and SDGs. In terms of that, in Islam it is important to mention *Maqasid al Sharia* also known as the "Objectives" or "Purpose" of the Islamic Law. Auda (2007) notes that most of Islamic scholars advocate that *Maqasid al Sharia* refers to "people's interests" (*arab. Masleha*). In other words, it means that the purpose of Sharia is to accomplish the public interest.

Great Islamic Scholar, Ibn al-Qayim, quoted in Auda (2007) states that Sharia *is* "based on wisdom and achieving people's welfare in this life and the afterlife. Sharia is all about justice, mercy, wisdom, and good. Thus, any ruling that replaces justice with injustice, mercy with its opposite, common good with mischief, or wisdom with nonsense, is a ruling that does not belong to the Sharia, even if it is claimed to be so according to some interpretation". If we compare this approach to one of the 17 goals of SDGs, great resemblance exists with the 16th goal of SDGs; peace, justice and strong institutions.

In addition, the social engagement of Islamic banks can be seen through the relationship of these institutions towards Zakat, which Islamic banks, as well as individuals who are in financial capacity, are obliged to allocate for the benefit of the society. Authors Hayat and Malik (2014) define Zakat as a social welfare tax in terms that it is an annual tax on surplus income and wealth of Muslims and is equivalent to 2.5% of net worth in general. In Islamic teaching it is very important because it represents one of the five sacred pillars of Islam (Quranic verses 92:14-21; 2:177; 9:103).

Second social engagement of Islamic banks is seen through qard hasan credits as a form of benevolent credits where, according to Iqbal (2009), lender can't receive any benefit in return. This can be observed as a goal to achieve the redistribution of wealth in the aspect of poverty alleviation. If we compare it to SDGs, this can respond to the first goal of SDGs; no poverty. Also, this type of credit is very popular among students in order to daunt costs of education. In this aspect, this is consistent with the 4th goal of SDGs; quality education.

Characteristics of qard hasan are given in the next table.

Table 3: Qard hasan characteristics

A non-rewarding loan but with the moral obligation of a borrower to repay the principal if he is in a financial position to do so. If the borrower is not financially capable to return the borrowed amount, than the creditor will "forgive" the credit.

A credit with a benevolent purpose.

A credit with the aim to help the poor to become part of economic activity especially in terms of providing opportunities to create job and business ventures.

Qard hasan credit practice strives to achieve balance among those who are financially more stable than those who are not in order to enhance financial and social inclusion.

Source: Modified according to Iqbal and Shafik (2015). Islamic finance and the role of qard-al-hassan (benevolent loans) in enhancing inclusion: A case study of akhuwat

Although Islamic banks are considered to be involved in social activities, they are not charity institutions and tend to achieve a positive financial result. This is important because of the trust of their stakeholders as well as partners with whom they enter into business ventures. As already mentioned, trust and stability of these institutions is what led to theirs greater expansion.

In order to examine Islamic banks role in economic, social and environment activities, disclosure practice can be considered as a way of exploring this three elements. This is important because Islamic banking is still developing and the market conditions are mainly created for the conventional banks. On the other hand, Islamic banks are learning certain economic rules and models of behavior in the global market and making their own criteria and reporting standards. In that aspect, disclosure practice among Islamic banks is presented in the next part.

4. DISCLOSURE PRACTICE AMONG ISLAMIC BANKS

Disclosure practice among Islamic banks is important for several reasons which also includes agency problem theory where according to Safieddine (2009) the issue of the separation of ownership and control is grater for Islamic banks because managers of Islamic banks must strive to maximization of shareholder's wealth and at the same time provide that those activities are done in accordance with Sahria.

The amount of disclosure practice among Islamic banks, regarding the elements that can affect sustainability in one society, can be analyzed by using the method developed by authors Haniffa and Hudaib (2007). It is based on creating an Ethical Identity Index (EEI). This is important to analyze because of the difference between the communicated and the ideal ethical identity about Islamic banks but also between the banks themselves. On the other hand, Islamic banks are obligated to inform public about their activities as related to Qur'an: "and cover not truth with falsehood, nor conceal the truth when you know (2:42). This can be explained by the next graph.

Graph 1: Social Relations Framework in Islamic economy



Source: Maali et al. (2006)

EEI can be used in order to quantify the extent of Islamic banking activities in every aspect of its social inclusion, including economic, social and environment activities. Index is based on the principles of content analysis and uses annual reports of Islamic banks. Primarily it analysis 78 indicators grouped into 8 dimensions: 1) vision and mission statement, 2) BOD and top management, 3) product, 4) Zakat, charity and benevolent loans, 5) employees, 6) debtors, 7) community and 8) Shariah Supervisory Board (SSB).

The Index is calculated as follows:

$$EEI = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_{ijt}}{N}$$

Where:

EEI Index – Ethical Identity Index for dimension j and period t;

Xijt is variable X (1,... n) for dimension j and time t and has value 1 if the item is disclosed or 0 if otherwise;

N is the number of variables/statements

The aspect of social involvement analyzed by the disclosure practice can be observed through the level of Zakat disclosure. Beside this social element, Zakat can also be observed from the aspect of its economic effect because it leads to an increase in money supply which ultimately affects the demand for products and services. The result is that economy is moving forward.

Quraishi (2011) explains that Zakat has an impact on micro and macro economy but at the same time it can be seen as a fiscal mechanism. For instance, in micro aspect it helps to ensure the individual's needs by taking into account the public interest while on the macro aspect it deals with the distribution of wealth. The fiscal mechanism can be observed through the social inclusion by forming funds for the care of the most vulnerable categories of the population that also includes food subsidy, education, health care etc.

As mention above one of the EEI dimension includes *Zakat, charity and benevolent loans*. This dimension described by Haniffa and Hudaib (2007), is component of the following elements:

- a) Zakat to be paid by individuals
- b) Bank liable for Zakat
- c) Amount paid for Zakat
- d) Sources of Zakat
- e) Uses/beneficiaries of Zakat
- f) Balance of Zakat not distributed amount
- g) Reasons for balance of Zakat
- h) SSB attestation that sources and uses of Zakat according to Sharia
- i) SSB attestation that Zakat has been computed according to Zakat
- j) Sources of charity (saddaqah)
- k) Uses of charity (saddaqah)
- l) Amount of qard hasan
- m) Sources of qard hasan
- n) Uses of qard hasan
- o) Policy for providing qard hasan
- p) Policy on non-payment of qard hasan

In the research done by Mosaid and Boutti (2012) among 8 Islamic banks in the period 2008 – 2009 the result show that the level of Zakat disclosure is low where information like source of Zakat or uses or beneficiaries of Zakat were missing which can be considered as a sensitive matters. In 2016, authors Samed and Said (2016) conducted a research among 16 Islamic banks in Malaysia in 2014 and the research showed that the overall mean about Zakat disclosure was 0.70. These results also show that during the time disclosure practice is improving but still it is not on a required level.

In terms of environment disclosure, research done by authors Farook, Hasan and Lanis (2011); Yahya, Abul Rahman and Tayib (2005); Darus, Yusoff and Mohd Azhari (2013); shows that practice of disclosure, including environment activities, among Islamic banks varies from region or certain country. This can be result of several factors such as:

- the level of development of Islamic banking in the country or the region that is being observed,
- the level of the priority given to environment protection and disclosure practice in the country or the region that is being observed,
- the reporting practice in the country or the region that is being observed.

For instance, in Malaysia where Islamic banking is present since 1983, Central bank of Malaysia, Bank Negara Malaysia, issued guideline on financial reporting for licensed Islamic Banks called GP8-i. This is not a practice among all the countries that implement Islamic banking. In this aspect, in 2015 Islamic Reporting Initiative was founded as a "reporting framework for Corporate Sustainability and Social Responsibility (CSR) aligned with Islamic principles, beliefs, and values" (IRI, 2015).

The issue with the low level of disclosure practice among Islamic banks can be associated with the fact that Islamic banking is still developing and it needs time to become an active participant in this field. Also, Islamic banks are probably more focused on the Sharia complaint requirement of a certain activity. But this reason must be taken with reserve because environment protection is also an integral part of Sharia regarding the fact that more than 750 verses in the Qur'an are addressing the issue of nature.

Finally, the relationship towards society and its elements, economic, social and environmental issues, in Islam are regarded as a whole rather than as a separate part, which is probably one of the reasons why the Islamic banks have not yet separated these elements to specific fields of their activities that they have to take care more actively.

4. CONCLUSION

Sustainable development is a topic that is attracting the world's attention from 1987 and the Brundtland report. In 2015, the UN General Assembly established 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) to be accomplished by 2030. These goals are based on three pillars: economic, environmental and social. In order to achieve this, financial institutions, especially banks, need to be a stable and very active participant in this process. This is important to note because the process of sustainable development requires the commitment of those who are striving to sustainability.

As active participant in the world economy, banks, especially Islamic banks can be observed as a barrier of sustainable development because of their core values that are different comparing to conventional. In this aspect, Islamic social values or Islamic law (Sharia) are comparable to SDGs and the role of Islamic banks can be observed through the adoption of these goals by the implementation of the Sharia. In this aspect the level of the disclosure practice among Islamic banks can also indicate the application level of Sharia.

The emphasis is placed on economic, social and environmental disclosure practice among Islamic banks by using the methodology of Ethical Identity Index. The level of Zakat and environment disclosure was observed with an emphasis on the theoretical background of the paper. As mentioned, Zakat is defined as a social welfare tax which amounts 2,5% and beside the social effect on the society it also has an economic impact because it leads to an increase in money supply which ultimately affects the demand for products and services. The used research showed low level considering Zakat but also environment disclosure practice among Islamic banks, especially depending on the region where the research is done.

Reasons for such results can be found in the fact that Islamic banking is still developing and the reporting practice among the countries that are implementing it is different.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This paper is a part of research projects numbers III47009 (European integrations and social and economic changes in Serbian economy on the way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and prospects of structural changes in Serbia: Strategic directions for economic development and harmonization with EU requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

REFERENCES

- 1. Ahmed, H., Asutay M., & Wilson R. (2014). Islamic banking and financial crisis. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Ahmed, H., Mahmoud M., Jos V., & Farida Wael A. (2015). On the sustainable development goals and the role of Islamic finance (English). Policy Research working paper; no. WPS 7266. Washington, D.C: World Bank Group. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/442091467999969424/On-the-sustainabledevelopment-goals-and-the-role-of-Islamic-finance
- Aliyu, S., Kabir Hassan, M., Mohd Yusof, R., & Naiimi, N. (2017). Islamic Banking Sustainability: A Review of Literature and Directions for Future Research. Journal of Emerging Markets Finance and Trade Vol. 53, Iss. 2,2017
- 4. Chapra, M. (1992). Islam and the economic challenge, Leicester, International Institute of Islamic Thought
- Darus, F., Yusoff, H. and Mohd Azhari, N.K. (2013). Environmental disclosure of Islamic financial institutions (IFIs): Preliminary evidence from Malaysia, Journal of Energy Technologies and Policy, 3,11 (2013) Special Issue for ICEESE 2013, ISSN (Paper): 2224-3232 ISSN (Online) 2225-0573, 433-439
- 6. Doane, D., & MacGillivray, A. (2001). Economic Sustainability-the business of staying in business, New Economics Foundation, London.
- Eccles, R.G and Serafeim, G. (2013). Sustainability in Financial Services is not about Being Green. Sustainability – Harvard Business Review. Available from: https://hbr.org/2013/05/sustainability-in-finan S cial-services-is-not-about-being-green
- Farook, S., Hassan, M.K., and Lanis, R., (2011) Determinants of corporate social responsibility disclosure: the case of Islamic banks, Journal of Islamic Accounting and Business Research, Vol. 2 Iss: 2, pp.114 – 141.
- 9. Habib Ahmed et. al. (2015). On the Sustainable Development Goals and the Role of Islamic Finance; World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 7266
- Hanić, A. (2017). Process of Internationalization in Islamic Banking: The Case of Serbia, *Economic Analysis*, Institute of Economic Sciences, Vol 50 No 3-4
- 11. Haniffa, R. M, & Hudaib, M. (2007). Exploring the ethical identity of Islamic banks. Journal of Business Ethics, 76, 97–116.
- 12. Hayat, U., & Malik, A. (2014). Islamic Finance: Ethics, Concepts, Practice (Literature Review). Retrieved from http://www.cfapubs.org/doi/pdf/10.2470/rflr.v9.n3.1
- 13. Imam P., Kpodar K. (2015). Is Islamic Banking Good for Growth? IMF Working Paper
- 14. Iqbal and Shafik (2015). Islamic finance and the role of qard-al-hassan (benevolent loans) in enhancing inclusion: A case study of Akhuwat
- 15. Iqbal, Z., & Mirakhor, A. (2007). An introduction to Islamic finance: Theory and practice. Singapore: John Wiley & Sons (Asia).
- Maali, B., Casson, P. & Napier, C. (2006). Social reporting by islamic banks. Abacus, 42, 266-289
- Mahomedy A C (2015). Islamic economics: Still in search of an identity. In H A El-Karanshawy et al. (Eds.), Islamic economic: Theory, policy and social justice. Doha, Qatar: Bloomsbury Qatar Foundation

- Mirakhor, A. & Zaidi, I. (2007). Profit-and-loss sharing contracts in Islamic finance. In M.K. Hassan & M.K. Lewis, Handbook for Islamic Banking. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing
- 19. Mosaid EL, F., Boutti, R. (2012). *Relationship between Corporate Social Responsibility and Financial Performance in Islamic Banking*. Research Journal of Finance and Accounting
- Ng A., Mirakhor A., Ibrahim M.H. (2015) Significance of Social Capital and Risk Sharing. In: Social Capital and Risk Sharing. Palgrave Studies in Islamic Banking, Finance, and Economics. Palgrave Macmillan, New York
- 21. Peeters, H. (2003). Sustainable Development and The Role of The Financial World, Environment, Development and the Sustainability
- 22. Quraishi, M. (2011). The Institution of Zakat and Its Economic Impact on Society.
- 23. Rogers, J. (2013). How sustainability metrics help build trust in the financial sector. Greenbiz. Available from: http://www.greenbiz.com/blog/2013/04/26/howsustainability-metrics-helps-build-trust-financial-sector
- Safieddine, A. (2009). Islamic financial institutions and corporate governance: new insights for agency theory. Corporate Governance: An International Review. 17(2), 142-158
- 25. Samad Abd, K., Said, R. (2016). Zakat Disclosure by Malaysian Banks. International Business Management 10 (20): 4737-4742, 2016
- 26. Strandberg, C. (2005). Best Practices in Sustainable Finance. Sperling Avenue, Burnaby, BC: Strandberg Consulting.
- 27. Warde, I. (2000). Islamic finance in the global economy. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Weber, O., Diaz, M., & Schwegler, R. (2014). Corporate Social Responsibility of the Financial Sector – Strengths, Weaknesses and the Impact on Sustainable Development. Sustainable Development, 22, 321–335. doi: 10.1002/sd.1543
- 29. Yahya, M.A., Abul Rahman, A. and Tayib, M. (2005), The relationship between corporate social disclosure and Islamic unit trust shareholding, Accounting, Commerce and Finance: The Islamic Perspective Journal, Vol. 9 No. 1.

REPORTS

- 1. BNM (1983). Islamic Banking Act. http://www.bnm.gov.my/documents/act/en_ib_act.pdf
- PwC. (2012). Managing Sustainability risks and opportunities in the financial services sector. https://www.pwc.com/jg/en/publications/ned-sustainability-presentation-may-2012.pdf
- 3. Thomson Reuters' Islamic Finance Development Indicator. (2016). https://www.salaamgateway.com/en/story/report_icdthomson_reuters_islamic_finance _development_report_2016-salaam06122016021157

FINANCIAL POWER AND DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL OF ENVIRONMENTALLY RESPONSIBLE MEDIUM SIZED ENTERPRISES IN THE SERBIAN INDUSTRIAL SECTOR

Sonja ĐURIČIN, PhD^{*} Isidora BERAHA, PhD[•]

Abstract: The aim of the research is to determine the economic and financial power of medium-sized enterprises registered in the Republic of Serbia (RS) in the sector C: Manufacturing and an assessment of the development potential of environmentally responsible enterprises. The focus of the research is on environmentally responsible enterprises i.e. "green enterprises" for there is a need to search for ways to improve the economic sustainability of green business. The subject of the research refers to values of financial performance of enterprises in the period 2011-2015. Economic and financial power of enterprises was assessed by using the method of financial analysis. Financial analysis was carried out based on the information disclosed in the official financial statements of enterprises which are publicly available on the website of the Business Registers Agency. With the application of financial analysis, the yield, asset and financial position of enterprises was determined. In order to assess the yield position of enterprises, an analysis of the structure and arrangement of total revenues, structure and arrangement of gross financial result and profitability was performed. In order to assess the asset position of enterprises, an analysis of the structure and source of assets and of the efficiency of current asset management was performed, and for the purpose of assessing financial position of enterprises an analysis of liquidity, solvency and indebtedness was conducted. The analysis of the reasons medium-sized industrial enterprises are unprofitable is conducted for the purpose of determining their development potential. In order to examine the reasons of unprofitable operation, firstly enterprises which reported net loss in 2014 were identified. The possibility of determining the development potential is analyzed on the sample of five enterprises which reported above the average net loss in 2014, and which are characterized by conducting environmentally responsible business activities. The focus of the research is on "green enterprises" because there is a need to improve the economic sustainability of green business. The results of the research indicate that economic sustainability of

^{*} Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia, sonja.djuricin@ien.bg.ac.rs

^{&#}x27;Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia, isidora.beraha@ien.bg.ac.rs

environmentally responsible enterprises can be achieved by improving the real capacity utilization rate at current global price parity or by strengthening the global price parity at current real capacity utilization rate.

Keywords: medium-sized enterprises, industry sector, economic and financial power, environmentally responsible business, potential, Serbian economy

1. INTRODUCTION

The development potential of environmentally responsible medium-sized enterprises registered in the RS in sector C: Manufacturing is assessed following the analysis of their economic and financial power in the period 2011-2015. The focus of the research is on medium-sized enterprises, which, in terms of key macroeconomic indicators, are the pillars of the economic growth of the national economy (Erić et al., 2012; Paraušić et al., 2017).

According to the current data of the National Bank of Serbia (NBS), medium-sized enterprises that make up only 2% of the total number of companies in the Republic of Serbia generate 16% of the total net profit realized, i.e. 14% of total net loss of all companies in the country, 17% of income, 16% of expenditures and even 16% of total employment. Medium-sized enterprises, which account for only 0.7% of the total number of SMEs, generate 33% of GVA, 30% of turnover, 40% of imports, 48% of exports and 29% of employment.

According to the data of the Serbian Business Registers Agency (SBRA) for 2015, 1004 medium-sized enterprises operated in the territory of the RS. They account for 37% in the structure of the total number of medium-sized enterprises registered in sector C: Manufacturing.

The results of the research of the Institute of Economic Sciences within the project "National Network of Medium-Sized Enterprises" point to the fact that the largest number of medium-sized enterprises in the manufacturing industry operate in low technology and medium-low technology areas. There are 24.2% of enterprises engaged in the production of food products, while 13% are engaged in the production of all metal products, except machines and devices. On the other hand, 23.9% of medium-sized enterprises operate in medium-high and high technology areas. These data indicate a relatively unfavourable technological structure. Almost half of medium-sized enterprises operate in low-tech areas and produce effects of lower added value, which makes it difficult for market positioning. Nevertheless, medium-sized enterprises registered within the sector C: Manufacturing, generate about 40% of the total employment in middle-sized enterprises in the RS.

Regional analysis indicates roughly the same geographical distribution of mediumsized industrial enterprises. Out of the total number of medium-sized industrial enterprises, 33% are registered in the territory of Vojvodina, 28% in the territory of Šumadija and Western Serbia, 25% in the territory of Belgrade and 14% in the territory of South and East Serbia.

Out of the total number of medium-sized enterprises registered in the sector C: Manufacturing, 74% operated with a net gain in 2015. Enterprises that operate with net gains employ 76% of the total number of employees in medium-sized enterprises in sector C: Manufacturing.

The selection of the subject of the research was influenced by the fact that 74% of companies surveyed, which employ 76% of the total number of employees in sector C: Manufacturing and 30% of the total number of employees in companies of this size, operate with net gains in 2015. The subject of the research refers to the values of financial performance of all medium-sized enterprises registered within the sector C: Manufacturing in the period 2011-2015. Time period of the research provides the possibility to compare data over time and observe the movement of the basic development indicators. The aim of the research is to determine the economic and financial power of medium-sized enterprises registered in the Republic of Serbia in sector C: Manufacturing, and to assess the development potential of environmentally responsible enterprises. The research begins with the hypothesis according to which medium-sized enterprises registered within the sector C: Manufacturing can improve the economic sustainability of their environmentally responsible business operation by performing an adequate financial performance management.

2. MATERIAL AND METHOD

The aim of the research was realized using the standard method of data collection and analysis, methods of quantitative and qualitative financial analysis, methods of description and methods of synthesis. The methodology is performed on the basis of many years of research practice of the authors (Đuričin, S. and Beraha, I., 2017, p. 147; Đuričin, S and Đukić, M., 2017, p. 95; Đuričin, S., and Beraha, I. 2016, p. 343; Đuričin, S., and Beraha, I., 2016, p. 712; Đuričin, S., and Jovanović, O., 2016, p. 54; Đuričin, S. and Beraha, I., 2014, p. 693; Lazarević-Moravčević, M., Stevanović, S., and Belopavlović, G., 2014, Đuričin, S. and Beraha, I., 2013, p. 124; Đuričin, S. and Bodroža D., 2013, p. 26; Đuričin, S., Beraha, I., and Đulić, M., 2013, p.588; Đuričin, S., 2012; Đuričin, S. and Beraha, I., 2012, p. 495). Using the standard data collection and analysis methods, information was generated from the financial statements of medium-sized industrial enterprises publicly available on the website of the Business Registers Agency (BRA). The data disclosed in the individual official financial statements enabled the creation of the consolidated balance sheet and income statement of medium-sized enterprises registered in Sector C: Manufacturing. The subject of the analysis is the financial performance obtained from the consolidated financial statements of medium-sized industrial enterprises.

The analysis of the economic and financial power of enterprises covers the period 2011-2015. The assessment of the economic and financial power of medium-sized industrial enterprises was carried out using the methods of financial analysis. Qualitative methods of financial analysis were used for breakdown, while quantitative methods were used to measure the subject of the analysis for which temporal and spatial comparison were performed. By comparing the subject of the analysis over time, it is possible to compare the obtained results in several successive business years, which determines the moment of creation and the movement tendencies of basic development indicators. Spatial comparison of the subject of the analysis results. The results obtained by temporal and spatial analysis of financial performances provide the possibility of identifying bottlenecks in the operation, assessing the economic potential of medium-sized industrial enterprises, and imposing different alternative solutions for strengthening their development potential.

Ratio analysis was used for the purposes of financial analysis. For the purposes of research, the ratio analysis was first broken down to balance sheet ratio analysis and income statement ratio analysis. Balance sheet ratio analysis is divided into the ratio analysis of financial and asset position of medium-sized industrial enterprises. Assessing the financial position requires a calculation of the liquidity, solvency and indebtedness ratios, while assessing the asset position requires the evaluation of the structure of assets and liabilities, the economy and position of the company in the sale and purchase market. Ratio analysis of income statement refers to the analysis of the yield position of medium-sized industrial enterprises. For the purpose of assessing the yield position of the company, a calculation of the structure of the gross financial result, Operating Profit Margin (OPM), Return on assets (ROA), Return on Equity (ROE) and Return on Sales (ROS) was performed.

Following the assessment of economic and financial power and the identification of bottlenecks in operation, alternatives have been proposed for improving profitability and strengthening the development potential of environmentally responsible medium-sized industrial enterprises. Alternatives for improving the profitability and development potential of environmentally responsible mediumsized enterprises are also the result of a financial analysis of the global sales and purchasing parity prices, the degree of utilization of actual capacity and the efficiency of management of working assets.

By applying the synthesis, the results obtained by the analysis are correlated into an interactive relationship. After the description of the established relationships between the obtained research results, conclusions are made on the economic potential of environmentally responsible medium-sized industrial enterprises in the Republic of Serbia.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

In the period 2011-2015, liquidity of medium-sized enterprises registered within sector C: Manufacturing is assessed as conditionally acceptable. Liquidity is acceptable due to the fact that in all business years, except 2014, enterprises had sufficient working capital required to cover short-term liabilities, and conditionally acceptable due to the fact that in the observed period they did not have a sufficient amount of liquid assets necessary to cover due short-term liabilities. From the aspect of second and third degree liquidity ratios, the payment capacity of medium-sized industrial enterprises decreased in the period 2011-2014, and then increased.

Table 1: Analysis of Liquidity

Indicator	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Second degree liquidity	0.77	0.76	0.66	0.62	0.64
Third degree liquidity	1.23	1.22	1.06	0.99	1.03

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

Medium-sized industrial enterprises were solvent in the observed period. Enterprises had a sufficient amount of operating assets needed to cover total debts. In the period 2011-2014, the ratio of the operating assets and total debt had a declining, and then a growing trend.

Table 2: Analysis of Solvency

Indicator	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Solvency ratio	1.62	1.58	1.55	1.52	1.55

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

In the period 2011 - 2015, borrowed capital prevails in total sources of financing. The share of borrowed capital in total sources of financing increased in the period

2011-2014. After 2014, the share of borrowed capital in total sources of financing decreased to 59.81%.

					- in % -
Indicator	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Share of liabilities in total sources of financing	59.42	60.62	61.17	61.58	59.81

Table 3: Analysis of Indebtedness

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

The company's assets structure comprises approximately the same portions of fixed assets and current assets. After 2012, the share of current assets is reduced to the benefit of fixed assets.



Chart 1: Analysis of Assets Structure

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

The structure of liabilities from the aspect of ownership changed in favour of borrowed capital. Within the borrowed sources of financing, the dominant share is recorded for short-term liabilities. In the period 2011-2015, short-term liabilities accounted for 44.47% and capital 41.05% on average in the total liabilities. Loss above capital value was characteristic for the period 2013-2015 and recorded an increase.



Chart 2: Analysis of Liabilities Structure

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

In the period 2011-2015, the operation of medium-sized industrial enterprises within the overall and operating activities is estimated to be economical. Within the financial activities of the companies, they operated uneconomically throughout the observed period.

 Table 4: Analysis of Economy

Indicator	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Economy of overall operation	1.03	1.02	1.01	1.00	1.02
Economy of operating activities	1.06	1.07	1.04	1.05	1.05
Economy of financing	0.56	0.45	0.51	0.31	0.51

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

Under certain conditions, medium-sized industrial enterprises have a better position in the sales than on the purchasing market. Better position in the sales market was achieved due to the fact that in the period 2011-2015, they collected their receivables on average every 127 days, while they paid their obligations every 185 days. Conditionally better position was achieved because the deadlines for collection of receivables and settlement of liabilities were prolonged and lasted for more than three months. Compared to 2011, the number of days required for collecting receivables reduced from 133 to 121, while the number of days required to settle liabilities increased from 172 to 188 days in 2015.

Sonja Đuričin, Isidora Beraha	
-------------------------------	--

Indicator	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Accounts receivable turnover coefficient	2.75	2.84	2.81	2.97	3.02
Duration of one accounts receivable turnover	133	129	130	123	121
Accounts payable turnover coefficient	2.12	2.16	1.86	1.84	1.94
Duration of one accounts payable turnover	172	169	196	198	188

Table 5: Analysis of company's position in the sale and purchase market

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

In the period 2011-2015, the operation of medium-sized industrial enterprises was assessed as successful. In all observed years except in 2014, companies conducted absolutely successful operation. Absolute operating success is the result of a positive result from the regular operation and the total gross financial result. In 2014, the negative gross financial result, with a gain from regular operations, resulted in conditionally successful operations. Enterprises recorded an increase in terms of operating success. In 2015, compared to 2014, the result from regular operation increased from RSD 11,384 thousand to RSD 17,237 thousand, while the total gross financial result increased from RSD 10,792 thousand to RSD 11,963 thousand.

Table 6: Analysis of the total gross financial result structure

			- i	n thousan	ds RSD -
Indicator	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Operating result – net effect	20,030	26,843	18,752	23,281	25,399
Result from financing	-8,647	-17,159	-9,763	-18,603	-8,162
Result from regular operation - net effect	11,384	9,684	8,989	4,679	17,237
Result from income from valuation adjustments of other assets - net effect	0	0	-6,290	-6,421	-7,290
Result from other income - net effect	-592	1,394	669	-529	2,016
Gross financial result - net effect	10,792	11,078	3,369	-2,272	11,963

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

In all observed years except in 2014, medium-sized industrial enterprises operated profitably. The negative gross and, consequently, the net financial result in 2014 caused the negative value of ROA, ROE and ROS.

The higher cumulative operating profit in relation to cumulative operating loss resulted in a positive net effect, i.e. a positive rate of operating profit. In the observed period, each dinar of operating income of medium-sized industrial enterprises averaged 5.15% of operating profit.

					- in % -
Indicator	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Operating Profit Margin – net effect	5.37	6.22	4.25	4.89	5.00
Return on assets – net effect	2.26	1.85	0.28	-0.89	1.61
Return on Equity – net effect	5.56	4.71	0.68	-2.18	3.71
Return on Sales – net effect	2.65	2.08	0.32	-0.99	1.77

Table 7: Profitability Analysis

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

In the period 2011-2015, medium-sized industrial enterprises earned 1.02% of net profit on average for each dinar invested in total assets, while they earned 2.5% of the net profit on average for each dinar of invested own capital. In the period 2011-2015, medium-sized industrial enterprises accumulated on average 1.17% of operating income in the form of net profit.

For the purposes of determining the development potential of medium-sized industrial enterprises, an analysis of the causes of unprofitable operation was performed. Non-profitable operation at the level of all medium-sized industrial enterprises in the Republic of Serbia was identified only in 2014. In order to examine the cause of unprofitable operation, the companies that operated with net loss in 2014 were first identified. In 2014, 29% of the total number of mediumsized enterprises registered in sector C: Manufacturing operated with net loss. The possibility of determining the development potential was analysed on a sample of five enterprises that operated with an above-average net loss in 2014. These are also the enterprises with the identified non-profitable operation within the regular operating activity. Besides the value of net loss, the main criterion for selecting enterprises in which the developing potential is examined refers to environmentally responsible business operation. Environmentally responsible business means that selected enterprises use renewable energy sources (environmentally sustainable) in their operation and pay attention to the impact of their activities on social aspects (socially responsible). The purpose of focusing this research on "green enterprises" is embodied in the need to improve the economic sustainability of green business.

The results of the analysis on operation of the least profitable environmentally responsible medium-sized industrial enterprises in 2014 show that the loss occurs as a result of a reduction in operating revenues, a reduction in the contribution margin and an increase in financial expenses. The decrease in operating income is a consequence of the deterioration of the global sales and purchasing parity prices, while the contribution margin declined due to insufficient use of actual capacity. On the other hand, financial expenditures increased due to inefficient use of working capital.

- in thousands RSD									
Enterprises	Variable material expenditures	Average global parity price at sector level	Operating income at an average global parity price	Actual operating income	Reduction of operating revenues due to the reduction of global parity price				
	1.	2.	3. (1. x 2.)	4.	5. (3. – 4.)				
1	1,541,452	1.8	2,774,614	2,623,038	151,576				
2	1,923,183	1.8	3,461,729	2,496,118	965,611				
3	841,304	1.8	1,514,348	1,454,792	59,556				
4	1,071,166	1.8	1,928,098	1,802,599	125,499				
5	538,600	1.8	969,479	268,700	700,779				

Table 8: Reduction in operating revenues due to a decrease in global parity, 2014

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

With all environmentally responsible medium-sized industrial enterprises, which recorded the least profitable operation in 2014, a decrease in operating revenues was identified due to deterioration of the global sales and purchase parity prices. Enterprises recorded a lower global parity price compared to its average value at the level of the sector that in 2014 amounted to 1.8.

The deterioration of the parity price caused operating revenues lower than those that would have been achieved if the parity value remained at the sector's average. The largest decrease in operating revenues due to the deterioration in the global parity prices, in the amount of RSD 965,611 thousand, was registered with the enterprise number 2, and the lowest with the enterprise number 3, in the amount of RSD 59,556 thousand.

Table 9: Reduction in contribution margin due to the insufficient use of actual
capacity, 2014

	- in thousands RSD							
Enterprise	Contribution margin	Degree of utilization of actual capacity (%)	Contribution margin at 100% utilization of actual capacity	Reduction in contribution margin due to insufficient use of actual capacity				
	1.	2.	3. (1./2.) x 100	4. (3. – 1.)				
1	1,081,586	75	1,442,114	360,529				
2	572,935	60	954,892	381,957				
3	613,488	65	943,827	330,339				
4	731,433	70	1,044,905	313,471				
5	-269,900	100	-269,900	0				

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

Only in case of enterprise number 5 there is no reduction in contribution margin due to insufficient use of actual capacity. This is because enterprise no. 5 was unprofitable with 100% of the utilization of actual capacity. In all other mediumsized industrial enterprises, characterized by the least profitable operation in 2014, a reduction in contribution margin was identified due to insufficient use of actual capacity. In case of enterprises number 1 - 4, the degree of utilization of actual capacity ranged from 60 to 75%, which led to contribution margin lower than the one that would be recorded in case of using 100% of actual capacity.

The analysis of data over time revealed small differences in the intensity of the impact of insufficient use of actual capacity on the value of contribution margin. The greatest decrease in contribution margin due to insufficient use of actual capacity, in the amount of RSD 381,957 thousand, was registered with company number 2, and the lowest, in the amount of RSD 313,471 thousand, with company number 4.

Enterprise	Operating income	of current		- Actual working capital	In thousands RSD - Increase in working capital due to a decrease in the turnover ratio
	1.	2.	3. (1./2.)	4.	5. (43.)
1	2,623,038	1.8	1,457,243	3,919,077	2,461,834
2	2,496,118	1.8	1,386,732	5,783,161	4,396,429
3	1,454,792	1.8	808,218	1,859,510	1,051,292
4	1,802,599	1.8	1,001,444	2,772,036	1,770,592
5	268,700	1.8	149,278	1,209,727	1,060,449

Table 10: Increase in working capital due to inefficient management, 2014

in thousands DSD

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

The financial analysis found that the loss in the observed companies in 2014 was caused by inefficient management of current assets. For determining the extent to which financial expenditures are growing due to inefficient management of current assets, the average turnover coefficient at the sector level in 2014 was first identified. By establishing the ratio between current assets at the average turnover coefficient and actual working capital, an increase in their value has been identified due to inefficient management (Table 10). By far the highest increase in working capital due to inefficient management, in the amount of RSD 4,396,429 thousand, was registered with the company number 2.

The quantification of the consequences of inefficient management of current assets determined the amount of possible reduction in financial expenses. Although enterprise no. 1 is characterized by more efficient management of current assets in comparison to company no. 2, this enterprise recorded the highest possible decrease in financial expenses of RSD 585,717 thousand.

	- in thousands RSD -								
Enterprise	Financial expenses	Liabilities based on which interest is paid	Average interest rate	Possibility of reducing financial expenses					
	1.	2.	3. (1./2.) x 100	4. (5. [*] x 3.) / 100					
1	725,435	3,049,084	23.79	585,717					
2	1,178,258	10,507,847	11.21	492,977					
3	526,505	2,916,061	18.06	189,815					
4	494,761	3,217,976	15.37	272,227					
5	317,329	2,699.125	11.76	124,674					

Table 11: Increase in financial expenses due to inefficient use of working capital, 2014

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data Note: * Column no. 5 from Table 10

In order to systematize all the negative impacts on the financial result, the reduction in operating revenues due to the deterioration in global parity, the reduction in contribution margin due to insufficient use of actual capacity and the increase in financial expenses due to inefficient management of current assets were taken into account. The cause of the loss was adequately identified in all enterprises with a negative impact on the financial result of more than 100%. The results of the analysis show that the loss was not adequately identified only in case of enterprise no. 5. Therefore, enterprise no. 5 was excluded from further analysis.

- in thousands RSD -						
Enterprise	Reduction of operating revenues due to deterioration in global parity price	Reduction in contribution margin due to insufficient use of actual capacity	Increase in financial expenses due to inefficient use of working capital	Total negative impact on financial result	Loss of the current year	Negative impacts on the financial result in relation to loss (%)
	1.	2.	3.	4. (1. + 2. + 3.)	5.	6. (4./5.) x 100
1	151,576	360,529	585,717	1,097,822	669,980	164
2	965,611	381,957	492,977	1,840,545	1,842,292	100

Financial power and development potential of environmentally responsible

3	59,556	330,339	189,815	579,710	435,166	133
4	125,499	313,471	272,227	711,198	466,905	152
5	700,779	0	124,674	825,453	937,147	88

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

Development potential of environmentally responsible medium-sized industrial enterprises is analysed through two alternatives. The first alternative involves an analysis of the possibility of increasing the volume of production and sales at the current global parity price. The second alternative implies an analysis of the possibility of shifting the global parity price in favour of sales prices at the current level of actual capacity utilization. For both alternatives, two aspects of development potential were analysed. The first aspect does not take into consideration the expenditure side correction, while the second aspect includes the correction of expenditure side for the established possible amount of reduction in financial expenses due to inefficient management of current assets. The analysis on the potential of environmentally responsible medium-sized industrial enterprises through these two alternatives, two aspects, requires the acceptance of the following assumptions:

- an increase in revenues, which could occur if there was no deterioration in global parity prices, is not taken into account because the analysis aims to determine the global parity price needed for the development of medium-sized industrial enterprises, and
- contribution margin is not adjusted to higher values, by the amount of the determined reduction due to insufficient use of actual capacity, because the analysis aims to determine the extent to which the use of actual capacity is necessary for the development of medium-sized industrial enterprises.

in thousands DCD

	- in thousands R					
No.	Enterprise	1	2	3	4	
1.	Operating income	2,623,038	2,496,118	1,454,792	1,802,599	
2.	Variable material expenditures	1,541,452	1,923,183	841,304	1,071,166	
3.	Contribution margin	1,081,586	572,935	613,488	731,433	
4.1.	Fixed expense	1,027,635	1,282,122	560,870	714,110	
4.2.	Net financing costs (NFC)	723,931	1,133,105	487,784	484,228	
4.3.	Reduction in NFC due to inefficient asset management	585,717	492,977	189,815	272,227	
5.	Share of contribution margin in operating income (3/1) x 100 (%)	41	23	42	41	
6.	The degree of utilization of actual capacity (AC) (%)	75	60	65	70	
7.	Income at use of 100% AC (1/6)x100	3,497,384	4,160,197	2,238,142	2,575,141	

Table 13: Examination of the potential of environmentally responsible medium-sized industrial enterprises, 2014

No.	Enterprise	1	2	3	4
8.	Production and sales volume for achieving neutral result (NR) *WC ((4.1.+4.2.)/5)x100	4,247,859	10,522,470	2,486,722	2,953,274
8a.	Production and sales volume for achieving NR **WIC ((4.1.+(4.24.3.))/5.)x100	2,827,391	8,374,707	2,036,606	2,282,378
9.	% of AC use for achieving NR with the current global parity price (GPP) WC (8/7)x100	121	253	111	115
9a.	% of AC use for achieving NR with the current GPP WIC (8a/7)x100	81	201	91	89
10.	% increase in the production and sales volume for achieving NR with the current GPP WC ((8-1)/1)x100	62	322	71	64
10a.	% increase in the production and sales volume for achieving NR with the current GPP WIC ((8a-1)/1)x100	8	236	40	27
11.	% change of GP for achieving NR with the current AC WC (((4.1.+4.2.)- 3.)/1.)x100	26	74	30	26
11a.	% change of GP for achieving NR with the current AC WIC ((4.1(4.24.3.)) -3.)/1.)x100	-7	3	-24	-13

Sonja Đuričin, Isidora Beraha

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

Note: *WC- without correction; **WIC - with correction

The alternatives for improving the development potential of each environmentally responsible medium-sized industrial enterprise are as follows

- Enterprise 1 it can achieve a neutral financial result with the current global sales and purchasing parity prices by increasing the production and sales volume, which means using 121% of actual capacity if the expenditure side is not corrected, i.e. 81% if the expenditure side is corrected. In relation to the realized physical volume of production and sales, this alternative implies its 62% increase if the expenditure side is not corrected and 8% if the expenditure side is corrected. Neutral financial result for enterprise 1 can be achieved with the existing production and sales volume, provided that the global sales and purchase parity price, if the expenditure side is not corrected, is changed in favour of sales prices by 26%, i.e. if the expenditure side is corrected, changed in favour of purchasing prices by 7%.
- *Enterprise* 2 it can achieve a neutral financial result with the current global sales and purchasing parity prices by increasing the production and sales volume, which means using 253% of actual capacity if the expenditure side is not corrected, i.e. 201% if the expenditure side is

corrected. In relation to the realized physical volume of production and sales, this alternative implies its 322% increase if the expenditure side is not corrected and 236% if the expenditure side is corrected. Neutral financial result for enterprise 2 can be achieved with the existing production and sales volume, provided that the global sales and purchase parity price, if the expenditure side is not corrected, is changed in favour of purchasing prices by 74%, i.e. if the expenditure side is corrected, changed in favour of sales prices by 3%.

- Enterprise 3 it can achieve a neutral financial result with the current global sales and purchasing parity prices by increasing the production and sales volume, which means using 111% of actual capacity if the expenditure side is not corrected, i.e. 91% if the expenditure side is corrected. In relation to the realized physical volume of production and sales, this alternative implies its 71% increase if the expenditure side is not corrected and 40% if the expenditure side is corrected. Neutral financial result for enterprise 3 can be achieved with the existing production and sales volume, provided that the global sales and purchase parity price, if the expenditure side is not corrected, is changed in favour of sales prices by 30%, i.e. if the expenditure side is corrected, changed in favour of purchasing prices by 24%.
- Enterprise 4 it can achieve a neutral financial result with the current global sales and purchasing parity prices by increasing the production and sales volume, which means using 115% of actual capacity if the expenditure side is not corrected, i.e. 89% if the expenditure side is corrected. In relation to the realized physical volume of production and sales, this alternative implies its 64% increase if the expenditure side is not corrected and 27% if the expenditure side is corrected. Neutral financial result for enterprise 4 can be achieved with the existing production and sales volume, provided that the global sales and purchase parity price, if the expenditure side is not corrected, is changed in favour of sales prices by 26%, i.e. if the expenditure side is corrected, changed in favour of purchasing prices by 13%.

An alternative that involves the use of actual capacity higher than 100% implies the realization of operating activities through the introduction of multiple work shifts. In order to improve profitability and strengthen their development potential, enterprises will decide on the alternative that can be realized at the moment or will choose the combination of individual elements of both alternatives. When it comes to determining the level of global parity price in case of using 100% of actual capacity, the elements of both alternatives are to be combined.

No	Enterprise	1	2	3	4
1.	Operating income	2,623,038	2,496,118	1,454,792	1,802,599
2.	Variable expense	1,541,452	1,923,183	841,304	1,071,166
3.	Use of AC (%)	75	60	65	70
4.	Operating income at 100% AC (1. / 3.) x 100	3,497,384	4,160,197	2,238,142	2,575,141
5.	Variable expense at 100% AC (2./3.)x100	2,055,270	3,205,305	1,294,314	1,530,237
6.	Contribution margin at 100% AC (45.)	1,442,114	954,892	943,827	1,044,905
7.	Fixed expense and net financing expenses without correction	1,751,566	2,415,227	1,048,654	1,198,338
7. 1.	Fixed expense and net financing expenses with correction	1,165,849	1,922,250	858,839	926,111
8.	% change of GPP in favour of sales prices at 100% use of AC WC ((76.)/4.)x100	8.85	35.10	4.68	5.96
8. 1.	% change of GPP in favour of sales prices at 100% use of AC WIC ((7.16.)/4.)x100	-7.90	23.25	-3.80	-4.61

 Table 14: Change in global parity price at 100% use of actual capacity, 2014

- in thousands RSD -

Source: Authors' calculation according to SBRA data

In 2014, in order to leave the zone of loss, improve profitability and strengthen the development potential of environmentally responsible medium-sized industrial enterprises with the use of 100% actual capacity:

- *Enterprise 1* should increase the sales price by 8.85%, if the expenditure side is not corrected, i.e. it can reduce the sales price by 7.90% if the expenditure side is corrected;
- *Enterprise* 2 should increase the sales price by 35.10%, if the expenditure side is not corrected, i.e. it should increase the sales price by 23.25% if the expenditure side is corrected;
- *Enterprise 3* should increase the sales price by 4.68%, if the expenditure side is not corrected, i.e. it can reduce the sales price by 3.80% if the expenditure side is corrected;
- *Enterprise* 4 should increase the sales price by 5.96%, if the expenditure side is not corrected, i.e. it can reduce the sales price by 4.61% if the expenditure side is corrected.

4. CONCLUSION

The research realized the goal of determining the economic and financial power and assessing the development potential of environmentally responsible mediumsized enterprises registered in the Republic of Serbia in sector C: Manufacturing. The results of the analysis show that medium-sized industrial enterprises in the period 2011-2015 were characterised by solvent operation and growth in payment capacity. In total capital, the share of borrowed sources of financing with a short-term maturity is dominant, while the operation activities of enterprises in all business years except in 2014 were estimated as profitable.

Uneconomic operation within the financial activity, conditionally acceptable position on the sale and purchase market and the occurrence of loss above capital necessitated the need to analyse the possibility of improving profitability and strengthening the development potential of medium-sized industrial enterprises. Analysis of the possibilities for improving profitability and strengthening of development potential was carried out using data disclosed in individual financial statements of the least profitable environmentally responsible enterprises in 2014.

The results of the analysis show that the unprofitable operation of environmentally responsible medium-sized industrial enterprises in 2014 is a consequence of the decrease in operating income due to the deterioration of the global sales and purchase parity prices. Furthermore, unprofitable operation appears as a consequence of insufficient use of actual capacity, which led to a reduction in contribution margin and inefficient management of current assets that caused the growth in financial expenses.

In order to improve profitability and strengthen the development potential of environmentally responsible medium-sized industrial enterprises in the Republic of Serbia, two alternatives were proposed. The first alternative relates to the analysis of the possibility of increasing the use of actual capacity at the existing global parity price, while the second alternative implies an analysis of the possibility of changing the global parity price to the benefit of the sales prices at the current rate of the actual capacity use. In addition, a possible solution for improving profitability and strengthening development potential is a combination of the elements of both alternatives, i.e. it was established how much the global parity price should be in case of using 100% of actual capacity.

The research results confirm the hypothesis according to which medium-sized enterprises registered in the sector C: Manufacturing can improve the economic sustainability of their environmentally responsible business operation by performing an adequate financial performance management. Furthermore, the results obtained by analysing the economic and financial power and development potential of medium-sized industrial enterprises open up the possibility of further research that could address the assessment of effects of increasing their participation in key macroeconomic indicators.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This paper is a part of research projects: European integrations and social and economic changes in Serbian economy on the way to the EU (No. 47009), Challenges and prospects of structural changes in Serbia: Strategic directions for economic development and harmonization with EU requirements (No. 179015) and Modern biotechnological approach to solving problem of drought in agriculture of Serbia (No. 31005) financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

REFERENCES

- 1. Đuričin, S, and Beraha I. (2012), *Promoting availability of financing to SMEs in Serbia on the road to EU integration*, European integration process in Western Balkan countries (ISBN: 978-972-9344-05-3), Faculty of Economics of the University of Coimbra, pp, 493-511, Coimbra, Portugal,
- 2. Duričin, S, and Beraha, I. (2013), *Evaluation of Business Performances of Agricultural Enterprises in the Mixed Farming Sub-sector and their Impact on Economic Growth of the Republic of Serbia*, Agriculture in Serbia and Portugal: recent developments and economic policy implications, Faculty of Economics of the University of Coimbra, 2013, pp, 122-138, Coimbra, Portugal,
- 3. Đuričin, S, and Beraha, I. (2016) Financial effects of new technology implementation in solving drought problems, *Ecologica*, Vol, 23, No, 84, pp, 712-716,
- 4. Đuričin, S, and Beraha, I. (2016) *Uticaj zaduženosti na profitabilnost i održavanje realne vrednosti kapitala srednjih preduzeća*, Pravci strukturnih promena u procesu pristupanja Evropskoj uniji, Institut ekonomskih nauka, Beograd, pp, 343-358
- Đuričin, S, and Beraha, I. (2017) The impact of drought on the global parity price of agricultural products in the Republic of Serbia, *Ecologica, Book of Abstracts*, Belgrade, 20 - 22, April 2017, Naučno-stručno društvo za zaštitu životne sredine Srbije Ecologica, p, 147,
- 6. Đuričin, S, and Bodroža D. (2013), *The impact of drought on yield position of the group of enterprises from agriculture sector*, Economics of agriculture, The Balkan Scientific Association of Agrarian Economists, Institute of Agricultural Economics, Belgrade and Academy of Economic Studies, 2013 (Vol, LX, No,1), pp, 25-39, Bucharest, Romania,
- 7. Đuričin, S, and Đukić, M. (2017) *Ocena ekonomsko finansijske moći javnih preduzeća u Republici Srbiji*, Opportunities for inclusive and Resilient Growth, Institut ekonomskih nauka, Beograd, Republika Srbija, pp, 89-104
- 8. Đuričin, S, and Jovanović, O. (2016) Analysis of financial solvency of medium-sized enterprises in the Republic of Serbia, *Erenet Profile, Vol, X, No 4*, pp, 49-58,
- 9. Đuričin, S, Beraha, I, and Đukić, M. (2013) The impact of climate extremes on agricultural output in the Republic of Serbia, *Ecologica*, Vol, 20, No, 72, pp, 587-592

Financial power and development potential of environmentally responsible

- Đuričin, S, i Beraha I. (2014) Unapređenje finansijskih performansi agroindustrijskog sektora po osnovu podsticajnih mera razvoja (ISBN; 978-86-89465-12-9), Deindustrijalizacija u Srbiji, Institut ekonomskih nauka, Beogradska bankarska akademija, Fakultet za bankarstvo, osiguranje i finansije, pp, 690-703, Beograd,
- 11. Đuričin, S. (2012), Analiza poslovanja i mogućnosti izlaska preduzeća iz zone gubitka (ISBN: 978-86-80315-92-8), Institut ekonomskih nauka, Beograd.
- 12. Đuričin, S., Stevanović, S., and Ljumović, I. (2017) Nacionalna mreža srednjih preduzeća u Republici Srbiji, Institut ekonomskih nauka, Beograd
- 13. Đuričin, S., Stevanović, S., Ljumović, I., and Simović, V. (2017), *Nacionalna mreža* srednjih preduzeća u Republici Srbiji, Vol. 2., Institut ekonomskih nauka, Beograd
- 14. Đuričin, S., Stevanović, S., Ljumović, I., and Simović, V. (2017), *Nacionalna mreža* srednjih preduzeća u Republici Srbiji, Vol. 1., Institut ekonomskih nauka, Beograd
- Erić, D, Beraha, I, Đuričin, S, Kecman, N, and Jakišić, B. (2012) *Finansiranje malih i srednjih preduzeća u Srbiji*, (ISBN: 978-86-80315-94-2), Privredna komora Srbije, Institut ekonomskih nauka, Beograd,
- 16. Financial Statements, available at: http://pretraga2.apr.gov.rs/ObjedinjenePretrage/Search/Search (date: 05/06/2017.)
- Lazarević-Moravčević, M, Stevanović, S, and Belopavlović, G, (2014) Specifics of Management in Small and Medium-Size Enterprises in Serbia, *Economic analysis*, 47 (3-4), pp, 104-117
- 18. National Bank of Serbia, Basic macroeconomic indicators, available at: https://www.nbs.rs/internet/cirilica/80/index.html (date: 05/01/2018.)
- Paraušić V, Domazet I, Simeunović I. (2017), Analysis of the Relationship Between the Stage of Economic Development and the State of Cluster Development, *Argumenta Oeconomica*, Vol. 39, No 2(2017), str. 279-305.

THE IMPACT OF STRENGTHENING AND HAMPERING INNOVATION FACTORS ON FIRM'S PERFORMANCE -A COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF EU AND NON-EU COUNTRIES

Nertila BUSHO, PhD student^{*} Brunilda KOSTA, PhD student[•]

Abstract: This paper aims to compare the impact of strengthening and hampering innovation factors in innovative companies of EU and non-EU countries. Using data from a sample of 231 firms located in four non-EU countries and 197 firms located in EU countries, we empirically test six research hypotheses on the role of strengthening and hampering innovation factors in determining firm performance. Analysis results of the two subsamples show that different variables are significant predictors of performance for firms located in EU countries compared to those located in non-EU countries. Several hypotheses are refuted, contradicting previous research findings. Cost factors negatively affect performance for both EU and non-EU firms. While, market and knowledge factors have a strong negative effect on firm's performance of respectively non-EU and EU countries. Additionally, export orientation for firms in non-EU countries and cooperation with other enterprises or institutions for firms in EU countries have a positive effect on firm's performance. By identifying the effect of strengthening and hampering innovation factors, this study results have important implications for innovation policy and innovation management for both EU and non-EU countries.

Keywords: innovation, Hampering factors, Stregthening factors, firm, performance

1. INTRODUCTION

Innovation has been a topic of interest for academics, governments and obviously, firms since a long time. The benefits of innovation are clear and widely investigated by researchers and practitioners. Innovation contributes to the national

^{*} MBA., Department of Management, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania, nertilabusho@feut.edu.al

[•] MBA., Department of Management, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania, brunildakosta@feut.edu.al
economic growth and it is a prominent source of sustainable competitive advantage (Romer 1985; Porter, 1990; Drew, 1997). Innovation has a positive impact on firm's performance (Han, Kim and Srivastava, 1998; Cainelli, Evangelista and Savona, 2003) and it is a fundamental aspect of competition (Baumol, 2002).

Lately, the topic of innovation has gained increasing importance in the context of globalization and intensification of competition between firms. Various scholars argue that besides organizational characteristics and managerial attitudes, the external environment has a significant impact on innovation and ultimately firm's performance (Porter, 1990). Damanpour (1996) argues that innovation is either a response to changes in the external environment or a pre-emptive action to influence the environment. D'Este, Iammarino, Savona and Tunzelmann, (2011) identified different factors hampering innovation, while other researchers underline the positive effect of collaborative networks (Hagedoorn 2002) and the export orientation of firms (Salmon and Shaver, 2005) on innovation and ultimately on firm performance.

Considering the importance of the innovation and the role of the external environment on the capacity of firms to innovate, our paper focuses on the effect of both strengthening and hampering innovation factors on firm's performance. In more detail, we focused on two strengthening factors of innovation - network collaboration (Hagedoorn 2002) and export orientation (Salmon and Shaver, 2005) and four hampering factors of innovation - market, technological, human resource lack of reasons to innovate (D'Este, Iammarino, Savona and Tunzelmann, 2011; Sipos, Bizoi and Ionescu, 2013).

The comparative approach used in this study points out the importance of the context and its relationship with firm's performance. As argued by Prahalad, (2012) emerging and developing market tend to be radically different from developed ones. Consequently, we can argue that strategies adopted by firms in the realm of innovation, and arguably not only, are different. In sum, the aim of this study is to compare the impact of strengthening and hampering innovation factors on firm's performance in EU and non-EU countries.

Our study contributes to the literature on innovation by increasing knowledge of the external factors effect on the performance of firms based in developing and developed economies. Furthermore, this study sheds some light into the role played by the context using firm's lens.

This paper is organized in five sections. Section 2 reviews the theoretical background and presents the hypotheses. Section 3 describes the analyses, data,

method used, and empirical model proposed by the authors. Section 4 discusses empirical research findings, and the paper ends with the discussion, conclusions, further research recommendations and study limitations.

2. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

2.1. Innovation - a definition and typologies

Innovation is not a new phenomenon. A vast literature that tackles different patterns of innovation is already available. Schumpeter (1934), a pioneer in the economic analysis of innovation, described it as a new combination of existing resources. Drucker (1985) defined innovation as change that creates a new dimension of performance. Damanpour (1996) considers it as a means of changing an organization.

There are a large number of innovation typologies. Schumpeter (1934) argues that innovation can be break down into the following categories: new products, new methods of production, new sources of supply, exploration of new markets and new ways to organize a business. Other researchers like Zaltman et al. (1973) explore twenty types of innovation in the context of organization. Meeus and Edquist (2006) argue about four types of innovation applicable at service organizations - service innovation, process innovation, technological process innovation and administrative process innovation. Hamel (2006) distinguished two types of innovation: innovation in operational processes and innovation in management processes. Damanpour (1996) provides a longer definition of innovation which consists of new product or service, new process technology, new organization structure or administrative systems, or new plans or program pertaining to organization members.

2.2. The role of innovation strengthening factors on performance of firms

The network in which firms operate have a strong impact on their performance. Generally, the cooperation with the other institutions or other companies help firms scale up their profit through economies of scale, cost sharing, access to complementary technology, risk sharing and fast development. (Hagedoorn 2002; Bonteand and Keibach 2005; Faria, Lima and Santos 2010). On the other hand, exporting firms can easily absorb know-how and receive cutting edge technologies to adopt in their production process increasing their performance (Salmon and

Shaver, 2005). There is a positive association between firm's productivity and exporting. (Katsikeas and Leonidous, 1996; Wagner, 2007). Hence, we posit:

H1. The higher the cooperation on innovation activities between firms or institutions the higher the firm's performance.

H2. The more export oriented a firm is, the higher the firm's performance.

2.3. The role of innovation hampering factors on performance of firms

Certain problems are not effectively encountered until firms face them. Only when firms undertake investments leading to some type of innovation, the chances to face innovation barriers increase (Galia and Legros, 2004). Hence, it is important for innovative firms to be aware of the influence the barriers of innovation have in their profit and figure the best manner to effectively encounter them. As argued by Sipos, Bizoi and Ionesku (2013) the impact of these barriers or hampering factors is strongly and negatively correlated with firms' performance.

Factors that can hamper innovation: the lack of qualified personnel; the lack of information in technology; the lack of information on markets; the difficulty in finding cooperation partners; market dominated from established enterprises; uncertain demand for innovative good and service; no need to innovate due to prior innovation; no need to innovate due to no demand; the luck of funds within the enterprise or group; the luck of external financial sources; the high costs of innovation (Eurostat, 2014).

It is clear that firms need to invest on new ideas, new procedures and new products, but sometimes because of the complex of processes, cost of investment is quite high. Several studies conducted in European countries show that cost factors have a strong impact on innovative activities (Canepa and Stoneman, 2008). Savignac (2006) argues that the adoption of innovation is significantly related with the presence of financial constraints. Following this line of reasoning we advance the following hypothesis:

H3. The increase of cost factors which hamper innovation, lowers firm's performance.

Another factor that hampers innovation is the lack of human capital. The detrimental effect of lack of expertise and organizational skills on innovation performance in manufacturing-intensive sectors has been extensively confirmed by empirical research (Gort and Klepper, 1982). On the other hand, lack of skilled workers with competencies and knowledge is a strong barrier to firms in the service sector (Iammarino et al., 2009). In general, knowledge barriers can limit the

capacity to introduce a new product/service (ibid.). Spithoven et al. (2013) argues that SMEs, compared to large firms, are unable to fully benefit from innovation since they do not have the same in-house capabilities to assimilate the external knowledge. Hence, we advance the following:

H4. The increase of knowledge factors that hamper innovation lowers firm's performance.

Market factors such as to level of competition, the small size of the firm compared to its competitors, etc may impose severe constraints to firm's capacity to innovate and hinder its commitment to innovation activity (Iammarino et al., 2009). Market uncertainty such as ambiguity about the size of potential market for new products, the rate of diffusion of these products, industry standards, etc. innovation has proved to affect a consumer's acceptance towards innovation and ultimately the performance of firms (Hoeffler, 2003). Based on this evidence, we posit:

H5. The increase of market factors that hamper innovation lowers firm's performance.

Among the hampering factors that affect innovation is lack of reasons to innovate. Firms might operate in stable markets with few process and product innovation. While market uncertainty might be low the low appropriated rents can contribute negatively to the firm performance, Hence, we advance the following:

H6. The lack of reasons to innovate, lowers firm's performance.

3. METHODS AND PROCEDURES

3.1. Data

The sample consists of 428 innovative firms randomly selected using stratified random sampling method. The sample was randomly selected following the suggested and approved sample characteristics (50% production firms and 50% service companies and 15% micro, 35% small and 50% medium sizes) applied in similar research such as Community Innovation Survey (CIS). Sampling was broken down in three size related categories: micro, small and medium size.

Considering the comparative nature of our study the sample has been divided in two subsamples; the first included 231 firms located in four non-EU countries, namely Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro and Serbia; the second includes 197 firms located in EU countries, namely Italy, Greece, Slovenia and Croatia. **Measurements:** Details of the constructs, measurement and the operationalization of variables are provided in Appendix A and are discussed below.

Dependent variable

Business performance. Business performance measurement was assessed based on the average of five items, namely market share, revenues, profit, cash flow and costs reduction (Slater and Olson, 2000; Auh and Merlo 2012). Respondents were asked to rate their business performance compared to their most direct competitor (Auh and Merlo, 2012) taking into account only last three years. The five-item construct yielded a Cronbach Alpha of 0.876 (standardized Cronbach Alpha coefficients), follows thin accordance with the recommended criteria (Nunnally 1978).

Factors strengthening innovation

Cooperation. Co-operation in innovations in this study is viewed as an active participation with other enterprises or institutions in innovation activities during the three years, 2011, 2012 and 2013. Outsourced services have been excluded.

Export orientation. Export orientation was measured as firm's current number of active export countries for 2013.

Factors hampering innovation

Following D'Este, Iammarino, Savona, Tunzelmann (2011) and Şipoşa, Bîzoib, Ionescu, (2013) we operationalized the four factors that hamper innovation, namely cost, knowledge, market and lack of reasons, as follows:

Cost factors. The construct *cost factors* using three items: (1) lack of funds within the firm (2) lack of external financial resources and (3) high innovation (ibid.). The three-item construct yielded a Cronbach Alpha of 0.765.

Knowledge factors. The construct *knowledge factors* are operationalized using three items: lack of (1) qualified personnel, (2) information on technology (3) information on markets (ibid.). The three-item construct yielded a Cronbach Alpha of 0.769.

Market factors. The construct *knowledge factors* are operationalized using three items: (1) Difficulty in finding cooperation partners for innovation, (2) market dominated by established firms, (3) uncertain demand for innovative goods or services (ibid.). Cronbach Alpha is acceptable, at 0.710.

Lack of reasons to innovate. The construct *Lack of reasons to innovate* is operationalized using two items: (1) no need to innovate due to prior innovations by your enterprise (2) no need to innovate because of no demand for innovations (ibid.). The two-item construct yielded a Cronbach Alpha of 0.804.

Control variable

Firm size. Considering the unreliability of data related to firm's turnover we chose number of employees as a proxy to firm size. We operationalized size as a logarithm of number of employees. Firm size is an important factor affecting firm survival and performance (Porter, 1990). Innovative small firms appear to be more affected by hampering factors compared to medium and large firms (OECD, 2011).

3.2. Empirical model

We analyze the data using linear multivariate regression techniques. Equation (1) shows the general form of a multiple regression model with k predictors.

$$Y = b_0 + b_1 X_1 + b_2 X_2 + \dots + b_k X_k$$
(1)

Although our study is focused primarily on which predictors have an effect on our criterion variable, the comparing coefficients of the two sub-samples is a secondary objective of our analysis. Cohen (1983) suggests large samples and the inclusion of all k variables for each subsample, regardless of their significance, in order to compare the fitted regression coefficients. Our sample is quite large, and all variables have been included for each sub-sample.

3.3. Construct validity for the two business themes

We performed a factor analysis with varimax rotation to test the validity of our independent perceptual variables (see appendix B) (Tabachnick and Fiddell, 2007). The results for cost factors loaded reasonably high (.875, .860, .634). One item, namely *lack of qualified personnel* loaded into the knowledge factors, despite being originally accounted as an item which measures cost factors. *Difficulty in finding cooperation partners for innovation* originally accounted to measure knowledge factors loaded into market factors. The remaining three factors loaded high (.795, .809, .701). The three items for market factors (the two initial ones plus the one that loaded into this factor) loaded high also (.667, .785, .772). Finally, the factors for lack of reasons to innovate loaded high (.858, .875). Loadings are above the acceptable standard of 0.32 proposed by Tabachnick and Fiddell (2007). After the

validity tests, we concluded that the measures could be accepted to test the hypotheses.

4. RESULTS

Table 1 depicts the results related to our hypotheses, the result of the regressions for both subsample.

		Dependent variable - Performance					
Variables	Non-	Non-EU coutries			EU countries		
	В	S.E.	Beta	В	S.E.	Beta	
Constant	5.076***	.370		4.626***	.276		
Ln (size)	.090	.062	.096	$.083^{\dagger}$.061	.103	
Cooperation	.067	.155	0.27	.348*	.150	.153	
Export orientation	.118**	.043	.171	.040	.033	.090	
Cost factors	100*	.038	183	115***	.030	276	
Knowledge factors	.057	.040	.107	090*	.040	184	
Market factors	136**	.041	241	.032	.039	.067	
Lack of reasons to innovate	.079	.062	.092	.051	.049	.075	
R Square		0.173		0.181			
Adjusted R Square		0.147		0.150			
F	6	6.684***			5.958***		

Table 1: Regression results for the two subsamples

 ${}^{*}0.01 \leq p < 0.05, \, {}^{**}p < 0.01, \, {}^{***}p < 0.001, \, {}^{\dagger}0.05 \leq p < 0.1$

Hypothesis 1 is supported for the EU countries subsample only. Cooperation on innovation activities between firms or institutions has a significant and positive impact on firm's performance. While, for the non-EU subsample, despite being in the right direction, the relationship is not significant.

Hypothesis 2 is supported for the non-EU countries subsample only. Non-EU export-oriented firms appear to have a better performance compared to those who serve domestic markets only. While, there is no significant relationship between export orientation and performance for EU firms.

Hypothesis 3 is supported for both subsamples. Moreover, unstandardized betas are alike indicating a similar effect of cost factors on firm's performance. Cost factors negatively affect performance for both EU and non-EU firms.

Hypothesis 4 is supported for EU subsample only. Knowledge factors have a negative effect on performance of EU firms. The effect is not significant for the non-EU subsample. Even more, the sign is opposite to the one hypothesized.

Hypothesis 5 is supported for non-EU subsample only. Market factors have a strong negative impact on non-EU firm's performance. The relationship for EU firms is not significant.

Hypothesis 6 is rejected for both sub-samples. Contrary to the prediction, the parameter estimates for lack of reasons to innovate is not statistically significant.

There is a positive relationship between our control variable-firm size and performance for the EU subsample, although only at a relaxed level (p<0.1). Large EU firms appear to perform better than smaller one.

The R-square indicates that around 17% of the response variable variation is explained by the model for the non-EU subsample and more than 18% for the EU subsample. Considering that our independent variables can be used as covariates in future studies, our model appears to be very useful when analysing other explanatory factors of performance.

5. CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS, EXTENTIONS AND LIMITATIONS

Cooperation between business partners and institutions appear to be a crucial factor to foster innovation among EU firms but not among non-EU firms. This result is indicative of the different managerial attitudes among managers of EU-firms and the different nature of inter-firm relationship in EU countries compared to non-EU ones. Further research is necessary to explore the phenomena of cooperation and the role of networks.

Export orientation of firms in non-EU countries has a significant positive impact on performance. We can deduct that these firms are more inclined to adopt the latest innovation and practices. Policy makers of non-EU countries should find adequate instruments and mechanisms to support innovation among export-oriented firms and/or those aiming to target export markets.

As expected, cost factors have a significant negative impact on firm's performance in non-EU countries and in EU countries. Innovation is costly, and many firms cannot afford it. Specific programmes targeting innovation should be implemented. More importantly, considering the weak funding of existing programmes, EU or state-owned agencies need to increase funding. The impact of strengthening and hampering innovation factors on firm's performance

Knowledge factors have no significant effect on firm's performance in non-EU countries, while it has a significant and large effect (see beta (Keith's (2006)) for EU countries. In efficiency lead economies of the four non-EU countries, knowledge factors do not play an important role but in EU countries, which are expected to have a knowledge-oriented economy, it does. These results are noteworthy. A question for new research might be raised -What about the role of human capital as a source of competitiveness in the long run?

Market factors have a negative and significant impact on firm's performance in non-EU countries but not in EU countries. High level of market concentration and lack of competition might create a substantial obstacle for firm's competitiveness. Hence, improving market dynamics in non-EU countries is a priority.

Study limitations: One of the limitations of the study is related to the missing data for some of our variables. Although missing values are not high (around 5-15%), it appears that in one case (one item excluded from the analyses) data are not missing completely at random. In addition, our study does not include into the analyses different facets of innovation. Despite our effort to address the hampering and strengthening factor - performance link, we did not provide any evidence of the role that innovation itself plays in this relationship. Finally, more firm level, industry or strategy controls are needed to ensure that the captured effect can be attributed to the independent variables.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was co-financed by IPA Adriatic Cross-Border Cooperation 2007-2013programmed, through PACINNO project (Platform for Trans-Academic Cooperation in Innovation). The authors gratefully acknowledge the financial support from the European Union. We would like to thank all project partners for their contribution.

APPENDIX A: DETAILS OF CONSTRUCTS AND MEASURES

Variable		Number of items	Measurement			
Dependent variable						
Performance	 a) Market share compared to the most direct competitor b) Revenues compared to the most direct competitor c) Profit compared to the most direct competitor d) Cash flow compared to the most direct competitor e) Decrease costs compared to the most direct competitor 	5	7-points scale (1 = much worse, 4 = equal, 7= much better)			
	<u>Independent var</u>	iables				
Cooperation	Active participation with other enterprises or institutions on innovation activities	1	<i>Dummy</i> , 1= cooperation in the last three years, 0 = no cooperation in the last three years			
Export orientation	Current number of active export countries for 2013.	1	Continues (ratio variable) with zero meaning - no export.			
Cost factors	 a) Lack of funds within your enterprise or group b) Lack of finance from sources outside your enterprise c) Innovation costs too high 	3	Ratio variable (4-points scale (0-factor not experienced, 1 = low, 2 = medium, 3 = high)			
Knowledge factors	 a) Lack of qualified personnel b) Lack of information on technology c) Lack of information on markets 	3	Ratio variable (4-points scale (0-factor not experienced, 1 = low, 2 = medium, 3 = high)			
Market factors	 a) Difficulty in finding cooperation partners for innovation b) Market dominated by established enterprises 	3	Ratio variable (4-points scale (0-factor not experienced, 1 = low, 2 = medium, 3 = high)			

Lack of reasons to innovate	 c) Uncertain demand for innovative goods or services a) No need due to prior innovations by your enterprise b) No need because of no demand for innovations 	2	Ratio variable (4-points scale (0-factor not experienced, 1 = low, 2 = medium, 3 = high)		
<u>Control variable</u>					
Firm size	Number of employees	1	Logarithem of number of employees		

The impact of strengthening and hampering innovation factors on firm's performance

APPENDIX B: FACTOR ANALYSIS WITH VARIMAX ROTATION

	Factor*			
Items of four constructs	F1	F2	F4	F4
Lack of funds within your enterprise or group	.145	.875	.056	.107
Lack of finance from sources outside your	.046	.860	.136	.100
enterprise				
Innovation costs too high	.200	.634	.346	.046
Lack of qualified personnel	.795	.145	.068	.147
Lack of information on technology	.809	.089	.227	.210
Lack of information on markets	.701	.137	.338	.182
Difficulty in finding cooperation partners for	.357	.197	.667	022
innovation				
Market dominated by established enterprises	.103	.134	.785	.104
Uncertain demand for innovative goods or	.166	.131	.772	.252
services				
No need due to prior innovations by your	.191	.105	.180	.858
enterprise				
No need because of no demand for innovations	.223	.110	.089	.875
Percentage variance explained	39.271	13.311	10.414	8.405

* Underlying dimensions as two factors: F1 = cost factors, F2 = knowledge factors, F3 = market factors, F4 = lack of reason to innovate factors.

REFERENCES

- 1. Auh, S., & Merlo, O. (2012). The power of marketing within the firm: Its contribution to business performance and the effect of power asymmetry. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 41(5), 861-873.
- 2. Baumol, William J. (2002): Entrepreneurship, innovation and growth: The David-Goliath symbiosis, *Journal of Entrepreneurial Finance*, 7, Iss. 2, 1-10.
- Bonte, W. & Keilbach, M. 2005. Concubinage or marriage? Informal and formal cooperations for innovation. *International Journal of Industrial Organization*, 23(3-4), 279-302
- 4. Cainelli, G., Evangelista., R., & Savona., M. (2003). The impact of innovation on Economic performance in services. *The service industries journal* (2004), 116-130.
- 5. Canepa, A., & Stoneman. P. (2008). Financial constraints to innovation in the UK: evidence from CIS2 and CIS3. *Oxford University Press*, 60(4), 711-730.
- 6. Cohen, A. (1983). Comparing regression coefficients across subsamples a study of statistical tests. *Sociological Methods and Research*, *12*(*1*), 77-94.
- D'Este, P., Iammarion. S., Savona, M., & Tunzelmann, N. (2011). What hampers innovation? Revealed barriers versus deterring barriers. *Research Policy*, 41(2012), 482-488.
- 8. Damanpour, F. (1996). Organizational complexity and innovation: Developing and testing multiple contingency models. *Management science*, 42 (5), 693-716.
- 9. Drew, S. (1997). From knowledge to action: the impact of benchmarking on organizational performance. *Long range planning*, 30 (3), 427-441.
- 10. Drucker, P. (1985). Innovation and entrepreneurship. New York: Harper & Row
- 11. Eurostat, Hampered innovation activities 2014,
- http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/3433488/5304673/KS-NS-04-001-EN.PDF/c1412681-763d-4f44-9115-4a58dda4ec47?version=1.0
- 12. Faria, P. Lima, F and Santos, R. (2010). Cooperation in innovation activities: The importance of partners. *Research policy 39*, 1082-1092
- 13. Galia, F., Legros, D. (2004) Complementarities between obstacle to innovation: Evidence from France, *Research Policy*.
- 14. Gort, M., Klepper, S., 1982. Time paths in the diffusion of product innovation. Economic Journal 92, 630–653.
- 15. Hagedoorn, J. (2002). Inter firm R&D partnerships: an overview of major trends and patterns since 1960. *Research policy 31*, 477-492.
- 16. Han, J., Kim, N., & Srivastaca, R. (1998). Market orientation and organizational performance: Is innovation a missing link? *Journal of marketing*, 46 (4), 30-45.
- 17. Hoeffler, S. (2003), "Measuring preferences for really new products", *Journal of Marketing Research*, Vol. 40 No. 4, pp. 406-420.
- Iammarino, S., Randacio, S. F., Savona, M. (2009). The perception of obstacles to innovation. Foreign multinationals and domestic firms in Italy. *Revue D'economie Indutrielle*, 75-104.
- 19. Katsikeas, C., &Leonidou. L. (1996). Export market expansion strategy: Differences between market concentration and market spreading. *Journal of marketing management*, 12.

The impact of strengthening and hampering innovation factors on firm's performance

- 20. Keith, F. Widaman. (2006). Missing data, what to do with or without them. *Monographs of the society for research in child development*, 71 (3), 42-64.
- 21. Meeus, M and Edquist, Ch (2006) In Innovation, Science and Institutional Change. A *Research Handbook*, 23-37.
- 22. Nunnally, JC. (1978). Psychometric Theory. (2nd ed.) New York: McGraw-Hill.
- 23. OECD, (2011). Innovative cluster drivers of national innovation systems. OECD Publishing, Paris
- 24. Porter, M. E. (1990). New global strategies for competitive advantage. *Planning Review 18 (3), 4-14.*
- 25. Prahalad, C.K. (2012). Bottom of the Pyramid as a Source of Breakthrough Innovations. *Product development & management association*, 29(1), 6-12.
- 26. Romer. P (1985). Increasing returns and long run growth. Research center for economic research, 27.
- 27. Salmon, R., & Shaver, J. (2005). Learning by exporting: New insights from examining firm innovation. *Journal of Economics & Management Strategy*, *14*, 431–460.
- 28. Savignac, F. (2006) The impact of financial constraints on innovation: evidence from French manufacturing firms. *Cahiers de la Maison des Sciences Economiques*, 42.
- 29. Schumpeter, J. (1934) The Theory of Economic Development, Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.
- Şipoş G. L., Bîzoi, G., & Ionescu, A. (2013). The Impact of Hampering Innovation Factors on Innovation Performance - European Countries Case. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences 124 (2014) 415 – 424.
- Slater, S. F., & Olson, E. M. (2000). Strategy type and performance. The influence of sales forces management. *Strategic Management Journal*, 21(8), 813–829.
- 32. Spithoven, A, Vanhaverbeke, W, & Roijakkers, N. (2013). Open innovation practices in SMEs and large enterprises. Small Business Economics, 41(3), 537–562.
- 33. Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). Using multivariate statistics (5th ed.). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- 34. Wagner, J. (2007). Export and productivity: A survey of the evidence form firm level data. *The world economy*, *30*, 60-82.
- 35. Zaltman, Gerald, Robert L. Duncan, and Jonny Holbek (1973). Innovations and Organizations. New York: Wiley.

Part II

The Green Growth and the Environment

THE ROLE OF ECOLOGICAL TAXES IN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY

Olja MUNITLAK IVANOVIĆ, Senior Research Associate*

Petar MITIĆ, Research Assistant[•]

Abstract: The role of a state is of key significance for implementation of sustainable development. It collects funds that will enable realization of the concept of sustainable development by means of various instruments. The most common instrument for collection of funds is ecological taxes. This paper indicates the significance, elements, advantages and disadvantages of ecological (green) taxes and it describes the emergence of this fiscal instrument that required a tax reform. The concept of negative external effects is also explained in this paper, as well as the ways of finding a solution for this phenomenon. Arthur Pigou, a "father of ecological taxes", recommends internalization of external effects.

Keywords: ecological (green) taxes, sustainable development, sustainable economy, fiscal revenue

1. INTRODUCTION

In addition to clear strategy, strong will and commitment, significant funds are necessary in order to realize the concept of sustainable development. All that is "green", whether technology, machines, products or services, is usually more expensive as ecologically friendly production implies higher costs. The state wants to collect these funds in some way, whether from manufacturers or from customers.

Regardless the type of tax, it implies payment to the state that is not followed by any counter service and that is not voluntary. This kind of financial transfers is paid to the state by tax payers who belong to a certain tax administration. The aim of introducing a tax is state budget and local government financing. This is the most important source and way of collection of money by the state, as it could not function without this fiscal revenue. From this revenue, the state finances common needs and public wealth (defense, justice, education, culture, health care, infrastructure etc.). Essentially, fiscal revenues that are collected in this way are

^{*} Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia, olja.ivanovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

[•] Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia, petar.mitic@ien.bg.ac.rs

used for payment of various expenditures in accordance with economic and social goals of the state. The character of a tax is determined by functioning of the tax rate. The tax rate can be (Stiglitz, 2004, 457-579):

- 1. Proportional (tax rate does not change if the income changes)
- 2. Progressive (tax rate follows the income growth)
- 3. Regressive (tax rate is reduced by the income growth).

The aim of ecological taxes is collection of funds for the state budget as a result of non-ecological behavior of the manufacturer that caused environmental degradation or for goods whose usage causes the so-called "negative external effects". Ecological taxes are especially significant. Not only do they provide the state income, but they also affect the connection of social and private benefit, which results in improvement of economic efficiency and achievement of sustainable economy (Musgrave, Musgrave, 1989, 7-9).

There is no uniform definition of ecological taxes. International institutions, such as OECD and European Commission, consider this type of tax from the point of view of the tax base. In this respect, ecological tax is each tax whose tax base is expressed in physical amounts of substance or some process that cause negative externalities (Petrović, 2016, 97-109). Although there is no uniform definition, it is possible to determine which tax is ecological based on its concrete usage. The revenues collected by the state on the basis of this tax should be directed to environmental protection or financing of projects that are directly connected with improvement of environmental quality or protection.

In addition to ecological taxes, there are also other forms of environmental protection where the role of the state is very important. These taxes could not even be introduced without a systematized and organized approach. The role of the state is to provide equal conditions for life and work to population and future generations, in accordance with the definition of sustainable development itself. By signing, and more importantly, respecting the signed conventions, agendas and strategies, as well as by adopting and applying the national strategy for sustainable development and the laws originating from it, the state shows that it respects the principles of sustainability (Munitlak Ivanović et al, 2013). In modern jurisdictions, the right on preserved environment is realized by combining or applying one of the following instruments:

- 1. Ecological penalties and taxes;
- 2. Subsidies for manufacturers in order to reduce pollution;
- 3. Transferable licenses for pollution and trading with this right;
- 4. State regulations.

The above mentioned economic instruments have their specificities, characteristics, various results for reallocation of resources and different calculation of ecological costs. Because of this, each of the above mentioned instruments has a different redistributive effect.

2. THE EMERGENCE OF ECOLOGICAL TAXES

The term "external effects" or "externalities" was used for the first time by the welfare economics theoretician, Arthur Pigou, who also set basic standards of the theory of externalities. As a welfare economics theoretician, Pigou advocated the introduction of a tax instrument for preservation of the environment since 1912 (Pigou, 1918). In his capital work "Wealth and Welfare" Pigou dealt with the issues of external effects, setting a basis for standards of the theory of externalities. At the same time, Pigou suggested market prices that included the cost incurred by environmental pollution (in addition to private cost). He called this system of calculation and understanding of costs "internalization of external effects" (Filipović, 2004).

Some authors, like Meade (1955), Geoffrey, Buchnan (1980) and Pearce (1991), joined this idea of understanding of costs and ecological tax. These authors advocate the attitude that ecological tax could correct market imperfection and limitation as a result of the external action. Geoffrey, Buchnan (1980) determined the strength of tax introduction. A decade later, Pearce opened this issue again, dealing with the role of tax on CO_2 (Piljan et al, 2017). In this way, the sense of introducing ecological taxes was explained: bearing the consequences for environmental pollution resulting from economic activities (production or consumption).

Stiglitz (2004) points out that introduction of penalties for pollution and pollution taxes bring a double dividend. The double dividend is reflected in the following: fiscal revenues increase due to collected penalties and taxes and the state can reduce other taxes (capital taxes that disturb savings and labour taxes that disturb work). Another significant characteristic of these taxes and penalties is that their introduction causes the increase of ecologically acceptable production.

3. ECOLOGICAL TAXATION ARGUMENTS

No economic or any other instrument is perfect. A special problem is reflected in the economic-ecological relationship. The traditional way of production involves the need for more raw materials and more (mostly) non-renewable energy for a higher volume of production. According to Vojinović (2017) "Renewable energy sources are energy sources that come from nature and can be renewed. Today it is increasingly used because of its harmlessness to the environment".

Restrictions on environmental taxes are diverse and can affect various business entities. Ecological tax can have a regressive effect, since this kind of tax is the most threatening to the population with lower income. This type of tax affects competitiveness. Different industries have been affected by this, because ecological tax is added to the prices of these products and services, thereby reducing competitiveness. Instead of paying taxes on the cause that led to the creation of the externality, the consequences of the actions that caused them are taxed, which is not the goal. The aim of the ecological tax is to improve the quality of the environment. When harmful effects arise from the activities of a large number of pollutants, the situation is even more complex, because it is not possible to determine the individual share of each actor in the emergence of the negative externality.

The economy of the new era has a tendency to become "green" with "green finance", "green banking", "green technologies", "smart homes" and the like. Dominant neoliberal economic practice has largely exhausted the possibilities for wider consideration of environmental problems. It is particularly necessary to take into account the problem of irreversibility of money capital, or its inability to convert to natural capital (Drašković, 2012).

4. THE SIGNIFICANCE OF ECOLOGICAL TAXES

In 28 member states of the European Union (EU28) even 90% of public revenues are collected through taxes. Ecological taxes, as a relative type of taxes, required the reform of the tax system. Such reform was first done in Scandinavian countries. The aim of the tax system reform due to introduction of ecological taxes is to preserve the environment and implement the concept of sustainable development using fiscal instruments. In order to keep tax burden relatively unchanged, the application of ecological tax should be followed by reduction of the percent of burden through other tax forms at the same time. The taxes that should be reduced are those related to labour (earnings). In order to keep fiscal revenues unchanged, reduction of taxes related to earnings should be directed to activities that should be disturbed, as they result in negative external effects, i.e. they pollute the environment, or these activities should be modernized by introduction of clean technology ("green" technology), use of other raw materials and energy sources.

Total environmental tax revenues have an increasing trend in absolute numbers in the EU28, over the period 2002-2016 (Figure 1). The trend increases throughout

the whole period, except 2007-2009, where a decrease is evident, due to the consequences of the Global financial crisis.



Figure 1: Total environmental tax revenues in the EU28 (2002-2016)

Source: Eurostat, Total Environmental Tax Revenues, the EU28, available at: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/database

In addition to their significance as the state revenue, ecological taxes also have a special goal: reduction or neutralization of negative external effects. An economic activity that results in negative external effects has the difference between social costs (incurred in the environment) and private costs (manufacturer's costs) as a side effect.

In a part of the paper related to the history of ecological taxes, Arthur Pigou was mentioned as the first theoretician of this type of tax. He considered that the market is not automatically perfect and advocated the intervention of state in this field. Pigou thought that the role of the state is to ensure such market prices (of the activities and products that cause a negative externality) that will correspond to social cost. In this way, the society would be protected from the liabilities resulting from externalities, and the cost of pollution would be included in the price of the products or activities that caused this externality. Pigou called this type of calculation "internalization of external effects" (Munitlak Ivanović, Golušin, 2012, 83-98).

One way of internalization of external effects is the introduction of ecological taxes that burden the unit of the product caused by that product (Munitlak Ivanović et al, 2014, 377). In this way, taxes per unit of product and costs of pollution per unit of product are equalized. As a result of such calculation, production will be limited to what is necessary on the market, and, on the other hand, the company will be encouraged to produce "socially acceptable" level of pollution. A green tax rate that is defined adequately helps the company to realize real total costs incurred by economic activity. The task of "green" or ecological taxes is to calculate social costs in addition to private costs. Assuming that the amount of environmental damage is proportional to the production volume and that marginal costs of each unit of damage are always fixed, private and social costs will be equalized by introduction of a fixed fee in the form of ecological tax per unit of product (that is equal to marginal costs of pollution).

In this way, social costs incurred by the activities of the business entity will not be transferred to the society, but calculated in the price of products manufactured in such way.

Generally, the demand curve indicates marginal benefit of the manufacturer during the production of a marginal unit of product. The supply curve indicates marginal costs of production of the additional unit. In the intersection of two curves, the demand curve and supply curve respectively, limit benefit is identical to limit costs of production of the output. If production caused negative externalities, the supply curve does not show social costs, but costs borne by manufacturers. If pollution is increased due to production, the increase of production volume incurs real costs. These real costs are higher that the costs of production. Manufacturers do not calculate costs of pollution, unless they are forced to. This deviation between private and social costs leads to inadequate production volume and resource consumption. Therefore, it is important to observe a "wider picture" when estimating the benefit of increase of production and take into account external effects, i.e. total additional costs (private costs and social costs – pollution). In this case, when it comes to such calculation, market balance is achieved when socially efficient level of production is lower than privately optimal level of production.

Figure 2 shows the difference between social and private costs. The difference between the levels of optimal production is noticeable in this Figure. It depends on the fact whether the needs originating from market demand are taken into account or not. Qp takes into account only private limit costs unlike Qs which takes into account socially justified demand. The Figure 2 shows two equilibriums, private P and social S. The point of intersection of real social marginal benefit and private marginal costs determines the desired level of production of the company Qp. This level of production does not correspond to social standpoint, as the manufacturer makes external cost. However, manufacturer does not take into account the costs

borne by other entities. Point Qs is a level of production that corresponds to the society. At this point, marginal social benefit is equal to marginal social costs. For this reason, the position of point Qs is at lower level than the position of point Qp. The change of production volume between points Qp (market balance) and Qs (efficient production volume) will result in change of prices P1 and P2. Moving equilibriums from point S to point P results in losses of manufacturer and customer's surpluses. These surpluses are shown by the area of the triangle formed by connecting points a, S and P. Ecological engagement, that will result in general increase of welfare, is marked with the surface formed by two triangles that are obtained by connecting points aSP and bSP. However, in practice, companies often do not bear external costs. They are transferred to the whole society. This is why companies increase production over the limit of social justification of the level of production.



Figure 2: Calculation of social costs for estimation of optimal level of production

Source: Stiglitz, (2004:219); Prekajac, Josifidis, (1998: 293)

If external costs are not included in the price, negative consequences are the following (Tietenberg, 1998):

- Prices of products, caused by externalities, are unjustifiably low;
- Volume of production of such products is unnecessarily large, as environmental damage is not taken into account;
- Reduction of pollution intensity per unit of product is not incited by the market, as the costs are external;

The role of ecological taxes in sustainable development and sustainable economy

- Such behavior does not encourage the development of circular economy which is based on waste reduction and its recycling. On the other hand, recycling is not done as there is no motive for that: emissions are discharged into the environment at low (or none) penalties;
- Such system of functioning of production and society, without serious commitment environmental protection, only increases pollution.

5. PRACTICAL CHALLENGES IN IMPLEMENTATION OF ECOLOGICAL (GREEN) TAXES

A gradual increase in the average rate of ecological taxes has been noticed since the mid-nineties of the twentieth century. However, the beginning of application of this new form of tax is characterized by the following challenges (Stevanović et al, 2003):

- a) Influence on competitiveness. Ecological tax will probably influence the increase of production price, i.e selling price of products or services, and therefore it will have a negative effect on competitiveness, especially in relation to those manufacturers who do not calculate this type of tax in the price of products and services,
- b) Regressive effect of ecological tax,
- c) Uncertainty regarding positive fiscal effects of ecological tax,
- d) Influence of subsidies that have distortion effect on ecology,
- e) Inadequate harmonization and coordination of tax institutions and ecological institutions in the country,
- f) Resistance of stakeholders, who don't understand the cause of environmental protection, to this new type of tax.

Practical obstacles that societies face during implementation of ecological taxes can be neutralized by procedures opposite to those used for determination of obstacles. The challenges that accompany implementation of ecological taxes can be solved in another way, systematically or by means of a tax reform that will have "green, sustainable or ecological" elements in the future. These elements can be (Drašković, 2012):

- a) Introduction of a tax reform, i.e. implementation of ecological tax reform;
- b) Definition of concepts: what is ecological tax, which is the basis of calculation, what is the level of tax rate and who is a tax payer;
- c) Elimination of ecological subsidies having a distortion effect;
- d) Continuous awareness of possible environmental issues, guaranteed by accepting of Aarhus Convention;

- e) Continuous cooperation of the institutions responsible for environmental protection and tax administration;
- f) Gradual introduction of ecological taxes.

6. CONCLUSION

Despite a gradual increase in ecological tax rate and therefore in fiscal revenue that is collected in this way, application of this tax is followed by certain challenges. Private costs and hence formed price and production volume, that do not take into account environmental damage, are never equal to social costs and socially justified production volume, which is lower, as a rule. However, as it can be seen clearly in the Figure 2, the prices have a reverse trend. Socially justified production volume is lower, but the selling price of the product is higher as costs of pollution are included in the price. Speaking of private costs, the opposite is the case – manufacturers, encouraged by a bigger profit, want as large volume of production as possible. However, as costs of pollution are not included in the price, the price of these non-ecological products, processes or economic activities is lower. This is why the role of the state is very important. By its clear attitude, regulations, penalties, tax reform etc., the state can influence the use of green and ecologically acceptable technology that would not incur costs of pollution.

Although this type of tax started to be considered at the beginning of the twentieth century, it took a long time to adjust the consciousness of theoreticians, as well as manufacturers and consumers to this way of thinking and even more time to implement ecological taxes in practice. The essential characteristic of these taxes is that their basic purpose is improvement of the quality of environmental protection and investment in this type of technology while eliminating ecological subsidies having the distortion effect at the same time.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This paper is a part of research projects numbers III47009 (European integrations and social and economic changes in Serbian economy on the way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and prospects of structural changes in Serbia: Strategic directions for economic development and harmonization with EU requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

REFERENCES

1. Drašković, B. (2012). Ekonomski aspekti ekološke politike. Beograd: Institut ekonomskih nauka

The role of ecological taxes in sustainable development and sustainable economy

- 2. Eurostat, Total Environmental Tax Revenues, the EU28, available at: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/database
- 3. Filipović, S. (2004). Ecological taxes in some European countries. Economic Annals, 49(162): 209-224.
- 4. Geoffrey, B., & Buchanan, J. M. (1980). The power to tax: Analytical foundations of a fiscal constitution. London: Cambridge University Press.
- 5. Meade, J. E. (1955). The theory of international economic policy (Vol. 2). Oxford University Press.
- Munitlak Ivanović, O., & Golušin, M. (2012). Uloga ekonomskih instrumenata u neutralisanju ekoloških eksternalija, Ekonomski aspekti ekološke politike, Beograd: Institut ekonomskih nauka, Beogradska bankarska akademija, 83-98.
- Munitlak Ivanović, O., Golušin, M., & Filipović, S., Environmental Taxation in the EU

 Inconsistency and Discrepancies Between Methodologies Used for Measurement of Taxation Financial Effects, Book of Abstracts, 8th Conference on Sustainable Development of Energy, Water and Environment Systems, September 22-27.2013., Dubrovnik, Croatia.
- 8. Munitlak Ivanović, O., Mitić, P., & Raspopović, N. (2014). Fiskalni prihodi i ekonomska uloga ekoloških poreza u održivoj ekonomiji. Ecologica, 21(75), 375-378.
- 9. Musgrave R., & Musgrave P. (1989). Public finance in Theory and Practice. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- 10. Pearce, D. (1991). The role of carbon taxes in adjusting to global warming. The Economic Journal, 101(407): 938-948.
- 11. Petrović, N. (2016). Women in the Green Economy. Journal of women's entrepreneurship and education, (1-2): 97-109.
- 12. Pigou, A.C, (1918). The Economics Welfare, London: Macmillan.
- 13. Piljan, T, Piljan, I., & Cogoljević, D. (2017). The Sector and Climate Changes in Serbia. Economic Analysis, 50(1-2): 13-25.
- 14. Prekajac, Z., & Josifidis, K. (1998). Ekonomija versus ekologija-naznaka dilema. Privredna izgradnja, 41(4): 293.
- Stevanović, B., Knežević, L., Čakarić, S., Ilić-Popov, G., Karaman, G., Nedović, B., ...& Tošović, S. (2003). Enciklopedija - Životna Sredina i Održivi Razvoj—Knjiga Tačnih Odgovora. Srpsko Sarajevo: Ecolibri.
- 16. Stiglitz, J. (2004). Ekonomija javnog sektora. Beograd: Ekonomski fakultet u Beogradu.
- 17. Tietenberg, T. (1998). Environmental Economics and Policy, London: Addison-Wesley.
- Vojinović, Ž. (2017). Renewable Energy Sources and the Possibility of Their Insurance. Economic Analysis, 49(3-4): 40-47.

ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT TAX FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF LOCAL AGRIBUSINESS

Miklós SOMAI, PhD*

Abstract: The concept of ecological footprint tax (EFT) can be developed to cover the whole economy, but as a first experimental step, this paper suggests to introduce it in agriculture and food industry. The EFT is expected to mitigate two of the greatest anxieties of people in developed and semideveloped world, (rural) unemployment and climate change. The proposed arctan relation between the ecological footprint of products and the tax to be paid would result in a fairer allocation of tax charges (rich big-consumers having to pay much higher tax than low-polluter average people), assure sustainability for both the ecosystem and local economy (the tax charge itself depending first of all on the distance a product is to be shipped to the customer), and allow a healthier diet (local production, reaching the customers within much shorter time period than imports, not having to be stuffed with preservatives).

Keywords: Eco-tax, local economy, agriculture, food industry, employment

1. INTRODUCTION

In this paper, I try to draw the outline of a new concept for product taxation whereby two of the main problems for millions of people in developed and semideveloped countries could, if not be solved, be at least mitigated: mass unemployment (especially in rural areas) and deterioration of the nature.

Mass unemployment is linked to ever-freer movement of goods and capital. So long as capital can flow freely, capital owners invest where they can obtain the best mix of quality and cost, i.e. in sites with optimal conditions (like China). As general trade facilitation since WW2 and the proliferation of bi- and multilateral, regional and global trade agreements have brought (especially industrial) tariffs down considerably, even ordinary low-price products can profitably be transported from great distance. The result is that although people as customers might gain a bit by acquiring goods cheaper from low-cost countries than from national manufacturers, however, as employees, they can easily (the less skilled they are, the more easily they can) lose their jobs, or at least their livelihood can become

^{*} Institute of World Economics, Hungary, somai.miklos@krtk.mta.hu

increasingly precarious. In addition, as more and more economic activities go abroad, more and more people fall out of the labor market which, in the end, reduces the internal market for the remaining activities. In order to counteract this tendency, governments support the development of international tourism, i.e. the "importation" of extra customers, which would compensate local industries for damages stemming from weak domestic demand.

With this, we arrive at the other main challenge of our times. The ever-increasing inflow of goods and humans (mass tourists) to "importing" countries from ever growing distance adds substantially to the already alarming rate of nature loss and global warming. As long as the transportation of goods and tourists is mostly carried out by ships, trucks, cars, buses and planes – i.e. by burning fossil fuels – international trade and tourism will justly be blamed for contributing to climate change and deterioration of nature.

The ecological footprint tax (EFT), the concept of which is introduced in this paper, is intended to help decision-makers to address two of today's main problems for millions of people: mass unemployment and the deterioration of nature, or, in other words, social and ecological crisis.

2. BASICS

My proposal for alleviating the above problems is based on the concept of ecological footprint, developed by two UBC scholars more than 20 years ago (Wackernagel & Rees, 1995). The essence of the concept is that it is possible to estimate how much land, i.e. how many so-called global hectares (gha) of ecologically productive land (dry land and waterbody) is needed for a defined population at a given technological level to support both the production of goods and services they consume and the assimilation of all their wastes sustainably (Rees & Wackernagel, 1996). Sustainability could, of course, be achieved if the population does not take more resources from nature than nature can re-generate. In brief: ecological footprint should not outstrip biocapacity.

On further considering the matter and adopting a narrower version of the original concept, i.e. by substituting ever smaller entities for the population of a whole city or country and eventually restraining the concept to individual products, it is possible, in theory, to estimate how many global hectares are needed for these individual products to be brought throughout their entire lifecycle, from invention to degradation or recycling (see Figure 1).



Figure 1: The narrowing of the concept of ecological footprint

Source: Own drawing based on Rees & Wackernagel, 1996 p.228

Based on the above, it becomes possible for the tax system to undergo a radical change whereby the amount of the tax paid on goods and services would be proportional to their need in nature, i.e. the ecological footprint their consumption involves. In other words, the greater the damage a given product causes in nature throughout its lifecycle, the bigger the tax burden on the customer should be. As time passes, this new type of tax could partially replace other taxes (e.g. VAT), although EU rules on minimum tax rates should be taken into account.

While logically the EFT could quickly become a general tax on goods and services, it seems worth, however, to test its efficacy in a particular sector of the economy. An important part of my proposal is to first introduce the EFT system for the agricultural and food products.

3. JUSTIFICATION

3.1. Important facts

Based on recent assessments, per capita ecological footprint exceeds global per capita biocapacity (1.7 gha) practically in all EU member states, with no data available for Malta and Luxemburg (WWF, 2014). Also, out of the components of ecological footprint (EF) carbon (i.e. the burning of fossil fuels) is, for virtually all these EU countries (with the notable exception of Denmark), the largest single one making up between 35 and 67 percent of their EF. Globally, the ratio of the carbon component has been on an upward trend throughout the period of 1961-2010, and rose from 36 to 53 percent of the EF. Moreover, it is rightfully assumed that much

of this increase can be attributed to the fact that growth in international transportation of both goods and people has gone beyond any reasonable limits.

Another important fact is that damage inflicted by man to nature tends to correlate with household income (Kerkhof et al., 2009), and this is also true for food consumption. Although the difference in size of the EF between income deciles is higher for activities like transport, travelling or entertainment than for the satisfaction of the first necessities, food consumption of the rich, too, fits the general trend in that it involves significantly higher greenhouse gases emissions than that of the poor. This is explained partly by the abundance, partly by the quality and composition of (i.e. high proportion of premium and/or imported products in) the food consumption patterns of the upper income deciles (Csutora et al., 2011).

3.2. Why agri-food products?

A recurrent complaint of last years' conferences on agriculture and food industries has been that Hungarian (and other new member states') customers put the cheapest, often foreign-origin products into their shopping carts even if they could afford the more expensive, high quality, domestic ones. As another common feature of those seminars, speakers tended to blame customers alone and propose enhanced marketing strategy and additional efforts of persuasion to solve the problem. But, for the overwhelming majority of households this "solution" simply does not work, as they have no choice; as a result of the enduring austerity policy – remember, crisis in Hungary started in 2006 and for the ten years since then per capita real income has never recovered to pre-crisis level (KSH, 2017) – people save on almost anything they can.

One step closer to the solution bring us studies investigating consumption structure through linking human health to ecological footprint, i.e. appealing to people's sense of health- and eco-consciousness (Vetőné Mózner, 2014). Most of these studies conclude that even a minor change towards a healthier diet can significantly reduce a country's food footprint. One of the most interesting papers deals with the impact of different possible changes in British diet on UK food footprint (Frey & Barrett, 2007). It says that although any of the changes alone or in combination would reduce the impact considerably, the crucial difference resides in where the food comes from; by comparing the two extreme cases – the one when everything is imported to the other when all food are produced locally – we obtain a reduction of 0.7 gha in the footprint when local foods are preferred (see Figure 2).

From the British example, it would be easy to jump to a general conclusion that it is worth to buy domestic food not only for supporting local employment but also for limiting the damages caused by international trade in nature. But, it is still not enough good reason for the households to prefer local products.



Figure 2: How a diet can reduce the food footprint in the UK?

Source: Own compilation based on Frey & Barrett, 2007

It seems defensible to say that if an economic policy nurtures expectations concerning people's behavior as customers, it is not enough to appeal neither to their emotions (Buy domestic!), nor to their reason (Buy healthy and local!). If you want results, you must hit people's pockets. If the introduction of the ecological footprint tax (EFT) in agriculture and food industry brings prices for local food under those of imported one, it is certain that the majority of customers will shift towards national products.

Finally, let us mention one more reason why agri-food products seem to be an ideal field for testing the EFT. The point is that eating local foods, apart being good for the environment and supporting the local economy (farmers and other producers), has numerous potential benefits for the consumers, too. Flavor, savor, freshness, general quality, even nutrient content (with some reservations), all are better and higher in case of local foods, for they are picked at their peak of ripeness versus being harvested early in order to be shipped to and distributed on distant markets.

In addition, with the distance and time between food production and consumption shortened, it is obvious that fewer additives – flavor enhancers, humectants, preservatives, etc. all posing potential threat to human health – are needed in a short chain. Although food additives in humans do very rarely lead to adverse reaction, the latter is often linked with very serious chronic condition. The symptoms certain additives may cause range from simple hives, to asthma or even life-threatening anaphylactic shock (Pálfy, 2015).

4. METHODOLOGY AND RESULTS

As the huge number of foodstuffs makes it impossible to develop a sound methodology measuring perfectly the damage a product can, during its entire lifecycle, cause to nature; also with regard to the afore-mentioned economic, social and environmental goals and circumstances, we have to resort to considerable simplification. When determining the level of ecological footprint tax (EFT), we take into account:

- First, the geographical distance between the place of production and the place of consumption (i.e. the place of shopping);
- Second, whether the product is organic or conventional;
- Third, whether the product is transported by airplane or not.

When justifying the choice of these three elements, it is important to understand that:

- First, they meet the goals of supporting local production (farmers and food industry), preserving the nature, promoting healthy diet, and even bringing in an element of justice through the 'punishment' of the rich by making them pay for the pollution they inflict to nature;
- Second, they show strong correlation with ecological footprint, as from the nearer possible a product is transported, and the cleaner its production technology is, the smaller the harm done to nature will be;
- And finally, it is relatively easy to identify them from the commercial documents accompanying the products. On the basis of these three elements, to determine the amount of the tax (EFT) does not require too much additional effort from traders and shopkeepers. With an appropriate formula, they will be able to easily and quickly determine the EFT from the accompanying documents.

As we have to deal with very different types of variables, we had better to apply different formulas on them. In the case of the geographical distance, it is worth to determine the radius of the area within which local producers should be prioritized.

Figure 3 and 4 show two different modalities to determine the EFT. In Figure 3, the continuous red line shows EFT levels of the simpler version, dealing with only one preferential group of producers. When drawing the line, the main consideration was to make sure farmers and industries located within 200 kilometers around Budapest (i.e. roughly between the Hungarian capital and the national borders) would benefit from the system. Accordingly, the tax burden is relatively low until 150-200 kilometers; at 200 kilometers, there is an inflexion point from which on the curve steeply climbs up to prohibitive heights; then beyond 250 kilometers, EFT practically drives out competition or at least makes products extremely expensive in Hungary's main consumption region.

Figure 3: Ecological footprint tax (EFT) on certain agri-food products with one preferential group of producers, based on the geographical distance between the area of production and consumption



Notes: Dashed lines apply to organic products, dotted lines to air transported products.

A bit more complicated version of EFT is illustrated in Figure 2 by the continuous blue line. This curve has got three inflexion points, for our intention is now to support not only one but two groups of producers. The first beneficiary group (local producers) is located within a radius of 100 kilometers; for them the EFT is very low. At 100 kilometers, there is the first inflexion point from which on the curve ascends to slightly higher spheres, but without making trade impossible between the farthest regions of the country. Following a second (technical) inflexion point, the tax curve continues to climb slightly. Here is the second

beneficiary group (national producers), located between 100 and 450 kilometers from the point of consumption; for them the EFT is a bit higher than for local producers, but not prohibitive. At 450 kilometers, there is a third inflexion point from which on the curve goes up to prohibitive heights.

Figure 4: Ecological footprint tax (EFT) on certain agri-food products with two preferential groups of producers, based on the geographical distance between the area of production and consumption



Notes: Dashed lines apply to organic products, dotted lines to air transported products.

A much simpler formula is sufficient in the case of the second and third variable (i.e. the condition of being organic or not, and transported by airplane or not), since it is only about to provide a tax relief to those using environmental friendly technology, and penalize those doing the opposite. While conventional products would be taxed by EFT, for those organic the proposed formula is to divide EFT by a constant. In Figure 3 and 4, this constant is 3, and the corresponding values of this reduced tax are indicated by dashed lines. Hence, the EFT on organic products is, as a rule, one-third of that on conventional ones. By the same token, those products which are transported by airplane would be taxed with EFT plus a constant, let it be HUF 200 per kilo.

5. CONCLUSIONS

The proposed ecological footprint tax (EFT) is far from being a panacea. And, if we want to be precise even its name is misleading. Departing from the concept of ecological footprint, I only tried to draft an incentive tool whereby locally produced foodstuffs (or those produced within a circle of a certain radius) become cheaper for local customers than those similar products (produced with the same technology) which are brought there for longer distances. In this way, we can kill several birds with only one stone.

First, preference given to the local production will boost local employment, thus help to retain people in rural areas. Second, the EFT, the size of which depends on the environmental friendliness of the production technology and the distance between production and consumption sites, will facilitate a gradual move from global to local economy, concerning both production and trade, and meaning less transport, less pollution and therefore less harm to nature. Third, the new tax conforms to the principle of social justice in that by pushing up prices of imported foodstuffs, it increases tax burden of the better off, who has a great share in the consumption of imported goods and thus a much bigger than average ecological footprint. Fourth, it is not to be forgotten that, compared to imported agri-food products, local ones do not need to contain so much additives which means a blessing for human health, hence, on the long run, also less costs to the national health service.

Finally, the introduction of the new tax does not necessarily have to lead to increased tax charges for the majority of the households. On the contrary, it should be combined with the reduction of other taxes (e.g. VAT) which would enable local foodstuffs to be not only more competitive against imports, but also more affordable for customers.

REFERENCES

- Csutora, M., Tabi, A., & Vetőné Mózner, Z. (2011) A magyar háztartások ökológiai lábnyomának vizsgálata (Investigation of the Hungarian households' ecological footprint). http://unipub.lib.uni-corvinus.hu/471/1/CSM_TA_VMZS_ff2011.pdf (04.02.2017)
- 2. Frey, S., & Barrett, J. (2007, May) Our health, our environment: the ecological footprint of what we eat. *Proceedings of the International Ecological Footprint Conference*. Cardiff (Vol. 8, No. 10).
- 3. Jungbluth, N., Tietje, O., & Scholz, R. W. (2000) Food purchases: impacts from the consumers' point of view investigated with a modular LCA. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, 5(3), 134-142.
- 4. Kerkhof, A. C., Nonhebel, S., & Moll, H. C. (2009) Relating the environmental impact of consumption to household expenditures: an input–output analysis. *Ecological Economics*, 68(4), 1160-1170.

- 5. KSH (2017) Real income real wage index (1991–). https://www.ksh.hu/docs/eng/xstadat/xstadat_annual/i_qpt007.html (04.02.2017)
- 6. McGill University (2017) The benefits of eating local foods. https://www.mcgill.ca/foodservices/sustainability/green/local (05.02.2017)
- 7. Pálfi, E. (2015) Az élelmiszer-ipari adalékanyagok által kiváltott tünetek (Symptoms caused by food additives). *Élelmezés* 2015/January-February
- 8. Rees, W., & Wackernagel, M. (1996) Urban ecological footprints: why cities cannot be sustainable—and why they are a key to sustainability. *Environmental impact assessment review*, 16(4-6), 223-248.
- 9. Vetőné Mózner, Z. (2014) A fenntartható élelmiszer-fogyasztás lehetőségei. (Possibilities for sustainable food consumption) *Magyar tudomány*, 175(6), 730-739.
- 10. Wackernagel, M., & Rees, W. (1995) *Our Ecological Footprint: Reducing Human Impact on the Earth.* Gabriola Island, BC, and Philadelphia, PA, New Society Publishers.
- WWF. 2014. Living Planet Report 2014: species and spaces, people and places. McLellan, R., Iyengar, L., Jeffries, B. and N. Oerlemans (Eds). WWF, Gland, Switzerland. pp. 35-36.

INFORMATION, CONSUMERISM AND SUSTAINABLE FASHION

Mirela HOLY, Ph.D.* Nikolina BORČIĆ, Ph.D.'

Abstract: Sustainable fashion is an approach to fashion that is socially and environmentally responsible, ethical regarding nature, the environment, people but also conscious regarding the profession. Although in the last few decades the concept of sustainable fashion has been the topic of interest for many researchers in Western capitalist countries, this concept is poorly represented and researched in Croatia. The objectives of the paper were to investigate to which extent articles regarding sustainable fashion have been represented in the electronic editions of the Croatian daily newspapers with national coverage in the last ten years, how this topic was elaborated in the media and to examine whether Croatian fashion designers (members of the Croatian Designers' Society – HDD, and the Croatian Association of Applied Artists - ULUPUH) are familiar with the concept of sustainable fashion, what they think about it, and whether media coverage of this subject affects their attitudes toward it.

Keywords: information, media, consumerism, sustainable fashion, circular economy

1. INTRODUCTION

Florence Kelley, the first General Secretary of the National Consumers League said: "To live means to buy, to buy means to have power; to have power means to have responsibility."¹ Fashion is an industry that, more than other economic activities, exists on the requisite oriented towards constant buying of new clothing items that are currently on-trend. Fashion points out at specific position of fashion followers in the society. Although fashion is not a new phenomenon, since fashion historians found roots of fashion in the old civilizations, the fact is that fashion trends have never before changed as fast as they are changing now. Since the emergence of civilization, clothing has been a symbol of one's social status, it is

^{*} VERN' University, Croatia, mirela.holy@vern.hr

VERN' University, Croatia, nikolina.borcic@vern.hr

¹ http://www.nclnet.org/history
still true today, but with the increase of the phenomenon of so-called fast² or cheap fashion, the availability of fashion items and brevity of clothes is no longer solely the privilege of social elites. At first glance, these changes may seem positive and point to the conclusion that we face greater availability of fashion in the broad strata of society. Thus, it is possible to conclude that the present increase of fast fashion indicates democratization of fashion. Unfortunately, reality is far from this idealized image offered by the advocates of consumer economy and globalization of the market. The trend of fast fashion implies impulsive, even unconscious purchase of cheap clothes, apace wearing of these clothes, short lifetime of clothes, faster disposal and rejection of clothes that is no longer on-trend. The price of fast fashion for consumers is low, but for people who often produce clothes in very poor conditions, as well for the already polluted and impoverished environment from which resources needed to produce such clothes are rapidly spent, this price is exceptionally high (Cline 2012). Cline claims that the fast fashion trend initiated by Zara, and that today globally known fast fashion companies like H&M, Forever21, Mango and Topshop just followed Zara. The trend of fast fashion is nowadays globally present and many consider it to be in itself an understandable phenomenon. However, this is a relatively new trend, globally present in the last twenty, thirty years (Cline 2012). In the same period, as opposed to the trend of fast fashion, the trend of sustainable fashion has also evolved. Unfortunately, this concept is far less known in the today's global society than the trend of fast fashion which is inextricably linked to the phenomenon of consumerism.

Sustainable fashion is a part of the philosophy of design that seeks to be socially responsible, different, and primarily aware of the environment, but aware of the profession as well³. Sustainability within "means that through the development and use of a thing or a process, there is no harm done to people or the planet, and that a thing or process, once put into action, can enhance the wellbeing of people who interact with it and the environment it has developed and used within" (Hethorn 2009, xviii). As synonyms to the term *sustainable fashion* in the literature terms such as *green* or *eco fashion, ethical* and *slow fashion* are also used. According to Sustainable Technology Education Project, eco or green fashion makes clothes that "take into account the environment, the health of consumers and the working conditions of people in the fashion industry". This means that eco fashion clothes are "made using organic raw materials, such as cotton grown without pesticides and silk made by worms fed on organic trees; don't involve the use of harmful chemicals and bleaches to color fabrics; are often made from recycled and reused

² the fast production of cheaper versions of clothes produced by fashion houses, often involving the exploitative use of cheap labor, mainly for sale at low cost in wealthier Western nations (https://www.collinsdictionary.com/submission/13271/fast+fashion)

³ http://www.idop.hr/hr/dop-trendovi/dop-u-hrvatskoj/odrziva-moda/

textiles; are made to last, so that people keep them for longer; come from fair trade."⁴ As far as ethical fashion is concerned the following features are usually perceived as ethical: "fair trade; employing women or certain ethnic groups; made without animal components; no animal testing; donating part of the profits to a charity; made in a developed country; handmade; fair wages paid; contributing to preserve traditions of an ethnic minority; revealing manufacturing locations and workforce policies; the product itself rises awareness or promotes an ideal or cause."⁵ Slow fashion is described similarly. Slow fashion as an expression was first coined in a 2007 article written by Kate Fletcher. She compared the slow fashion industry with the slow food movement. As the slow food movement links pleasure and food with awareness and responsibility, slow fashion similarly "defends biodiversity" in fashion supply by "opposing the standardization of taste, defends the need for consumer information and protects cultural identities" tied to fashion.⁶ Although some theoreticians find differences between these terms, the fact is that all terms point out sustainable ways of implementing sustainable development principles into fashion. Namely, sustainability is not possible if we do not consider the environmental, social and economic aspects of the fashion phenomenon. It can be concluded that all previously mentioned terms fit the context of a sustainable approach to fashion with smaller differences or gradations.

Sustainable fashion appeared in the late 80s or early 90s of the last century when fashion brands Patagonia and Esprit, concerned about the negative impact of fashion industry on the environment and human rights of textile workers in the socalled Third world countries, initiated the trend of sustainable access to fashion (Ribeiro Rosa 2016, 11). The situation, unfortunately, has drastically deteriorated in the last twenty years so it would be reasonable to expect that today sustainable fashion is a widely known and accepted concept. Unfortunately, it is not the case. The excessive rise in apparel production and significant decrease in clothes prices have led to an increase in the amount of clothes purchased per capita. This increase effected a rise in the amount of waste textiles that becomes garbage and thus has a very negative impact on the environment. In the UK the consumption of fashion (the amount of clothes purchased per capita) increased by 37% between 2001 and 2005 (Allwood et al. 2006). In Sweden the amount of clothes and home textiles released on the market rose by 40% between the years 2000 and 2009 (Carlsson et al. 2011 in Tojo et al. 2012). The amount of waste textiles is also an environmental problem in Croatia. According to the Annual Report of the Croatian Environmental Protection Agency for 2013, almost 4% (3.71%) of mixed municipal waste was waste textile and footwear. Every citizen of Croatia annually produces about 12

⁴ https://greenstyle.wordpress.com/2006/07/28/green-fashion-definition/

⁵ https://fashionhedge.com/2014/12/29/ethical-sustainable-fashion-difference/

⁶ https://fashionhedge.com/what-is-ethical-fashion/

kilograms of waste textile and footwear⁷. The reduction of the negative impact of clothes production on the environment can be achieved by establishing a whole series of sustainable measures. Niinimäki argues that the environmental impact of garments can be decreased during: fiber production, finishing, dyeing and printing processes; global logistics during manufacturing and sales; the use and the maintenance of product disposal. Unfortunately, current design and manufacturing systems as well as economic models lead to unsustainable fashion consumption (Niinimäki 2013, 13). Efficient mass apparel production in lower cost countries has brought to the drastic fall in garment prices. Low product prices lead consumers to impulse purchases and unsustainable consumption behavior: overconsumption, a very short use time of products and premature disposal of the product (Niinimäki 2011). The cause of the problem according to many sustainable fashion theoreticians is consumerism, overwhelming aspirations to possess and buy things, an idea that one's happiness depends on the consumption of goods and services, or possession of material goods. Nevertheless, it is necessary to emphasize that there are differences in consumer behavior and, accordingly, neither consumerism can be viewed unilaterally. Lofman (1991), Holbrook and Hirschman (1982) differentiate instrumental consumption from experiential consumption, which does not serve to satisfy existential, but hedonistic, "leisure activities, sensory pleasures, daydreams, esthetic enjoyment, and emotional responses." Holbrook and Hirshman emphasize: "Consumption has begun to be seen as involving a steady flow of fantasies, feelings, and fun encompassed by what we call the "experiential view." This experiential perspective is phenomenological in spirit and regards consumption as a primarily subjective state of consciousness with a variety of symbolic meanings, hedonic responses, and esthetic criteria" (1982, 132). This is precisely the type of consumers' behavior that relies on the trend of fast fashion.

Although many theoreticians see the solution to the problem in the concept of sustainable fashion, some theoreticians such as Hoskins (2015) think that the problem is much deeper than environmental and that the negative consequences of unethical fashion can only be solved by changing the social and economic system, or by abolishing capitalism (Hoskins 2015). All main features of capitalism are present in the fashion industry: the impetus for profit and the consequent exploitation, power deriving from the possession of social resources for production and the very real need to overcome the insecure system in which we live. Namely, Hoskins in her book *Stitched Up: the Anti-Capitalist Book of Fashion* carefully sorts out various problems associated with the problem of hyper-consumerism in the fashion industry: the immorality and concentration of ownership of fashion

⁷ http://www.mzoip.hr/hr/ministarstvo/vijesti/otpadni-tekstil-i-obuca-sakupljat-ce-se-u-trgovinama.html

media; fostering rampant consumerism; exploitation of the labor force in the socalled Third world countries; degradation of the environment; the imposition of anorexic standards of feminine beauty; and racism in the fashion industry. She considers that the answer to all these problems is not in the reformation of the fashion industry in the direction of sustainability, but in the revolution, the change of the capitalist system itself. Hoskins claims that the whole fashion industry, high end, as well as fast fashion, is a very powerful and highly influential business, dominated by billionaires who are using consumers' weaknesses such as uncertainty and self-dissatisfaction for the imposition of an illusion that happiness is easily accessible through the purchase of clothes. The fashion industry uses clothing advertisements as an instrument that drives consumers to escape from reality, in advertising they create the perception that wearing these clothes will transfer them into a life of wealth and luxury that most people want. Very important question in maintaining the influence and power of the fashion industry is control over information. The control of information enables manipulation of consumers therefore, the question of media sources is important - who is authorized to speak or say something about social events, how it is implemented and who approves it. The question is whose voices and views are structured and shaped by the news discourse (Cottle 2009, 5).. Hoskins claims that the main purpose of fashion media is to serve as a communication tool to the rest of the industry, that media have a major influence in determining what is fashion, and that studies show a direct link between advertising and exclusion of certain issues from the journals (2015, 33-37).

Western professional and scientific literature⁸ elaborates this topic well, but in Croatian professional and scientific literature it is poorly explored and even represented. Specifically, in 2015 in Croatia a translation of the previously mentioned book of Tansy Hoskins was published. In the beginning of 2017 a scientific paper named "About the controversies regarding ethical consumption from social debris" written by the group of authors was published: Ivana Brstilo, Ines Krešić and Karla Vučković. This article explores the problem of ethical controversies associated with the fashion industry. These works are the only two scientific or professional papers on the subject of sustainable or ethical aspects of the fashion industry that have been published in Croatia. The existence of professional and scientific literature and the implementation of research on this topic are the key to informing the targeted public such as fashion in Croatia. The problems of research were: (1) the low representation of the topic of sustainable

⁸ A whole range of books, as well as professional and scientific articles on the topic of sustainable fashion have been published. Namely, when Google scholar is researched with entry sustainable fashion, almost a million links are found as a result.

fashion in Croatian newspapers with national coverage, and (2) the lack of information regarding concept of sustainable fashion amongst Croatian fashion designers. The objectives of this paper were: (1) to investigate to what extent articles regarding sustainable fashion were represented in the electronic editions of Croatian daily newspapers with national coverage and how this topic was elaborated; (2) to examine whether Croatian fashion designers are familiar with the concept of sustainable fashion, what they think about this concept, and (3) whether media coverage of this subject affects their attitudes. Initial hypotheses were: (1) Croatian media publish texts on sustainable fashion to a small extent; (2) Texts are not published in serious sections (the economy or politics), but superficially in life style sections; (3) Croatian designers are not well acquainted with the concept of sustainable fashion, and those who are have reduced this concept to the usage of organic materials; and (4) the media processing of this topic affects the (dis)interest of designers, because no necessary public pressure is imposed on designers.

Jorge Majfud (2009), a Uruguayan writer, in his article "The Pandemic of Consumerism" warned that in today's society development is confused with consumerism, and he concludes that "trying to reduce environmental pollution without reducing consumerism is like combating drug trafficking without reducing drug addiction" (2009, 87). Inspired by this Majfud's thought, the idea behind this article is to draw attention of the targeted public, primarily fashion designers, to the phenomenon of sustainable fashion because they are in the first line of implementation of the necessary changes that this concept can bring about. The struggle with consumers' fashion addiction begins with them.

2. METHODOLOGY

Quantitative and qualitative methods were used in the research. Specifically, quantitative content analysis of selected Croatian electronic media regarding sustainable fashion and qualitative method of an open question questionnaire was applied to explore the views of Croatian designers regarding sustainable fashion. Media content research was conducted on the electronic extensions of daily newspapers with national coverage (*Jutarnji list, Slobodna Dalmacija, Večernji list, 24 sata, Novi list*). The reason why precisely these media were investigated lies in their general informative character and national significance. This allowed a comparison between the context and importance of information regarding sustainable fashion. In the analysis of the media the following aspects were researched: (1) the number of articles in each publication, (2) the length of the texts, (3) the authors of the texts, (4) the presence of key words (5) the value orientation of articles regarding the topic of sustainable fashion, (6) the media context of the articles (the sections in which they were published) and the manner

in which the topic was processed and (7) the promoted values. The research covered the period from January 2009 to April 2017. The aim was to investigate the media presence of sustainable fashion in a ten-year period, however, in the period before January 2009 articles that contained the following keywords: sustainable fashion, eco fashion, green fashion, slow fashion, circular fashion, or ethical fashion were not found. Research regarding the attitudes of fashion designers about sustainable fashion was carried out by the qualitative method of an open question questionnaire in the period from 8th to 24th October 2017. The research included members of the Croatian Designers' Society (HDD) and the Croatian Association of Applied Artists ULUPUH (ULUPUH). Four examined designers are members of both societies. All examined designers make a living in fashion and are recognized in Croatia as artists.

3. RESULTS WITH DISCUSSION

Following keywords were found in the analyzed articles:

- 1. sustainable fashion; slow fashion; circular fashion; eco fashion; ethical fashion
- 2. circular economy; ethical production; consumerism; hyper production
- 3. sustainable materials; recycled clothes; recycled polyester; organic silk and cotton; new fabrics; plastic bags; redesigned clothes; natural cotton
- 4. environmental protection; eco-friendly
- 5. responsible behavior; fair business; fair trade; eco philosophy; humanitarian fashion show.

The first group of words refers to the name of the concept; the second one is linked to the context of economy; the third group refers to the type of fabrics and materials for production of clothes; in the fourth group words related to the environment were detected; and the last group is linked with the ethical context. The presence of these keywords may, at first glance, suggest a more serious, professional and profound approach to the subject of sustainable fashion from a variety of points of view. Unfortunately, the presence of these complex keywords is the result of an analysis of four articles reporting on a political party campaign by which the concept of circular economy in fashion was promoted.

Information, consumerism and sustainable fashion

Media / Owner	Number of articles	Dates of issue / Period
Jutarnji list / Gloria	6 total	03.07.2015
(supplement of Jutarnji list)	2 Jutarnji list	13.04.2016
	4 Gloria	10.05.2016
HANZA media /ex EPH		29.11.2016
		21.02.2017
		07.04.2017
		July 2015 - April 2017
Slobodna Dalmacija	6 total	27.11.2012
		03.07.2015
HANZA media /ex EPH		04.08.2015
		18.03.2016
		14.06.2016
		29.11.2016
		November 2012 - November 2016
Večernji list / DIVA	9 total	08.01.2009
(supplement of Večernji list)	6 Večernji list	01.09.2010.
	3 Diva	18.08.2012
Styria		09.01.2014
		22.05.2014
		07.06.2015
		22.07.2016
		04.09.2016
		07.02.2017
		January 2009 - February 2017.
24 sata / Miss 7 (supplement	6 total	10.05.2012
of 24 sata)	6 Miss7	22.01.2013
		18.09.2012
Styria		16.03.2016
		02.03.2017
		22.04.2017
		May 2012 - April 2017
Novi list	4 total	24.01.2014
		05.07.2015
J&T fond		17.05.2016
		05.11.2016
		January 2014 - November 2016
TOTAL:	31	January 2009 - April 2017

Table 1: Number of articles in each media / period in which articles were published

Source: own research, October 2017

In Table 1. is the list of analyzed media, the number of articles published in each media, and the period in which the articles were published. The total number of analyzed articles is 31, the oldest article was published in January 2009, and the newest one in April this year. The largest number of articles was published in *Večernji list*, nine of them, and the smallest number in *Novi list*, four of them. *Novi list* is the only surveyed daily newspaper that is not owned by media corporations

Styria or Hanza Media. The search of articles was done through Google platform and typing keyword variations (sustainable fashion, green fashion, eco fashion, slow fashion, circular fashion) plus the name of the media. Given the fact that research covered a large period it can be concluded that publication of 31 articles on this topic points to a lack of interest of the media on the topic of sustainable fashion. From the previous table it is also apparent that the owners of four out of five researched media are two corporations: Styria and Hanza Media. This fact points to a conclusion that the concentration of media power in Croatia is in the hands of a small number of owners. A small number of owners over media allows the easiest control over information.

Media / Owner	Length of the texts in words	Authors of the texts
Jutarnji list / Gloria	399, 572, 371, 176, 294, 203	Hina; Jutarnji.hr; Gloria.hr;
	Total: 2015	Nikolina Krznar; Tina Kovačićek;
HANZA media /ex	Average: 336	Nikolina Krznar;
EPH	-	
Slobodna Dalmacija	357, 357, 299, 391, 710, 230	PSD; PSD; PSD; HINA; Nevena
	Total: 2344	Banić; PSD
HANZA media /ex	Average: 391	
EPH	-	
Večernji list / DIVA	184, 715, 186, 168, 220, 393,	Ana Škiljić Ravenšćak; Božena
5	854, 241, 380	Matijević; Ana Škiljić Ravenšćak;
Styria	Total: 3341	aka/VLM; Tonkica Zlački; DIVA;
	Average: 371	PROMO
24 sata / Miss 7	201, 378, 342, 697, 323, 711	Anamaria Butković; Monika
	Total: 2652	Samarđieva; Promo; Mija
Styria	Average: 442	Dropuljić; Mija Dropuljić; Mija
	-	Dropuljić
Novi list	409, 147, 511, 450	Andrej Petrak; Portal Novilist.hr;
	Total: 1517	Ivana Kocijan;
J&T fond	Average: 379	
	Total: 11869	3 articles Mija Dropuljić
	Average: 383	2 articles Ana Škiljić Ravenšćak
	-	2 articles Nikolina Krznar
		1 article: Tina Kovačićek; Nevena
		Banić; Božena Matijević; Tonkica
		Zlački; Anamaria Butković;
		Monika Samarđieva; Andrej Petrak;
		Ivana Kocijan
		Many advertorials / promo articles

 Table 2: Length of articles in number of words and authors

Source: own research October 2017

It is obvious from Table 2. that articles were of small format. Namely, the average number of words in an article was 383, which is a slightly larger number than a summary of an expert or scientific abstract. This indicates the superficial and

promotional character of the analyzed articles. In addition, many articles were not signed and that indicates the promotional orientation of articles. As far as the authorship of articles is concerned, the table shows that a total of 16 articles are unsigned, which indicates a PR origin of these texts (sources of information are promoted brands). As for the other 15 articles, three articles are signed by Mija Dropuljić, *24 sata* lifestyle journalist. Ana Škiljić Ravenšćak and Nikolina Krznar, who each signed two articles, are also lifestyle journalists. The authorship of articles therefore suggests that the topic of sustainable fashion in Croatian media over the past ten years has not been processed as an economic or political topic, but dominantly as a lifestyle topic intended for fun and leisure rather than for information and education.

The value orientation of articles regarding the topic of sustainable fashion, media context of the articles (the sections in which they were published) and the manner in which the topic was processed and the values it promotes were also researched in the content analysis of media. It was found that five articles were neutral, and the rest of the articles (26 of them) were positive toward sustainable fashion. Majority of articles were published in lifestyle sections (24 of them). One article was published in the politics section, one in business section, one in Zagreb and one in Rijeka section. Three articles were published in current topics. The manner in which the topic of sustainable fashion is processed was dominantly simple and superficial, it served as a promotional decoration of several designers or fashion industries. As far as the content of the articles is concerned, the majority of articles promote sustainable collections of brands H&M (8), Mango (1), UNAESTHETIK (2), Loreta Gudelj Loré (1), Brokula & Ž (2), Martina Zelenika - Druid (1), Ivana Omazić - IO (2), Saša Maksimiljanović - Maks (1), Kristina Burja - Krie (1), ROLLTEE (1). Four articles report on the ORaH's, a green political party, campaign that promoted circular economy and the concept of sustainable fashion in 2015. One article deals with a humanitarian fashion show featuring recycled clothing items; one praises a sustainable fashion style of celebrity actress Emma Watson; one reports that the world's most famous brand of jeans Levi's turns to sustainable fashion, one reports on eco-fashion in New York Fashion Week; one reports on sustainable boots made of recycled plastic; one informs about the slow fashion movement; one writes about a sustainable fashion show organized by the dm trade chain; and one informs about the sustainable perspective of Croatian fashion festivals. As a rule, articles did not provide information about the sustainable fashion concept. Many articles look almost identical although they were published in different media. This indicates that sources of these articles were the same, or, to be precise, that sources were fashion brands themselves (Mango, H&M, IO - Ivana Omazić, Brokula & Ž etc.). Only two articles were not illustrated with photographs. The total of 207 photos appeared in the remaining 29 articles,

which leads to an average number of seven photos per article. Photos are not evenly distributed in the analyzed articles, so one article is illustrated with 18 photos in the gallery, and seven articles have only one photo. Regarding the content of photography, photos of branded clothes worn by models or well-known women dominate. From the above presented analysis it can be concluded that the disclosure of this information is not informational for the public regarding the concept of sustainable fashion, but as a "green" promotional tool of brands, some of which are globally known as unsustainable. In this sense, such promotional contents can be considered as "greenwash".

Eight designers from the Croatian Design Association (HDD) and the Croatian Association of Applied Artists (ULUPUH) participated in the qualitative part of research: Anamarija Brkić Višnjić, Paulina Pustahija Penzar, Nataša Jeletić, Staša Čimbur, Jadranka Hlupić Dujmušić, Vedrana Mastela, Davor Klarić and Luka Grubišić.

Designers responded to an open question questionnaire that consisted of four groups of questions. The answers of interviewed designers according to the group of questions are presented below.

Ad 1) Are you familiar with the concept of sustainable fashion? If so, how did you get acquainted with this concept?

All respondents are familiar with the concept but sources of information were different. They vary from foreign newspaper articles and professional literature, documentaries, online sources of material suppliers, foreign clients looking for information about where the fabric was manufactured, who made it and under what conditions, and who made their clothes. Respondents also mentioned fashion exhibitions and competitions, PARSONS University from New York and ULUPUH exhibitions named "Redizajn", "Zeleno", and "Art eco"⁹.

Ad 2) Is your attitude to sustainable fashion positive, neutral or negative? Do you consider sustainability principles to be important for the future of fashion? Is this concept present in today's Croatian fashion and is it possible to compare it with world's practices?

The attitudes of Croatian fashion designers about the concept of sustainable fashion is predominantly positive. The overriding consideration is that this concept is more and more present in the world, but in Croatia it is still in its infancy and is not

⁹ "Redesign", "Green", and "Art eco"

sufficiently represented and known. In Croatia, they emphasize, fashion design is undeveloped and fashion designers do not even have the ability to tackle the topic of sustainable fashion. Respondents are a little bit skeptical regarding the concept because the fashion industry is strongly influenced by various lobbies and sometimes incredibly low prices. Fashion is strongly influenced by the law of supply and demand. The problem is, they think, that we all want to pay less and in return get more value, but we avoid asking ourselves how it is possible that something has such a low price. Sustainable fashion is pushed to the background because people are only interested in getting more, faster and cheaper. But, they also emphasize, influential individuals, especially fashion designers, might have an important positive impact on the future of fashion and direct it towards a sustainable direction, especially towards the decrease in clothes consumption. Fashion designers could thus contribute to the overall improvement, which is the key to the future not only of fashion, but of the overall state of affairs.

Ad 3) Have you used the principles of sustainable design in your work so far? If so, in what way was it manifested? Do you plan to apply the principles of sustainable design in the future?

The answers to this group of questions were quite varied: some respondents have designed collections that conform to the principle of circular fashion; some apply sustainability principles when cutting and apply zero waste concept; some use natural/ organic fabrics; some use and redesign vintage clothes; some collect and use waste materials in their creations etc. One designer in her circular collection named "In the end is the beginning" used the remains of materials from previous collections and pieces of vintage material and textile waste. She also applied the principles of sustainability in cutting (zero waste concept). The other designer points out that her "fashion expression" has long been based on the use of natural materials (cotton, linen, etc.) and redesigned vintage clothes. She wrote a master thesis on "smart" clothing that is based on a completely new type of waste material, and also deals with 3D clothing. The third respondent points out that the traditional craftsmanship of her lingerie line is somewhat based on sustainable principles. She also explained that in her opinion all materials, old, rejected items can be used to create fashion accessories. The fourth respondent applies the principles of sustainable design by purchasing recycled materials but she also takes care of the employees / community and has a responsible relationship with the waste material. The fifth respondent has not applied the principles of sustainable design in her work so far, but she would like to apply them because she is an environmentally conscious person, and as a designer, it would be a challenge to re-use materials. The sixth respondent uses sustainable textile, applies zero waste principles in tailoring and recycles waste material. The seventh respondent always prefers natural materials (silk and cotton), preferably organic, which unfortunately cannot be bought in Croatia. The last respondent uses eco-design approach in his work, and it is manifested in different ways, depending on the purpose of the garment item. Finally, all interviewed designers plan to apply the principles of sustainable design in their future work.

Ad 4) What is the cultural and social perception of sustainable fashion in your circle? Are designers more familiar with this concept than non-designers? Do you think that greater presence of these topics in the media could contribute to the promotion of this topic to the wider public and how can it be done?

The majority of respondents believe that there is no major difference in awareness between designers and non-designers. Designers, as well as the society as a whole, are not sufficiently familiar with the concept of sustainable fashion, but also sustainable development as a whole. Respondents assumed that the majority of Croatian designers primarily follow the world fashion, but are limited by the money they need to pay for fabrics. In Croatia there are only a few avant-garde designers who could be said to consume eco design, and unfortunately, the situation is similar in the world as well. There is a lot of buzz about sustainable fashion in the world, but little is done and even less consumed. All respondents believe that greater presence of these topics in media would contribute to the promotion of the concept. They suggested the following methods and ways: (1) showing (promoting) good examples from Croatia and the world, (2) education of the public through public campaigns, (3) promotion of eco design, (4) usage of well-known people to promote the concept, (5) sustainable fashion exhibitions, (6) education regarding sustainability from kindergarten, (7) study programs regarding sustainable fashion at universities, (8) state financing projects that go in the direction of the sustainable fashion and the future.

4. CONCLUSION

The research has shown that two initial hypotheses are accurate and two are not. It has been confirmed that Croatian media publish the texts on sustainable fashion to a small extent, as well as that these articles are not published in serious columns, but superficially in lifestyle sections. Although the majority of analyzed media do not provide information regarding the number of views of an article, it is interesting that the number of views seen on the *Večernji list* pages indicates that this content is not massively viewed. Specifically, the maximum number of views per article in *Večernji list* is less than 2800 views. This information, unfortunately, demotivates the media from publishing such content. The hypothesis that Croatian designers are not well acquainted with the concept of sustainable fashion has been

confuted. It has also been confuted that those who are acquainted with the concept, reduce it to the usage of organic materials. According to the above mentioned it can be concluded that media processing of this topic doesn't affect the (dis)interest of designers because they collect their information from foreign media resources, as well as from foreign expert and scientific literature. Given the fact that research has not confirmed the initial hypothesis about the influence of mass media on information, and thus the creation of designers' views on the concept of sustainable fashion, it can be concluded that this research confirms the growing influence of digital media such as social networks on public information, or at least on some targeted publics. However, mass media continue to play an extremely important role in informing and thus in creating public attitudes, so it is impossible to expect that larger sections of the public will become familiar with the concept of sustainable fashion if the media does not inform about it in the future to a far greater extent than so far. The decision on whether sustainable fashion will become a media topic depends on a variety of factors: the interest of the media owners, the interest of advertisers, the interest of political elites, the interest of big fashion "players", but also on the public's interest. If the public will demand such content, then sustainable fashion will enter the media agenda because the public consumes the media. Otherwise, sustainable fashion will continue to remain a beautiful idea that is often used as a greenwash tool for large powerful industries. Given the fact that the taste of the audience is created with the help of media, or often with publication of certain information in the media, it can be concluded that the current situation regarding the media promotion of sustainable fashion in Croatia resembles a vicious circle.

This research has confirmed the need for more detailed processing of this topic in Croatian media, but also in professional and scientific literature, as well as for far more thorough exploration of designers' attitudes. It is important to note that the membership in these two associations is relatively limited and that there is a great possibility that non-member designers are far less aware of the concept of sustainable fashion than those who were interviewed. Therefore, it is planned to continue the cooperation with these two associations and carry out a far more detailed exploration of the perception of this concept among designers, as well as to organize international scientific conference on sustainable fashion in Croatia.

REFERENCES

1. Allwood, J.M., Laursen, S.E., de Rodrigues, C.M., Bocken, N.M.P. (2006) *Well Dressed? The Present and Future Sustainability of Clothing and Textiles in the United Kingdom.* Cambridge: University of Cambridge, Institute of Manufacturing.

- Brstilo, I., Krešić, I., Vučković, K. (2016) O prijeporima etičke potrošnje iz društvenog rakursa. Socijalna ekologija, 25/3: 289-310.
- Carlsson, A., Hemström, K., Edborg, P., Stenmarck, Å., Sörme, L. (2011) Mapping of Quantity and Flow of Textile Waste in Swedish. SMED Rapport Nr. 46 2011. Norrköping: Sveriges Meteorologiska och Hydrologiska Institut.
- 4. Cline, E.L. (2012) Overdressed: The Shockingly High Cost of Cheap Fashion. New York: Portfolio / Penguin
- Collins Dictionary, https://www.collinsdictionary.com/submission/13271/fast+fashion (15.11.2017.)
- 6. Cottle, S. (2009) Informacije, odnosi s javnošću i moć. Zagreb: Naklada Medijska Istraživanja
- 7. Fashion Edge, https://fashionhedge.com/2014/12/29/ethical-sustainable-fashion-difference/ (15.11.2017.)
- 8. Fashion Edge, https://fashionhedge.com/what-is-ethical-fashion/ (15.11.2017.)
- 9. Fletcher, K. (2007) Slow fashion. *Ecologist.* https://theecologist.org/2007/jun/01/slow-fashion (15.11.2017.)
- 10. Fletcher, K. (2008) Sustainable Fashion & Textiles. London, UK: Earthscan.
- 11. Green Style, https://greenstyle.wordpress.com/2006/07/28/green-fashion-definition/ (15.11.2017.)
- 12. Hethorn, J., Ulasewicz, C. (2009) *Sustainable Fashion: Why Now?*. New York: Fairchild Books
- 13. Holbrook, M.B., Hirschman, E.C. (1982) The Experiential Aspects of Consumption: Consumers Fantasies, Feelings and Fun. *Journal of Consumer Research 9/2:* 132-140.
- 14. Hoskins, T.E. (2015) Zašiveno do bola: Antikapitalistička knjiga mode. Zagreb: Sandorf&Mizantrop and CIMO
- 15. Institut za društveno odgovorno poslovanje (IDOP), http://www.idop.hr/hr/doptrendovi/dop-u-hrvatskoj/odrziva-moda/ (15.11.2017.)
- 16. Lofman, B. (1991) Elements of Experiential Consumption. An Exploratory Study. *Advances in Consumer Research, 18*: 729-735.
- 17. Majfud, J. (2009) The Pandemic of Consumerism, UN Chronicle 46, 3-4: 87.
- 18. Ministarstvo zaštite okoliša i prirode, http://www.mzoip.hr/hr/ministarstvo/vijesti/otpadni-tekstil-i-obuca-sakupljat-ce-se-utrgovinama.html (15.11.2017.)
- 19. National Consumers League, http://www.nclnet.org/history (15.11.2017.)
- 20. Niinimäki, K. (2013) Sustainable fashion: New approaches. Helsinki: Aalto ARTS Books
- 21. Ribeiro Rosa, A. M. (2016) Circular Economy in the Clothing Industry: Challenges and Strategies (Master of Science Thesis). http://www.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:1037685/FULLTEXT01.pdf (15.11.2017.)
- 22. Tojo, N., Kogg, B., Kiørboe, N., Kjær, B., Aalto, K. (2012) Prevention of Textile Waste: Material Flows of Textile in Three Nordic Countries and Suggestions on Policy Instruments. Copenhagen: Nordic Council of Ministers.

LIST OF ANALYZED ARTICLES

- 1. Gloria. http://www.gloria.hr/fokus/dogadjanja/na-carobnoj-zagrebackoj-lokacijipredstavljena-nova-hm-kolekcija/5874590/ (20.10.2017.)
- 2. Gloria. http://www.gloria.hr/moda/inspiracija/emma-watson-besprijekoran-stilljubiteljice-odrzive-mode/5662975/ (20.10.2017.)
- 3. Gloria. http://www.gloria.hr/moda/novosti/hrvatski-modni-brend-koji-se-odmice-oduniformiranosti/5323455/ (20.10.2017.)
- 4. Gloria. http://www.gloria.hr/zivot/kultura/hvalevrijedna-inicijativa-svedskog-brendasvjetski-tjedan-recikliranja/4792187/ (20.10.2017.)
- Jutarnji list. http://www.jutarnji.hr/life/moda-i-ljepota/foto-politicka-modna-revijamodeli-nosili-smjele-kreacije-od-smeca-a-pobjednik-od-mirele-holy-dobio-rabljenusivacu-masinu/277501/ (20.10.2017.)
- Jutarnji list. http://www.jutarnji.hr/life/moda-i-ljepota/split-poznate-dame-nahumanitarnoj-reviji-redizajnirane-odjece-sve-zasjenila-viktorija-rada/3738771/ (20.10.2017.)
- 7. Novi list. http://novilist.hr/Vijesti/Rijeka/Rijecani-postavljaju-nove-trendovedizajnerskim-majicama-od-konoplje (20.10.2017.)
- 8. Novi list. http://novilist.hr/novilist_public/layout/set/print/Scena/Moda/Kristina-Burjasvoju-prvu-eko-kolekciju-predstavila-u-Abu-Dhabiju (20.10.2017.)
- 9. Novi list. http://www.novilist.hr/Scena/Moda/Kruni-Jendrijevu-nagrada-za-najbolju-recikliranu-haljinu (20.10.2017.)
- Novi list. http://novilist.hr/index.php/layout/set/print/Scena/Moda/Fashion-Week-Zagreb-i-Cro-a-Porter-idu-zajedno-Ozenila-se-dva-najveca-domaca-modna-projekta (20.10.2017.)
- 11. Slobodna Dalmacija. http://slobodnadalmacija.hr/stil/moda/clanak/id/306106/hmpredstavio-luksuznu-kolekciju-nadahnutu-povijescu-visoke-mode (20.10.2017.)
- 12. Slobodna

Dalmacija.http://www.slobodnadalmacija.hr/stil/moda/clanak/id/282034/zaronite-ispod-povrsine-s-bibi-manufacture-nakitom-od-eko-gume (20.10.2017.)

- 13. Slobodna Dalmacija. http://www.slobodnadalmacija.hr/scena/mozaik/clanak/id/186587/brokula-z-modnibrand-se-poceo-proizvoditi-u-hrvatskoj--eko-majice-i-donje-rublje-najavio-ilondonski-global-innovation-report (20.10.2017.)
- 14. Slobodna Dalmacija. http://slobodnadalmacija.hr/stil/moda/clanak/id/278716/hoce-li-trend-modnog-recikliranja-zazivjeti-i-u-hrvatskoj (20.10.2017.)
- 15. Slobodna Dalmacija. http://slobodnadalmacija.hr/dalmacija/sibenik/clanak/id/316010/categoryid/34/loreta-gudelj-lore-moje-se-kreacije-najbolje-nose-spontano (20.10.2017.)
 16. Slobodna Dalmacija.
- 10. Słobodna Daimacija. http://www.slobodnadalmacija.hr/stil/moda/clanak/id/452228/nova-estetika-domacimodni-brand-koji-se-odmice-od-uniformiranosti (20.10.2017.)
- 17. Večernji list. https://www.vecernji.hr/lifestyle/sef-levisa-preporucuje-ne-perite-traperice-hocete-li-ga-poslusati-940138 (20.10.2017.)

- 18. Večernji list. https://www.vecernji.hr/vijesti/holy-od-stare-odjece-i-ostatakamaterijala-napravite-nove-kreacije-1009281 (20.10.2017.)
- 19. Večernji list. https://www.vecernji.hr/lifestyle/odjeca-od-reciikliranog-materijalaizgleda-odlicno-i-sik-914212 (20.10.2017.)
- 20. Večernji list. https://m.vecernji.hr/lifestyle/ekoloska-moda-na-new-york-fashion-weeku-185526 (20.10.2017.)
- 21. Večernji list. https://www.vecernji.hr/lifestyle/cizme-izradjene-od-plasticnih-vrecica-855120 (20.10.2017.)
- 22. Večernji list. https://www.vecernji.hr/zagreb/bitno-je-cuvati-prirodu-prvi-modni-ekobrend-druid-442918 (20.10.2017.)
- 23. Večernji list. http://diva.vecernji.hr/diva-blog/slow-fashion-2976 (20.10.2017.)
- 24. Večernji list. http://diva.vecernji.hr/moda/fantasticna-nova-kolekcija-ivane-omazic-3083 (20.10.2017.)
- 25. Večernji list. http://diva.vecernji.hr/moda/nova-hm-ova-kolekcija-conscious-exclusive-pomice-granice-odrzivosti-i-stila-3842# (20.10.2017.)
- 26. 24 sata. https://miss7.24sata.hr/moda/cuvajmo-svoj-planet-najbolja-moda-od-odrzivihmaterijala-15662ž (20.10.2017.)
- 27. 24 sata. https://miss7.24sata.hr/moda/zaljubili-smo-se-u-novu-mangovu-kolekciju-pogledajte-chic-komade-15081 (20.10.2017.)
- 28. 24 sata. https://miss7.24sata.hr/prekrasna-kolekcija-hm-conscious-exclusive-9507 (20.10.2017.)
- 29. 24 sata. https://miss7.24sata.hr/moda/eko-moda-na-hrvatski-nacin-718 (20.10.2017.)
- 30. 24 sata. https://miss7.24sata.hr/vesela-proljetna-hm-kolekcija-1850 (20.10.2017.)
- 31. 24 sata. https://miss7.24sata.hr/bruketazinic-predstavili-modni-brend-brokuluz-1229 (20.10.2017.)

Part III Social Challenges of Unequal Growth

ECONOMICS AND MORALITY: HOW TO RECONCILE ECONOMIC THINKING WITH BROADER SOCIAL THINKING?

Mrdjan MLADJAN, Assistant Professor of Financial Economics^{*} Aleksandar FATIĆ, Principal Research Fellow and Full Professor[•]

Abstract: In contrast to the neo-liberal ideology which dominates much of modern economic discourse, virtue ethics embraces the same set of morality for both private and public sphere. In this paper we argue that virtue ethics need nevertheless not at all be in clash with contemporary economic theory. Linking the preferences represented by utility functions in neoclassical economics and the system of values which inspires them can in our view align economic thinking with broader social thinking. Using this novel approach, we demonstrate that many economic and social problems can be solved so as to arrive at efficient outcomes and a higher expected level of utility compared to a case with separate public and private moralities. For addressing the problems characteristic of small open economies, our virtueethics perspective on economics supports some government intervention as well as cooperation and solidarity between societies in a similar situation.

Keywords: virtue ethics, neoclassical economics, market efficiency, small open economies

1. INTRODUCTION

A defining characteristic of neo-liberal political ideology is a sharp divide between private and public morality (e.g. Gray, 1995). This divide is the dominant determinant of the concept of human flourishing in neoliberalism. In this work we argue that such a divide is deeply controversial from the point of view of virtue ethics which we promote in this text. For instance, what a public official does in his private life is also important for his job, not in the least because of the example that he sets to his fellow citizens. We demonstrate that instead many phenomena important for human flourishing cross the border between private and public. From the point of view of virtue-ethics, such phenomena are therefore also subject to

^{*} EBS Business School, EBS University, Germany, mrdjan.mladjan@ebs.edu

[•] Institute for Philosophy and Social Theory, University of Belgrade, Serbia, fatic@instifdt.bg.ac.rs

moral regulation. For this reason, the virtue-ethics perspective on economics which we develop in this paper also crosses the border between public and private.

Moreover, we argue that our virtue-ethics perspective on economics need not at all be in clash with the contemporary economic theory. In contrast, we show that it is possible to join the lens of virtues-ethics with the toolkit of neoclassical economics, the dominant set of economic theories studied at the world's leading universities. Using our innovative method, we argue that a multitude of contemporary problems of the economy and the society can be seen as failures of the markets to themselves lead to efficient outcomes. In particular, we emphasize that efficiency of any allocation of goods or of output is a category which can be evaluated only subject to certain set of preferences, while the choice of the set of preferences is determined by a desired system of values. It is exactly this link between the preferences represented by utility functions in neoclassical economics and the system of values which inspires them can in our view align economic thinking with broader social thinking. Note further that opting for a certain system of values will simultaneously determine which outcomes can be considered market failures. Once identified, these failures could then be addressed using the standard policy prescriptions of neoclassical economics that involve some form of government intervention.

We would like to emphasize that various systems of values, and not only that inspired by virtue-ethics, could in principle be used to determine the preferences represented by a certain utility function. But, we argue that values inspired by virtue-ethics could lead to superior outcomes in terms of social wellbeing compared to values inspired by liberal ethics. This is because using the same set of morality for both private and public sphere, a distinguishing characteristic of virtue-ethics compared to liberal ethics, allows the elite to serve as the role model for the society. Moreover, it allows the elite to raise the society's happiness by creating cohesive value communities around a carefully chosen set of values.

We finally argue that reconciling economic thinking with broader social thinking is important for the social wellbeing and the sustainability of economic growth, particularly in small open economies. From among a number of reasons for this, we emphasize two. Firstly, small markets are more likely to experience market failures as a consequence of market power of a few mighty firms. While this is a typical market failure, the ideological bias of the elite of a recently opened economy would have a tendency to overlook it or even justify it. Secondly, the sudden change to an open economy, undoubtedly beneficial in many respects, could also endanger the positive aspects of national business culture and culture in general. In such an environment, our virtue-ethics perspective on economics can support some government intervention with the aim of correcting market failures and so preserving the economic wellbeing, national culture, and sovereignty; it can also support cooperation and solidarity between societies in a similar situation.

The rest of this chapter is structured as follows. The following subchapter introduces the concept of virtue ethics and compares the main implications of virtue ethics with those of liberal ethics when analyzing the problems of the contemporary society and economy. The third subchapter explains the importance of the concept of efficiency for social wellbeing and its dependence on the chosen system of values. The fourth subchapter argues that opting for a system of values inspired by virtue ethics can lead to higher social wellbeing than choosing an ethical system which stands for a distinction between public and private moralities. The fifth subchapter illustrates how aligning economic thinking and broader social thinking can be particularly beneficial for small open economies. The final chapter concludes.

2. THE CONCEPT OF VIRTUE ETHICS AND ITS VALUE COMPARED TO THAT OF OTHER CONTEMPORARY SYSTEMS OF ETHICS

Virtue ethics differs from the other methods of thinking about ethical issues in that it posits certain substantive values as guiding criteria by which to make moral evaluations, and embeds those values in a particular vision of desirable moral character of a person. Thus virtue ethics is able to avoid many of the pitfalls of more formal and impersonal views of ethics, such as pure deontic ethics, consequentialist ethics, or developmental ethics. For example, deontic (or deontological) ethics insists that the moral value of actions (or choices) is determined by the consistency of those choices with certain universal moral principles, regardless of the practical value of the choices in real life (e.g. always act so that you may wish that under similar conditions everybody else would choose the same course of action). This means that one is justified in making moral choices in accordance with one's conscience, and this entails that one would consistently be able to desire for everybody else to think in the same way and act similarly in similar situations. However, the problem with deontic ethics is that in reality people tend to value universal moral principles differently. Thus, for example, if my universal moral principle is to always protect the vulnerable, no matter what the cost, I would naturally be able to desire that everybody else makes their relevant choices based on the same principle; however, by acting consistently with this principle, I am likely to offend the moral sense of those whose primary, universal moral principle is that of everybody's right to their own property, because, if, for instance, I am a public official, protecting the most vulnerable will likely mean arranging a redistribution of income in society which will favor those who would otherwise fall through the social system and be helpless. This is only possible at the cost of those who have done well in the same system, and my desire that everybody acts as a socialist might cause substantial rifts, even social or political instability, if it collides with sufficiently many others who hold different principles particularly dear. In acting against the interests of those who wish to hold on to their rightfully gained wealth, I act perfectly clearly deontologically: my adherence to the deontic principle of always assisting the most vulnerable is sincere, and if I were wealthy, I would genuinely desire to be taxed additionally, however this does not necessarily solve the problem of the practical consequences of my choices for society.

The opposite moral methodology is the so-called "consequentialist ethics", which postulates that a moral action is justified if and only if in the sum of its foreseeable consequences it increases the well-being (or rights, or satisfaction of interests, or however else general satisfaction might be defined) of most stakeholders in the decision. In the above example, this would mean that in making a decision on the level of taxation and the consequent redistribution of wealth, I must consider how many people would benefit from my decisions and to what extent, and then choose that course of action which enhances the well-offness of most. This may mean acting in the same way as the benevolent deontologist above, if there are so many of those who are vulnerable who would be helped substantially at the relatively moderate cost to the few of those who are well off, but it also may mean letting the vulnerable fail utterly and reduce taxation for the wealthiest. The outcome is the result of a calculation, not of adhering to a universal moral principle.

Virtue ethics is capable of avoiding both of these pitfalls of deontology and consequentialism, because it assumes that in a particular community there are certain character traits in people which are generally desirable, and individuals with these traits should be trusted to make the most prudent and morally acceptable decisions. Virtue ethics thus posits standards which an exemplary moral personality should fulfil, and the actions are judged largely based on what such an exemplary person might have chosen to do. Traces of virtue-ethics-based thinking are present in the manner in which many legal norms are defined in the English law. These formulations involve characterizations such as "what a reasonable person might expect in the given circumstances", "what a prudent person would be expected to choose", etc. In adjudicating individuals' actions, the courts thus deliberate, among other criteria, whether and to what extent the choices of the person were what an essentially upstanding individual in society might chose to do or not. The described way of thinking about the law allows the courts to moralize: they make their decisions not only based on the letter of the law, but also on moral evaluations which they explicitly or implicitly ascribe to particular individuals. This type of practice is essential for the maintenance of standards of social decency and an accepted vision of virtue; contrariwise, the practice of many European continental courts, which tend to be guided literally by the law, and even explicitly distance themselves from any kind of "moral, as opposed to strictly legal" reasoning, is potentially deeply destructive for public morality. The law by itself, ideally, should stem from basic moral intuitions and the ideal of virtue in a community; however there is no guarantee that the positive law will necessarily reflect public morality, and in such cases an interpretative, creative role of the courts is absolutely essential to preserve the higher standard (morality) from being actually undermined by the lower standard (the law itself). Judging the personality, in aspects both directly relevant and not directly relevant to the issue that is being adjudicated is fundamental here. For example, there is reason to believe that an exemplary community member who embodies many of the community's virtues ought to be treated considerably more leniently for a legal transgression than someone who is known to show disregard for public morality. This is a controversial issue, and one that one of us has recently addressed at more length (Fatić, 2016: 201–226).

This very aspect of virtue ethics brings us close to the mentioned discussion of the public and private. The liberal ideology and its neoliberal incarnation insist that the preservation of individual liberty is predicated upon a strong separation of the private from the public, or of private life from public life. This is thought to prevent the "infringement" of the state and society upon matters deemed entirely within the sovereignty of a free individual in a democratic society. Such a view is essentially incompatible with virtue ethics, simply because virtue cannot necessarily be separated into private and public virtues. A person is judged to be upstanding based on one's life and one's choices, both private and public. Thus, someone who might act impeccably as a public servant, but regularly cheats on one's spouse, drinks and is seen in disreputable company would hardly be considered a virtuous individual by most accepted social standards. Yet, in a neoliberal context, it would be morally unacceptable to factor the person's personal immorality into their evaluation as a public servant. To take an extreme example, as long as one sticks to the neoliberal concept of privacy, this would mean that a police officer who is neither corrupt, nor deviant during office hours, but is known to commit adultery, gamble, use legal drugs and associate with the town's ruffians, would not be able to be considered less morally fit for the job than another police officer who acts the same at work, but has none of the enumerated problematic habits in her private life. Such a conclusion, while "liberally" correct, would certainly be counterintuitive. Virtue ethics does not recognize a sharp divide between the private and the public, although it is capable of acknowledging various degrees of relevance of private life in the judgment of a person in their public capacity.

One particular type of virtue ethics which is especially relevant to our argument here is sentimentalist ethics (Slote, 2010). Its distinguishing feature from the other virtue ethics is that it insists on the possession of a particular quality in virtuous individuals, namely the propensity for and high regard for empathy. Sentimentalist ethics is thus an ethics which sees empathetic persons (and, by extension, empathetic public policy) as virtuous in itself. This, then, gives rise to an array of other virtues that are called for, namely loyalty, solidarity, trust, dependability, etc.

Sentimentalist ethics has special repercussions for the idea of an efficient economic system which would also be just, because it presents a contrasted alternative to the neo-liberal thinking. While the main idea of neoliberalism is that the best way to contribute to human wellbeing is to promote free entrepreneurship (perhaps the most accurate definition of neoliberalism, which is often used as a fuzzy and mainly negative characterization) (Harvey, 2005: 2), sentimentalism is close to the concept of care ethics, where the duty of care is seen as paramount to the work of public institutions and the state as a whole. This duty, then, extends to the economic system, as well. Care ethics requires the system, whether it is the economy, the military, or the social service, to actually care for the wellbeing of the citizens not in terms of their relative positions vis-a-vis one another (e.g. as in ensuring "fair competition"), but factually, how satisfied and stable they are in their lives in all aspects that depend on a particular system. This would mean that the moral justification of an economic system depends on whether the main economic institutions can actually demonstrate that the decisions they have taken have arisen from genuinely caring and trying to assist those in need in society, as well as from trying to keep those who are well-off from failing significantly. Such arguments would have to go considerably beyond statistics and academic discussions about particular ideologies, and would likely involve examples and references to specific substantive values which the economic institutions have sought to uphold. Developing such an economic ethics which would be based on care ethics as a variant of moral sentimentalism is our work in progress.

One promising avenue of pursuing a theory of economic ethics would be based on the role trust plays in maximizing the efficiency of economic and, indeed, of most transactions in society overall, and how virtues are inculcated in the possibility of trust. On the one hand, trust arises either from institutional assurances (in which case a certain "virtuousness" or "trustworthiness" of institutions is presupposed), or from a moralistic belief that people ought to be trusted until they prove otherwise. Eric Uslaner labels the first type of trust "strategic trust" and the second type "moralistic trust" (Uslaner, 2002: 14–50). Once accumulated, trust in society leads to the development of a number of other virtues, such as civility (Seligman, 2010: 62–74) and facilitates what Seligman calls "generalized exchange", namely transactions in society on all levels and at a far more efficient rate. Trust is thus a prime form of social capital (Seligman, 2010: 75–100).

Finally, it may be useful to point it out here that sentimentalist ethics shows methodological advantages over other methodologies of ethical thinking, in that it is capable of reconciling and uniting both deontological and consequentialist ethics. Empathy, or, by our lights, care, is a deontological principle: recall that in sentimentalism actions are judged as morally justified or unjustified depending on their conformity with the duty of empathy or care. At the same time, sentimentalism is a consequentialist method of ethical thinking, because it seeks to achieve a state of affairs in which the overall amount of empathy, solidarity, trust etc. is maximized. Finally, of course, sentimentalism is a virtue ethics, because it posits an empathetic or caring character as socially exemplary. This allows sentimentalist virtue ethics to serve an inclusive role which makes it particularly suitable for developing an economic ethics and dealing with the concept of efficiency.

3. ECONOMIC EFFICIENCY AND SYSTEM OF VALUES

Neoclassical economics represents the body of economic theory which the leading centers for education and research in economics around the world uphold as the contemporary standard.¹ Central to it is the idea of a perfectly competitive economy in equilibrium (Pearce, 1999: 301). Importantly, the competitive equilibrium of an economy is characterized by economic efficiency: in exchange (Pareto efficiency), markets for production inputs (technical efficiency), as well as output markets (output efficiency) (Pindyck, Rubinfeld, 2001: 574, 590-91).² Efficiency is important because a lack of it means that, by rearranging the available resources, it would be possible to increase at least someone's wellbeing without decreasing the wellbeing of anyone else. For this reason, inefficient outcomes are necessarily suboptimal for a society that cares, at least to some extent, for each of its individuals.

¹ In the subfield of macroeconomics, neoclassical economics is complemented by neoclassical synthesis (Pearce, 1999: 302).

² That competitive equilibria are economically efficient is stated by the first fundamental theorem of welfare economics.

The goal of an economic system ought to be however not only efficiency but also justice. While an inefficient outcome appears necessarily unjust – since correcting the inefficiency would make at least someone better off without hurting anyone – an efficient outcome need not be just. For instance, if one person is in possession of all the goods in an economy, while the others of none, this may also be efficient; in case the rich person feels no compassion for others and she is not willing to voluntarily share some of her goods with them, the only way to make others better off would be to make her worse off. Striving towards justice, societies therefore frequently engage in some form of redistribution of income, goods, or property, where the optimal form and the extent of redistribution depends on the system of values held by the society, or at least its decision-making elite. Nevertheless, if redistribution were to disturb an efficient outcome and lead to an inefficient one, one problem would simply be substituted by another. Luckily, in competitive markets, trades following any redistribution would lead to an outcome which would also be efficient and could be more just than the original one.³

For an efficient outcome to be achieved, both prior to and following redistribution, we therefore depend on markets being competitive. But the requirements for competition do not always hold. In these cases we face market failures which are traditionally considered to take the forms of market power, externalities, public goods, and incomplete information (Pindyck, Rubinfeld, 2001: 591-92). Luckily, economic theory has already devised remedies, which typically involve some form of government intervention, for each of these types of market failures. When applied, these remedies could move markets back to competitiveness and lead to efficient outcomes. While a system of values stands in the focus of discussions on the desired form of redistribution, we argue that it should also be taken into account when answering whether outcomes are efficient and whether markets are competitive. This is because both allocative and output efficiency can only be evaluated subject to a utility function which represents a certain set of preferences (Mas-Colell, Whinston, Green, 1995: 175), the latter being inspired by a system of values. We therefore argue that economic thinking and broader social thinking could indeed be reconciled by making the preferences represented by utility functions in economics consistent with a chosen system of values.

³ That every efficient allocation is a competitive equilibrium for some initial allocation of goods, as long as individual preferences are convex, is stated by the second fundamental theorem of welfare economics. In practice, however, any state-administered redistribution involves institutions which are costly, and the need to pay taxes may lead individuals and firms to work and produce less. Thus, at least some loss of efficiency, and its tradeoff with the compensating gain in equity, appears hard to avoid.

To illustrate how the system of values can determine whether a market can be considered competitive and the outcomes to which it leads efficient we will use, similar to Mladjan, Marković (2016), an example of trade between two countries. Suppose that both of these countries start by producing both food and jewelry. If their citizens are allowed to freely trade, each would specialize in the production of that good for which it has a comparative advantage⁴. After specializing, only jewelry would be produced in one of the countries and only food in the other. By opening to trade, citizens of both countries would be able to consume more than in autarchy, so specialization could be considered both an improvement in wellbeing and an efficient outcome. But, how could our conclusion change if we were to allow for the possibility that the two countries go to a long-lasting war? If this were to happen, the one producing jewelry would have to surrender so as to avoid hunger. Suppose now that occupation by the other country would not endanger the income of the occupied population, which would still be allowed to produce jewelry and trade it for food, but that sovereignty and many elements of national culture would be lost.

In order to answer the question whether the market was competitive and whether the outcome of specialization was efficient, we would need to form an expectation on the likelihood of war and know to what extent the citizens of the country that would specialize in producing jewelry care about sovereignty and national culture. In case that their system of values is such that they are concerned solely with their income, specialization was an efficient outcome. If they however do care for their independence and national identity, specialization was not efficient. The individuals instead traded without being fully aware of the consequences that their decision to buy food from abroad could have for their country and the lives of their loved ones in the long run. This could be regarded as a market failure due to incomplete information, for those unaware of the consequences of their trades. Moreover, it could be seen as a negative externality imposed by those that were aware of the consequences of their trades but did not take into account the pain that loss of sovereignty and national culture would impose on their countrymates that, unlike themselves, care for these values. Importantly, when we opt for a system of values and use it to identify a market failure, we can resort to remedies already prepared by neoclassical economic theory for correcting that type of market failure.

⁴ "Country 1 has a comparative advantage over Country 2 in producing a good if the cost of producing that good, relative to the cost of producing other goods in 1, is lower than the cost of producing the good in 2, relative to the cost of producing other goods in 2" (Pindyck, Rubinfeld, 2001: 585). Notice that, using comparative advantage, opportunities to trade are more likely to be found than if a country were to export only goods for which it has an absolute advantage, which would mean that it has a lower cost of producing them than the other country.

In this case, government intervention in the form of tariffs or quotas on imports, or direct government production, could insure that enough food is produced domestically even after partial specialization in the production of jewelry.

It appears that the preferences that are used to judge on the efficiency of a certain outcome could be inspired by various systems of values. In this work, we chose to rely on a system of values that stems from virtue ethics. Notice that, after appropriately choosing a set of preferences in the aforementioned example, the distinction between what could be considered decisions that concern only the individual, and those that concern the whole society (alternatively the division between private and public morality), is reduced or even fully removed, just as it is in virtue ethics.

4. UNITING VIRTUE ETHICS AND NEOCLASSICAL ECONOMICS: FEASIBILITY AND ADVANTAGES FOR INDIVIDUAL AND SOCIAL WELLBEING

Could virtue ethics in principle be reconciled with neoclassical economics? For this to be the case, the system of morality associated to virtue ethics needs to be compatible with the utility functions which are used in neoclassical economics. At first sight, there seems to be a fundamental obstacle to achieve this: consequentialist moralities appear to be those that could intuitively be built into preferences which are used in utility functions while important elements of virtue ethics are deontic in nature (Slote, 2010: 13-27). Consequentialist moralities justify actions based on the consequences they produce. For any set of actions a set of preferences could thus be used to order these actions based on how preferable their consequences are expected to be. A utility function representing these preferences could then assign a value to each action. The utility is thus calculated from the expected consequence, while the actions, circumstances, and even accidents which led to it may not matter for the value of utility themselves. In contrast to this, deontic morality arises from certain substantive principles concerning what the agent does. For instance, deontic criteria may demand that the truth is always told, property rights are always protected, that one is always loyal to his company, friends, or family, and alike. Importantly, the recommendation for an action may be given regardless of the consequences it is expected to produce.

Is it then possible to have a utility function that represents a set of preferences that satisfy deontic criteria? We would argue that this could be achieved by assigning a certain value of utility to each action, not based on the consequences it could be expected to produce, but based on the extent to which the action itself satisfies deontic criteria which may apply to it. Even in cases in which morality is a combination of consequentialist and deontic considerations, as in sentimentalist ethics, representing it using a utility function should not be troublesome: some actions may be judged based on their expected consequences, some based on deontic criteria, and some based on both, depending on which type of considerations is seen as more important in each case. That both consequentialist and deontic criteria for morality can be inculcated into preferences represented by a utility function should however not come as a surprise given that deontic criteria, such as virtue, could also be the goal of consequentialism.

Having argued that preferences based on deontic moral principles, important for virtue ethics, could be represented using utility functions, we also consider to what extent other characteristics of morality important for virtue ethics are in line with neoclassical economics. Another important characteristic of virtue ethics, and a difference from liberal ethics, is its treatment of public and private morality. Liberal ethics insists on a division between private and public morality, where the latter could, or even should, exclude deontic criteria. Virtue ethics instead rejects this division, and sees the members of the elite who hold public office as both managers of aggregate interests and those who provide a moral example and further values. In this virtue ethics moves beyond subjectivism in moral evaluations and requires some assumed consensus of what it means to be a respectable person in society in moral terms (Fishkin, 1984). We argue that the treatment of public and private morality in virtue ethics is not only compatible with neoclassical economics, but that virtue ethics, by using the same morality for both private and public sphere, could for several reasons lead to greater wellbeing, both for the society's aggregate⁵ and for most individuals, than liberal ethics. In the rest of this subchapter, we identify six reasons for why the adherence to the same set of morality for both private and public sphere could lead to greater social wellbeing, as well as greater wellbeing of most individuals, compared to a case in which moralities are separate.

The first two reasons why virtue ethics ought to lead to greater wellbeing compared to liberal ethics are associated to the reign of heteronomy in society. If one's freedom and the experience of life in general are truly limited by the structures and rules of the society, as long as decisions of public officials are affected by their personal preferences, a unified morality will make decisions of state officials that affect daily lives of the citizens more similar to the preferences of the citizens (Nagel, 1979). The examples of such decisions could include priority lists for infrastructural investment, tax policy, social care policy, as well as the culture prevailing in state institutions which daily interact with citizens. The citizens would

⁵ As measured by a social welfare function that applies a weight to each individual's utility in determining what is socially desirable (Pindyck, Rubinfeld, 2001: 576).

thus feel happy about the decisions of the state officials because they would be the same as those they would make themselves if asked to shape the structures of the state and the society that directly affect their daily lives.

There are however other decisions of state officials that also matter for the citizens' happiness. To the extent that other decisions which are in the exclusive jurisdiction of the state but do not affect most people's daily lives, such as foreign or defense policy, are affected by the personal preferences of the public officials which make them, a unified morality will also lead to a lower difference between the choices of state officials and the preference of the citizens. The citizens could thus feel happy about the decisions of the state officials as they could relate to them as if they were their own. One could of course question the extent to which citizens would care about that type of decisions. But, everyday discussions between people in a restaurant, in a taxi, or at a hair dresser's shop, testify that people do care for many such elements of national policy. This may be so because people associate their own prestige with that of their nation, or because their family's memory testifies that even such elements of national policy can occasionally become very important for daily life, especially in periods of great political turbulence and conflict.

Two further reasons result in greater social wellbeing, and that for most individuals, when public and private moralities are the same. A unified morality would namely enable the elite to serve as a role model for the rest of the society. Over time, this could lead to a convergence of values of individual citizens towards the values of the elite. Given that we just established that the decisions of the elite are perceived as important by the citizens and thus matter for their happiness, the sum of individuals' utilities calculated by a social welfare function should rise as the average difference between personal preferences and the choice of public officials declines during the convergence process. While narrowing the gap between the preferences of the citizens and the elite ought to matter for social wellbeing, we argue that the set of values chosen by the elite for the target of this convergence would also matter. In other words, we believe that not all sets of values that could be chosen by the elite would lead to the same level of social wellbeing. To illustrate why this ought to be so, we proceed to use two opposing quotes that represent the sets of values propagated by parts of the Serbian⁶ elite in the beginning and at the end of the twentieth century.

⁶ Serbian in this context refers to the elite of the Serbian people, irrespective of the region or country that it inhabits. We consider its elite as unique, given that communication between the members of the elite that live in different political jurisdictions, and their influence on the people in other jurisdictions, was and to this day remains frequent.

During the last years of the twentieth century, the singers of popular music gained importance in the Serbian society as role models, not in the least because the mass media allowed them to gain enough popularity to earn sufficiently well so as to be relatively rich compared to large parts of their impoverished society in economic transition. One could qualify the type of lifestyle their songs promoted as that of immediate satisfaction rather than perseverance in work for the achievement of longer term goals. One of the best examples is contained in the words of one of the songs of the singer Violeta Viki Miljković (1974–) (Miljković, 1994):

"Some people like this, other people like that, And me and you, young one, [we] always [like] something new. Some people like books, going for a walk, and loneliness, While the two of us, my boy, we live during the night. Coca cola, marlboro, suzuki, discothèques, guitars, bouzouki⁷. This is [real] life, not an advertisement. Nobody is happier than us."

Interestingly, the verses of this song explicitly refer to happiness, or wellbeing, and that not only of the singer herself but everyone else who embraces that type of lifestyle, in this case her and her boyfriend. They thus make a direct connection between a lifestyle that stems from a certain system of values and happiness, and actually compare two sets of preferences by their expected utility outcome. The writer of the verses of Miljković's song would thus appear to agree with the authors of this paper on that the level of wellbeing should depend on the set of values. An opposing lifestyle and system of values is illustrated by the following quote from the testament of Isidor Dobrović (1841-1914), a Serbian trader from Baranya region, one of the largest benefactors of Privrednik, a society dedicated to the free education of poor Serbian children from all over Austria-Hungary for crafts or trade. In his will Dobrović advises:

"We, the older ones, must help, create foundations, and you, the youth, (should) work, work and make savings, pray to God, seek advice from the more experienced adults, and love your work – the rest shall come by itself (Krestić, 1998)".

The two world views appear confronted: the first one seems to favor unrestrained experimentation over consulting the adults, night life over day life, and amusement over work. Without looking upon the human drive towards immediate satisfaction celebrated in Miljković's song, we believe that it could be justified only as an occasional rest aimed at sweetening the effort and occasional bitterness of life,

⁷ Bouzouki is a type of Greek musical instrument originating from Asia Minor.

rather than a set a values and goals that should themselves represent the purpose of life. On the other hand, we believe that a longer term happiness of an individual and success of a society can rather be assured by the set of values proposed by Dobrović in his will. Moreover, we interpret the Serbian social and economic history following the dates of the two quotes as speaking in favor of our view. We thus conclude that the level of utility of each citizen, and therefore the social wellbeing, could depend not only on the difference between his preferred choice and the choice made by public officials, but also on the type of values that inspired the elite's preferred choice. A unified morality would allow the elite not only to unite the citizens around a single set of values, but also to make this set of values the best possible – that which maximizes the social wellbeing.

Finally, we can identify at least two reasons for why the outcomes associated to a common morality between public and private sphere ought to lead to outcomes that are both more humane and improve efficiency; as such, they also result in greater social wellbeing and that of most individuals. Firstly, the creation of cohesive value communities reduces the need for and cost of state intervention - reducing the need for taxation which is associated to inefficiency - since social stigma can play the role that costly legal sanctions play in a liberal society. Note that both a social stigma and its corrective effect on an individual's behavior are possible only in a cohesive value community. This is because only members of a community that share a certain set of values will have the expectation that other members of the same community would adhere to them. Finding legitimacy in these values, encouraged by the fact they are not alone, they would openly express their opinion on the extent to which an individual's actions agree with these values, disregarding the liberal objection that this would be interference with an individual's freedom. Moreover, only if an individual belongs to that community and accepts that he should in principle act in accordance with its values, perhaps because for many needs in his life he is directed towards and dependent on that community, will he feel ashamed if the other members see that his actions defy the shared values. If the members of the community are mean towards the member that rejects its values one could argue that such a cohesive value community may in fact be reducing instead of raising the wellbeing of its members. But, if the corrective pressure is connected with expressions of sincere worry for and love towards community members that in their view err, such a social stigma may be a more humane and more effective way to correct socially problematic types of behavior that in a liberal society would have to be dealt, frequently in a more advanced stage, with some form of, always costly, state intervention.

Another reason for why a common morality between public and private sphere may lead to more humane outcomes that also increase efficiency can be related to acts of solidarity and mutual help. We expect that privately-initiated manifestations of solidarity are more likely to occur in cohesive value communities and that such deeds should usually lead to higher wellbeing than state-administered redistribution of goods, property, or income. The origin of most acts of solidarity must be empathy, and one is more likely to feel it towards a person one knows, which should more frequently happen in any type of community than in a society of selfcentered individuals. One can feel more empathy when one understands the other person better, and one is able to identify with that person and her difficulty. This is more likely to happen in a community that shares the same values, because these values in part determine the ambitions and circumstances of life of each individual, and one can more easily identify with people who think alike and who are in similar circumstances.

Manifestations of solidarity within cohesive value communities are not only more likely to occur but should also lead to higher wellbeing than state-administered redistribution. The first reason has to do with how the redistribution of income is perceived by both the giving and the receiving side. If the redistributive mechanisms of a welfare state are perceived as the results of a social consensus, as in Western European social market economies after WWII, rather than an expression of solidarity, the taxed ones are deprived of the joy of giving while the beneficiaries do not experience thankfulness for receiving what they instead consider their right, an argument going back to at least to the Serbian bishop Nikolaj Velimirović (Velimirović, 2001). This reduces the immaterial wellbeing of both groups. One way to address this concern would be to keep the redistributive mechanisms of the welfare state, but change the perception of the nature of the transfer by both the giving and the receiving side. As long as the transfer is made compulsory however, there is a danger that the perception would drift back away from a positive mutual predisposition of the different social groups towards an emotionally cold social compromise. If, however, the redistributive mechanisms of a welfare state are at least in part substituted, or complemented⁸, by voluntary transfers inspired by solidarity, the joy of giving and the thankfulness for receiving could instead raise the immaterial wellbeing.

Acts of solidarity within cohesive communities could also raise the level of efficiency in how the resources are used to provide aid. This is because cohesive

⁸ To the extent that the compulsory redistributive mechanisms are kept, it may be beneficial to substitute the right to aid and the obligation to pay tax, with only the obligation to pay tax in order to help others, and the obligation of the state to help those in need, so as to at least incite the feeling of thankfulness among those that receive aid. In such an arrangement, instead of referring to their right, they could instead refer to the obligation of the state to help.

communities may better know who needs aid and how much of it. This could allow that a greater aggregate improvement in welfare is achieved using fewer resources than in a case of a redistribution administered by the state, whose institutions may be more distant to the receivers of aid than fellow community members. Nonmonetary transfers that can reduce the losses during the transfer process can also be easier administered within a community. If, for instance, the aid is needed to replace a roof of a house that belongs to a family with children in which at least one of the adult household members drinks, a monetary transfer from the state may result in at least part of the money being instead spent on alcohol. If a public servant were in charge of managing the process of repair, including buying the construction material and paying the workers, both neglect in choosing the best mix of price and quality and corruption could instead lead to a part of the funds being wasted. But, the money which would be spent on repairing the roof by the neighbors of the less fortunate family would not be wasted on alcohol or corruption: they would know both the needs and the weaknesses of the family, would manage the construction process themselves, and would not waste their own money which they could instead use for themselves or to help even more of those in need.

We would finally like to observe that not all cohesive value communities may have the same potential to lead to acts of solidarity that raise the social wellbeing. For expressions of solidarity within a community to have the most potential to help, it is beneficial that it unites people from different economic strata, allowing the economically better off to help the worse off. Thus, cohesive value communities which are not based on a common economic standing but for instance on religious or national values should have a greater potential to help, especially if the economically well off sub-group is sufficiently large.

5. ECONOMIC THINKING AND BROADER SOCIAL THINKING IN SMALL OPEN ECONOMIES

Thus far we argued that our proposed approach could be very successful in improving social wellbeing and that of most individuals. Building on this, we proceed to give reasons why the beneficial effects could be particularly large in small open economies, and even more so in those that recently experienced economic transition. In our view, the benefits to such countries from policies that reconcile economic thinking and broader social thinking would result in both immediate gains in wellbeing and – through more sustainable economic growth – higher wellbeing in the long run. Among many potential sources of such benefits, we would like to describe a few.

Firstly, notice that small markets are more likely to experience market failure due to the concentration of power of a few large firms; following privatization in transitional economies, these firms would aim to maximize profit and thus raise their prices well above their marginal cost of production. While being an economy open to competition from abroad could reduce their market power, the openness itself may not solve the problem. If local knowledge is important for success in the market, if foreign companies are not sufficiently interested to enter the market because of its small size, or if the local product distribution network is also marked by high concentration of ownership, then fewer goods would be produced and consumed and that at higher prices than in a competitive market. This is a typical case of market failure, and no special approach towards integrating broader social thinking in economic decision making should in principle be needed to recommend a government intervention with the aim of breaking monopolies and cartels and regaining output efficiency. But, integrating broader social thinking may in reality be necessary to confront a strong ideological bias against government intervention or ownership – associated to a system of values which, poor in solidarity, considers any market outcome as more equitable – prevalent in transitional elites. Viewing instead all the different economic classes of the society as one community would instead result in different policy recommendations. In case a country is not strong enough to regulate the markets with high concentration of power, government ownership of at least one major market player in an industry, with a clear mandate to follow the price and quality policy with the aim of breaking the cartel rather than taking a part of its profits, could instead correct the market failure and improve social wellbeing and that of most individuals.

Secondly, ignoring the broader social consequences of having an open economy can lead to situations that, depending on the system of values used, could be regarded as market failures. Such a market failure could arise irrespective of whether the changes that created it increased or decreased output or consumption, just as in our example on trade in food and jewelry. For example, typical of small economies that experienced a sudden opening are changes that could endanger the positive aspects of national business culture and, by spreading outside of the companies, culture in general. One way this could ensue is through adoption of aggressive marketing strategies from abroad: methods of customer acquisition that range from impolite insistence to outright lies; this could be regarded as a market failure due to a negative externality. A similar mechanism of uncareful adoption of knowledge from abroad could make bad translations from English, preserving a foreign syntax and resorting to newly invented Anglicism, spread a distorted national language from firms' internal documents to media and everyday use. Preservation of national language and business culture in domestically owned enterprises, whether government or privately owned, could work to correct such a
market failure. Similarly, the insistence of all stakeholders, from local management to customers, that foreign companies adapt to national culture, could result in its enrichment by selected foreign elements rather than devastation and replacement.

6. CONCLUSION

In periods of economic prosperity relative to own past or to the neighboring countries, most people may be sufficiently satisfied with what they have so as not to be willing to risk it in a social conflict, even if they are hurt by some injustices. In such times, the elites could become careless about preserving the balance between economic and social development, the concern for themselves and their countrymates, or about protecting the environment. But, in spite of the fact that people have a tendency to believe that "this time is different" (Reinhart, Rogoff, 2008) – that due to better experience and policy making skills the current round of prosperity will last forever – financial and economic crises always happen again. Unfortunately, the social strife which frequently accompanies them can have the potential to lead to even greater disasters, the interwar Europe being a telling example.

In this chapter, we argued that it is possible to reconcile economic thinking with broader social thinking by linking the preferences represented by utility functions in neoclassical economics with a desired system of values. We also discussed why relying on virtue ethics instead of liberal ethics to inspire economic policy may be a way to both make historical disasters less likely and to, also in normal times, improve the social wellbeing and that of most individuals. Using a number of examples, we showed that our approach has the potential to consider both economic and non-economic contributions to wellbeing simultaneously. In these examples, many corrections of the financial aspect of inefficiencies result from replacement of costly government intervention with social rules of cohesive value communities and private initiatives. But, we also showed that higher efficiency could also be associated with lower consumption or production, depending on the effects on non-material wellbeing, as well as on material wellbeing in the long run, that a certain allocation may have. Moreover, we argued that even apparently purely non-economic decisions, such as foreign policy of a country, can also be evaluated for their efficiency. For the gains to the non-financial aspect of wellbeing, the influence of the elites on values was found to be of great importance. Considering small open economies, our approach recommends cooperation and solidarity between societies in a similar situation: extending the market size could help to reduce market failures due to market power, while a common insistence on preserving elements of similar national cultures may force international companies to adapt rather than impose their business culture. Finally, we believe that future research on this topic should further develop and refine the concept of efficiency which takes into account individual preferences over more than material goods, the concept which we began to describe in this chapter.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

For valuable comments and suggestions we would like to thank participants at the 9th International Conference of the Institute of Economic Sciences in Belgrade, and the lecture series at the Institute for Philosophy and Social Theory of the University of Belgrade.

REFERENCES

- 1. Fatić, Aleksandar (2016) *Virtue as Identity: Emotions and the Moral Personality*. London and New York: Rowman and Littlefield.
- 2. Fishkin, James (1984) *Beyond subjective morality: Ethical reasoning and political philosophy.* New Haven: Yale University Press.
- 3. Gray, John (1995) Liberalism. 2nd ed. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- 4. Harvey, David (2005) A Brief History of Neoliberalism. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 5. Krestić, Petar V. (1998), http://www.srpsko-nasledje.co.rs/sr-l/1998/07/article-10.html (15.12.2017.)
- 6. Mas-Colell, Andreu, Michael Whinston and Jerry Green (1995) *Microeconomic Theory*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 7. Miljković, Violeta (1994), https://tekstovi-pesama.com/viki-miljkovic/coca-colamarlboro/29047/1 (15.12.2017.)
- 8. Mladjan, Mrdjan M. and Dušan Z. Marković (2016) "Problem neuspeha tržišta u Srbiji prilikom tranzicije na tržišnu privredu" in *Pravci strukturnih promena u procesu pristupanja Evropskoj Uniji*, editors Jelena Minović, Duško Bodroža, Ivan Stošić, and Božo Drašković, pp. 130-147. Beograd: Institut ekonomskih nauka.
- 9. Nagel, Thomas (1979) Mortal Questions. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- 10. Pearce, David W. and Robert Shaw (1999) *The MIT Dictionary of Modern Economics*, 4th ed. Cambridge: The MIT Press.
- 11. Pindyck, Robert S. and Daniel L. Rubinfeld (2001) *Microeconomics*, 5th ed. Upper Saddle River: Prentice Hall.
- 12. Reinhart, Carmen and Kenneth Rogoff (2008) This Time is Different: A Panoramic View of Eight Centuries of Financial Crises. *NBER* w.p. 13882.
- 13. Seligman, Adam B. (1997) *The Problem of Trust*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- 14. Slote, Michael (2010) Moral Sentimentalism. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 15. Uslaner, Eric M. (2002) *The Moral Foundations of Trust*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- 16. Velimirović, Nikolaj (2001) "Srednji sistem" in *Srpski zavet na razmeđi svetova*, editor Matej Arsenijević. Cetinje: Svetigora.

SHAPING TRADITION INTO CULTURAL-ECONOMIC GOODS IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT – CASE OF SERBIAN SILK PRODUCTION

Milica KOČOVIĆ DE SANTO, Research Associate*

Vesna ALEKSIĆ, Senior Research Associate

Abstract: The main goal of the paper is to answer the question: How to use traditional knowledge in order to create cultural-economic goods? This is topical because the connection of real tradition and crafts with responsible forms of entrepreneurship represent a real direction to achieve sustainable development goals, with a revitalization of culture that is related to real historical facts.

This paper represents a continuation of work that relies on our previous research findings (related to key phenomena: silk production, silk roads, proto-industrialization, cultural political economy etc.). Theories we rely on (such as the cultural political economy, sustainable development, common goods, social and cultural entrepreneurship, cultural tourism) have enabled to summarize the facts that are related to our key phenomena.

We used our previous research data which implied strong historical approaches, archive data and field research. This allowed us to strengthen universal findings and conclusions we came to about each element. In confirming mentioned conclusions our specific previous studies helped a lot (Serbia, Calabria cases), as well as the examples of other authors. Moreover, this helped us create a possible solution for a revitalization of silk production as multi-layered heritage that can contribute to sustainable development.

Keywords: silk production, cultural-economic goods, entrepreneurship, sustainable development, proto-industrial phase, textile trade and markets

1. INTRODUCTION

We have identified the phenomenon of silk and sericulture (silk industry) as very important because silk represents a multilayered heritage that connects history, culture, agriculture and trade. In one word silk represents ideal cultural-economic good since it had very long tradition, in terms of production and trade (within

^{*} Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia, milica.kocovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

^{&#}x27;Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia, vesna.aleksic@ien.bg.ac.rs

borders of Serbia (from 18th to the middle of 20th century)). Also, silk cannot be observed only through one country context, since it represents imported heritage from Asia to Europe. Therefore in the next parts, we take into account the silk and its various meanings (cultural, historical, economic), over time (from the protoindustrial phase, significant for textiles in general) relying on the conclusions of our previous research (Serbia and Calabria cases). Previous is important, because it allowed us to model solutions in third part of this research paper that could support silk production revitalization as a traditional knowledge and craftsman skills, by (re)shaping it into the cultural-economic goods, supported by responsible forms of entrepreneurship (cultural, social) and tourism (cultural, eco-cultural, and other alternative forms). Referring to the grand theories helped in the perception of macro systems (such as cultural policy at country level), while middle theories primarily had significance in micro systemic functioning (management in culture options on organizational and/ or institutional level). The most important base of previous theories leads to a cultural political economy (CPE) and cultural economics authors. Moreover most significant as previous important research for this paper are the works of Jessop (Albritton, Jessop and Westra 2010; Jessop, Sum 2013; Jessop 2015) and other authors that contributed strongly to CPE shaping.

Why is proto-industrial phase important? Because our research has a very strong historical background in order to achieve a better understanding of relevant phenomena around silk. The proto-industrial phase of economic development is extremely important since it represents the beginning and initial frame for textile production. Thus silk, as a textile must be seen through proto-industrial discourse.

Proto-industrialization scholars aimed to explain the transition from feudalism to capitalism, as well as the social transition - a traditional society of peasant agriculture to the modern industrial world. Generally, proto/industrial phase represents the period from 15th to 18th century, and it is characterized by smallscale production which is considered to be the beginning of the organized textile (and as well silk) production. In most cases, these were very fragmented economies. As author Huston notes traditional local handicrafts had always existed in rural areas, but in the period from the fifteenth to the nineteenth century a new economic development occurred in many regions (to which considerable attention is now being paid (Houston, K.D.M. Snell 1984)). This period is also characterized by an expansion of rural industry without major changes in the techniques or scale of production, and as a development phase, it is termed as proto-industrial, as an industrialization before industrialization (Houston 1984, Kriedtc, Mcdick 1977). The time of early modernization/proto-modernization (15th century) processes and activities related to the textile production have supported largest worker groups outside the agricultural sector. Mercantile capital in the feudal system, allowed the integration of regional fragmented economies into the wider international network of commodity (Fennell Mazzaoui 1997), so this early exchanges had the potential to affect multiple transformations especially important in terms of market evolution through production relations between interest groups (merchants, aristocracy, producers, consumers). As Huston noted the trade was seen as an "engine of growth" in the proto-industrial phase (Huston 1984, KMS 1974).

To understand the importance of trade better, we decided to elaborate some previous research ideas in next part of the discussion, in order to spot the elements that had an impact on the global development of the textile industry and markets, with a special emphasis on sericulture (silk industry). This will make our previous main findings on silk industry firmly and universally important.

In terms of transportation options, textile industry strongly relied on road traffic (silk roads, Saharan caravan and others) and later oversea transportation towards colonial but also non-colonial countries (North, South America, Africa, India and other Asian seaside parts). That is why silk roads had and still have a very important role as cultural and economic transnational corridor.

2. PROTO-INDUSTRIAL TEXTILE WORLDS MARKETS -DISCUSSION ABOUT GLOBAL TRAJECTORIES

When talking about European textile markets and international activities the main actors could be separately distinguished: English, Dutch, Spanish, French and Portugal. These actors mostly had the same goals and attempts, at first place to spread markets (from internal to European but furthermore (through the colonial world) in all parts of the world. Largest silk producer in Europe was Italy, (producing half of the total European produced silk) and their export direction was primarily for the European market, and after for the other worlds markets in terms of sophisticated silk products intended for elite consumption. Even as the main producer, Italy imported raw silk from the Levant and other Asian parts. In the 16th century, Spain had attempted to integrate sericulture markets with colonial South America, since they introduced sericulture to the natives (but also wisely expropriated their traditional knowledge about textile in order to be able to satisfy specific market taste and demand) (Grijalva 1989, Mazzaoui 1997). Previous Spanish attempt was disabled by extensive Chinese exports through the triangular trade route China-Manila-Spanish America with involved Chinese community on the Philippines that later in the 17th century represented dominant China silk export direction (Chao 1989, Mazzaoui 1997). In proto-industrial phase, exchanges were based on different types of products with other countries and extensive export that brought significant capital (gold, silver, diamonds, luxury goods and money).

Generally, Mediterranean and Balkan countries except cotton and wool developed silk production (but also other specific nature textiles that came from Mediterranean plants such as ginestra textile) because of suitable climate (Kocovic, Markovic, De Santo 2017). When talking about territory, European silk was produced along the Mediterranean coastal zone, and Balkan, while Asian production was spread everywhere – from China, Japan, to the Middle East, Central Asia, and India, later in the 19th century new areas appeared (Wuxi in Central China or Kashmir in India) (Cafagna, Federico 1992, Kocovic, Markovic, De Santo 2017).

Speaking in terms of continental particularities, Europe was the main importer of Asian goods, later exporting them towards other continents. Europe could not ever come nearly close to the level of Asian production of silk, primarily because of the cultural differences. Not only technology and economic organization but also socio-cultural norms helped in processes of governing the usages of textiles, as market social, political or ethnic status or as ceremonial objects that also favored the consumption of traditional silk and cotton products of the region (Mazzaoui 1997). As previously mentioned, Asian trade has been solid and strong over time, because internal demand was satisfied by internal supply, but also added values were created through the export. Namely, Asian countries and people have always been strongly attached to the tradition, identity, meanings, rituals, societal values that were transported as well to the fashion and taste for textile (which shaped total Asian demand). This is why Asian people have always preferred their own textile (that also implied small proportion of European cloth in Asian markets) (Mazzaoui 1997, Kocovic, Markovic, De Santo 2017). On the first place Asian market development was based on internal markets, and after on export. In opposite European market actors have always been searching for new markets - mostly external. In proto-industrial phase, most of the countries would have applied elementary self-regulating measures in terms of guarding internal markets from price dumping. For example, British export towards colonial markets although highly depended on merchants, recorded most important growth (from England, Scotland and Ireland) thanks to protectionist measures and parallel expansion of the production. Ottoman Industry was already under the pressure of European competition at the second half of 16th century (Mazzaoui 1997, Cizakca 1997). Because European countries in this phase had almost constantly increasing demand for the raw materials (mostly because of lack ability to produce internally on a larger scale raw materials - but instead final products), this would implied the rise of raw fabrics at the international markets and price fluctuations. Speaking about the interdependence of that time, it is valuable to mention that for example Lowcost English and Dutch wool, and Indian cotton, actually cut off the Iranian workers output, and on contrary, the rise of Iranian silk prices had the strong impact of European manufactures (which mostly used Iranian raw silk). Such situation often led to the rise of European (manufacturers) demand for Italian (French and Spanish) raw silk (Kocovic, Markovic, De Santo 2017). Europeans had the role of Trade Bridge between other sides. Indian textile was superior by many terms (price, low-cost labor, skills, flexibility and adaptability towards demand etc), that made them main supplier in the global economy of quality cotton. Tokugawa Shogunate had strong direction and commitment to the development expanding sericulture and textile industry that made Japan successfully prepared for the future industrialization. What makes Japanese approach towards silk development different than any other is the fact that producers of the final silk products were peasants who processed their own raw materials from the first to the final stage, after they would sell these products to the merchants (who in most cases used credits) (Kocovic, Markovic, De Santo 2017). Rural producers in Japan increased steadily their market share (to the detriment of urban artisans) and until the arrival of technology higher specializations did not exist. This made the development of strong rural communities with social mobility possible. Also, this allowed land-less people to get their fair shares that actually represented the capacity building in all the terms. Japan proto-industrial phase could be explained as a "strengths reinforcement of the vulnerable, through reduced improvements by factual achieved power" (Kocovic, Markovic, De Santo 2017). African mostly elite demand had strong cultural focus, similar to Asian.

Above mentioned vivid textile trade inter-relations between continents and countries were provided by the existence of various routes, trails and roads. More about the multi-layered importance of roads will be shortly explained in next part that is specifically related to silk roads.

In terms of transportation options, textile industry strongly relied on road traffic (silk roads, Saharan caravan and others) and later oversea transportation towards colonial but as well non-colonial countries (North, South America, Africa, India and other Asian seaside parts). In addition to the initial role of trade and transport, Silk roads assumed long-term (millennium) continual process of permanent connectivity of cultures, languages, people, and goods. It could be said that silk roads from the beginning, have been representing the first transnational and global corridors that provided migrations of vibrant values through the respect of culture and economy. As we could see the trade within silk roads took international proportions as initial reason point, evolving into different types of products exchanges (Kocovic, Markovic, De Santo 2017). Processes within the silk roads have been constantly reshaped, allowing deeper understanding and acceptance between (different) people. This created firm relations between people, culture, environment, within natural landscapes and associated capillary tracks, trails,

routes, paths of latter called - silk roads. Besides the silk, parallel exchanges that took place on these roads (such as languages, religions, literature, writings, scripts, spices, legends, materials, grains, animals, people etc.) enabled the great cultural mix, mobility and exchange. (Kocovic, Aleksic, Markovic, 2017).

3. SERICULTURE AND ITS PHASES - SERBIAN EXAMPLE

In the wider terms important for Serbian example, the purchase of raw silk was conducted by the private cartels in the Balkan region. Something very important we found in an archive is that previously mentioned purchases of raw silk would later be launched without any labels by private cartels to the European silk markets (Lyon, Milan, UK, etc.). Moreover, the silk produced in The Kingdom of SHS was sold on the mentioned stock markets, to the wholesale and final buyers as Italian or Hungarian, without right information regarding the country of origin production all until better organization on State level in terms of trade.

The Silk production brought inherent culture and economy in Serbia throughout history. These categories: culture and economy, are very important because with silk arrival they were formed and re-shaped within any terrain in contact with the indigenous. Therefore, the sericulture as much as universal has been very authentically developed in all places. It is likely that mulberry tree, would not arrive in Europe if there was no need for sericulture development (Aleksić, 2010).

Table 1: The three phases of sericulture in Serbia

The first phase of sericulture 1769-1914	The second phase of sericulture 1918-1941	The third phase of sericulture 1946-1960
1,0, 1,1	1710 1711	

Source: Authors shaping of information from Archive of Yugoslavia

The first factory of silk was created from the middle of 18th century in Pancevo, the city in Banat part of northern Serbia. This can be recognized as the first phase of sericulture in Serbia. At that time region of Banat was part of Austrian military border. The production of silk was introduced in 1733 and was rebuilt in the Banat border in 1769, at that time there was produced 528 pounds of cocoons. Unwinding silk bureau was founded in 1776, in the city Bela Crkva (White Church) and Panchevo (Mileker, 1926; Đukić 2017).

The second phase of sericulture in Serbia begins after the First World War (1914-1918), and the establishment of the Kingdom of Serbs, Croats and Slovenes (the Kingdom of Yugoslavia 1929-1945). It was divided into three sectors: state, concession (private) and free-range sector. Sericulture in that period was promoted as a *social and not only profitable category*. The intention was to give the *opportunity to the most vulnerable people* (poorest agricultural population) to earn more. By breeding silkworms they could get additional income before any money from agriculture arrives. The entire organization of the state sericulture was directed towards planting and cultivation of mulberry trees. Planted mulberry trees were mostly located in common and public areas, and planting process was supported by the state budget. Mulberry trees were free for farmers to use, for lives collection in process of silkworms breeding (for the need of further cocoons production). There were only two concession companies for the cultivation of silkworms. One of them was in Croatia and the second was Silk association located in Lapovo (Serbia) that covered a pre-war area of Serbia. Free-range breeding of silkworms existed only in South of Serbia (today's Macedonia).

In the Kingdom of Yugoslavia, there were 24 stations for the purchase of silk cocoons, 10 nurseries with about 300 thousand of mulberry trees under 5 years old and even 700 thousand planted mulberry trees along the streets and public roads that were controlled by over 300 municipalities controllers. At the same time, more than 25 thousand of families were engaged in the cultivation of silkworms.

Until 1928, there were three state plants for dispatching silk cocoons. They were all on the rivers because the river water was needed for processing: in Novi Sad on the Danube, in Pančevo on the Tamiš and in Nova Kanjiža on the Tisa. In Novi Sad, there was a special Institute for the production and testing of silkworm seeds with Paster's cellular system and the most modern laboratory. Only in North of Serbia (Vojvodina) where 3 largest factories were located, it was possible to produce annually million to million and a half tons of raw cocoons, which represented around 400 to 500 tons of dry cocoons.

The largest State Silk Factory was located in Novi Sad and could employ 350 to 400 workers. At the annual level, it was able to process 60 tons of raw cocoons, of which about 15 tons of raw silk was produced with corresponding quantities of accompanying products.

The second largest was the State Silk Factory in Pancevo, whit about 300 workers. At the annual level, it was able to process 50 tons of raw cocoons, of which about 12 tons of raw silk was produced with appropriate quantities of accompanying products.

The state silk factory in Nova Kanjiza had 80 sets for raw silk spinning and could employ about 220 workers. At the annual level, it was able to process 45 tons of raw cocoons, of which about 11 tons of raw silk were produced with appropriate

quantities of accompanying products. All three factories were able to produce 38-40 tons of raw silk annually. During the 1920s, a special exhibition space was made in the factory in Novi Sad.

Until 1928 silk production in the Kingdom of Yugoslavia was at the third place in Europe with high-quality types of cocoons, due to the good weather conditions that contributed well to sericulture development. Practically there was not a single municipality in Vojvodina (North of Serbia), which has not been breeding silkworm. Previously sericulture was recognized as one of the most important state industries in the Kingdom of Yugoslavia. (Archive Yugoslavia, Memorial book 10 years of KSHS 1918-1928).

Factory								
Pancevo city	Novi Sad city	Novi Sad city						
	Pancevo city	Pancevo city						
	Nova Kanjiza city	Nova Kanjiza city						
Production of cocoons								
528 pounds of raw cocoons / annually	1.5 million tons of raw cocoons / annually	2-3 million tons of raw cocoons / annually						
annuany	annuarry	cocoolis / annually						
Silk Production								
/	38-40 tons of raw silk / annually	55.5 tons of raw silk /						
		annually						

 Table 2: Main silk factories and annual production before IIWW

Source: Archive of Yugoslavia

The third phase of sericulture begins in 1946 (after the end of II World War). The new established Federative Republic of Yugoslavia begins to develop the planned economy, emphasizing the progressive development of heavy industries (metallurgy, mining etc.). Tough focus on industrialization sidelined even light industry (textile industry). Nevertheless, sericulture was found its place in the first five-year economic plan of socialist Yugoslavia. Within the plan, it was estimated that the expansion of silk raw material base is possible. From 460 tons silk cocoons, that was produced in 1946, it was considered very easy to climb this production to a million and a half tons and even at two million tons in the period from 1947 to 1951. Within the first five-year plan development of the two million tons per year, production was designed. The same five-year plan was provided for the construction of two facilities for final products of silk, with a capacity of about 266 tons per year. One large factory installation containing a capacity of about 180 tons per year was provided in Titov Veles (never built) while the silk factory in Novi Sad was provided to upgrade the capacity on 52.5 to 55.5 tons However, new directions for the chemical industry came everywhere on the global level and replaced almost all the natural and clean industries until the 1960s, which caused it to after 1960 silk does not exist on industry level in Yugoslavia (Kocovic, Aleksic, Markovic, 2017).

4. MODELING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT FRAME FOR SILK REVITALIZATION AS A CULTURAL-ECONOMIC GOOD

When talking about culture and cultural goods few important meanings should be included such as culture is seen as a common good; culture represents an everyday way of life and human interrelations, and culture summarizing headquarters of meanings. Fast changing the turbulent environment with asymmetry regarding the distribution of created and existing values characterized by capitalist societies brought us to the position of the lack of ideology, societal values, followed by uncertainty clear political directions at mostly every (state) level. Mentioned flow opened up challenges related to the cultural goods. In neo-liberal market discourse cultural goods are highly influenced by economic policies, so even these goods stepped into the market competition, with added (mostly) economic values, that reshaped goods into cultural-economic.

Finding new sustainable development frame for silk revitalization implies compatible options to achieve resilient cultural department, through directions of cultural governance that is an integral part of total economic governance processes. Or research question, how to shape silk and its production as a traditional heritage to cultural-economic good, led us to the conclusion that institutional and/or organizational change is inevitable. Moreover, it is constantly happening and it is strongly influenced by capitalistic challenges. If we observe culture organizations and institutions from the point of its purpose, the reflection could be seen in the preservation and promotion, through communication and interpretation of cultural heritage by their meaning. In order to make heritage last in time, management approaches should be more creative, proactive and effective in line with contemporary changes that are happening very fast in other departments. In line with previously mentioned umbrella policies from which the cultural practice depends on, common elements should be sought that make them more compatible with total governmental policies and politics (especially related to economics) (Kocovic, 2017). This part of the study is about synthesis through a combination of theory, policy, ideology and practice through fresh initiatives (strongly based on examples from reports of relevant international bodies) from different disciplines. The interdependence of politics, policies and governance is the key in order to make modelling of silk revitalization and sustainable development possible. Moreover, establishment of comprehensive policies that would enable better integration of cultural and economic policies (having in mind the importance of culture) is essentially important in terms of silk revitalization since we understand its multilayered nature.

The work of CPE authors is pointing to the institutional changes and cultural turns in political economy and it goes in line with an implicit focus on regulation and state theories, with re-contextualization.

Modern state cumulative genesis in parallel represents capitalism development that is strongly influenced by the arena of total political economy and culture. Moreover, cultural development implies the continuous progress of human activities and lives not only in the field of culture and art but in all other areas. Or, even better development of human activities is continual progress in the field of culture, since it is an arena of social relations (Kocovic, 2017). Sesic notes that the cultural development occurs as the consequence of the interactions of different cultures, economic prosperity, technological development, social-political system etc. (Dragicevic, Sesic 2002). Jessop notes that the revenge of the 'real economy' can be seen in the continuing (as of mid-2015) liquidity, credit, and financial crises and in their role in forcibly reimposing the unity of the circuits of capital by deflating the associated bubbles (Jessop, 2016). Also in too many terms, a globalized world brought the topic of the State in a real great depression state. Jessop notes that the crisis of neo-liberalism shows that the national state generally remains the addressee of last resort in appeals to resolve economic, political, and social problems. Explaining previous, author says that neo-liberalism has undermined the territorial and temporal sovereignty of states and their capacity to resolve these crises, and that national states are not in power to coordinate interests at the international forums such as the NAFTA, the European Union, the G8, the G20, the IMF etc. (Jessop, 2016).

In terms of our previous research findings of silk and silk production, four most important findings should be taken into account in creating system solution for modelling silk revitalization in order to achieve sustainable development:

1. Silk and silk production represents a combination of *exogenous and endogenous knowledge* (see also Djukic 2017). To be clearer silk as a product of sericulture is *a combination of exogenous and endogenous knowledge*, as a practice(s) and a work activity. This can be understood through the fact that the silk production as an (economic and cultural) activity combines traditional and imported knowledge in the processes and management practices (...) Moreover, the organization of sericulture work assumed linking of agriculture and textile industry, or from labour perspective farmers and workers, where mentioned represented a link in a total chain of values in the process of silk production (Kocovic, Aleksic, Markovic 2017). In some (silk) production cases labour was elastic working in agriculture or industrial departments but in constant touch;

- 2. Silk and silk production is dissonant heritage (see also Sesic, Rogac 2014). This means that interpretations of dissonant heritage are tightly influenced by cultural memories and identities of interpreters. The experiences of the present are largely based on specific knowledge of the past thus the ways of experiencing the present are influenced by different perceptions of the past with which it can be connected(...) all the heritage is a contemporary interpretation shaped by narratives of history(...) (Kocovic, Aleksic, Markovic 2017, Sesic, Rogac 2014);
- 3. Silk and silk production had a strong *social component* for the involved people in process (in case of Serbia and Calabria case), that makes it relevant phenomenon for (re) shaping into cultural-economic good by contribution of social and cultural entrepreneurship;
- 4. Silk and silk production represented the *clean industry* that makes decent argument for silk / sericulture re-start in the name of sustainable development (Kocovic, Aleksic, Markovic, 2017).

Previous findings let us understand that silk and silk production allowed the creation of social, financial and cultural linkages between urban and rural territories and people. Seeing it as dissonant heritage helps us in the creation of narratives for new management solutions for responsible forms of alternative tourism that could contribute with entrepreneurship forms to a sustainable revitalization and reshape of silk. This is important (and dangerously indicative) since we found out that people from countries with a long tradition in the silk production (the case of Calabria and Serbia) seem to have lost their collective memory about it, so the reality is almost lost knowledge about silk and silk production. Strong social component in our both research, previous example of Serbia / The kingdom of Yugoslavia and Calabria showed that sericulture as an activity could be understood as a *social entrepreneurship* in today's language that allowed additional money for involved people that in all its phases represented form of *clean industry*.

Speaking in terms of post-millennium 17 Sustainable Development Goals and its 169 targets, these are pointed strongly to the importance and recognition for achieving human rights, gender equality and the empowerment of all women and girls. Silk and sericulture in its essence represent the base for achieving all three dimensions of sustainable development: the economic, cultural-social and environmental. Although the revitalization of sericulture in Serbia represents implicit support for all 17 post-millennium goals of sustainable development, explicitly and specifically it contributes to the 14 following goals: Goal 1; Goal 2

; Goal 3; Goal 4; Goal 5; Goal 8; Goal 9; Goal 10 because its international context; Goal 11; Goal 12; Goal 13 because it is clean industry; Goal 15 because it can promote and protect environment; Goal 16 because it is highly inclusive activity; Goal 17 because it has international character that implies global partnerships (UN General Assembly Agenda 2015).

Taking into account the previously given, new models and solutions in order to make silk and sericulture as cultural-economic good (specified by heritage, tradition, identity etc) should go into few possible directions:

- 1) Searching for opportunities and support of (sustainable) development should be based on real resources (commons: natural, cultural, and human)
- 2) Such political economy that places the issues of long term survival of real resources ahead of the consolidation and capital growth (support disciplines: Ecology economics, Cultural political economy)
- 3) Direction where the management of real resources, as commons, is treated in more community inclusive manner (see: Elinor Ostrom views on governing commons also Social and Cultural entrepreneurship theories).
- 4) New forms of participatory governance, that will enable peaceful connection between people, planet and prosperity as most important postmillennia actors and goals (see more: Kocovic, Djukic (2015), Kocovic, Djukic, Vicentijevic (2016), Kocovic, 2017).

In close line with the proposed modelling for silk and sericulture revitalization in Serbia, three examples from Italy - Calabria region could represent cases for blueprinting. Three initiatives happened within municipalities: Mendicino, San Floro and Acri. Common to all of three initiatives is that they represent partnerships between the civil sector and the state, which were later recognized and supported by EU funds.

Mendicino municipality still has strong marks related to silk. Namely, on the building of the municipality, there is an integrated sculpture cocoon of silk bug – as a municipality brand and clear identity. There is a museum which is constantly open, with traditional basic sericulture equipment. In this municipality, silk production is still happening on a small scale, by several old women who preserved the tradition and knowledge of silk processing and breeding silk bugs. Sericulture lives through women's entrepreneurship at the level of Mendicino municipality.

San Floro example is most interested. This project is initiated twenty years ago, by its Major. He recognized the importance of revitalization of silk production that was very important in this municipality area. Initial support was done by the municipality through planting 3000 mulberry trees, which are necessary for silk

bug breeding. This was a long-term project, first supported by the municipality. After the retired mayor, the new generation of young people from the municipality continued to work on the project. They organized the activities through starting the museum, workshops for the production of silk bugs and cocoons, production of scarves and silk jewellery, production of secondary products – mulberry jam, mulberry liquor, but also organized tours and visits to these production places for schools and tourists. Year-by-year the visits growth have increased a few hundred times. This project is most sustainable because it is depended on three young people that are highly motivated, educated and using silk narratives to talk stories around silk, with cultural and economic sustainable components. This project represents optimal mix of cultural and creative tourism and entrepreneurship that led to the synergy and added values.

Acri municipality is an example of cooperative where the silk production is taking place on a traditional old craft level. They had an expert who had the knowledge about silk production, and they started this production, workshops and courses in order to contribute and help vulnerable groups by their inclusion into processes and also other forms of social assistance.

What we can conclude with regard to the mentioned examples and restoration of silk production is that it is always small scale, it is possible only in places with real history and silk tradition, and last but maybe most important that in all three cases SMEs aspect is a key element. Moreover, as the contribution to sustainable development, we recognize responsible forms of (social, creative and cultural, women's) entrepreneurship and tourism, which in combination generate added values.

5. CONSLUSION

In terms of world's textile markets and its development, we can conclude that proto-industrial phase was a very important step for further industrialization. Previous meant that countries which were following each other in the textile development and international trade in proto-industrial phase, had very good start position for further industrialization because this phase represented the first accumulation of all the necessary conditions for further industrialization. We have shown by the elaboration of many world's examples how the global textile trade looked like because that allowed understanding the importance that textile trade had as an engine of growth in the proto-industrial phase.

Although the silk production in the Kingdom of Yugoslavia in 1928 was at the third place in Europe with high-quality types of cocoons, due the good weather

conditions that contributed well to sericulture development, there was not a single municipality in Vojvodina (North of Serbia), which has not been breeding silkworm ,also it is notable that Yugoslavia already had delayed its participation in the process of building textile and silk (proto)industry in comparison to the other proto-industrial actors (since others started from a few thousand to the few hundred years earlier with sericulture).

When talking about significance importance and meaning of silk, we can observe it as multi-layered phenomena that were imported (from Asia), which brought knowledge that was shaped many times during its travel. Namely, silk can be seen as a prestigious textile, also as a know-how product, as well as a combination of added knowledge (from different total economic branches) during its travelling along the silk roads from Eastern to the Western World parts.

In order to highlight the importance of silk and sericulture revitalization and its modelling, we mentioned four most important findings from our previous researches. First of all, silk as a product of sericulture represents a combination of exogenous and endogenous knowledge, as a practice(s) and a work activity. Sericulture in Serbian case was hampered mostly by the fact that two Ministries were formally in charge of this industry. Ministry for agriculture and water (MAW) was responsible (through body Central silk management) for the part related to the production of mulberry trees and purchase of cocoons from producers, where Ministry of trade and industry (MTI), was responsible (through body Public Silk Factories) for the further industrial processing and sale of the final product. Main challenges arose because of the fact that necessary determination of value for cocoon in one ministry (MAW) represented input price information for the final product in another ministry (MTI). This led to the silk international trade without having full balance information, and questionable calculated final prices. Moreover, the inability to complete the process of monitoring the production cycle led to the lower levels of total output than planned (...) Costs of production could not be reduced in time, which put state and producers always in the position of material loss. The Council of Ministers of all government ministries, along with two competent for several years have been discussed the possible directions until 1924 when sericulture got unified management under the MTI. Another challenge for sericulture, perceived by the Minister (MTI) was reflected in the fact that in certain areas sericulture was hampered by concessions operations (due holding a monopoly in the purchase in some parts of the country and dealing with market speculation on internal, but also external trade). The concessions were engaged in foreign trade. As private citizens, they were not interested in the product and greater social benefits from the Yugoslav silk. They were led by personal benefits, selling the state-made silk unmarked claiming that it was produced in Italy or Hungary on the silk markets abroad. After the unification of sericulture industry under one MTI, Kingdom of Yugoslavia started to export silk very successfully on international markets mostly to Lyon, Milan and Zurich. In some cases such as Japan case, *it is the notable demarcation of the agricultural and industrial regions* through the combination of employment in the terms of labour structure that combined both aspects). Previous also means that the silk and silk production allowed the creation of (social, financial and cultural) linkages between urban and rural territories or, it was the bridgehead for people from the rural and urban areas that also represent a combination of exogenous and endogenous in terms of departments, but also this finding is support for our finding that *sericulture had strong social component*.

Another important conclusion of this paper is that the *silk carries the meaning and the significance of dissonant heritage*. We came to the conclusion based on our field research that people from countries with a long tradition in the silk production seem to have lost their collective memory about processes around silk and its existence. This is even more critical because it happened in a typical area of silk production, where the result is collectively lost memory in the present. Losing collective memory is dangerous because it implies the loss of culture and identity (Kocovic, Markovic, De Santo 2017).

The third important conclusion is related *to the strong sericulture social component*. The example of Serbia has shown that sericulture as an activity could be understood as a social entrepreneurship in today's language that allowed additional money for involved people. In case of Calabria, it meant surplus or first capital accumulation for landless people. In both cases - vulnerable groups from an agricultural area that was the poorest population benefited directly from silk production. More different world's examples could strengthen previous conclusion (such as Colonial Spanish America and Japan case) that were characterized by stronger involvement of women in total processes, peasant producers, small-scale production with stronger partnerships etc.

The last but not the least universal finding is supported by the fact that *everything around silk is clean and sustainable*, that makes it clean and desirable industry. Moreover, this means that the possibility of re-innovation, re-start, through alternative touristic narratives, new forms of a creative and cultural economy could be very important for silk – as a multi-layered heritage.

In the third part we pointed out the importance of silk and sericulture revitalization with arguments that are in line with 17 sustainable development goals, and desirable steps to include. Calabria examples we gave that are related to restoration

of silk production enabled us bringing more conclusions and arguments about silk revitalization in Serbia. In mentioned examples silk production is always small scale, it is possible only in places with real history and silk tradition, and last but maybe most important that in all three cases SMEs aspect is key element. Moreover, as a contribution to sustainable development, we recognize responsible forms of (social, creative and cultural, women's) entrepreneurship and tourism, which in combination generate added values.

Based on theory, field research, international sustainable development frame, and our previous findings allowed us to give the final conclusion that shaping tradition into cultural-economic goods (knowledge, heritage, real resource) is desirable and possible in case of silk and silk production in Serbia. Moreover, it is very important because it represents strong support for sustainable development in general.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research is financially supported by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia, research projects no. III-47009 and no. OI-179015.

REFERENCES

- Aleksić, V., 2010, Foreign financial capital as the catalyst of Serbian economic development before the Second World War: Economic and Financial Stability in SE Europe in a Historical and Comparative Perspective. Beograd: National Bank of Serbia, p.p. 315-333.
- Albritton,R., Jessop,B. & Westra, R. (2010). Political Economy and Global Capitalism The 21st Century, Present and Future. Anthem Press An imprint of Wimbledon Publishing Company, This edition first published in UK and USA 2010 by ANTHEM PRESS, and New York, NY 10016, USA.
- 3. Archive Yugoslavia, Memorial book 10 years of KSHS 1918-1928.
- 4. Chao Kang, 1984, La production textile dans la Chine traditionelle, Annales: Economic, Societes, Civilisations XXXIX, Paris pp: 957-976.
- 5. Cizakca M., 1985, *Incorporation of the Middle East into European World-Economy*, Review VIII New York, pp: 353-377.
- 6. Djukic, V., 2017, (KO)SMO, Institute for theatre, film, radio and television, Faculty of Dramatic Arts, Belgrade.
- 7. Federico, G., 2009, An economic history of the silk industry, 1830-1930, *Cambridge Studies in Modern Economic History*, Cambridge University press, digitally printed version.
- 8. Jessop, B. (2016). The State Past, Present, Future, Polity Press 65 Bridge Street Cambridge CB2 1UR, UK.

Shaping tradition into cultural-economic goods in order to achieve sustainable

- Kocovic, M. 2017, New initiatives and cultural organizations that makes identity bloom, 8th International conference of political economy, Institutions, National Identity, Power and Governance in the 21 century ICOPEC, 28-30 june, Belgrade Serbia
- Kocovic, M. Aleksic, V. Markovic, M. 2017, Silk production as imported industrial heritage that came from Silk roads to Europe, Serbian example, International conference: Silk Cities 2017 - Reconnect Population to Urban heritage in the Middle and Central Asia 11-13.07.2017. UCL institute London. https://www.ucl.ac.uk/bartlett/development/events/2017/jul/reconnect-populationurban-heritage-middle-east-central-asia
- 11. Kocovic, M., Djukic, V & Vicentijevic, D. (2016) Making heritage more valuable and sustainable through intersectoral networking, The ENCATC Journal of Cultural Management and Policy, online magazine
- 12. Kocovic, M., Djukić, V. (2015) Partnership as a strategy to achieve optimal participatory governance and risk mitigation (of cultural and natural heritage), *The ENCATC Journal of Cultural Management and Policy, I SSN 2224-2554, online magazine*
- 13. Kocovic, Markovic, De Santo, 2017, *Silk (as an imported heritage) and its market evolution in the South of Italy Calabria example*, 1st International symposium of silk roads studies, Nevsehir 21-23.09.2017. http://www.issas.net/program.html
- 14. Kriedtc, H. Mcdick and j. Schlumbohm, Industrialization before industrialization (Cambridge, I98I). Translated by B. Schempp, first published as Industrialisierung vor der Industriali.sieruyng (Gdttingen, 1977). (Henceforth KMS)
- 15. Luciano C., Giovanni F., 1992, La Seta in Europa SEC.XIII-XX, International conference 4-9 may, ch: *The World Silk Trade: A long period overview pp: 634-683*.
- 16. Mino Grijalva, M., 1989, *Proto-Industria Colonial*, Historia Mexicana XXXVIII (Mexico, 1989), pp 793-818.
- 17. Fennell Maureen, M., 1997, Textiles: Production, Trade, Demand, An expanding World: The European Impact on World History 1450-1800, vol 12.
- Mileker, M., 1926, History of the Banat of military border 1764-1873, (pp: 10), re printed Pančevo History Archive 2004
- 19. Dragićević Šešić, M., Javna i kulturna politika, socio-kulturološki aspekti, Magna Agenda, Beograd, 2002.
- Rab Houston and K. D. M. Snell, 1984, Proto-Industrialization? Cottage Industry, Social Change, and Industrial Revolution Author(s): Source: The Historical Journal, Vol. 27, No. 2 (Jun., 1984), pp. 473-492 Published by: Cambridge University Press Stable URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2639188
- 21. Sesic, M., Rogac Mijatovic, M., 2014, "Balkan Dissonant Heritage Narratives (and Their Attractiveness) for Tourism", American Journal of Tourism Management, doi:10.5923/s.tourism.201402.02
- 22. Sum, N.-L. & Jessop, B. (2013). Towards a Cultural Political Economy: *Putting Culture in its Place in Political Economy*.EdwardElgar:Cheltenham,UK
- 23. UN Agenda http://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/70/1&Lang=E
- 24. William B. Hauser, 1974, *Economic Institutional Change in Tokugawa Japan: Osaka and the Kinai Cotton Trade*. London: Cambridge University Press.

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT AND SUSTAINABLE EMPLOYMENT DURING TRANSITION IN SERBIA

Kosovka OGNJENOVIĆ, MSc*

Abstract: The objective of this paper is to assess the process of matching the skills available by the workforce and the skills demanded by the employers in the Serbian labour market. A skill mismatch problem is mainly caused by the structural unemployment. The main causes of skills mismatches are the unfavourable structure of the workforce and slow adjustment capacities of the education and training institutions, on the supply side. On the demand side, skills mismatches arise due to inability of the employers to develop more complex tasks and the low level of the companies' training intentions. Unfavourable structure of skills may affect both job candidates, policy makers, and the employers in a way that it prolongs the time spent in job searching, induces the increase in social expenditures, and reduces business productivity. In this paper employability skills are analysed in the context of sustainable employment and it is concluded that the Serbian labour market generates substantial skills gaps through all levels of education.

Keywords: employability, labour market, skills, structural unemployment.

1. INTRODUCTION

Skills are defined as an individual's knowledge, competencies and abilities acquired during the formal education, non-formal and informal learning (Cappelli 2015; Kahn 2015). A critical concept of skills relates them directly to the job requirements. Skills vary over one's career and they are subject to different practices that indicate weak functioning of the labour market, such as skills shortages, skills gaps and skills mismatches. A skill mismatch arises when there is an imbalance 'between the qualifications and skills that individuals possess and those that are needed by the labour market' (Cedefop 2015, 27). In a similar way, skills gaps are related to the situation where 'skills' possessed by the job applicants and/or employees in companies 'are below the level required to perform a particular job', whereas skills shortages indicate the situation on the labour market when 'there are not enough job candidates of certain occupations and skills' (Cappelli 2015, 252; Cedefop 2015, 28).

^{*} Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia, kosovka.ognjenovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

Skills development at the country level is under a strong influence of the structural change (Colombano, Krkoska 2009). The main drivers of skills development are the increasing demand of particular economic sectors, including, for instance, information and communication technologies and other services sectors, and a demographic change that influences the ageing of the workforce and an increase in the amount of obsolete skills. In a broader sense, employability depends on qualifications, knowledge, skills and attitudes (Hillage, Pollard 1998). The development of employability skills supports the concept of sustainable employment, where sustainability refers to a satisfactory level of skills utilization during the lifetime. The main objective of this paper is to examine the level of employability skills development, and in particular how the process of matching the skills available by the workforce and the skills demanded by the employers function in the Serbian labour market. The findings that relate to the supply and the demand side of skills utilization are derived by using the data of recently conducted the Labour Force Survey and the Employers Survey.

The relationship between skills and sustainable employment has become an important topic, especially in the developed economies struggling with a decline in the active population and the ageing of the workforce. Siničáková (2011) argues that labour mobility within the European Union (EU) member states increases the level of occupation-specific and transferable skills. On the other hand, it also induces skills shortages in the new member states because highly-skilled workers prefer higher wages and better working conditions that are usually offered in the old EU member states.

In the case of Serbia, however, the importance of skills for the labour market participants' employability is further associated with the high and volatile unemployment, a pronounced rate of the increase in the long-term unemployment, especially among the youth, and considerable skill mismatches. All those issues characterize the structural unemployment. For instance, in the aftermath of the economic crisis, the employers hesitate to open job vacancies what causes a time lag between the business opportunities and the real needs for workers who possess certain knowledge and skills (Ognjenović, Branković 2013a). In particular, this is a common feature of the economies that share similar paths of the transitional reforms, characterized by a weak business climate and where entrepreneurial intentions among the youth are not sufficiently developed and supported (Rajh et al. 2018). In general, the companies in Serbia have a low intention to train. However, the findings differ depending on the economic sector, region and the size of the company (Ognjenović 2015).

The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) member countries spend, on average, around 5.2 percent of the gross domestic product (GDP) on education, including both the public and the private sector expenditures (OECD 2016). They expect a lower level of unemployment among those with vocational upper secondary education in comparison with general secondary education, as well as among those who acquired their degrees in the higher education institutions. The Government of the Republic of Serbia in the *Strategy for the Development of Education* envisages increasing the public expenditures for education from current 4.5 to 6 percent of the GDP by 2020 (Official Gazette 2012). Also, in order to continuously improve skills of the workforce, it is envisaged that at least 7 percent of the adult population attends some lifelong learning programs. These objectives are harmonized with the employment policies included in the *National Employment Strategy for the Period 2011-2020* (Official Gazette 2011). Support to the development of skills of the workforce is covered by active labour market policy measures.

The structure of this paper is as follows. The next section describes the data and a method used in the analysis, defines concepts and provides some basic comparisons of the main indicators between Serbia and the selected countries. The second section presents the main results of the analysis and the discussion of the relevant findings, while the last section concludes the paper.

2. RESEARCH METHODS

2.1. Data and methods

Three main sources of data are used in the analysis of qualifications and skills needs in the Serbian labour market. Two data sources represent nationally representative consecutive surveys, whereas one source of information is collected for the purposes of compiling a report used to compare world economies.

In order to analyse the supply of skills and occupations in the Serbian labour market the Labour Force Survey (LFS) data are used. This is the representative source of data provided by the Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia (SORS) at the individual level. On the other hand, an analysis of the demand for skills and occupations is carried out using the Employers Survey established by the National Employment Service (NES). A sample unit in this survey is a company selected to participate in the process of data collection.

Selection of the sample units for both surveys is based on the statistical theory of sampling. Recently conducted the 2016 LFS was realised on a total sample of 133.7 thousand individuals, including 116.4 thousand individuals older than 15 years. The Employers Survey for 2016 was conducted on a sample of 3775 companies. This survey is used since 2011 as an instrument for short-term anticipation of occupation and skill needs at the level of individual companies, economic sectors and regions. However, the main drawback of this survey is that skills needs are assessed only by the employers, whereas the information such as the usage of skills or the employers' training intentions is absent from the instrument currently in use. Therefore, the assessment of skills gaps and skills shortages based on this survey is not complete. Similar instruments are developed for the European companies (Cedefop 2015), or for the OECD countries, including the Survey of Adult Skills (Pellizzari, Anne 2017).

Both data sources for Serbia enable the comparisons through time, regions and economic sectors. However, only data aggregated at the national level were used in this analysis.

In addition, the data of the World Economic Forum (WEF) are used for the comparison of the best ranked world economies with the selected Central and Eastern European (CEE) countries in terms of the participation of knowledgeintensive jobs in the total workforce, as well as the availability of skilled workforce in the respective countries.

This analysis was carried out using analytical and empirical research methods. In particular, statistical methods for data aggregation and processing were applied, but also comparative methods and interpretation of the results for Serbia and other selected countries were used.

2.2. Concepts and comparisons

The demand for skills and knowledge at the level of an economy largely depends on the complexity of tasks required to be fulfilled at the workplaces in companies. In general, smaller (developed) economies have higher shares of knowledgeintensive jobs in the labour market. This can be illustrated by the WEF's *Global Information Technology Report* data when both the group of the best ranked nations (left-sided panel) and the group of selected CEE countries (right-sided panel) are observed (Baller et al. 2016). This is particularly because more pronounced diversification in production or services requires more effort directed towards innovation and knowledge. Fig. 1 shows that except for the UK the share of knowledge-intensive jobs is highly inversely correlated with the size of country measured by the number of inhabitants. Another common feature of the best ranked countries regarding the share of knowledge-intensive jobs in the overall economy is that six out of ten are the EU countries. This is not a coincidence. The EU prioritizes incentives aiming to preserve the high level of overall productivity and activities important for the improvement of EU competitiveness and of building comparative advantages (Cedefop 2015).





Source: Baller et al. (2016).

However, the difference between the best ranked CEE country Slovenia and the worst ranked economy of Albania is almost one quarter. This implies the existence of significant heterogeneity among the countries in this region. The WEF report does not publish data for Bosnia and Herzegovina. The data for the two first ranked countries show that the share of knowledge-intensive jobs in the economies makes up 41.7 and 37.2 percent of the total, respectively. Serbia's position is in the middle with 29.1 percent, which is 11.4 percentage points above the share for Albania and 12.6 percentage points below the share for Slovenia. On the other hand, the distance between Serbia and the best ranked world's economies is quite large, showing that the share of knowledge-intensive jobs in the Serbian labour market is almost twice lower than in the comparing countries.

Fig. 2 depicts the experts' estimates of how easy is it for the companies to find employees of adequate skills in the local labour markets on the scale from 1 (extremely difficult) to 7 (extremely easy). Based on these estimates, it seems that

the companies in Serbia are indifferent when the availability of skilled workers is considered. However, regarding comparison with other CEE countries, it can be noticed that Romania, Bulgaria and Serbia provide, on average, the lowest scores. Actually, more difficulties to find workers of required skills have reported the companies in these three countries, while, for instance, Slovenian companies experienced fewer difficulties when searching for skilled workers.



Figure 2: Availability of Skilled Employees in Selected SEE Countries

Source: Baller et al. (2016). *Note:* There is no data for Bosnia and Herzegovina and Montenegro.

Based on the above argumentation it can be concluded that the Serbian labour market characterizes a shortage of the workforce of adequate skills. Given the existence of a gap between skills supply and demand, issues of sustainability and employability are of crucial importance for both the employers and employees. This will be further elaborated in the following sections.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

In this section, we use available data sources to analyse workforce skills and competencies, then how the supply matches the demand, and whether the severity of skills and knowledge gap changes in the course of transitional reforms. In particular, the topics that will be studied include workforce ageing, improvements in educational attainment of labour market participants, employers' skills needs and occupational incidence of skills mismatches.

3.1. Workforce skills and occupations

When the total workforce is observed it can be noticed that medium-skilled labour market participants are the group that prevails among both the employed and unemployed. This group makes up 56.8 and 63.2 percent of employees and jobless persons, respectively. The second largest group are high-skilled labour market participants. This group share in the total employment is almost one quarter, while the share of high-skilled unemployed persons is 22.2 percent. A significant percentage of high-skilled among the unemployed persons is an indicator of obvious mismatch between the actual and the skills needed by the economic sectors. Serbian economy employs 18.4 percent of low-skilled workers, while this group makes up 14.4 percent of the unemployed.



Figure 3: Level of Workforce Skills (%)

Workforce skills differ by gender especially if medium- and high-skilled labour market participants are observed. As an illustration it can be noticed that both employed and unemployed men with medium-level skills make up over 60 percent of the employed and unemployed men, while this group makes up a little above one-half of the employed women. High-skilled men are much less (20.2 percent) represented among the employed than women of the same educational level (30.8

Source: RSO, LFS (2016).

percent). In comparison with men, high-skilled unemployed women form a considerably larger portion among jobless persons.



Figure 4: Occupational Structure of Employees (%)

Source: RSO, LFS (2016).

In line with the previous elaboration is the finding that shows that the share of women in positions of managers, professionals and technicians in the organizations is 34.3 percent in the overall structure of employed women. In comparison with men, this share is more than ten percentage points higher thanks to the engagement of women in the public sector (especially in social services, health and education sectors). Proportionally, men are more represented among the occupations composed of clerical, services and sales workers, skilled agricultural workers, and plant and machine operators and assemblers than women. This is because men, compared with women, are more often employed in the sectors of agriculture, and manufacturing industry and less often among clerical and services workers which compose this broader group of occupations.

The characteristic of the labour market of most countries is the education-job mismatch. It occurs when lower-level jobs are fulfilled with high skilled job applicants due to a shortage of jobs of a required level. Analysing transition and non-transition countries, Kupets (2015) finds that in 19 out of 25 countries each fifth worker is overeducated regarding the qualifications needed for the specific job. This is further associated with the incidence of long-term unemployment and in particular with youth unemployment. Similar findings for the group of the Western Balkan countries confirm that young people who are facing first work experience need additional training in order to have more success in job matching in spite of the attained level of education (Zubović, Pavlović 2016).

3.2. Matching the supply and demand in the labour market

The Serbian labour market is characterized by large structural disparities between the supply and demand of workforce. Obvious reason lies in high unemployment. In spite of a significant drop in unemployment over the previous several years, the unemployment rate is still high and it was 15.3 percent in 2016 (SORS 2016). The unemployment is especially high among certain groups of labour market participants (including youth, women, and minorities) and the main cause is its structural character (Ognjenović 2015). Persistency of structural unemployment is the characteristic of all transition countries due in particular to rapid technological change and unreformed education and training system that cannot adequately respond to the labour market needs and inevitably induce skill mismatches (Bartlett 2013). In line with this are the results provided by Colombano and Krkoska (2009) for CEE countries that confirm that the training conducted at the company level cannot compensate for a weak level of skills in the country induced by the inefficiency of the education system. Their findings suggest that in-company training is highly positively correlated with the country level of skills development. In other words, the companies' intent to train is more pronounced in countries where the workforce has higher level of skills.

	1	Unemployed		Employed				
Occupational group	Educa	tional attair	nment	Educational attainment				
F	Low- Skilled	Medium- skilled	High- skilled	Low- skilled	Medium- skilled	High- skilled		
Managers	0.0	1.6	4.7	0.2	2.2	8.5		
Professionals	0.0	0.8	32.5	0.0	2.0	48.4		
Technicians and Associate Professionals	0.0	8.6	18.9	0.0	12.2	18.0		
Clerical Support Workers	0.0	8.4	12.9	0.9	8.2	7.8		
Services and Sales Workers	13.5	33.8	20.3	6.4	21.5	7.6		
Skilled Agricultural, Forestry and Fishery Workers	0.0	0.6	0.0	58.2	15.5	3.2		
Craft and Related Trade Workers	20.4	18.1	4.2	7.9	16.9	2.6		
Plant and Machine Operators, and Assemblers	13.5	10.7	2.0	7.0	12.3	1.9		
Elementary Occupations	52.7	17.4	4.4	19.3	8.5	1.2		
Armed Forces Occupations	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.8	0.8		
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		

Table 1: Occupational and Skill Level of Workforce (%)

Source: RSO, LFS (2016).

Note: Occupations for unemployed persons are available only for those who had some work experience during the previous eight years.

When the unemployment is high, lack of occupation-specific skills may leave less choice to job applicants leading them to accept the lower-level jobs as it was previously elaborated. When the educational attainment of the unemployed is compared with the occupational choice, Table 1 shows that besides elementary occupations, low-skilled unemployed persons had previous work experience as services and sales workers, craft and related trade workers and plant and machine operators, and assemblers. Among the participants with the low level of education, the largest gap between the unemployed and employed is revealed in the group of elementary occupations. Likewise, the largest discrepancy in the labour market status of medium-skilled participants is identified among services and sales workers, craft and related trade workers and elementary occupations, while highskilled unemployed persons experienced more difficulties to find employment if they had previous work experience as clerical support workers and services and sales workers. On the other hand, managers, professionals and technicians and associate professionals compose three quarters of high-skilled employees, while those three occupational groups make up more than a half of the unemployed pointing to the obvious lack of necessary skills.

The general conclusion is that the occupational choice at the workplace does not necessary follow the educational attainment of an individual. This is because someone may accept a job from necessity even if it is of a lower level than expected or because someone may attend the training not necessary certified and acquire some occupation-specific skills that moved him/her to a higher professional level.

3.3. Qualifications, knowledge and skills gaps

In general, low level of investment in training, information gaps and low mobility in the labour market are the factors which may cause skill shortages (Cedefop 2010). But, to what extent the ageing of the workforce influences skill shortages? A Cedefop study shows that the workforce ageing together with skills obsolescence causes skills gaps and skills shortages especially if reorganization or restructuring of the companies and economic sectors leads to the loss of specific skills (Cedefop 2010). Table 2 depicts two different paths of the ageing of the workforce in the Serbian labour market. The share of the young population (15-29 years of age) in the workforce decreased from 23.0 to 18.4 percent in the period 2004-2016, while the share of the prime age population and older workers (30-64 years of age) increased by 4.6 percentage points amounting to 81.6 percent in 2016. Such dynamics induce a drop in these two subpopulations ratio confirming the ageing of the workforce. The ageing also has diverse effects on the employment and unemployment of the two groups of participants showing a declining trend of the youth share and an upward trend of the prime age and older workers in the respective contingents of the workforce.

	2004			2008			2012			2016		
Age group	Workforce	Employed	Unemployed									
Youth (15-29 years), in %	23.0	18.1	43.5	20.5	17.1	40.8	19.2	14.7	33.0	18.4	15.4	34.4
Prime and older (30-64 years), in %	77.0	81.9	56.5	79.5	82.9	59.2	80.8	85.3	67.0	81.6	84.6	65.6
Ratio (15-29) to (30-64)	0.30	0.22	0.77	0.26	0.21	0.69	0.24	0.17	0.49	0.23	0.18	0.52

Table 2: Ageing of Workforce

Source: RSO, LFS (2004, 2008, 2012, 2016).

The ageing of the population and entry of the new cohorts of young people in the labour market changes the educational structure of the workforce. New generations of labour market participants have a better educational background - more graduates enter the labour market each year - but they do not necessarily have a greater chance of finding a job that matches their level of education. A comparison of the workforce education structure in the year 2004 and 2016 shows that individuals with low qualifications exited the labour market faster than those who possessed medium-level qualifications. Based on the analysis of the data in Table 3, it can be concluded that a drop in the share of individuals with low qualifications was gradually replaced by those with high qualifications, whereas the share of medium-skilled labour market participants was stable. However, a significant share of the unemployed – more than one fifth – with tertiary education is a reliable indicator of a skill gap or an individual's choice of non-perspective occupations. Some comparative studies show that individuals with medium-level qualifications are the main source of the workforce surpluses in Serbia and Croatia, whereas the labour markets of Macedonia, FYR and Montenegro suffer from the surplus workforce with low qualifications. When disaggregated educational levels are observed, for instance, data for Croatia revealed that skills shortages are characteristic of individuals with tertiary and secondary technical education. This can be considered as a common feature for most of the CEE countries (Ognjenović, Branković 2013b).

	2004				2008		2012			2016		
Educational attainment	Workforce	Employed	Unemployed									
Low-												
skilled	26.7	27.8	22.0	25.3	26.0	20.3	20.3	20.6	19.1	17.8	18.4	14.5
Medium-												
skilled	57.0	54.7	67.2	57.3	55.6	68.4	59.1	56.9	66.3	57.8	56.8	63.2
High-												
skilled	16.3	17.6	10.8	17.4	18.4	11.2	20.6	22.5	14.6	24.4	24.8	22.2
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

 Table 3: Educational Attainment of Workforce by Years (%)

Source: RSO, LFS (2004, 2008, 2012, 2016).

Apprenticeship programmes are especially important for lower and medium-level occupations. In particular, they can support the transition from school to work and help young employees' to gain first work experience. Usually, apprenticeship trainings are organized through on-the-job and/or classroom learning. In the developed countries apprenticeship opportunities are mostly provided by the employers, but also publicly supported programs are available. An analysis conducted for the OECD countries shows that the incidence of apprenticeship programmes varies, covering, for instance, four percent of the workforce in Germany and barely 0.3 percent in the US (Lerman 2017). In Serbia, apprenticeship programs are provided as a part of employment plans at different administrative levels. Certain medium and high level education occupations are eligible for these programs.

Figure 5: Employers' Skills Needs



Source: NES (2016).

In the Serbian labour market, occupation-specific knowledge and skills form less than one quarter of all the skills required by the employers as shown by recent survey data (Fig. 5). Based on the Employers Survey, short-term anticipation of future needs for skills and occupations is collected by the economic sectors and regions. Transferable knowledge and skills are much more needed – the employers opted for these skills in almost 50 percent of cases. Broader competencies and personal characteristics are perceived by the employers as more important than occupation-specific knowledge and skills. These findings are in line with some previous studies that show that the employers in the CEE countries pay more attention to transferable knowledge and skills, where foreign languages and knowledge of information and communication technologies occupy a special place (Ognjenović, Branković 2013b).

Table 4 presents the occupational incidence of skill mismatches. Two groups of occupations are identified with the highest shortages, gaps and the lack of work experience – high-skilled professionals and medium-skilled services and sales workers. The employers perceived plant and machine operators and assemblers as the third ranked occupational group with skill shortages. Likewise, technicians and associate professionals are the occupational group that equally lacks skills or cannot be adequately matched to job vacancies due to working conditions or lack of previous work experience.

	Due to						
Occupational group	Skills shortage	Skills gap	Working conditions, lack of experience and the like				
Managers	0.4	1.4	1.3				
Professionals	21.5	15.5	16.5				
Technicians and Associate Professionals	3.4	6.8	8.6				
Clerical Support Workers	1.5	2.9	3.8				
Services and Sales Workers	59.9	56.5	49.3				
Skilled Agricultural, Forestry and Fishery Workers	0.2	0.0	0.1				
Craft and Related Trade Workers	4.7	6.1	7.9				
Plant and Machine Operators, and Assemblers	7.0	4.0	4.7				
Elementary Occupations	1.5	6.1	7.8				
Others	0.0	0.8	0.0				
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0				

 Table 4: Incidence of Skill Mismatch by Occupation (%)

Source: NES (2016).

The level of overall productivity of an economy largely depends on the effectiveness of business climate reforms. In the case of transition and developing countries, Brixiová and Égert (2017) show that the policy reform in this area will affect the creation of sustainable businesses if they are accompanied by the well-functioning education and training system that leads to narrowing skill gaps. This will increase employability prospects of the workforce defined in terms of Hillage and Pollard (1998) as capability to get the first job, maintain employment and move to a new job if necessary. The concept of employability is tightly connected to the legal forms of employment relationships between the employer and employee and it can stipulate continues employment, in particular, if the employers have tools to assess knowledge, skills and abilities of job candidates (Cappelli, Keller 2013). Following this discussion it can be concluded that the instruments for short- and medium-term projections of occupations and skills should be in place in an economy so that policy makers and other relevant stakeholders gain insight into skills needs.

4. CONCLUSION

Particular attention in this paper has been paid to the analysis of employability skills development and how the process of matching the skills available by the workforce and the skills demanded by the employers function in the Serbian labour market. The analysis presented in this paper provides an assessment of skills gaps and skills shortages at the level of education and main occupational groups. In order to analyse the supply of skills and occupations in the Serbian labour market the Labour Force Survey data were used for selected years from 2004 to 2016, whereas an analysis of the demand for skills and occupations was carried out using the Employers Survey for 2016.

The main findings of the analysis can be summarized as follows:

- Regarding international comparison, Serbia fits among those countries of the CEE region with the average share of knowledge-intensive jobs in the overall economy. This implies that no significant improvement in productivity and innovation-led competitiveness can be expected in the short-term.
- Most challenges are related to the imbalances in the supply and demand of the workforce with medium qualifications, implying that skills gaps are mainly identified among transferable knowledge and skills in accordance with job description. Job matching policies of both those who are feeding the supply of skills and those searching for skilled workers should be focused on narrowing these gaps.

When the occupational incidence of a skill mismatch is considered, the analysis revealed that the occupational group that comprises high-skilled professionals and medium-skilled services and sales workers is the group with the highest skills shortages, skills gaps and the lack of work experience of job applicants to adequately respond to job requirements. On the other hand, technicians and associate professionals cannot be adequately matched to job vacancies due to working conditions offered by the employers or the lack of previous work experience.

There is a limited number of studies that analyse skills related issues in the Serbian labour market. The intention of this paper is to feel the existing gap and provide some preliminary findings to support policies associated with the enchantment of labour market participants' employability. Future research should be focused more on a quantitative analysis that would examine to what extent the shortage of skills causes labour market frictions, on the one hand, and what are the potential implications of skills gaps on the social and economic policy, on the other.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research is financially supported by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia, research projects no. III-47009 and no. OI-179015.

REFERENCES

- 1. Baller, S., Dutta, S., Lanvin, B. (eds.) (2016) The Global Information Technology Report 2016: Innovating in the Digital Economy. Geneva: World Economic Forum [WEF].
- 2. Bartlett, W. (2013) Structural unemployment in the Western Balkans: challenges for skills anticipation and matching policies. *European Planning Studies*, *21(6)*: 890-908.
- 3. Brixiová, Z., Égert, B. (2017) Entrepreneurship, institutions and skills in low-income countries. *Bonn: Institute of Labor Economics Discussion Paper* [IZA DP] No. 10704.
- 4. Cappelli, P. (2015) Skill gaps, skill shortages, and skill mismatches: evidence and arguments for the United States. *ILR Review*, 68(2): 247-250.
- 5. Cappelli, P., Keller, J. (2013) Classifying work in the new economy. Academy of Management Review, 38(4): 575–596.
- 6. [Cedefop] European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training (2015) *Skill shortages and gaps in European enterprises*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- 7. [Cedefop] European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training (2010) *The skill matching challenge: analysing skill mismatch and policy implications.* Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- 8. Colombano, J. E., Krkoska, L. (2009) Skills, training, and enterprise performance: survey evidence from transition countries in Central and Eastern Europe. In *Labor*

Markets and Economic Development: 449-467. London and New York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.

- 9. Hillage, J., Pollard, E. (1998) Employability: developing a framework for policy analysis. London: DfEE Research Brief No. 85.
- 10. Kahn, L. M. (2015) Skill shortages, mismatches, and structural unemployment: a symposium. *ILR Review*, 68(2): 247-250.
- 11. Kupets, O. (2015) Skill mismatch and overeducation in transition economies. Bonn: *IZA World of Labor*, 224.
- Lerman, R. I. (2017) Skill development in middle level occupations: the role of apprenticeship training. In The Oxford Handbook of Skills and Training: 180-200. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 13. [NES] National Employment Service (2016) *Employers Survey for 2016*. Belgrade: NES.
- 14. [OECD] Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2016) *Education at a Glance: 2016 Indicators.* Paris: OECD Publishing.
- 15. Ognjenović, K. (2015) On-the-job training and human resource management: how to improve competitive advantage of an organization? *Organizacija*, 48 (1): 57-70.
- Ognjenović, K. (2015) Stanje i pravci rešavaja strukturne nezaposlenosti u Srbiji. In Strukturne promene u Srbiji – Dosadašnji rezultati i perspective: 365-383. Beograd: Institut ekonomskih nauka.
- 17. Ognjenović, K., Branković, A. (2013a) Employment change and business prospect in Serbia. *Industrija*, 41(3): 67-84.
- Ognjenović, K., Branković, A. (2013b) Shifts in occupational and skill needs in the Western Balkan region: a slow adjustment. In Post Crisis Recovery: 581-602. Belgrade: Belgrade Banking Academy.
- 19. Pellizzari, M., Anne, F. (2017) A new measure of skill mismatch: theory and evidence from PIAAC. *IZA Journal of Labor Economics* 6:1.
- 20. Rajh, E., Jovanov, T., Budak, J., Ateljević, J., Davčev, Lj., Ognjenović, K. (2018) Youth and entrepreneurial intentions in four South East European countries (*Forthcoming*).
- 21. Siničáková, M. (2011) Homogeneity of the European Union from the point of view of labour market. *Journal of Women's Entrepreneurship and Education*, (3-4): 17-28.
- 22. [SORS] Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia. *Labour Force Survey for 2004, 2008, 2012 & 2016. Bulletin No. 451, 499, 564 & 623.* Belgrade: SORS.
- 23. Službeni glasnik [Official Gazette] (2012) Strategija razvoja obrazovanja u Srbiji do 2020. godine. *Službeni glasnik RS No. 107/2012*.
- 24. Službeni glasnik [Official Gazette] (2011) Nacionalna strategija zapošljavanja za period 2011-2020. godina. *Službeni glasnik RS No. 37/2011*.
- 25. Zubović, J., Pavlović, D. (2016) Youth employability in WB countries: can they look up to youth in developed countries? In *Food Science, Production and Engineering in Contemporary Economies*: 315-326. Hershey, PA (U.S.): Information Science Reference (IGI Global).





